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WALL STREET AND THE FINANCIAL CRISIS:
THE ROLE OF BANK REGULATORS
VOLUME 2 OF 5

FRIDAY, APRIL 16, 2010

U.S. SENATE,
PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS,
OF THE COMMITTEE ON HOMELAND SECURITY
AND GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:37 a.m., in room
SD-106, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Carl Levin, Chair-
man of the Subcommittee, presiding.

Present: Senators Levin, Kaufman, and Coburn.

Staff Present: Elise J. Bean, Staff Director/Chief Counsel; Mary
D. Robertson, Chief Clerk; Allison F. Murphy, Counsel; Zachary 1.
Schram, Counsel; Adam Henderson, Professional Staff Member;
Nina E. Horowitz, Detailee (GAO); Jennifer Auchterlonie, Detailee
(DOJ); Christopher Barkley, Staff Director to the Minority; An-
thony G. Cotto, Counsel to the Minority; Ted Schroeder and Nhan
Nguyen (Senator Kaufman); and Clark Porter (Senator McCaskill).

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR LEVIN

Senator LEVIN. Good morning, everybody. This is the second in
a series of four Subcommittee hearings examining some of the
causes and consequences of the 2008 financial crisis. Earlier this
week, our first hearing used Washington Mutual Bank (WaMu), as
a case history to illustrate how from 2004 to 2008 U.S. financial
institutions loaded up on risk and churned out hundreds of billions
of dollars in high-risk, poor-quality home loans to Wall Street in
exchange for big fees. Together they initiated the economic assault.

As regulated entities, most of these financial firms could not
have done what they did unless their regulators let them. Today’s
hearing asks why Federal bank regulators saw the shoddy lending
practices, high-risk lending, and substandard securitizations, un-
derstood the risk, but let the banks do it anyway.

Washington Mutual was a thrift, so its primary Federal regu-
lator was the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS). WaMu was the
largest single financial institution that OTS oversaw, with $300 bil-
lion in assets, $188 billion in deposits, and 43,000 employees.
WaMu’s fees alone paid for 12 to 15 percent of the OTS budget. Be-
cause WaMu’s deposits were insured, the Federal Deposit Insur-
ance Corporation (FDIC), served as a back-up regulator whose
focus was on safeguarding the Deposit Insurance Fund.

o))
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Like other bank regulators, OTS was supposed to serve as our
first line of defense against unsafe and unsound banking practices,
but OTS was a feeble regulator. Instead of policing the economic
assault, OTS was more of a spectator on the sidelines, a watchdog
with no bite, noting problems and making recommendations, but
not acting to correct the flaws and the failures that it saw. At
times, it even acted like a WaMu guard dog trying to keep the
FDIC at bay.

To document what happened, we are releasing today another big
book of documents as well as a joint report by the Treasury and
FDIC Inspectors General examining shortcomings in OTS and
FDIC oversight of Washington Mutual. Together they disclose an
ineffective bank regulatory culture, hindered by weak standards,
lax oversight, and agency infighting.

Before its fall, Washington Mutual held itself out as a well-run,
prudent bank that was a pillar of its community. But Tuesday’s
hearing showed that behind closed doors, the bank’s management
was surrounded by deep-seated problems, including shoddy lending
practices and poor-quality loans.

This chart, which is Exhibit 1i from Tuesday’s hearing,! shows
how over a 5-year period from 2003 to 2008, Washington Mutual
and its subprime lender, Long Beach, loaded up with risk. The
bank dumped low-risk, 30-year fixed loans in favor of high-risk,
subprime, Option ARM, and home equity loans. Low-risk loans
shrunk, as we can see from that chart, from two-thirds of the
bank’s originations to one-quarter. High-risk loans grew from one-
third to three-quarters of the bank’s home loan business.

Those high-risk loans were problem plagued. Tuesday’s hearing
examined voluminous evidence of WaMu internal reviews finding
poor-quality loans, fraud, errors, and other deficiencies. In one in-
stance, a year-long internal WaMu probe found that two of WaMu’s
top loan producing offices were issuing loans with fraud rates of 58
percent and 83 percent. Another WaMu investigation 2 years later
found that one of the office’s fraud rate was 62 percent. At still an-
other loan office, a sales associate acknowledged “manufacturing”
documents to support quick loan closings.

Washington Mutual’s shoddy lending practices affected more
than its own operations. WaMu and Long Beach sold or securitized
most of their loans. As this chart shows, from 2000 to 2007 WaMu
and Long Beach securitized at least $77 billion in subprime loans,
stopping only when the subprime secondary market collapsed in
September 2007. WaMu sold another $115 billion in Option ARM
loans. Together WaMu and Long Beach dumped hundreds of bil-
lions of dollars of toxic mortgages into the financial system like pol-
luters dumping poison in a river.

So where were the bank regulators? The painful fact is that they
had a front-row seat to Washington Mutual’s high-risk lending
strategy, its poor-quality loans, and substandard securitization
practices but did little to stop it. The documents reviewed by the
Subcommittee show that OTS knew all about Washington Mutual’s
high-risk lending strategy. In fact, it was OTS that required the
bank to get board approval of it in January 2005. OTS knew about

1See Exhibit No. 1i, which appears in the Appendix on page 210.
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WaMu’s shoddy lending practices, having repeatedly identified
problems with the banks operations and examination reports year
after year. Every time OTS listed a problem, it also told WaMu to
take corrective action. But when the problem did not get fixed, OTS
failed to force change. Instead, OTS wrung its hands as the bank
sank into deeper and deeper waters.

This chart, Exhibit 1c,! provides a quick summary of some of the
findings made by OTS over the years regarding failings in the un-
derwriting—meaning lending—practices at Washington Mutual.

Now, these are not all of the findings, but here are a few. Let
us start with the year 2004. “Underwriting . . . remains less than
satisfactory.” “[N]ot . . . successful in effecting change.” Then in
2005, “Underwriting exceptions evidence lack of compliance with
bank policy. Our concerns are increased with the risk profile of the
portfolio. Deterioration in these [Long Beach] older securitizations
is not unexpected.”

Now, those 2005 findings came from a report on examination
which stated more broadly, “We remain concerned with the number
of underwriting exceptions and with issues that evidence lack of
compliance with bank policy.”

“The level of deficiencies, if left unchecked, could erode the credit
quality of the portfolio. Our concerns are increased with the risk
profile of the profile is considered, including concentrations in Op-
tion ARM loans to higher-risk borrowers, in low and limited docu-
mentation loans, and loans with subprime or higher-risk character-
istics.”

Now, unfortunately, the level of deficiencies were left unchecked.
In fact, those deficiencies continued to run rampant. Here is 2006.
“[Clontinuing weakness in . . . loan underwriting at Long Beach.”
“Numerous instances of underwriter exceeding guidelines
[and] errors.”

Now 2007, “[Tloo much emphasis on loan production . . . at the
expense of loan quality.” “[SJubprime underwriting practices re-
main less than satisfactory.” “[UInderwriting exceptions and errors
remain above acceptable levels.”

And then, finally, in 2008, the year the bank failed, “[N]ot in
compliance with the Interagency Guidance on Nontraditional Mort-
gages.” “High SFR [single family residential loan] losses due in
part to poor underwriting.” “[A]ctions should have been taken soon-
er.”

Those are all OTS’ observations about problems at WaMu year
after year. In 2008, the year the bank collapsed, OTS said,
“[Alctions should have been taken sooner.” Well, actions should
have been taken sooner also by OTS. OTS raised the concerns list-
ed on this chart with WaMu’s top executives and board of directors
for 5 straight years. Each year, WaMu promised to do better, but
it did not, and OTS never took action to change that.

At our Tuesday hearing, even WaMu officials expressed surprise
at OTS’ reluctance to act. WaMu’s chief risk officer, Jim Vanasek,
testified that, “What I cannot explain is why the superiors in the
agencies did not take a tougher tone with the bank given the de-
gree of negative findings.” Now, this is WaMu’s own risk officer.

1See Exhibit No. 1c, which appears in the Appendix on page 199.
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“There seemed to be a tolerance there or a political influence on
senior management of those agencies that prevented them from
taking a more active stance. By a more active stance,” he said, “I
mean putting the bank under letters of agreement and forcing
change.”

Mr. Vanasek’s successor as chief risk officer at WaMu, Ron
Cathcart, testified on Tuesday: “The approach that the OTS took
was much more light-handed than I was used to. It seemed as if
the regulator was prepared to allow the bank to work through its
problems and had a higher degree of tolerance than I had seen
with other regulators.”

Now, regulations work best when regulators stay at arm’s length
from those that they regulate. But too often in this case, WaMu’s
regulators were not at arm’s length. They were arm in arm. Over
time OTS allowed Washington Mutual and Long Beach to load up
on risk and engage in a host of unsafe and unsound practices. This
chart, which is Exhibit 1b,! lists some of them: targeting high-risk
borrowers; steering borrowers to higher-risk home loans; offering
teaser rates, interest-only, and negative amortizing loans; not
verifying income; offering higher pay for making higher-risk home
loans—that is, to their staff. That is just a few that I have read.

Now, the documents show that more than one OTS examiner ex-
pressed misgivings about these lending practices but never got the
support of OTS management to end them. One WaMu examiner
wrote that stated income loans—those are loans in which bor-
rowers state their income without any verification—were “a flawed
product that can’t be fixed and never should have been allowed in
the first place.”

Another OTS examiner tried to object to so-called no income and
no assets (NINA) loans. That means loans in which there is no in-
come and no assets numbers required to be provided by the bor-
rower. An OTS policy official agreed, writing in a 2007 email that
NINA loans are “collateral dependent” lending and deemed unsafe
and unsound by all the agencies. But the OTS West Region dis-
missed that analysis, allowing NINA loans, and called the OTS pol-
icy official a “Lone Ranger.”

Still another example involves Washington Mutual’s flagship
product, the Option Adjustable Rate Mortgage. WaMu engaged in
a host of shoddy lending practices that vastly increased the risks
associated with its Option ARMs, such as permitting virtually
every Option ARM borrower to make minimum payments which re-
sulted in negatively amortizing loans in which the loan principal
actually increased over time. Washington Mutual relied on rising
house prices and refinancing to avoid payment shock and loan de-
faults. For years, OTS said that WaMu should reduce the increased
risks while watching the bank originate $30 to $60 billion or more
on Option ARMs each year. It never took action to enforce its judg-
ment.

In 2004, OTS found that WaMu’s incentive compensation for loan
officers failed to provide any money for loan quality. Volume and
speed were king, and loan officers got paid more money for more
risk. OTS recommended that WaMu “enhance its system to empha-

1See Exhibit No. 1b, which appears in the Appendix on page 198.
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size loan quality” and closed the finding based on WaMu’s promise
to redesign its pay system. In 2005, OTS discovered that WaMu
hag not changed its compensation plan and again asked the bank
to fix it.

Well, 2008 came and WaMu discovered rampant fraud at one of
its top loan producing offices, and its own staff faulted pay incen-
tives that put loan speed before loan quality. In 4 years, WaMu
had not fixed the problem.

OTS had multiple enforcement tools to force change at WaMu. It
could have required, for example, private board resolution or a pub-
lic memorandum of understanding. It could have imposed a mone-
tary fine or issued a cease-and-desist order. But OTS did not take
any of those steps. It acted like a spectator, chronicling the bank’s
failures rather than preventing them. OTS did not take enforce-
ment action on its criticisms of the bank until 2008, which is the
year that WaMu failed.

Why was OTS so reluctant to act? Well, a 2007 email by OTS Di-
rector John Reich, Exhibit 78,1 supplies part of the answer. He
wrote to his staff, “Kerry Killinger, the CEO of Washington Mutual
(WaMu) will be in town Friday and wants to have a lunch meeting.
He is my largest constituent. . . .”

OTS viewed WaMu as its constituent, losing sight of the fact that
OTS’ real constituents were not the banks that it oversaw but the
American people that it was supposed to protect from unsafe and
unsound banking practices.

A 2005 email by the OTS examiner-in-charge at Washington Mu-
tual is also telling. The examiner-in-charge wrote to his bosses,
“['TThis is just one of several symptoms of the ongoing broader prob-
lem of getting their house in order from an underwriting stand-
point. It has been hard for us to justify doing much more than con-
stantly nagging—OK, ‘chastising'—through ROE on examination
and meetings, since they have not been really adversely impacted
in terms of losses.”

Think about that. The WaMu bank examiner felt he could not do
more than nag the bank unless WaMu was losing money.

The OTS Handbook, by the way, states explicitly that losses are
not necessary for an examiner to take action, but the OTS exam-
iner saw himself not just as a civil servant enforcing the law and
protecting the banking system but as a nag.

Still another part of the answer may be that WaMu was OTS’
largest bank and supplied the largest amount of fees of any bank.
WaMu’s downfall began in 2006 when the value of its subprime
loans began falling. In July 2007, after two credit rating agencies
suddenly downgraded hundreds of subprime mortgage-backed secu-
rities, the subprime market froze and banks like WaMu were left
holding billions of dollars of suddenly unmarketable home loans.
The value of those assets began plummeting. Washington Mutual
recorded a $1 billion loss in the fourth quarter of 2007 and another
$1 billion loss in the first quarter of 2008.

Finally, in late February 2008, OTS downgraded the bank from
a 2 to a 3 so-called “capital, asset quality, management, earnings,
liquidity, and sensitivity” (CAMELS) rating. Now the CAMELS rat-

1See Exhibit No. 78, which appears in the Appendix on page 477.
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ing system is used by all the Federal bank regulators to rate the
safety and soundness of financial institutions and measures cap-
ital, asset quality, management, earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity
to market risk. It uses a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 being the best rat-
ing and 5 the worst. The ratings are normally not made public.
Washington Mutual had a 2 rating for many years, which signifies
a fundamentally sound bank. Once OTS assigned the 3 rating,
which signifies a troubled bank, OTS policy required it to issue a
public memorandum of understanding at the same time to correct
the bank’s deficiencies. But OTS inexplicably did not. Instead, OTS
waited until the next month and accepted a non-public board reso-
lution in which WaMu’s board promised to fix problems but pro-
vided no specific plans or deadlines for doing so. It was a kid-gloves
approach that made absolutely no sense given the bank’s problems,
the intensifying financial crisis, and OTS’ own policy.

In the meantime, the FDIC expressed increasing concerns about
the bank with its internal Large Insured Deposit Institution (LIDI)
reports showing the bank to be deteriorating. FDIC told the OTS
that the bank should consider an outside purchaser. In March
2008, WaMu invited potential buyers to the bank to review its in-
ternal data. In April, WaMu announced it had lost another $3.2 bil-
lion in the second quarter. JPMorgan Chase made an offer to buy
the bank, but WaMu turned it down after raising $7 billion in cap-
ital to reassure the market.

In July 2008, IndyMac, another high-risk thrift on the West
Coast, closed its doors. WaMu’s large depositors, fearing a similar
fate at Washington Mutual, withdrew about $9 billion in a quiet
run on the bank. Two months later, on September 15, 2008, Leh-
man Brothers declared bankruptcy, and over the next 8 days
WaMu depositors withdrew another $17 billion from the bank, trig-
gering a liquidity crisis.

On September 7, 2008, OTS took its first formal enforcement ac-
tion against the bank, but it was way too little too late. After more
than a month of trying to persuade OTS that WaMu should be
downgraded to a 4 rating, the FDIC independently downgraded the
bank on September 18, and OTS reluctantly followed suit that
same day. By then the FDIC was contemplating whether the $300
billion thrift, if it failed, might exhaust the entire Federal Deposit
Insurance Fund, which then contained a total of about $45 billion.

On September 25, 2008, due to the bank’s intensifying liquidity
problems, the regulators finally pulled the plug. They felt the bank
could not even make it to the end of the week, as their usual prac-
tice, instead moved on a Thursday. OTS closed Washington Mutual
and appointed the FDIC as its receiver. That same day, the FDIC
sold the bank’s assets and deposits to JPMorgan Chase for about
$1.9 billion.

Critics complain that WaMu should not have been shut down,
that it should have received a taxpayer bailout under the TARP
program, emergency lending from the Federal Reserve, and SEC
protection from short selling. Our focus, however, here is not on the
regulators’ decision to close the bank, but on how regulators let the
bank deteriorate to the point where its failure threatened to bust
the Deposit Insurance Fund.
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The fact is that our bank regulators failed us. OTS failed to stop
Washington Mutual from engaging in high-risk lending practices
that created a mortgage time bomb. It failed to force the bank to
correct years-long deficiencies. It failed to cooperate with efforts by
the FDIC to evaluate the bank’s operations. And it failed to stop
the bank from sending toxic mortgages into the financial system
and poisoning the secondary market. These failures were not lim-
ited to Washington Mutual but were symptomatic of sectorwide
failures that played a major role in the 2008 financial crisis.

The Washington Mutual case history makes it clear that OTS
had bought into the view that as long as Washington Mutual was
profitable, the bank could continue its high-risk lending strategy.
OTS management saw no reason to tighten lending standards even
after its fellow regulators decided to issue joint guidance to
strengthen lending standards for so-called nontraditional mort-
gages. OTS argued against strong restrictions, noting internally
that they needed to go “on the offensive” to stop them, and then
presenting data supplied by WaMu showing how stronger lending
standards would reduce the bank’s business. The guidance was pro-
mulgated by all the banking regulators in October 2006. Other
agencies told their financial institutions to comply promptly, but
OTS did not. In 2007, when the FDIC asked OTS to review WaMu
loan files to evaluate its compliance with the guidance, OTS re-
fused and disclosed it was giving its thrifts more time to comply.

Meanwhile, WaMu had calculated that complying with the guid-
ance would reduce its loan volume by 33 percent because fewer bor-
rowers would qualify for loans. In an email to colleagues, WaMu’s
chief risk officer argued “in favor of holding off on implementation
until required to act for public relations or regulatory reasons.” By
the time OTS made the guidance effective for its thrifts, the
subprime secondary market had frozen and WaMu’s loan origina-
tions had already dropped.

At the same time the documents show that OTS’ reluctance to
say no to WaMu, they show that OTS did have a backbone when
it came to saying no to a fellow regulator. For many years, OTS
and FDIC had shared a cooperative relationship in regulating
Washington Mutual. In 2006, however, OTS practices abruptly
changed. The West Region director told his staff, “The message was
crystal clear today: absolutely no FDIC participation on any OTS
1 and 2 rated exams.” Since WaMu had a 2 rating, OTS rejected
the FDIC’s request to participate in a WaMu exam.

OTS went further. It actually impeded FDIC’s examination ef-
forts. It denied the FDIC examiner access to WaMu data, refused
for several months to assign him space on site at the bank, and re-
jected his request to review bank loan files. When the FDIC urged
OTS to lower WaMu’s rating, OTS resisted. OTS fought this turf
war at the same time the largest financial institution it was sup-
posed to regulate was losing value, capital, and deposits.

Now, OTS also took a narrow view of its responsibility to the
U.S. banking system as a whole. The documents show that OTS al-
lowed Washington Mutual to engage in high-risk lending in part
because the bank did not plan to keep the high-risk loans on its
books, but sold them into the marketplace. OTS never considered
how dumping billions of dollars in toxic mortgages into the stream
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of commerce would weaken the financial system and even come
back to harm its own institutions.

One OTS examiner commented on the agency’s approach in a
2008 email as follows: “We were satisfied that the loans were origi-
nated for sale. SEC and Fed were asleep at the switch with the
securitization and repackaging of the cash flows, irrespective of
who they were selling to.”

OTS examiners knew that Washington Mutual and Long Beach
were notorious for selling bad loans. As early as 2005, an OTS ex-
aminer sent an email to colleagues with this description of Long
Beach’s mortgage-backed securities:! “[Ilssues [securitizations]
prior to 2003 have horrible performance. LBMC finished in the top
12 worst annualized NCLs [net credit losses] in 1997 and 1999
thru 2003. . . . At 2/05, LBMC was #1 with a 12% delinquency
rate. Industry was around 8.25%.” Yet OTS took no steps to require
Long Beach or Washington Mutual to clean up their securitizations
or the bad loans underlying them. OTS just did not see it as part
of its job, even while the flood of those toxic mortgages was slowly
poisoning the secondary markets, leading to their collapse in the fi-
nancial crisis of 2008.

Finally, our bank regulators were not blind to the problems
building up in the mortgage banking system. They knew. Instead
of getting in the game, they sat on the bench. OTS in particular
did not act on what it knew. It appeared to have been too close to
the banks that it oversaw. The bottom line is that OTS never said
no to any of the high-risk lending or shoddy lending practices that
came to undermine WaMu’s portfolio, its stock price, its depositor
base, and its reputation. The result was a bank failure, a financial
system that it helped to poison with toxic mortgages, and an eco-
nomic meltdown.

Today we are examining what happened in this case history. The
question for Congress is: How do we strengthen our regulatory cul-
ture?

On that somber note, I turn to my Ranking Member, Senator
Coburn, for his insights, and I thank him again and his staff for
their great support in this investigation. Dr. Coburn.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR COBURN

Senator COBURN. Well, Mr. Chairman, thank you for the great
work the Subcommittee staff in a bipartisan way have done on
this. I will summarize my thoughts about this so that we can get
to business, and then I have a comment that I think we ought to
pay attention to, because what we heard from your testimony is
that regulators are not necessarily any better than the virtuous
banks that they have been regulating, because both WaMu and
OTS, by the record we have established, failed miserably and moti-
vations can be questioned on both of their parts.

The story of Washington Mutual’s relationship with OTS is a
classic example of when a bank captures its regulator rather than
a regulator doing its job. OTS had done over 31,000 examination
hours at WaMu, the equivalent of 15 full-time employees per year.
The institution was not lacking in Federal regulators. Between

1See Exhibit No. 19, which appears in the Appendix on page 277.
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2003 and 2008, 545 separate findings of problems with WaMu were
discovered and noted. Forty-one percent of those were still out-
standing at the time of WaMu’s failure.

OTS noted weak risk management and poor underwriting in
2003. They never even took one informal enforcement action
against WaMu until 2008, and that was only after experiencing
losses on the products. And they never took a formal enforcement
action against WaMu.

OTS is the primary regulator of 780 thrifts with assets of $1.07
trillion and approximately 452 thrift holding companies with assets
of $5.5 trillion. OTS budget is derived from the fees it is charging
its banks. WaMu was, by far, OTS’ largest regulated thrift, $330
billion, during the time in question.

The lesson of OTS is not that we necessarily need more regu-
lators, because clearly regulators can suffer the same flaws as
banks—selfishness, shortsightedness, ineffectiveness. We need bet-
ter incentives for both good investments and good regulation.

Now, the questions that need to be raised. Where was the Con-
gress in looking at OTS? What was the last time Congress did an
oversight hearing on the effectiveness of the OTS or the FDIC prior
to this downfall? You see, next week, we are going to put a finan-
cial reform bill on the floor and we won’t have even completed
these hearings until April 27, which are critical to understanding
what is going on. We have asked a formal commission, for which
we are spending a lot of taxpayer money, to give us a report on
what happened with the bank failures and the run and the eco-
nomic collapse that we experienced, and its report isn’t even done
until 8 months from now. I would put forward that we are about
to make the same mistakes that we are claiming and accusing
those that are coming before us of.

So with that, Mr. Chairman, I look forward to hearing what our
witnesses have to say. I will be in and out because of an ongoing
Judiciary hearing at the same time and appreciate again the work
that you have done and the other staff.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much, Senator Coburn.

Let me call on Senator Kaufman, who we are so delighted to
have with us here on this Subcommittee.

Senator KAUFMAN. I think the two of you have pretty well
summed up the problem and I am really looking forward to the tes-
timony and the questions and answers, so I pass.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you so much, Senator Kaufman.

Now we call on our first panel of witnesses for this morning’s
hearing, Eric Thorson, the Inspector General at the Department of
the Treasury, Jon Rymer, Inspector General of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation. Thank you both for being with us today and
for your work. We look forward to your testimony.

As you both know, pursuant to Rule 6, all witnesses who testify
before this Subcommittee are required to be sworn, so we would
ask you both to stand up and raise your right hand.

Do you swear that the testimony that you are about to give will
be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help
you, God?

Mr. THORSON. I do.

Mr. RYMER. I do.
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Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much. We will be using a timing
system, so that a minute before the red light comes on, you will see
the lights change from green to yellow, giving you an opportunity
to conclude your remarks. Your written testimony will be printed
in the record in its entirety. We would hope that you would at-
tempt to limit your oral testimony to 5 minutes, and I think, Mr.
Thorson, we are going to have you go first and then Mr. Rymer.

TESTIMONY OF HON. ERIC M. THORSON,! INSPECTOR
GENERAL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Mr. THORSON. Chairman Levin, Senator Coburn, and Members of
the Subcommittee, we thank you for the opportunity to be here
today with my colleague, Mr. Rymer, to testify about our joint eval-
uation of the failure of Washington Mutual Savings Bank.

Over the past 2 years, our country has found itself immersed in
a financial crisis that started when housing prices stopped rising
and borrowers could no longer refinance their way out of financial
difficulty. Since then, we have seen record levels of delinquency,
defaults, foreclosures, and declining real estate values. As a result,
securities tied to real estate prices have plummeted. Financial in-
stitutions have collapsed. In many cases, these financial institu-
tions seemed financially sound, but the warning signs were there
as they were in the case of WaMu. At the time of its failure in Sep-
tember 2008, WaMu was one of the largest federally insured finan-
cial institutions, operating 2,300 branches in 15 States with assets
of $307 billion.

A very brief background. My office performs audits and inves-
tigations of most Treasury bureaus and offices and that includes
OTS. We are required to conduct what is known as a material loss
review (MLR), whenever a failed Treasury regulated bank or thrift
results in a loss of $25 million or more to the FDIC’s Deposit Insur-
ance Fund. These MLRs determine the causes of an institution’s
failure and assess the supervision exercised over that failed institu-
tion.

Since the WaMu failure did not result in a loss, it did not trigger
a MLR by my office. Nonetheless, given the size of WaMu, Mr.
Rymer and I decided that a MLR-like review was warranted. We
completed that review on April 9, 2010. I will discuss the principal
findings regarding the causes of WaMu’s failure and OTS’ super-
vision of WaMu. Mr. Rymer will then follow with a discussion of
FDIC’s role.

WaMu failed because its management pursued a high-risk busi-
ness strategy without adequately underwriting its loans or control-
ling its risks. WaMu’s high-risk strategy, combined with the hous-
ing and mortgage market collapse in mid-2007, left WaMu with
loan losses, borrowing capacity limitations, and a falling stock
price. In September 2008, WaMu was unable to raise capital to
counter significant depositor withdrawals sparked by rumors of
WaMu’s problems and other high-profile failures at the time.

Mr. Chairman, as you pointed out in your opening statement,
during the 8 days following the collapse of Lehman Brothers in
2007, they experienced net deposit outflows of $16.7 billion.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Thorson appears in the Appendix on page 101.
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With the severity and swiftness of the financial crisis, while that
contributed to WaMu’s failure, it is also true that WaMu was un-
done by a flawed business strategy. In 2005, it shifted away from
originating traditional single-family homes towards the riskier
subprime loans and Option Adjustable Rate Mortgages, also known
as Option ARMs. They pursued this new strategy in anticipation
of higher earnings and to compete with Countrywide Financial Cor-
poration, who it viewed as its strongest competitor.

To give the Subcommittee a sense of the profits that could be
made, at least in the short term, with the type of non-traditional
loan products that WaMu pursued, in 2006, WaMu estimated that
its internal profit margin on Option ARMs was more than eight
times that of government-backed loans, FHA or VA, and nearly six
times that of normal fixed-rate 30-year loans. WaMu saw these
riskier loan vehicles as an easy way to substantially increase its
profitability. Unfortunately, they expanded into these riskier prod-
ucts without the appropriate level of risk management controls
needed to effectively manage that risk.

With respect to OTS’ supervision, WaMu was the largest institu-
tion under OTS’ regulation. At the time, it represented as much as
15 percent of OTS’ fee revenue, and I should point out that like the
other bank regulators, OTS is not taxpayer funded. It is funded
with fees collected from those that it regulates. So that meant that
OTS was collecting more than $30 million from WaMu annually.

OTS conducted regular risk assessments and examinations that
rated their overall performance satisfactory through the early part
of 2008, though supervisory efforts, however, did identify the core
weaknesses that eventually led to WaMu’s demise—high-risk prod-
ucts, poor underwriting, and weak risk controls. Issues related to
poor underwriting and weak risk controls were noted as far back
as 2003, but the problem was OTS did not ensure that WaMu ever
corrected those weaknesses.

We had a hard time understanding why OTS would allow these
satisfactory ratings to continue given that, over the years, they
found the same things over and over. Even in WaMu’s asset quality
in their reports of examination, they wrote, “We believe the level
of deficiencies, if left unchecked, could erode the credit quality of
the portfolio. We are concerned further that the current market en-
vironment is masking potentially higher credit risk.” And despite
what I just read to you, which was out of their own reports, it was
not until WaMu began experiencing losses in 2007 and into 2008
that they began to downgrade their rating.

When we asked OTS examiners why they did this, why they
didn’t lower it earlier, they told us that even though underwriting
risk management practices were less than satisfactory, they were
making money and loans were performing. As a result, they
thought it would be difficult to lower the asset quality rating, and
this position surprised us because their own guidance states, “If an
association has high exposure to credit risk, it is not sufficient to
demonstrate that the loans are profitable or that the association
has not experienced significant losses in the near term.” Given this
guidance, those things should have been done much sooner.

In fact, OTS did not take a single safety and soundness enforce-
ment action until 2008, and even then, what they took was quite
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weak. As troubling as that was, we became even more concerned
when we discovered that OTS West Region Director overruled
issues raised by his own staff with regard to one of those enforce-
ment actions, which you mentioned, Mr. Chairman, the March
2008 Board Resolution. The Board Resolution only addressed
WaMu’s short-term liquidity issues and did not require it to ad-
dress systemic problems repeatedly noted by OTS.

Despite the concerns of his own staff, the OTS West Region Di-
rector approved the version of the Board Resolution written by
WaMu. And as previously reported by my office, this was the same
OTS official who also gave approval for IndyMac to improperly
backdate a capital contribution to maintain its well-capitalized po-
sition just 2 months before IndyMac collapsed.

As a final note, I just want to make one comment quickly about
the contributions of our outstanding staff, which I always do in
these things. I want to mention Marla Freedman, Bob Taylor, Don
Benson, Jason Madden, and Maryann Costello, because it is their
work that allows me to come here and read these statements.

I thank you for the opportunity to be here and will answer what-
ever questions you have.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you. Your appreciation of staff, I know,
comes from long experience on Capitol Hill some years ago. We re-
member you well.

Mr. Rymer.

TESTIMONY OF HON. JON T. RYMER,! INSPECTOR GENERAL,
FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

Mr. RYMER. Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member
Coburn, and Senator Kaufman. Thank you for the opportunity to
appear here today and present the results of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation Office of Inspector General work relating to
Washington Mutual Bank.

WaMu represents the largest bank failure to date. At the time
of its failure, WaMu operated over 2,300 branches in 15 States and
had assets of $307 billion. Because of WaMu’s size, the cir-
cumstances leading up to the failure, and the non-Deposit Insur-
ance Fund losses, such as shareholder value, we initiated a review
of WaMu to evaluate the actions of the Office of Thrift Supervision
and the FDIC. We very much appreciate the cooperation we re-
ceived from the OTS and the FDIC in conducting our work, and we
appreciate the contributions by my colleagues at the Department of
Treasury OIG.

As Mr. Thorson did, I would like to recognize key members of my
staff who participated in this review. They are Peggy Wolf, Ann
Lewis, Diana Chatfield, and Andriana Rojas, and they were led by
Marshall Gentry. This is a very important project for our staff.

Our resulting report is unique. It provides a comprehensive look
at a failed institution from both the primary and back-up regu-
latory perspectives and has resulted in significant insights regard-
ing the effectiveness of each and the interplay between the two. We
released the report yesterday afternoon on our public Website.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Rymer appears in the Appendix on page 119.
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As you just heard Mr. Thorson say, Treasury OIG focused on the
causes of WaMu’s failure and the OTS supervision of the institu-
tion. My office focused on the FDIC’s role as insurer and back-up
supervisor. My statement discusses an over-reliance on an institu-
tion’s safety and soundness, or CAMELS, rating and capital levels
for the purpose of assessing the risk that the institution may pose
to the Insurance Fund. My statement will also highlight the FDIC’s
regulatory tools to mitigate risk, noting significant limitations in
the interagency agreement related to information sharing and
back-up examination authority.

The FDIC was the deposit insurer for WaMu and was responsible
for monitoring and assessing WaMu’s risk to the fund. Prior to its
failuCre, WaMu was the eighth-largest institution insured by the
FDIC.

The FDIC conducted its required monitoring of WaMu for the pe-
riod covered for our review, and that is 2003 to 2008, and it identi-
fied risks with WaMu that ultimately caused its failure, namely a
high-risk lending strategy, liberal underwriting, and inadequate in-
ternal controls.

FDIC monitoring indicated more risk at WaMu than was re-
flected in the OTS CAMELS ratings. FDIC also identified the sig-
nificance of those risks earlier than OTS. However, the risks noted
in the FDIC monitoring reports were not reflected in WaMu’s de-
posit insurance premium payments. This discrepancy occurred be-
cause the deposit insurance regulations rely on the CAMELS rat-
ings and regulatory capital levels to gauge risk and assess related
deposit insurance premiums.

Because OTS examinations results rated WaMu as fundamen-
tally sound from 2003 to 2007, increases in deposit insurance pre-
miums were not triggered. Additionally, because of statutory limi-
tations and congressionally-mandated credits, WaMu paid $51 mil-
lion, or only about a quarter of the $216 million in deposit pre-
miums it was assessed during the period of 2003 to 2008. The
FDIC estimates that WaMu’s failure could have caused, as you said
earlier, Mr. Chairman, a $41.5 billion loss to the Deposit Insurance
Fund.

The FDIC has three primary tools at its disposal to address the
risk that it identified at WaMu. One is back-up examination au-
thority. Two is challenging the OTS CAMELS ratings. And three
is regulatory enforcement actions. The FDIC made use of some, but
not all, of these tools.

Back-up examination authority allows the FDIC to conduct its
own examination of non-FDIC supervised institutions when the
FDIC believes it is necessary to determine the condition of the in-
stitution for insurance purposes. The FDIC, OTS, Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency, and the Federal Reserve entered into
an interagency agreement in 2002 that provided guidance on invok-
ing back-up examination authority, including the sharing of insti-
tution information.

According to the terms of the interagency agreement, the FDIC
needed to request permission from OTS to begin back-up examina-
tion authority. This would have allowed FDIC examiners to review
information on-site at WaMu so they could better assess WaMu’s
risk to the fund. The interagency agreement required FDIC to
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prove to OTS that WaMu exhibited one of the following: A height-
ened level of risk, meaning WaMu was rated a 3, 4, or 5, and was
undercapitalized, or material deteriorating conditions, or other ad-
verse developments that could result in WaMu’s becoming troubled
in the near term.

The logic of this interagency agreement is circular. The FDIC
must show a specific level of risk at an institution to receive access,
but the FDIC needs access to the information to determine the risk
to the fund. OTS resisted providing FDIC examiners greater on-site
access to WaMu information because they didn’t feel that the FDIC
met the requisite need for information, according to the terms of
the interagency agreement, and believed that the FDIC could rely
on the work performed by the OTS examiners. OTS did grant FDIC
greater access at WaMu, but limited FDIC’s review of WaMu’s resi-
dential loan files. The FDIC wanted to review these files to assess
underwriting and WaMu’s compliance with the Non-Traditional
Mortgage Guidance.

In May 2008, FDIC began for the first time using its second reg-
ulatory tool, challenging the CAMELS rating, to challenge the OTS
safety soundness ratings at WaMu. However, OTS was reluctant to
lower its rating of WaMu from a 3 to a 4, in line with FDIC’s view.
OTS and FDIC resolved the ratings disagreement 6 days prior to
WaMu’s failure, when OTS lowered its rating to agree with FDIC’s
rating. By that time, the rating downgrade had no impact on
WaMu’s insurance premium assessment or payments.

Finally, the FDIC chose not to invoke its third tool, its enforce-
ment powers. FDIC has statutory authority to impose its own en-
forcement actions on an institution to protect the fund, provided
statutory and regulatory procedures are followed. According to the
FDIC, it did not use those powers for WaMu because it believed the
steps to use those powers were too cumbersome.

Key conclusions, our report highlighted two major concerns re-
lated to the deposit insurance regulations and the interagency
agreement governing back-up authority. We made two recommen-
dations to address these concerns. The FDIC has concurred with
both recommendations and is working to implement these rec-
ommendations by year end.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement and I would be
happy to answer any questions you may have. Thank you.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you both, and thank you for your reports,
which, of course, will be made part of the record. They are invalu-
able and very objective assessments which are important for Con-
gress as we consider regulatory financial reform, so those reports
of yours are going to be very helpful to us.

In Exhibit 14,1 Mr. Franklin, one of WaMu’s former examiners,
said that stated income loans were “a flawed product that can’t be
fixed and never should have been allowed in the first place.” OTS
management told them that was not OTS’ policy. Now, those stated
income loans are where income is stated on an application, but
there is no verification for it. If you look at Exhibit 14, that letter
from Mr. Franklin, not only does he say these loans are a terrible
mistake, but he also says, “I concur totally on the W-2 borrowers.

1See Exhibit No. 14, which appears in the Appendix on page 261.
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The worst cases I saw were instances where the W-2 was in the
file and the information was redacted out.” How is that for
unbelievability? You have got a W-2 in the file and the income is
redacted. That is what was going on here.

Then you look at Exhibit 79.1 Another OTS official voiced his
concern over another kind of loan where there is no income and no
asset figures that are shown—this was May 2007—saying that
these are unsafe and unsound. We had Mr. Vanasek on Tuesday,
WaMu’s former Chief Risk Officer, testifying that loan application
forms without verification led to fraud. And in fact, on some loan
application forms, he also testified that WaMu loan officers were
coaching the people who were filing the forms.

Do any banking regulators now ban the practice of no stated
loans and these NINA loans, in other words, where income is not
stated, the so-called stated income loans but there is no proof, and
where NINA loans are allowed? Do you know of any current regu-
lator that disallows those kind of loans?

Mr. RYMER. Sir, it was not in the Non-Traditional Mortgage
Guidance, so other than that, I am not aware of any.

Senator LEVIN. Do you know of any, Mr. Thorson?

Mr. THORSON. I am not aware of anybody doing that now.

Senator LEVIN. Is there now significant proof that stated income
and NINA loans are risky loans?

Mr. THORSON. The ability to state your own income is—especially
I had not seen it before about redacting out W-2s. We talk a lot
about risk here. You are just increasing the risk exponentially
when you do something like that. I guess it still comes down, if I
were on the other side trying to argue, well, the strength of the
borrower, etc. But the problem is, you can’t assess the strength of
the borrower and that has got to be at the foundation of under-
writing, risk assessment, risk management of any of this.

Senator LEVIN. Without that information?

Mr. THORSON. Right.

Senator LEVIN. Right. Do you agree with that, Mr. Rymer?

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir, I do. I really can see no practical reason
from a banker’s perspective or lender’s perspective to encourage
}:’hat;1 That is just, to me, an opportunity to essentially encourage
raud.

Senator LEVIN. Now, on the Option ARMs issue, OTS allowed
Washington Mutual to originate hundreds of billions of dollars in
these Option Adjustable Rate Mortgages, these Option ARMs. OTS
was also allowing the bank to engage in a set of high-risk lending
practices in connection with the Option ARMs. Some of these high-
risk lending practices included low teaser rates as low as 1 percent
in effect for as little as a month to entice borrowers; qualifying bor-
rowers using lower loan payments than they would have to pay if
the loan were recast; allowing borrowers to make minimum pay-
ments, resulting in negatively amortizing loans; approving loans
presuming that rising housing prices and refinancing would enable
borrowers to avoid payment shock and loan defaults.

Now, it was the Option ARM loans in 2008 that was one of the
major reasons that investors and depositors pulled their money

1See Exhibit No. 79, which appears in the Appendix on page 478.
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from the bank, and did those Option ARMs, particularly when con-
nected with those other factors, raise a real safety and soundness
problem at WaMu? Mr. Thorson.

Mr. THORSON. Well, the first thing they do is, of course, they lead
to a negative amortization or building up of the principal. That is
one. Second of all, they mask the ability of the borrower to repay.
If T can elect, as the borrower, a payment that is even less than
the interest, what does that really tell me about my ability to make
normal payments or to pay down the principal?

The other thing, and one that I think you all are dealing with
in the regulatory reform, is the fact that you are not doing the bor-
rower any favor here, either. They may be very tempted to take
this loan with this, I think you termed it a teaser rate. But many
of these rates jumped up 6 months, a year, a very short period of
time, and while a lot of people may believe that they could handle
that or they would figure a way around it or refinance or whatever,
the truth is, they couldn’t. And the only people who really bene-
fitted from these loans were the people who made the commissions
off them. Certainly the borrower, and you see it today in all these
foreclosures, they didn’t get benefit from those loans.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Rymer.

Mr. RYMER. I think what you have here is a combination of not
only very aggressive loan products, the Option ARMs, the purchase
of subprime loans that they did, the home equity line of credit
(HELOC) loans that they did, coupled with lax underwriting stand-
ards, and then over that very lax enterprise risk management proc-
esses. So I think the products themselves were risky. The adminis-
tration of those products, the underwriting of those products were
risky. And then the management and control after those loans were
originated was really inadequate.

Senator LEVIN. I think regulators banned negatively amortizing
credit card loans about 5 years ago. Should we do the same thing
relative to home loans?

Mr. RYMER. Sir, I certainly think it should be considered. I think
there could be cases where, if there is sufficient collateral, suffi-
cient loan-to-value circumstances, that a negatively amoritizing
loan might be considered, but certainly as we saw here, these loans
were extraordinarily risky, and coupled with the Option ARM, they
were extraordinarily risky for the banks. I think you should con-
sider that.

Senator LEVIN. Any comment, Mr. Thorson?

Mr. THORSON. I agree completely with that. I think the truth is,
the strength of the borrower, tremendous strength of a borrower
may make in some odd situation that I can’t really think of, make
that worthwhile. But in that case, you would have a borrower so
strong they wouldn’t need that. Yes, sir, I would agree with Mr.
Rymer on that.

Senator LEVIN. All right. Take a look at Exhibit 1lc,! if you
would. Now, this chart summarizes some of the key criticisms that
OTS made of WaMu each year from the years 2004 to 2008. That
chart is really not the half of it. I want to read you what those ex-
cerpts come from. This is what OTS found in those years.

1See Exhibit No. 1c, which appears in the Appendix on page 199.
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In 2004—this is Exhibit 1d 2—“Underwriting of SFR loans re-
mains less than satisfactory.” One of the three causes of under-
writing deficiency was “a sales culture focused on building market
share.” Further down, “The level of underwriting exceptions in our
samples has been an ongoing examination issue for several years
and one that the management has found difficult to address.” The

“review of 2003 originations disclosed critical error rates as high as
57.3 percent of certain loan samples. . . .”

In 2005, single-family residential Tloan underwrltlng, “This has
been an area of concern for several exams.” The next quote on Ex-
hibit 1d, “[Securitizations] prior to 2003 have horrible performance.

. At 2/05 Long Beach was #1 with a 12% delinquency rate.”
Next, “We continue to have concerns regarding the number of un-
derwriting exceptions and with issues that evidence lack of compli-
ance with Bank policy.”

The next quote, “[Tlhe level of deficiencies, if left unchecked,
could erode the credit quality of the portfolio. Our concerns are in-
creased when the risk profile of the portfolio is considered, includ-
ing concentrations in Option ARM loans to higher-risk borrowers,
in low and limited documentation loans and loans, with subprime
or higher-risk characteristics.”

Then in 2006, first quote on that exhibit, near the bottom,
“[Ulnderwriting errors [] continue to require management’s atten-
tion.” Next, “Overall, we concluded that the number and severity
of underwriting errors noted remain at higher than acceptable lev-
els.” Next, “The findings of this judgmental sample are of par-
ticular concern since loans with risk layering . . . should reflect
more, rather than less, stringent underwriting.”

In 2007, “Underwriting policies, procedures, and practices were
in need of improvement, particularly with respect to stated income
lending.” Next, “Based on our review of 75 subprime loans origi-
nated by LBMC, we concluded that subprime underwriting prac-
tices remain less than satisfactory. . . . Given that this is a repeat
concern, we informed management that underwriting must be
promptly corrected or heightened supervisory action would be
taken.”

Next, 2008, “High single-family losses due in part to downturn
in real estate market but exacerbated by: geographic concentra-
tions, risk layering, liberal underwriting policy, poor underwriting.”

Year after year after year, we have these kind of findings by the
OTS. Would you agree these are serious criticisms, Mr. Thorson?

Mr. THORSON. What it points out is that they were actually find-
ing things. The people on the ground, the people in the banks were
finding things. I wrote down two points you made in your opening
statement. You talked about arm’s length and you talked about ac-
tion sooner, and that is what this is really all about is they were
finding these things. They just were hesitant to do anything about
it.

Senator LEVIN. Were they serious criticisms?

Mr. THORSON. Are they serious?

Senator LEVIN. Yes.

Mr. THORSON. Absolutely.

2See Exhibit No. 1d, which appears in the Appendix on page 200.
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Senator LEVIN. Mr. Rymer, would you agree?

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir. I agree with what Mr. Thorson said. I think
that the examiners, from what I have seen here, were pointing out
the problems, underwriting problems, riskier products, concentra-
tions, distributions, and markets that may display more risk—they
were all significant problems and they were identified. At the end
of the day, though, I don’t think forceful enough action was taken.

Senator LEVIN. But they are serious enough that enforcement ac-
tion was needed because management was not addressing it. Is
that a fair conclusion?

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir, it is.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Thorson, do you agree with that?

Mr. THORSON. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. We cannot find a single formal enforcement ac-
tion that OTS took against WaMu from 2004 to 2008, no board res-
olutions, no memoranda of understanding, no fines. Now, the ques-
tion is whether or not that is typical for OTS, and I would ask you
on this, Mr. Thorson, as you are Treasury IG, you have done, I
think, a number of similar reviews. What were your findings rel-
ative to the speed with which examiners were reacting?

Mr. THORSON. As you have said, we have completed 17 of these,
and we have 33 in progress, and this is both Office of Comptroller
of the Currency and OTS. And one of the things that we have seen
here is the fact this is not unusual. This is pretty commonplace. It
is more than OTS. And it is a matter of they find these things, they
hesitate to take any action, whether it is because they get too close
after so many years or they are just hesitant or maybe even the
amount of fees enters into it. I do not know. But whatever it is,
this is not unique to WaMu and it is not unique to OTS.

Senator LEVIN. Does the FDIC want to comment on this? Do you
have similar findings at FDIC?

Mr. RYMER. Well, sir, we have done 56 material loss reviews so
far. I would say that the comment made earlier about examiners’
ability to identify problems is consistent, and I think they have
done a good job. I would not necessarily say that of those 56 that
we have not seen enforcement actions. We have seen enforcement
actions in many of them. So I would not say that the FDIC was
not taking or not acting on enforcement actions.

Senator LEVIN. In that regard, you have a somewhat different
conclusion or experience than does Mr. Thorson. That is fair
enough.

Now, if you look at Exhibit 32,1 here you will see Lawrence
Carter, who is the examiner-in-charge at WaMu, writing to his
boss, Darrel Dochow, who will be testifying later, writing in 2006,
“At some level, it seems we have to rely on our relationship and
their understanding that we are not comfortable with current un-
derwriting practices and don’t want them to grow significantly
without having the practices cleaned up first. I'm sure we made
that very clear.”

What is your reaction to the comment of the examiner-in-charge
that OTS has to rely on its relationship with WaMu to get them
to clean up their underwriting practices? Does it have to rely on

1See Exhibit No. 32, which appears in the Appendix on page 328.
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its relationship? What about enforcement power? What about the
tools that it has to enforce?

Mr. THORSON. You are exactly right, and we pointed out, I think,
in the testimony that one of the problems here was when they
would point these things out, they relied on WaMu’s systems to tell
them whether these actions were ever taken. And clearly, in any
oversight role, that is unacceptable. So the very foundation of how
they were approaching whether or not these actions were ever cor-
rected or these recommendations were ever corrected is improper.

Senator LEVIN. And as I think you just testified a moment ago,
you observed a similar reluctance to use enforcement tools at other
banks overseen by OTS.

Mr. THORSON. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. Now, if you look at Exhibit 6, OTS apparently
felt it could not force WaMu to change its ways as long as it was
profitable. We have already commented on that, and you have com-
mented on that. Exhibit 6, the OTS examiner-in-charge, Lawrence
Carter, wrote on page 2, “It has been hard for us to justify doing
much more than constantly nagging—(okay, ‘chastising’)—through
ROE and meetings, since they have not been really adversely im-
pacted in terms of losses.” And I think you have already testified
to this, but I think it has got to be really driven home.

Is it proper for an examiner to say that we really cannot do much
more than jawbone or nag because they have not yet really ad-
versely been impacted in terms of losses by the flaws and the mis-
takes that we have identified? Is that proper?

Mr. THORSON. No. In fact, I think I quoted a small excerpt from
their own guidance that mentioned the fact that profitability and
performance of loans is not a qualification to withhold any enforce-
ment action.

Senator LEVIN. All right. And, Mr. Rymer, do you have a com-
ment on that?

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir, just to follow up, I mean, Mr. Thorson was
alluding to the guidance. The OTS guidance says, “If an association
has a high exposure to credit risk, it is not sufficient to dem-
onstrate that the loans are profitable or that the association has
not experienced significant loan losses in the near term.” That is
directly from the OTS Handbook.

Senator LEVIN. Now, in a departure from its usual practices,
OTS did not independently track its finding in WaMu’s responses.
Instead, it relied on WaMu’s ERICS tracking system. Didn’t that
make OTS dependent on WaMu, Mr. Thorson?

Mr. THORSON. I believe it does.

Senator LEVIN. Did you have trouble, both of you, tracking OTS’
findings and whether WaMu implemented them? In other words,
because of the use of a different tracking system, did that give you
trouble to track the OTS findings?

Mr. THORSON. It would in any case because of the fact that it is
not an independent system, and I think to really be effective it has
to be independent. I cannot tell you why OTS does not have an
independent system for tracking these measures of compliance. I do
not know.

1See Exhibit No. 6, which appears in the Appendix on page 224.
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Senator LEVIN. OK. Do you have any comment on that, Mr.
Rymer?

Mr. RYMER. Just to follow up, sir, there were, I think, as you
mentioned, 548 criticisms or observations or recommendations that
were made by OTS examiners, and we tried to track most of those
down. I think there were 50 or so that we really could not deter-
mine what had happened with them, again, because they were in
the books and records of the bank and not OTS.

Senator LEVIN. And not independently able to track them?

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir, that is correct.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you. Dr. Coburn.

Senator COBURN. Thank you all for your testimony. As I sat here
and listened to both the opening statement of the Chairman and
to your statements, I come to the conclusion that actually investors
would have been better off had there been no OTS because, in es-
sence, the investors could not get behind the scene to see what was
essentially misled by OTS because they had faith the regulators
were not finding any problems, when, in fact, the record shows
there are tons of problems, just there was no action taken on it.
Was OTS’ behavior that we see in the record, and as outlined by
the Chairman, worse than not having—or not doing anything? I
mean, we had people continually investing in this business on the
basis—as a matter of fact, they raised an additional $7 billion be-
fore they collapsed, on the basis that OTS said everything was fine,
when, in fact, OTS knew everything was not fine and was not get-
ting it changed. Would you agree with that statement or not?

Mr. THORSON. Yes, sir. I think I pulled back a point in my state-
ment that said basically assigning a “satisfactory” rating when con-
ditions are not is contrary to the very purpose for which regulators
use a rating system. I think that is what you are saying.

Senator COBURN. Any comments on that, Mr. Rymer.

Mr. RYMER. I would agree with Mr. Thorson.

Senator COBURN. OK. Mr. Thorson, in your testimony you say
that WaMu failed because its management pursued a high-risk
business strategy that loosened underwriting too much. It is your
belief that the high-risk strategy could have been OK with proper
controls in place?

Mr. THORSON. I think almost any system, by definition, proper
risk controls would say, yes, we can control that. So I guess to
some degree, yes, you could say that. But the real-life examples are
once you begin to institute those kind of policies and become much
more lax, and especially in underwriting, which is really your safe-
guard, your final look before you do these packages, it is pretty
hard to really understand what kind of a system you would put in
place to control that. But definition-wise, yes. In the real world,
probably not.

Senator COBURN. And also the amount as relative to the risk of
the risky instruments that you are procuring and selling.

Mr. THORSON. Right.

Senator COBURN. On page 6 of your testimony, you said, “OTS
relied largely on WaMu management to track progress in cor-
recting examiner-identified weaknesses and accepted assurances
from WaMu management and its board of directors that problems
would be solved.” Do you mean to imply by this that OTS had no
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system in place to find out if WaMu was correcting the problems
it said it was? And was there any evidence that if WaMu said it
was correcting the problem, they went back in to see if, in fact,
that happened?

Mr. THORSON. It is my understanding that they relied on
WaMu’s system for tracking.

Senator COBURN. So there was no secondary follow-up by OTS to
changes that were requested by OTS. They took the assurance that
WaMu had completed the changes and they trusted WaMu.

Mr. THORSON. Not to my knowledge, but I will check that to
make sure, because I want to give them credit. If they did have a
system and I am just not aware of it, I want to make sure you
know that. So I will certainly double-check that and provide it for
you. But I am not aware of one.

Senator COBURN. To your knowledge, was it common practice at
OTSd (1);0 issue recommendations to banks and then simply take their
word?

Mr. THORSON. Yes.

Senator COBURN. OK. Was WaMu an exception to that? In other
words, did they do that with the rest of the thrifts?

Mr. THORSON. I would prefer to make sure I am accurate on that.
I would like to give you a follow-up answer on that because I want
to make sure I am correct.

[The information follows:]

INFORMATION PROVIDED FOR THE RECORD

“OTS tracked the status of WaMu'’s progress in correcting findings in WaMu’s own
Enterprise Risk Issue Control System (ERICS). According to OTS, WaMu was the
only thrift OTS monitored in this manner. Other thrifts under OTS superision are
monitored 1}’sing OTS’ internal Examination Data System/Reports of Examination

(EDS/ROE).

Senator COBURN. Mr. Rymer, join in here.

Mr. RYMER. I believe, sir, that as far as I can tell, WaMu was
unique in the fact that OTS does have a tracking system, at least
in place now, and perhaps it was put in place recently. But WaMu
was the only bank, I believe, OTS said that it was allowing to track
its own recommendations.

Senator COBURN. Well, I would have no doubt that OTS has a
system today, especially in light of the hearings that have been
held. It would be important if you all could give us what your find-
ings were in terms of when you saw that, because if, in fact, you
are looking at WaMu, you have got to be looking at OTS as you
did that. When, in fact, did they institute that system? Or did they
have that system in place all along and ignored it with WaMu? Be-
cause now we have become criminally negligent if, in fact, we are
using selective tools of enforcement for one thrift organization as
to another.

Is it true in your findings that there was no internal tracking
system at OTS to look at all of their enforcement actions against
WaMu?

Mr. THORSON. No. In fact, as I go back and look at the longer
statement, one thing I think I can make pretty clear with that is
the examiners told us they had a process for reviewing the correc-
tive actions, but they took, as you termed it, the ERICS reports,
they divided them up among the OTS examiners based on each ex-
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aminer’s area of responsibility. Then each examiner was respon-
sible for determining whether the ERICS reports—in other words,
WaMu’s internal reports—properly reflected the status of the find-
ings and then, if satisfied, they just sign off.

Senator COBURN. Without a follow-up check-up.

Mr. THORSON. Right.

Senator COBURN. Mr. Rymer, you note in your testimony some
of the parallels between IndyMac, which failed in July 2008, and
Washington Mutual. How should the IndyMac failure have in-
formed the FDIC’s handling of Washington Mutual?

Mr. RYMER. I think the IndyMac failure and the issues that we
raised with access to information and back-up examination author-
ity at WaMu were similar to the issues we raised at IndyMac. That
is why we made that comparison.

Senator COBURN. Now for both of you, and I will finish up here
real quick, Mr. Chairman. In your joint report today, you lay out
the problem of third-party brokers. WaMu had only 14 employees
overseeing 34,000 third-party mortgage brokers. What would have
been the right amount of supervising employees for that number of
third-party brokers?

Mr. THORSON. Well, the one thing to remember is that each one
of those brokers was certainly providing more than one loan, so you
can multiply that by another some unknown factor, depending on
whatever the average number of loans is that those brokers pro-
vided. So now you are way above 34,000. I cannot even guess as
to what the supervisory number would have to be, but it probably
would have required them moving to a building roughly the size of
the Pentagon.

Senator COBURN. We see over and over again that OTS dedicated
a great number of hours and personnel to the supervision of
WaMu, yet problems never got truly addressed. In other words, the
folks were on the ground identifying the problems, but the prob-
lems essentially were not getting solved. And that is not to say that
some were not, but, obviously, the fundamental problems that led
to their demise were not getting solved.

Any summary of where you look or where the breakdown was at
OTS? Was it the western manager? Was it guidelines? Was it the
failure to follow guidelines that would account for the ineffective-
ness of the OTS?

Mr. THORSON. We talked about asset quality, and we talked
about underwriting and also management, all three of those. It is
not any one thing. I mean, it was really something pervasive, and
it really comes down to following a greater desire to do whatever
you could do to increase profits. When you really get down to it,
that is what this was all about. We are going to increase the risk
inh order to increase our profitability, and it does not matter
what——

Senator COBURN. Yes, but I am talking about OTS. I am not
talking about WaMu. By your statement, it would imply almost
that OTS is an enabler of this effort rather than an enabler of
making sure that the American people’s taxpayer dollars and the
trust in institutions that are supposed to be regulated by an agency
of the Federal Government can be trusted.

Mr. THORSON. Right.
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Senator COBURN. In both of your assessments, as you looked at
this and you look at OTS—and this is a huge example of regulatory
failure. Where was it? Is it in their guidelines? Is it in their man-
agement? Is it in their upper management? Is it in their auditing
of their own processes? Where is the failure that allowed them to
allow their largest “customer”—which I reject—to continue to do
things that were to the detriment of the institution they were sup-
posed to be safeguarding?

Mr. THORSON. I think that question really comes down to the
core of what all this is about, because the truth is it starts at the
bottom where there is interaction between the regulators and the
banks, and this gets back to, again, whether you have an arm’s-
length relationship, whether the proper regulations, policies for
OTS, or any regulator, for that matter, are in place, and whether
or not from the bottom up are those policies enforced, and when
people are becoming lax, does somebody in the supervisory role
come down and say these are the policies, these are what you are
going to do, that is why we regulate. And in this case, clearly that
was not done.

Senator COBURN. But the data that we showed showed that the
people on the ground, the ones that are actually doing the auditing,
actually were following guidelines, were they not?

Mr. THORSON. Yes, at least in the instances you pointed out.

Senator COBURN. So that would exclude the people on the
ground, so the problem is above them. So where is it? Where was
it in this instance? Maybe you are hesitant to point a finger, but
the fact is you all have looked at this. You have done a study.
Where was the problem? If it was not with the people on the
ground reporting and identifying the problems, where was the
problem? I am trying to get you all to say it. We are going to even-
tually say it, but you all have looked at this.

Mr. THORSON. Right, and I am certainly not hesitant to say I
found exactly that. We did point out the one case which was very
much a concern to us where the regional director did override his
own people and accepted what they saw as a much more lax board
resolution that was written by the bank itself. That is a good exam-
ple of what you are talking about. Whether that continued above
them or below them, I cannot tell you, but that is certainly one ex-
ample. And as I pointed out, we found that same example, that
same individual, involved in IndyMac.

Senator COBURN. Mr. Rymer.

Mr. RYMER. Dr. Coburn, I think you have made the point very
well that the examiners in the field in my view were identifying
problems. This was a very large institution, and the ultimate deter-
mination about what the CAMELS rating was going to be would
be made at least at the regional level, if not at the national level.

Senator COBURN. All right. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. THORSON. And if you do not mind, I would like to just add
that one piece. I was being generic when I said it starts at the bot-
tom with—that is an overall in any regulatory group. That was not
aimed at the people here at OTS.

Senator COBURN. No, I understand that, and the record is pretty
clear. I am sure there is some of that that goes on even within
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bank examiners, etc. But overall I think the management of the
regulatory framework failed miserably in this case.

Mr. THORSON. And I think in the Chairman’s documents you
point out a whole list of finding after finding after finding. Those
would not have come forward if you did not have good people on
the ground.

Senator COBURN. That is right.

Senator LEVIN. If I could add a comment, if Senator Kaufman
will forgive me for just throwing in my own comment here in re-
sponse to the question that Dr. Coburn raised, the culture is set
at the top, and this culture here was that these banks are constitu-
ents. They are not constituents of the regulator. They are supposed
to be regulated by the regulator. They are supposed to be the cop.
And when you deal with folks as though these are your constitu-
ents, it sets exactly the wrong tone. And when you revise docu-
ments which have teeth in them, as they did at the top, and pull
those teeth out of the documents, that sets a tone which is trans-
mitted to people below in the field. Would you agree with that?

Mr. THORSON. Absolutely, yes.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you. Mr. Rymer, do you agree with that?

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir, I would.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you. Senator Kaufman.

Senator KAUFMAN. I would like to make a statement. We have
trouble sometimes getting bipartisan agreement. I would say with-
out a doubt we have incredible bipartisan agreement on this spe-
cific issue. I think Senator Coburn has put his finger on something,
and I would like to go into it a little deeper because the other day
when we had hearings, the risk managers repeatedly said that the
examiners on the ground were doing a great job of pointing out
what the problems were and reinforcing opinions that they were
presenting to the management of WaMu. And they said uniformly
that people higher up the level at OTS were not following up what
the examiners were saying.

Now, I think when we are starting to talk about what the prob-
lem is here, that is a big problem. And so I think that Senator
Coburn is right on point, and I would like you just to search your
mind one more time. Why did this happen? We have got the exam-
iners on the ground saying their problems one year after another,
and yet every time it goes up the chain, there is a lot of allegations
about what went wrong, but I would really like the two of you to
say what you think are the one or two reasons why the risk man-
agers yesterday said that as we go up the chain, we have more and
more of a problem at OTS repeatedly over all these years.

Mr. RYMER. Senator Kaufman, let me start by saying I think the
problem in 2005, 2006, and into 2007, the problem was the bank
was profitable. I think there was a great reluctance to, even though
problems were there in underwriting, the product mix, the distribu-
tion process, the origination process, all in my view extraordinarily
risky, not things perhaps that should not be done, but certainly if
they are done, they need to be done in some moderation, certainly
with some control environment. And I did not see in this bank’s
case an adequate control of its environment.

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Rymer, if you were running OTS, and
your largest customer was having reports like this from your exam-
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iners, and they were making money. Let us say we are a year from
now. What would you do? Would you say, well, they are making
money, it is going to be very difficult politically to move forward
on this?

Mr. RYMER. My view is that often times in examinations, if asset
quality is sufficient in the CAMELS rating, the A being the asset
quality, the M being management, and if a bank is profitable and
is not yet showing significant delinquency in the charge-offs, the
af)?et quality piece is sometimes hard to downgrade if it is profit-
able.

But the management piece, even despite the fact that the bank
is showing current profitability, the management piece should be,
in my view, downgraded if management has not demonstrated that
it has built the adequate systems and control processes and govern-
ance processes to help manage problems when they eventually do
occur in assets. So in this case, I can see really no reason at all,
once the problems were identified and the concentrations were
identified in the types of assets, the distribution processes, all
those things, once those were identified, I find it difficult to under-
stand why the management rating at a minimum was not lowered
much earlier on.

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Thorson.

Mr. THORSON. The other part here, too, I think—and you put it
an interesting way. What would you do if you were head of it?

One of the things that would touch on what Senator Levin said,
too, is I would tell them forget about the earnings, that is not our—
it is part of what we measure as far as the solidity, but it also, un-
fortunately, lends to the fact I am looking at these guys as a con-
stituent because I think in my testimony I mentioned they pay us,
OTS, $30 million a year. So we want to kind of be careful about
that. That should be made very clear from top to bottom that is not
a factor. It just is not.

Second of all, you want to look at what is guidance and what is
regulation, and maybe you need to tighten some of that up. Guid-
ance is optional. Maybe we do not necessarily have to do this if we
do not want to take this action. Regulation needs to be enforced—
emphasized that enforcement of those regulations is also manda-
tory. That is why it is called a regulation. And maybe that is some-
thing that, as you look at regulatory reform, you look at as to what
EQ,‘hould be guidance and what should be an actual regulatory re-
orm.

Senator KAUFMAN. Is it important who you pick to head up these
agencies with their state of mind? Isn’t that an important part of
whether they are going to be successful? I mean, someone that has
the internal makings to say I know you are making money, but
what you are doing is really bad and you have to stop doing it.
How much of a role does that play in how we get around solving
this problem in the future? Mr. Rymer.

Mr. RYMER. I think that people in leadership positions have to
be willing to make the tough calls and be experienced enough to
know that today’s risky practices may show today profitability, but
to explain to management and enforce with regulatory action that
risky profitability is going to have a cost. It either has a cost in
control processes an institution would have to invest in now, or it
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is going to have a cost ultimately to the bank’s profitability and
perhaps eventually to the Deposit Insurance Fund. So that is the
tough decision I think that has to be made, that has to be enforced
constantly.

Senator KAUFMAN. And, Mr. Thorson, I have been around this
place for a long time, not as a Senator but as a staff person, and
we can only write the laws so much. But it is truly scary when you
read this report—where it seems to me clear that the problem here
was that we had good Federal examiners out there saying there is
a problem here, and the management not doing it. And I just do
not see it in the report, and I think it is key as we move forward—
we have good people out there doing the jobs and being the exam-
iners, the career employees that we have. But if you put the wrong
people in charge, we can write the laws any way we want to, but
if they are not going to go after a company because they are mak-
ing money.

I want to shift to something a little different, but it is all on the
same point, and that is, I read your causes of WaMu’s failure, and
I see WaMu failed because its management pursued a high-risk
business strategy without adequately underwriting its loans or con-
trolling its risks.

That sounds great. I do not think that is what went on here. I
really do not. And I think unfortunately you were not here for the
hearing the other day, but I think if you sat there and watched
what went on and listened to the Chairman’s questioning and went
through the exhibits, you would say that is not why they failed.
Right, Mr. Chairman? They did not fail because management pur-
sued a high-risk business strategy without adequately under-
writing its loans or controlling its risks.

Would both of you comment on what you believe happened here?

Mr. THORSON. It certainly is a contributing factor.

Senator KAUFMAN. No, but the thing is that is the sentence right
here. It does not say, “A contributing factor was . . .” It says—and
I am not parsing words, I am not trying to parse words.

Mr. THORSON. No. I understand.

Senator KAUFMAN. And I am not even critical. I am just trying
to say it seemed to me there were all kinds of things going on here
that were—I will get into characterizing it a little later. They were
doing things that were reported up here—this was not high-risk
business strategy. They were doing bad things. And the examiners
were saying they were doing bad things.

Do you understand my frustration with reading “pursuit of the
high-risk business strategy.” Isn’t that kind of a cold-blooded way
of letting everybody off the hook? This was a bad business decision.
Nothing went on here.

Mr. THORSON. I appreciate your very much straightforward lan-
guage on that, and certainly I can tell you from myself on down,
it is not to let anyone off the hook.

I appreciate what you are saying, and I guess what I am saying
is I completely agree with you and your frustration, because, I
mean, this is what we deal with every day, is we go and measure
against the regulations and the rules and how did they do this and
how did they do that.
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But the bottom line is just what you are talking about, and espe-
cially the comment you made to Mr. Rymer, which was, did they
have the guts to say knock it off, stop it? And that is really what
it comes down to. When you are hiring regulators, that is what you
want. And I think what obviously all this paper really says is, No,
it did not happen.

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Rymer, same thing.

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir.

Senator KAUFMAN. But, in retrospect, maybe there is another
sentence that would have gone in there? It was a failure by man-
agement to police what they were doing. There were all kinds of
things that went on that were highly questionable. And the people
at the top of the Office of Thrift Supervision really did not do what
you would have done faced with a similar situation with a record
like this. This was not just a 6-month record. This was years of
people knowing what it is doing. And for whatever reason, they did
not move forward. Is that a fair—and I am looking for an honest
correction if I am saying something that is not

Mr. THORSON. No. It is. And, in fact, in the report I believe it
mentions the fact—a very small amount because we do not get into
that, but we do talk about fraud indicators and that those are
being investigated, and we leave it at that.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. THORSON. But I think that is part of what you are talking
about, too.

Senator KAUFMAN. That is kind of what I am talking about. I
mean, the first time I heard that, I thought somebody was kidding
me. I go into a bank, and they say, “How much do you make?” And
I say, “$500,000 a year.” They say, “OK. You can get a $2 million
mortgage.” Moving right along, what is the next question?

I would just like to review a little bit of what you said earlier
because I want to put it in context. But both of you said stated in-
come loans. What do the two of you think about stated income
loans?

Mr. RYMER. I do not think they should be allowed. I think that
if a bank is going to advance funds, secured or unsecured, they cer-
tainly need to verify who they are lending to and verify the repay-
ment sources.

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Thorson

Mr. THORSON. At the very core of this is the ability to repay, and
that is a big part of the ability to repay, is how much income does
this individual have. And if I just tell you, I do not think that—
I was very surprised when I first saw these, too. Nobody has ever
given me that opportunity, so I just figured there is no way. But
it evidently has occurred a lot.

Senator KAUFMAN. OK. I am going to do something a little tricky
here. In your report, what percentage do you think of all WaMu’s
home equity loans were stated income loans? Take a wild guess.
No, not allowed to look, Mr. Rymer. Take a wild guess.

Mr. RYMER. As I remember, that number was somewhere in the
70-percent range.

Senator KAUFMAN. And, Mr. Thorson, what do you think?

Mr. THORSON. Sixty percent?
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Senator KAUFMAN. Would you be surprised if I told you that ap-
proximately 90 percent of all WaMu’s home equity loans were stat-
ed income loans. Now, folks, when you are writing a report—and,
again, I have spent a lot of time on this, plus I have the advantage
of hearing the witnesses the other day and the rest of it, so I have
a different view. And you are doing your report, and you are doing
a good job, and I am not being critical. But if you have a company
where 90 percent of their home equity loans are stated loans, a
practice which you both define as just exactly—I mean, you did it
much more articulately, but just you should not be doing that in
a bank. You have got to think maybe that was one of the causes
that things went the way they did.

Let me ask you, the Option ARMs, these are high-risk loans, Op-
tion ARMs, right? I will not do the same thing. Seventy-three per-
cent of all Option ARMs were stated income loans.

Mr. RYMER. I wish you had asked me that one, Senator. I knew
that one.

Senator KAUFMAN. You had that one. [Laughter.]

Mr. THORSON. So did I.

Senator KAUFMAN. I am going to shut up for a minute, just for
a minute, and in 50 percent of subprime loans—I mean, here you
are dealing with someone who comes into your office and is classi-
fied as a subprime loan, and you say to them, “What is your in-
come?” And you write it down, and that is it. Would you say that
is one of the causes of this meltdown?

Mr. THORSON. No, I mean, clearly—in any professional banking
operation—that is not acceptable. You have to be able to verify,
and I think all of us have experienced loans throughout our lives
where the verification process of almost everything, every piece of
paper that we submitted was rigorous. And where we parted ways
with that philosophy I am not sure, but I do remember now the 90-
percent number, and it is staggering. That is the only way to say
it.

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Rymer, I mean, isn’t that a systemic
problem?

Mr. RYMER. Taken together, all those products were very risky,
and certainly when you look at the fact that was the bank’s busi-
ness, certainly it created a very risky organization.

Senator KAUFMAN. When you have something like this where 90
percent of the home equity loans, 73 percent of the Option ARMs,
and 50 percent of the subprime are stated income loans, that has
to be policy right at the very top of the organization, right? I mean,
that is not just happening because somebody down in Long Beach
decided that is what they were going to do. This is the very top of
the organization. And when you have cases like the Chairman stat-
ed where they redacted the W-2, they got a stated income loan to
begin with. Now they get the W-2. Now they redact the W-2.

What do you do as a regulator when you detect fraud? First off,
do you think at least there is the potential for fraud when you find
90 percent, 73 percent, and 50 percent? Is that on its face

Mr. THORSON. I think you could easily—what was the term? A
target-rich environment.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes, target-rich. That is good. I like that.
That is a target-rich environment. What do you do as a regulator
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when you find a target-rich environment in one of the institutions
that you are regulating?

Mr. RYMER. In this case, because of the stated income program—
the numbers were huge. The bank was the victim of the fraud be-
cause of their lax controls.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. RYMER. Now, the fix to that is to increase the controls. All
the recommendations that were made of the 500 or so findings
were to improve those controls.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. RYMER. But the bank was the victim of that fraud. But fraud
in that case is an indicator of just how lax the controls were.

Senator KAUFMAN. Well, when you say the bank, people get the
indication like it was the people running the bank who somehow
are suffering. I think the CEO made—because of the fact they were
able to expand their mortgages, have more mortgages, do more
mortgage-backed securities, everybody in the bank was making a
lot more money.

Mr. RYMER. Well, let me explain. I mean, the bank was the ini-
tial victim, but certainly as those mortgages passed through the
system, there were lots more people harmed from that fraud than
just the bank.

Senator KAUFMAN. Correct.

Mr. THORSON. And we commented in the report that in 2007,
WaMu itself identified fraud losses of $51 million for subprime
loans and $27 million for prime loans. That is a big number, and
at some point, as you say, top management—I mean, you are talk-
ing about $78 million right there. Somebody is going to want to
take a look at how that happened and what are we doing to stop
it.

Senator KAUFMAN. But even beyond that, I mean, don’t you have
kind of an obligation at some point, when you get numbers—I
mean, that was in good times. God only knows when we went back
and looked at what happened to mortgage-backed securities that
ultimately went toxic, as the Chairman says. I mean, at some point
you just say, yes, the bank is getting hurt and this and that, but
there are some people involved and those who were committing
fraud.

Mr. THORSON. Yes.

Senator KAUFMAN. Now, at some point when you come across a
fraud, you refer it to the Justice Department, is that how it works?

Mr. THORSON. The regulators refer it to us and to the Justice De-
partment. The bank can refer it certainly. There are a number of
ways to go here. My guess is a number of those paths were fol-
lowed. So yes. And there are active cases.

Senator KAUFMAN. So bank regulators could make not only civil,
but also criminal referrals?

Mr. THORSON. Yes.

Senator KAUFMAN. If there was fraud involved? Mr. Rymer, is
this normal?

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir, it is. It is normal.

Senator KAUFMAN. When is it inappropriate not to make criminal
referrals to Justice? Is there any place? I mean, if you find fraud,
it is pretty——

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00043 Fmt6633 Sfmt6633 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

30

Mr. RYMER. Well, I think the bank employees as they found it
would have an obligation to complete a Suspicious Activity Report
and that would work its way up through to the Justice Depart-
ment.

Senator KAUFMAN. But if they didn’t, would the regulators do—
clearly in this example, everybody—if, in fact, there was fraud—ev-
erybody was doing well. We had a report yesterday where it
showed that the compensation for people that did the Option ARMs
and subprime, they were compensated better if, in fact, they could
turn up more mortgages in that market.

So it is in nobody’s interest in the bank—you don’t even hear
about it. I mean, this isn’t even up here on the things where people
are talking about what the bank is doing. And the regulations in
the report that they are doing way too many stated income loans,
as far as I know, anyway, it wasn’t raised the other day and I am
not seeing it anywhere else. So nobody in the bank was worried
about the risk regulators. Mr. Vanasek and Mr. Cathcart were con-
cerned. So how does it work, then? Does the regulator, is this up
to OTS to make the referral?

Mr. THORSON. In some cases, the regulator, if they find an indi-
cator of fraud, they can make a referral and will, and I have no
doubt that they do. And, in fact, obviously, people inside the bank
could also do that, not necessarily—I mean, there are all kinds of
avenues to do that, anonymously and otherwise but, as a regulator
or as a bank employee or, frankly, almost anybody associated with
this, if I had ever found a W-2 that had been redacted, I figure we
hit a gold mine.

Senator KAUFMAN. Especially engaged in a business practice
which both of you admit is

Mr. THORSON. What possible reason would you have to redact a
W-2 except for the fact that the number doesn’t match what you
have reported?

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Rymer.

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir, it is a significant problem. The U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office in Seattle has a task force for WaMu—actually for
WaMu fraud.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. RYMER. So, I mean, they are aware of it and are working the
issue. Our office has folks contributing there. I have special inves-
tigators working that task force as well as the FBI and so forth.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right. And so when you have a situation
where not just a redacted loan, but 90 percent of all WaMu’s home
equity loans are stated income, I would just say, a target-rich envi-
ronment.

I mean, it seems so systemic—90 percent—that clearly the top
management of the company was well aware of what was hap-
pening here with stated income loans. They may not have known
about the redacting down in the field, but essentially they were
saying, OK, stated income loans. That is fine. It doesn’t matter, the
size of the mortgage. The size of the mortgage can be as big—they
testified yesterday, I think, didn’t they, Mr. Chairman, that there
was no limit on the size of the mortgages that you could get under
stated income.

Senator LEVIN. That is right.
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Senator KAUFMAN. And so, basically, whatever mortgage we have
got, that is what we are doing. We are going to have stated income.
It is going to be the policy here.

And then what we do is we say to people, look, you want to make
a lot of money? These are the products that we are willing to sell
in order to do that, and we are going to compensate you a heck of
a lot better if you do that. And then we say, in an environment
where Wall Street says the faster you can put these mortgage-
backed securities, just get these mortgage-backed securities, just
get us the mortgages, and then we can put them together and we
can sell them and they are out of your hair, do some repurchase
agreements on some of them, and you are down the road and we
are all going to come out a lot better.

I am just finishing with that, either of your thoughts on that.

Mr. RYMER. My general view is that there is a lot of truth to
what you said. There was the idea that these mortgages passed
through so many hands so quickly, the idea was that no one was
going to be really harmed by the fraud. Or if they were harmed,
it wasn’t the originator who was going to be harmed, it was some-
one down the line.

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Thorson.

Mr. THORSON. I completely agree, and also, as I mentioned ear-
lier, too, these types of loans really didn’t help the borrowers at all.
Look at the state of foreclosures we have in this country now and
the pain and suffering that goes with that. And whether people
thought that they could figure a way around this when it finally
was time to pay, I guess maybe they did. But the only reason that
this succeeded was because of the financial gains that were made
by the people making these loans.

Senator KAUFMAN. You know what most scares me about this?
It is, I think, that not just here, but in credit default swaps, so
much went on on Wall Street, we have rewarded people who essen-
tially said, I know what is going wrong here, but I can’t stop doing
it because I am making so much money. And, when it all goes bad,
it is OK to leave it to the taxpayer, but I will have my money and
I will have my second home and I will have my pool. I will have
everything I need, and the bank goes under. Like you said, Mr.
Rymer, the bank is the one that goes under. People lose their jobs
in the banks. The shareholders lose their equity. People lose their
homes. But you know what? I have mine.

We are doing some things in this regard, but I don’t think we
have done enough to let people know you can’t do that in this coun-
try and get away with it, because if you can, they will just keep
doing it. They will come up with a different way to kind of push
the product down the line, some new way to wrap it up in some-
thing special that no one understands, sell it, and I am out of here
and I made the price that I made.

So it is one of those things, Mr. Chairman, that I think runs
through so much of this. We have created an environment where
people know they can make a lot of money, and all you have to do
is read all the big stories, too big to fail, 13 bankers, and so on.

So anyway, I want to really thank you, not just for this but for
your service, and I wish that one of you had been the head of OTS
during this period. Thank you.
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Senator LEVIN. I want you to take a look at Exhibit 44,1 if you
would. We are going to hear later on from who was then the Direc-
tor of OTS, Mr. Reich. But this is an email from Mr. Reich to Mr.
Killinger. This is dated in July 2008. I want to give you a little bit
of background to this memo.

This is where he is telling Kelly—he calls him by his first
name—Kerry—“sorry to communicate by email. I've left a couple
messages on your office phone but I'm guessing you may be off for
a long weekend,” and he is “wrestling with the issue of a MOU
versus a Board Resolution,” a Memorandum of Understanding
versus a Board Resolution as the result of a conversation in his of-
fice and he has decided that MOU is the right approach. And, he
says, “We almost always do a MOU for 3-rated institutions,” and
now they are 3-rated, because in February 2008, they downgraded
them from a 2 to a 3.

And then he says, “We almost always do a MOU for 3-rated in-
stitutions, and if someone were looking over our shoulders, they
would probably be surprised that we don’t already have one in
place.” I guess the head of OTS didn’t think there was anybody
looking over his shoulder, but we ought to be shocked that there
is not a Memorandum of Understanding in place since that was
their common policy.

Now, I want to go into a little bit of the background, because it
is worse than that. We will come back to this memo. Go back to
February 2008. I talked about this in my opening statement. OTS
downgraded WaMu from a 2 to a 3. Now, once you go from a 2 to
a 3, which signifies a troubled bank, OTS policy requires you to
issue a public Memorandum of Understanding at the same time
aimed at correcting those deficiencies. OTS did not do that. We will
ask Mr. Reich about that when he is testifying. But instead, OTS
waited until the next month and accepted a non-public Board Reso-
lution. That is the background.

So first, instead of doing a Memorandum of Understanding,
which is public, it is a non-public Board Resolution. September 7,
2008, as we know, OTS finally, after being prodded by FDIC, went
to a 4. But now let us talk about going to the 3.

I want to go to the memorandum, Exhibit 44.1 I find this to be
an extraordinary document. First of all, an apology, to Kerry, com-
municating by email. This is the regulator who is head of an orga-
nization that has been presumably pointing out defects in this
bank’s operations, including fraudulent operations, for 4 years. It
starts off with an apology. “Tried a couple messages on your office
phone, didn’t reach you, so I am going to send you an email.” “He
has been wrestling,” he says, “with the issue of the MOU versus
a Board Resolution.” I don’t know how much more wrestling you
have got to do. But he has been wrestling that issue.

He has decided MOU is the right approach in this situation. And
then he says, “we almost always do that MOU for 3-rated institu-
tions, and if someone were looking over our shoulders, they prob-
ably would be surprised we don’t already have one in place.” They
sure would be. And then they say a few other things.

1See Exhibit No. 44, which appears in the Appendix on page 366.
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And then he says, “[Als much as I would like to be able to say
a Board Resolution is the appropriate regulatory response, I don’t
really believe it is.” I don’t know why he would like to be able to
say a Board Resolution is appropriate instead of a MOU when his
own policies provided for a MOU and they have been dawdling for
all these months. But that is what he tells Kerry.

And then he says, near the bottom, “I do believe we need to do
a MOU. We don’t consider it a disclosable event, and we also think
the investment community won’t be surprised if they learn of it
and would probably only be surprised to learn one didn’t already
exist.” They sure would be. And then he is apologizing again. “I am
sorry to communicate this decision by email. Best regards.” Kerry
signs it, John.

I find this to be kind of a cozy relationship, to put it mildly, that
is reflected in this memorandum, in a very deferential, apologetic
email, long overdue by years, months on the downgrading of the
bank. Apologetic, deferential.

And then a few months earlier, apparently this proposed MOU
had been shared up the chain, and here we get an interesting reac-
tion, back in July, I guess, when they were first putting this MOU
together. This came from Mr. Dochow, who we will hear from also
later on, going up the chain to Mr. Ward. This is Exhibit 44, by
the way—I am sorry, 45. Let me point to Exhibit 45.1

Down at the bottom of page one, you will see that it is from Mr.
Ward to Mr. Dochow saying, on the WaMu MOU, “Why did we run
it by FDIC but not me?” That is the first question he asked. And
then Mr. Dochow answers, “You make a good point, I apologize,
and attached is the MOU for your review. I will make any changes
you want and it has not yet gone to the company. . . . The MOU
came up yesterday in a call I had with John Reich and Scott
Polakoff, and then by John Reich with COB Steve Frank. It went
to the FDIC because I committed to Stan Ivie,” who I guess is at
the FDIC, “to consider their comments in an effort to minimize
their letter writing and posturing.”

This is the beginning of a very strange relationship, which I will
get to in a minute, but the point of this is at the top of that Exhibit
45, where Scott Polakoff, who is apparently high up in the OTS,
says, “Thanks for sharing this document,” and then notice what he
says. “It is, unfortunately, another example of a benign supervisory
document.” It is still benign, apparently, according to the higher-
up at OTS.

Is that not, that whole MOU issue, does that not strike you as
just simply incredible, that first of all you don’t have a MOU to
begin with although policy provides that it be issued once you have
a downgrading from a 2 to a 3? It is delayed. They accept instead
of a MOU a Board Resolution, which is not public. Months and
months go by. Finally, they decide, OK, apologetically twice in an
email to the people they are supposed to be regulating, sorry we
couldn’t reach you. We have tried twice. Why the hell isn’t the
bank getting back in 10 minutes to the regulator?

1See Exhibit No. 45, which appears in the Appendix on page 368.
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So does this strike you as being a reflection of a very cozy rela-
tionship with much too much deference and much too much apol-
ogy, Mr. Thorson?

Mr. THORSON. Yes, sir, and the other part here, too, is the deci-
sion as to whether to do an informal or non-public action versus a
formal or a public action. Again, he sort of apologizes in the pre-
vious document that this could become known. This gets right to
the heart of what you were talking about, the culture. I mean, that
is really what you are talking about. We don’t want to do anything
to hurt, and there is not an acceptance of the fact that a strong reg-
ulatory control helps them——

Senator LEVIN. And helps the public.

Mr. THORSON. Absolutely.

Senator LEVIN. And is their job.

Mr. THORSON. Right.

Senator LEVIN. And protects the economy.

Mr. THORSON. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. So far too cozy for you, as well?

Mr. THORSON. It is what?

Senator LEVIN. This is far too cozy?

Mr. THORSON. Absolutely, as far as I am concerned, yes.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Rymer, do you have any reaction to this?

Mr. RYMER. It does indicate a level of familiarity that makes me
uncomfortable.

Senator LEVIN. Now let us talk about the relationship between
the Treasury and the FDIC, or the OTS, more accurately, and the
FDIC, because there was a real strain which occurred here and I
want to get to it with them, but I want to first ask you about it.

OTS and FDIC, they addressed the risk at WaMu from some-
what different perspectives. You have got OTS looking at the safety
and soundness of WaMu. You have got a CAMELS rating that they
use. The FDIC is assessing the risk to the Insurance Fund with the
LIDI rating, it is called. The ratings differ somewhat, and I won’t
go into the detail on them, but the point I want to get to is whether
or not what you saw, you had OTS and FDIC working together
here or whether or not there was some inappropriate blocking of
access by OTS to FDIC’s access to the bank data.

We have gone through some of the documents, I believe, already,
and I think you are familiar with them, are you, Mr. Rymer?

Mr. RYMER. [Nodding head.]

Senator LEVIN. And can I ask both of you, in your judgment,
whether or not OTS should have allowed the FDIC to help here.

Mr. RYMER. Yes, sir. It is clear to me that they should have. I
think the FDIC, by requesting back-up examination authority in
2005, 2006, 2007, and 2008, indicated that they had concerns and
those concerns were principally driven by its own LIDI analysis.
Not to go into too much detail, but the LIDI analysis is looking a
little bit broader, at broader indicators than just the internal oper-
ations of the bank. It is looking at competitive factors and macro-
economic factors in an attempt to identify the risk that a failure
would cause a loss to the DIF.

So there is no question in my mind that the FDIC’s request for
back-up authority, simply given the sheer size of WaMu, was, to
me, enough reason for FDIC to ask for back-up authority.
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Senator LEVIN. And Mr. Thorson, are you familiar with these
documents?

Mr. THORSON. I agree with Mr. Rymer. I think, as he pointed out
in his last sentence there, the sheer size of the bank would say that
there should be a maximum of cooperation, not to mention the fact
that it is dictated by statute, as well.

Senator LEVIN. Are you familiar with the documents which show
that the OTS blocked FDIC access to bank data?

1\1[11‘. THORSON. I have looked at the ones that you have come up
with.

Senator LEVIN. All right. And they refused to allow the FDIC to
participate in bank examinations, rejected requests to review bank
loan files, and you think they should have allowed those things?

Mr. THORSON. Well, as a matter of policy, I think they should
have allowed that. No matter what their reasoning was, as a mat-
ter of policy, they should have, yes.

Senator LEVIN. All right. Well, we will get into that later on.

Mr. THORSON. While you are doing it, if I can make one com-
ment, going backwards for a second——

Senator LEVIN. Yes, please.

Mr. THORSON. Despite the comment that said that we need to
move forward with it ASAP in July, that MOU wasn’t signed until
September.

Senator LEVIN. Right. That is ASAP. The “S” is misplaced. It
probably is delayed as much as possible. That would be a
DAMAP—delay as much as possible—instead of ASAP.

Thank you both. We appreciate your work. We appreciate your
testimony. It has been a long hearing so far. It is going to get much
longer. But thank you for kicking it off.

Let me now call our second panel of witnesses: John Reich,
former Director of the Office of Thrift Supervision; Darrel Dochow,
former West Regional Director of the Office of Thrift Supervision;
and Lawrence Carter, the Examiner-in-Charge for Washington Mu-
tual at the Office of Thrift Supervision from 2004 to 2006, cur-
rently the National Examiner at OTS. We appreciate you all being
with us. We look forward to hearing your testimony. I do not know
if you were here at the beginning of the first panel, but pursuant
to the rules of this Subcommittee, all witnesses who testify before
our Subcommittee are required to be sworn, so I would ask that
each of you now please stand and raise your right hand.

Do you swear that the testimony that you are about to give will
be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help
you, God?

Mr. REICH. I do.

Mr. DocHow. I do.

Mr. CARTER. I do.

Senator LEVIN. We are going to use a timing system to let you
know when 5 minutes have elapsed. A minute before that time
comes, the light will change from green to yellow, so you can try
to conclude your remarks. We appreciate your trying to keep those,
if you could, to 5 minutes, and, Mr. Reich, we are going to have
you go first and then Mr. Dochow second, and then Mr. Carter. I
know I have pronounced Mr. Carter’s name correctly, but I do not
know about Mr. Reich and Mr. Dochow.
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Mr. REICH. It is “Rich.”

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Dochow.

Mr. DocHow. It is “Do-ko.” Thank you.

Senator LEVIN. Good. Thank you. Thank you very much. Mr.
Reich, why don’t you begin?

TESTIMONY OF JOHN M. REICH,! FORMER DIRECTOR, OFFICE
OF THRIFT SUPERVISION, AND FORMER VICE CHAIRMAN,
FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

Mr. REICH. Good morning, Chairman Levin. I would like to say
I was delighted to be here, but that would be a bit of an overstate-
ment. In my retirement, I would much rather be at home reading
the Washington Post, drinking coffee, and ruminating over the
Caps loss to Montreal last night.

I did retire in February 2009, a little over a year ago, after a 49-
year career. I was in the banking business for 25 years. I was CEO
of a bank in Sarasota, Florida for 12 years. I worked on Capitol
Hill. After we sold our banking organization, I moved to Wash-
ington, DC, went to work for Senator Connie Mack, a long-time
friend and former banking colleague of mine. I was his chief of staff
for the last 3 years of his term in the U.S. Senate.

I was appointed to the Board of Directors of the FDIC, served on
the FDIC Board for 8 years, from 2001 through the end of Feb-
ruary 2009. I served as the Vice Chairman of the FDIC for the first
5 years of my 8 years on the board, was, in fact, Acting Chairman
of the FDIC for a several-week period during 2002 during which
time a bank failed in Hinsdale, Illinois.

When I was asked to move by the White House to the FDIC in
2005, I had some concerns about it. The staff had been allowed to
deplete, there had been no new hiring, and there was sort of a feel-
ing, in my opinion, among the staff of the OTS that it was going
out of existence. It sort of has lived under the threat of elimination
ever since it was created by statute in 1989.

I would like to depart from my prepared remarks and address a
couple of statements that have been made in the press yesterday
and again this morning. My reference to Washington Mutual as a
constituent is solely attributable to the fact that I spent 12 years
here on Capitol Hill where the use of the word “constituent” is
done hundreds of times a day every day, and it is not in my
vernacular, in reference to an institution that we supervised, in-
tended to reflect any sort of sinister or inappropriate relationship
with an institution that we supervise. It was simply a habit that
I picked up here that carried over when I became a regulator. It
certainly did not imply to me that—whether it was a $300 billion
institution or a $30 million institution, I referred to it as a “con-
stituent.” And it was not in any sort of a cozy reflection.

I think it is important to point out that although Washington
Mutual has been referred to as the largest failure in American his-
tory, in fact, the largest failure in American history was Citi. It
was not allowed to fail. It was bailed out with billions of dollars
of taxpayer money. Washington Mutual was not deemed to be sys-
temic and was not bailed out.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Reich appears in the Appendix on page 134.
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Senator LEVIN. For accuracy, I think we said the largest thrift.
I do not think Citi failed, but it

Mr. REICH. It did not fail. It would have had if it not been bailed
out.

Senator LEVIN. I think the reference here was the largest thrift
failure.

Mr. REIcH. OK. Thank you.

Senator LEVIN. I will correct myself again. I said it was the larg-
est bank failure, and that apparently is true, thrift or otherwise.

Mr. REICH. That is true. Thank you, sir.

Three points that I would like to make. Though asset quality was
a growing and continuing concern at Washington Mutual, this was
a liquidity failure, not a capital failure. It was brought on because
of two bank runs: a $10 billion run after the failure of IndyMac,
and a $16.4 or $16.7—I heard you say this morning—billion dollar
run on deposits during the 10-day period preceding September 25,
with zero cost to the Deposit Insurance Fund and zero cost to the
taxpayer.

There have been over 200 bank failures in the United States
since January 1, 2008, many of which did, in fact, cost millions of
dollars to the Deposit Insurance Fund. This institution was not one
of those. There was no cost to the taxpayer or to the Deposit Insur-
ance Fund.

The second point is that a majority of Washington Mutual’s
mortgages were in California and Florida, two of the States that
were particularly hit hard with the most severe price declines in
real estate.

The third point I would make that I think is very important is
that Washington Mutual suffered from a lack of diversity in its
asset portfolio because of restrictions imposed by the HOLA statute
under which it operated. They attempted asset diversity, but the
diversification that took place was all in the area of real estate-re-
lated loans.

If you added all of the assets together of the approximately 800
institutions that OTS supervises, it would total probably $1 trillion,
maybe a little bit more today. Because of its concentration in real
estate loans, it is a problem that I believe Congress needs to ad-
dress. In my opinion, my personal opinion, the thrift charter is ob-
solete because the HOLA statute requires that two-thirds of their
assets be invested in real estate-related loans, which is a con-
centration. Many of the larger institutions are wrestling with diver-
sification of assets, and it is an issue that I believe needs to be ad-
dressed in the regulatory reform.

I will stop here, Mr. Chairman, and I would be glad to take ques-
tions.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much. Mr. Dochow.

TESTIMONY OF DARREL DOCHOW,! FORMER WEST REGIONAL
DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF THRIFT SUPERVISION

Mr. DocHow. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will take a short pe-
riod of time here to read an oral statement, if I may.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Dochow appears in the Appendix on page 147.
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By way of background, I retired from the Office of Thrift Super-
vision in March 2009 after a 36-plus-year career as a bank exam-
iner and regulator. I began my career as an assistant national
bank examiner with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
in 1972. I examined national banks and rose to the position of As-
sistant Chief National Bank Examiner in Washington, DC, during
my 13-year OCC service. In 1985, I became a senior regulator with
the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle and subsequently with the
Office of Regulatory Activities. I became an OTS employee with its
creation in 1989 and served in various regional examination and
supervisory capacities, working out of the Seattle, Washington, of-
fice and reporting to various regional line managers and ultimately
to the Regional Director. I was promoted to Regional Director, West
Region in September 2007 and thereafter reported directly to the
OTS career bank supervision executives in Washington, DC.

Over the course of my 36-plus years of public service, I saw some
of the Nation’s more notable financial and economic crises and
worked very closely with sister regulatory agencies such as the
Federal Reserve, the FDIC, the OCC, and State regulatory authori-
ties. I also saw agency policy changes in response to such crises.
These experiences, grounded by my years as a bank examiner,
helped define my approach to supervision.

I have always believed that interagency cooperation is both ap-
propriate and beneficial. As an examiner, I found that when fellow
examiners from any of the agencies understood the same set of
facts, there was usually agreement on the bank’s condition and ap-
propriate regulatory corrective action. In addition, analysis is often
improved by collaboration and constructive critique. I also found
that it is critical to be factual and analytical so that conclusions are
supported and regulatory actions are appropriate. I generally con-
sidered the seemingly unlimited FDIC staffing as a welcome aid to
the OTS West Region’s limited resources. After I became Regional
Director, my predecessor and I both followed the direction given us
by OTS career executives in Washington, DC, and the written
interagency protocols governing FDIC participation in examina-
tions.

Bank supervision is grounded in law, regulation, and agency poli-
cies, but can involve significant judgment and discretion. My ap-
proach was to have open discussion of examination and supervisory
strategy, findings and proposed supervisory actions at all levels at
OTS, and with the FDIC on higher-risk institutions. We conducted
regular briefings and case discussions including examiners, re-
gional managers, and agency executives, and obtained direction or
concurrence on proposed next steps and actions. Supervision was a
collaborative process between the regions and Washington.

Examination findings and ratings typically form the basis for
bank supervisory actions. I worked vigorously with the other re-
gions and Washington, DC, to have the most highly talented and
experienced examiners assigned to the West Region institutions
posing significant risk. I consider the OTS examiners to be some
of the very best. They are well trained, highly experienced, ex-
tremely hard-working, independent in thought, and were supported
by me and some of the finest specialists from the capital markets,
mortgage banking, accounting, appraisal, legal, and fair lending
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disciplines. I also welcomed Washington, DC, participation in ex-
aminations and supervision. I expected line managers that were re-
sponsible for daily supervisory oversight to meet with examiners,
bank executives, risk managers, auditors, and directors on a reg-
ular basis. In this regard, I also attended board meetings with the
region’s largest and most troubled institutions whenever possible.
I believe in supporting examiners and their conclusions and in tak-
ing supervisory action in accordance with agency policy to address
weaknesses.

The then OTS philosophy toward supervisory actions was that
they should be firm but fair. Generally, the prevailing OTS practice
was to calibrate the action based on the confidence of obtaining cor-
rection and within the parameters of the OTS then in existence en-
forcement policy. I have seen many instances where a simple re-
quest from an examiner or supervisor was effective in obtaining
timely correction. To help ensure supervisory enforcement actions
were taken in accordance with OTS’ policy, the West Region has
long followed a practice of having a committee or executive review
of possible enforcement action situations. OTS D.C. participated in
most Enforcement Committee reviews and was always consulted.
National tracking systems for following enforcement actions, exam-
ination findings, and violations were in various states of refine-
ment, development, or completion during this time at the OTS.

Mr. Chairman, bank supervision is a hard job, and hindsight is
a good teacher. There are things I wish I could change. I am al-
ways deeply saddened when an institution fails because of the im-
pact felt by all customers, communities, employees, and other
stakeholders including taxpayers. Over my years in public service,
I worked very hard to do the very best job possible in accordance
with agency policies and procedures.

Thank you again. I will do my best to answer all your questions.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much, Mr. Dochow. Mr. Carter.

TESTIMONY OF LAWRENCE D. CARTER,! FORMER EXAMINER-
IN-CHARGE (2004-2006), AND CURRENT NATIONAL EXAM-
INER, OFFICE OF THRIFT SUPERVISION

Mr. CARTER. Good morning, Chairman Levin. Thank you for the
opportunity to testify on the matters concerning the supervision of
Washington Mutual, also known as WaMu, headquartered in Se-
attle, Washington. I am presently a national examiner for OTS,
and I would like to tell you a little bit about my background so that
you understand how my experience underlies my testimony today.

My college education includes an associate degree from Northern
Virginia Community College, which I received magna cum laude in
1980. I then moved to Southern California, and I obtained a Bach-
elor of Science degree in economics from University of California at
Riverside in 1983. In 1987, I graduated from California State Uni-
versity, Los Angeles, with a MBA specializing in finance. While in
graduate school, I worked at Trust Company of the West, known
as TCW, working with investment account management for pen-
sion fund clients.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Carter appears in the Appendix on page 149.
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After I received my MBA in mid-1987, I went to work for what
was then the Federal Home Loan Bank—still is—Federal Home
Loan Bank of San Francisco, where I originally worked as a super-
visory analyst. Shortly thereafter, in 1989, I became an examiner
for the OTS when the examination functions at the Federal Home
Loan Bank Board were transferred to OTS as part of the Financial
Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act (FIRREA) of
1989.

I have served in lead examination roles for many years at many
large and small savings institutions, some of which were troubled.
I also served in support roles, performing in all the CAMELS areas
of the exam: capital adequacy, asset quality, management, earn-
ings, liquidity, and sensitivity to market risk. I have supervised on-
site staffs of 70 or more examiners, including the generalist, safety
and soundness examiners, compliance examiners, information tech-
nology (IT), examiners, accountants, capital markets examiners,
and Washington-based quantitative specialists that were well
versed in the emerging Basel requirements.

Throughout my career, I have worked closely and effectively with
my counterparts from the FDIC, the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency, the Federal Reserve, and State regulators.

It should be noted that, with few exceptions, OTS examiners do
not work exclusively examining a single savings institution, but are
generally involved in a number of different institutions over the
course of a year. Examinations of small banks, as you might guess,
take considerably less examination resources than large institu-
tions like WaMu.

From 1999 through 2002, I was what you would call the loan
portfolio manager. On the annual WaMu examinations, the loan
portfolio manager (LPM) was responsible for overseeing the asset
quality or the A component of the CAMELS. In this role, I imple-
mented a statistical sampling process for our review of WaMu’s ho-
mogeneous loan portfolios, which included the home loan portfolio,
and I oversaw the more judgmental sampling and loan review ac-
tivities for other types of loans in multiple geographic locations.

From 2003 through 2006, I was the dedicated examiner-in-charge
(EIC) for WaMu. And as EIC, I was responsible for exam scoping
and planning prior to our examinations or field visits. I was re-
sponsible for overseeing the work of all examiners in managing
communication of findings during the exam process and then pre-
paring the examination report and leading what we call exit meet-
ings with both management and the board of directors after the
end of an examination.

Of course, I performed these responsibilities under the guidance
and oversight of my superiors both within the region and within
Washington, DC, as well as with the support of numerous senior
examiners and specialists.

Late in my tenure as EIC, I worked to develop our continuous
examination process, which we tailored after the large bank super-
vision programs of the OCC and the Federal Reserve.

As EIC at WaMu, I supervised an experienced team of examiners
and supervisory professionals that thoroughly analyzed the issues
and challenges concerning this very large financial institution. I
worked closely with region and Washington office staff to resolve
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complex policy issues as they arose. Our role during the examina-
tion was to identify risks and regulatory issues, discuss those risks
and issues up through the agency’s senior management, and then
require appropriate corrective actions by WaMu management to
address those risks and issues in a manner that promoted the safe
and sound operation of the institution.

Two years after I ended my term as EIC at WaMu, the institu-
tion failed. I should note that I have no special personal insight
into the final days of WaMu, but I would be pleased to share with
the Subcommittee my observations and experience gained from my
23 years of regulating savings institutions, and answer any of your
questions.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much, Mr. Carter.

Mr. Reich, let me start with you. In your opening statement,! at
the top of page 9 you wrote that stated income, low-document, and
no-document loans were anathema to you. You said it was anath-
ema because of your experience as a former banker. You were con-
cerned about those types of loans for some time. You then came to
OTS. Your examiner on the ground said that stated income loans
was a flawed product. Your staff in Washington, DC, said that
NINA loans—that is where there is no income and no asset figures
given—were imprudent. You had the authority as Director of OTS
to do something about it, but you did not. So what stopped you?

Mr. REICH. Most of what you said is absolutely correct. I do not
recall, though, hearing from my examiner on the ground saying it
was a flawed product.

Senator LEVIN. Well, you believed it was a flawed product your-
self.

Mr. REICH. I did, and I questioned it at the outset, and——

Senator LEVIN. You were the Director, weren’t you?

Mr. REicH. I was the Director.

Senator LEVIN. So why not change it?

Mr. REICH. From the outset, the argument against making any
sort of immediate change was that this was a product that had
been in existence on the West Coast of the United States for more
than 20 years, dating back to the 1980s, and that the institutions
which offered this product had minimal to no loss experience with
it. It was also a common product that was used

Senator LEVIN. Are you referring to stated income loans or Op-
tion ARMs when you just said that?

Mr. REICH. Both stated income and option instruments.

Senator LEVIN. All right. It was your experience that these were
flawed products.

Mr. REICH. I would not necessarily call it a flawed product, but
it was a product that I was uncomfortable with, and I was influ-
enced by the fact that the product had been in existence for more
than 20 years with positive experience in West Coast institutions.

Senator LEVIN. It was anathema to you.

Mr. REICH. It was. It was foreign to me.

Senator LEVIN. No, it was anathema, not foreign.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Reich appears in the Appendix on page 134.
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Mr. REICH. I grew up in an era where the fundamental principles
of credit administration were character, collateral, capacity, and
conditions.

Senator LEVIN. You used the word “anathema” in your state-
ment.

Mr. REIcH. I did.

Senator LEVIN. You have this procedure here, you have this ap-
proach which is anathema to you, one of a number of things which
were anathema to you, but they are still in existence. Did you, as
head of the agency, not just say we are going to change this?

Mr. REICH. I could have said that.

Senator LEVIN. Why didn’t you say it?

Mr. REICH. I chose not to because of the experience of institu-
tions over the preceding 20 to 25 years.

Senator LEVIN. And you regret it?

Mr. REICH. In hindsight, I regret it.

Senator LEVIN. Not in hindsight. In foresight you believed it was
wrong. Coming in you believed it was——

Mr. REICH. We are at a point of hindsight today, and I regret it.

Senator LEVIN. What kind of efforts did you make to change
these practices? Did you issue a temporary new guidance and let
people comment on it?

Mr. REICH. No, I did not. As I said, I was influenced by the fact
that there were 20 years of experience, of positive experience with
these instruments.

Senator LEVIN. So Washington Mutual then is originating hun-
dreds of billions of dollars in these adjustable-rate mortgages. OTS
allows them to engage in a set of high-risk lending practices in con-
nection with the loans. You have low teaser loans, as low as 1 per-
cent for 1 month, to entice borrowers. They were qualifying bor-
rowers with lower loan payments than they might have to pay if
the loan were recast. You are allowing borrowers to make min-
imum payments, which is in the vast majority of the cases result-
ing in negatively amortizing loans, and on and on.

Then your people in the field make these kind of findings, and
these are Exhibits 1lc, 1d, and le.! Were you here when I read
these findings in the field?

Mr. REICH. I was not.

Senator LEVIN. All right. Well, let me read them to you. I am
going to again read the somewhat longer context that these are
from, Exhibits 1d and 1le.

In Exhibit 1d,2 “2004 Underwriting of these SFR loans remains
less than satisfactory.”

“The level of SFR underwriting exceptions in our samples has
been an ongoing examination issue’—that means OTS was un-
happy with them—“for several years and one that management has
found difficult to address. . . .”

Next, still 2004, this is what your folks found: “[Residential Qual-
ity Assurance]’s review of 2003 originations disclosed critical error
rates as high as 57 percent of certain loan samples. . . .”

1See Exhibit Nos. 1c, 1d, and le, which appear in the Appendix on pages 199, 200, and 202.
2See Exhibit No. 1d, which appears in the Appendix on page 200.
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In 2005, “SFR [Single Family Residential] Loan Underwriting
. . . has been an area of concern for several exams.” That means
several years.

“[Securitizations] prior to 2003 have horrible performance.”

Continuing reading down under 2005, “. . . concerns regarding
the number of underwriting exceptions and with issues that evi-
dence lack of compliance with bank policy.”

Next, still 2005, “IW]e remain concerned with the number of un-
derwriting exceptions and with issues that evidence lack of compli-
ance with bank policy. . . . [T]he level of deficiencies, if left un-
checked, could erode the credit quality of the portfolio. Our con-
cerns are increased when the risk profile of the portfolio is consid-
ered”—and it was risky—“including concentrations in Option ARM
loans to higher-risk borrowers, in low and limited documentation
loans, and loans with subprime or higher-risk characteristics.”

In 2006, the next page, “[Ulnderwriting errors continue to re-
quire management’s attention.”

“Overall, we concluded that the number and severity of under-
writing errors noted remain at higher than acceptable levels.”

In 2007, “Underwriting policies, procedures, and practices were
in need of improvement, particularly with respect to stated income
lending.”

Your people are finding all this stuff. “Based on our review of 75
subprime loans originated by [Long Beach], we concluded that
subprime underwriting practices remain less than satisfactory.”
How is that for an understatement? “Given that this is a repeat
concern . . . we informed management that underwriting must be
promptly corrected”—“promptly corrected”—“or heightened super-
visory action would be taken.” No, it would not. Year after year
after year, it was not taken. Why should they believe it was going
to be taken now?

In 2008, “High [Single Family Residential] losses due in part to
downturn in real estate market but exacerbated by: geographic con-
centrations, risk layering, liberal underwriting policy, poor under-
writing.” That is 2008, July.

Then in Exhibit le,! 2006, “Within [Enterprise Risk Manage-
ment], fraud risk management at the enterprise level is in the
early stage of development.” Heck, they are just beginning to man-
age the fraud risk in 2006.

In 2007, “Risk management practices in the . . . Home Loans
Group during most of the review period were inadequate. . . . We
believe that there were sufficient negative credit trends that should
have elicited more aggressive action by management”—how about

more aggressive management by your . . . agency?
“In particular, as previously noted, the risk misrepresentation”—
here you go. Now you are talking fraud. “. . . the risk misrepresen-

tation in stated income loans has been generally reported for some
time.” For some time it has been going on.

On and on, year after year. So what do you do about it? What
does OTS do about it? Not one single formal enforcement action
against WaMu from 2004 until 2008.

Mr. REICH. That is not correct, Mr. Chairman.

1See Exhibit No. 1le, which appears in the Appendix on page 202.
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Senator LEVIN. Until the end of 2008, it is correct.

Mr. REICH. There was a formal enforcement action for BSA and
flood insurance violations that led to—which was a formal action
and included

Senator LEVIN. That is an overcharge for flood insurance. That
is not what we are talking about.

Mr. REIcH. Civil money penalties.

Senator LEVIN. That is not what we are talking about.

Mr. REICH. But it also included BSA and anti-money-laundering
violations.

Senator LEVIN. That is a money-laundering violation. We are
talking about what they were doing in terms of the underwriting
practices, the credit practices here, the mortgages they were
issuing. No board resolutions required, no Memorandums of Under-
standing required, no fines. So the bank—I forgot what the number
was. It came out. I think Senator Coburn used a number as to how
many warnings, how many findings, how many deficiencies, year
after year after year.

Mr. REICH. I think he cited a number in excess of 500 items.

Senator LEVIN. Yes. Now, is that apparently normal for OTS?

Mr. REICH. Is what normal?

Senator LEVIN. What I just described. You go year after year
after year of these kind of findings, and you do not have any formal
action taken. All you do is say we have told them they ought to do
better, we have told them they ought to do better, they say they
will do better. And they do not.

Mr. REICH. My response to that, Mr. Chairman is that——

Senator LEVIN. You are the cop on the beat or supposed to be.
Not a ticket, not a fine for this? How many years would it have
taken if they did not go under before you would have acted? Is this
acceptable to you?

Mr. REicH. Washington Mutual was a 2-rated institution until
early 2008.

Senator LEVIN. Well, it took you long enough

Mr. REICH. Typically, formal actions are not utilized in institu-
tions that are 1 and 2——

Senator LEVIN. Well, that is in your hands. That is your decision
not to give them a formal warning.

Mr. REICH. I think that is the fairly common practice in

Senator LEVIN. It may be common, but that is OTS’ determina-
tion not to take any kind of formal action at all, and the 2 is your
decision.

Mr. REICH. That is true, but——

Senator LEVIN. And you were reluctant to increase it to a 3 even
though the FDIC was pushing you to do it, and when you did fi-
nally—finally—decide in early 2008 to push it from a 2 to a 3, you
did not even then do anything publicly. You then violated your own
policy, issuing a Memorandum of Understanding instead of—you
had a board action, which is private, instead of a Memorandum of
Understanding, which is public. Even after all these years of all
these violations, you finally decide in early 2008 you are going to
push them from a 2 to a 3, you then do not make that public, you
do not do what policy indicated you traditionally do, which is to
have a Memorandum of Understanding, which is a public docu-
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ment. You delay that for months. Then you apologize in an email,
“I am so sorry,” you say, you are so sorry that you have to write
him with an email. You have tried him twice on the phone.

Now, I got to tell you, it is not only feeble enforcement, it is piti-
ful enforcement. You want to defend it? Go ahead.

Mr. REICH. I would simply point out that the FDIC had a resi-
dent examiner on premise at Washington Mutual throughout the
entire period of time that you are talking about, and that there was
no ratings disagreement of Washington Mutual being a 2-rated in-
stitution until 2008.

Senator LEVIN. And then there was a disagreement——

Mr. REICH. And then there was.

Senator LEVIN. You disagreed with them. So for another 6
months after they went pushing you to a 3, but this—did they
make these kind of findings year after year after year, the FDIC?

That was your agency. Don’t try to say the FDIC was sitting
there. Your agency had primary responsibility, not FDIC. As a mat-
ter of fact, you even pushed them away, your people, because they
did not have primary responsibility. You pushed them away. You
did not want them to have a seat at the table. You would not even
give them a desk, by the way. But your people made these findings,
not FDIC. You are the primary regulator, and you did not want
FDIC to be meddling around in your backyard.

Now, let us go back to your agency. Year after year you make
these findings. Is that in your judgment adequate regulation?

Mr. REICH. Well, those are all items that are taken from exam-
ination reports, and they are sort of taken out of context.

Senator LEVIN. No, they are not. I read the context. I gave you
the context on these.

Mr. REICH. I believe the 2006 examination report states in the
cover letter that risk management practices and internal control
environment continue to improve in 2005.

Senator LEVIN. Well, I read you 2006.

Mr. REICH. Right.

Senator LEVIN. OK. So it said it had not. They remain.

Mr. REICH. The 2007 general comments for the year 2006 and
through the first quarter of 2007 indicated that there were con-
tinuing credit challenges, that operating results improved, that
there had been a cease-and-desist order with BSA, AML, an in-
crease——

Senator LEVIN. That was the money-laundering issue.

Mr. REICcH. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. Yes. I would not cite that in defense of your fee-
ble enforcement, that there is a money-laundering order. But, at
any rate, let us talk about what they were doing there with mort-
gages.

Mr. REICH. It also said that asset quality was satisfactory and
trends were negative.

Senator LEVIN. Are you using that as a defense?

Mr. REICH. I am not using it as a defense. I am simply pointing
out that the examination results in sum indicated that the institu-
tion still deserved for the years up until 2008 the 2 rating that it
was given by the OTS, and that was agreed to by the FDIC.
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Senator LEVIN. And then the FDIC in February 2008, they fi-
nally persuade you, and they made an effort, by the way, for some
time to persuade you to go to a 3, but nonetheless, finally in Feb-
ruary 2008 you have a 3 rating. What happened? Why, then, is
there not the usual traditional Memorandum of Understanding, so
called, made public? Why is it then?

Mr. REICH. I don’t know, to tell you the truth. I do not know why
it took so long to implement the MOU.

Senator LEVIN. Why don’t you know? This is a huge issue. You
knew you were coming here. Why don’t you know that? I mean, you
used that as an excuse for no formal enforcement action, that they
were a 2 instead of a 3. Then you come in front of us and you say,
well, you don’t know why it took so long when you finally decided
to move them to a 3 to have a Memorandum of Understanding
which is public for failure for another, what, 7 months, from Feb-
ruary, and you don’t know why?

Mr. REICH. Well, I knew that there was——

Senator LEVIN. You should know why.

Mr. REICH [continuing]. A great deal of back and forth be-
tween

Senator LEVIN. Not with FDIC. They were pushing you hard to
go to a 3. So who is the back and forth with?

Mr. REICH. I think the back and forth is between the OTS, the
FDIC, and perhaps regional management on the West Coast. I am
not certain.

Senator LEVIN. It wasn’t with FDIC. They were pushing you
hard. Are you at all embarrassed by this?

Mr. REICH. I am.

Senator LEVIN. You ought to be.

Mr. REICH. I am, by nature, Mr. Chairman, a humble person. I
am a casual person and an informal person, and it is not at all un-
usual for me to address the people who run the institutions that
I supervised, was responsible for supervising, by their first name,
if I know them, particularly if I am 10 years older than they are.

Senator LEVIN. The apologetic nature of that email doesn’t

Mr. REICH. I am not disturbed. I make no apologies——

Senator LEVIN. It doesn’t come through to you at all?

Mr. REICH. I make no apology for that email whatsoever.

Senator LEVIN. Do you make any apology for the 6-month delay
in making public their rating?

Mr. REICH. No, I don’t know if apology is the right word, but I
regret that there was a 6-month delay.

Senator LEVIN. And you don’t know why?

Mr. REICH. I don’t recall now. It has been 2 years, and I can’t
remember yesterday, let alone 2 years. But I regret that it took so
long.

Senator LEVIN. This was not some ordinary institution, by the
way. As you know, it is the largest institution that has ever been
taken over by FDIC, bank or thrift. So this is not something which
is sort of asking you to kind of look back at some institution which
was some small institution you can’t remember. This was the big-
gest bank failure in history.

Mr. REicH. That is true.
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Senator LEVIN. So when you tell us you can’t remember why it
is that at a critical time you can not remember why it is——

Mr. REICH. I was not personally involved in the negotiation of
the components of the MOU and I do not know, I do not recall,
don’t think I ever knew exactly the reasons for the length of time
that it took.

Senator LEVIN. Well, Mr. Dochow, maybe you can tell us. Why
did it take so long?

Mr. DocHOw. Mr. Chairman, my recollection is that the interim
downgrade to a 3 from a 2 was done on an interim basis. This was
before the examination results were completed. This was before the
examination findings had been written. This was a proactive move,
quite frankly, to move this institution from a 2 to a 3 based on
what we were seeing. And as a result——

Senator LEVIN. The FDIC wanted to do it a lot earlier than you
did, right?

Mr. DocHOw. I don’t have that recollection.

Senator LEVIN. You don’t?

Mr. DocHOW. My recollection is that any differences we had were
in late 2008, mid-2008, over a rating between a 3 or a 4, not to a
3. I think there was general concurrence, based on my recollection.
And that was an interim move. That was a proactive move to do
it before the examination had concluded, and a Board Resolution
was required. Now, you can argue that the Board Resolution may
have been stronger, but remember, this examination was ongoing.
The examiners are still developing facts and we were working to-
wards an enforcement action.

Senator LEVIN. Well, then how do you—I will have to go back to
Mr. Reich, his own memo here in July. This is July. “I've been
wrestling with the issue of a MOU versus a Board Resolution as
a result of our conversation in my office. I have decided that a
MOU is the right approach for OTS to do in this situation. We al-
most always do a MOU for 3-rated institutions, and if someone
were looking over our shoulders, they would probably be surprised
we don’t already have one in place.” You betcha. July 3. It wasn’t
until, when, September, that the MOU was finally made public. So
there is another—dJuly, August, September—another couple of
months.

But, Mr. Reich, this is your memo, this is your email to Kerry.
You would like to be able to say a Board Resolution is the appro-
priate—it is so apologetic, and you don’t even see that. And then
he says, “[TThe investment community . . . would probably only be
surprised to learn that one didn’t already exist.”

Now, you can say whatever you want, Mr. Dochow, about this
was something in progress, this was interim. There was a decision
that was made in February, was that not true? Wasn’t there a deci-
sion made in February to move them from a 2 to a 3?

Mr. DocHOW. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. OK.

Mr. DocHOW. Mr. Chairman, my recollection may not be precise
here. It has been quite some time, and I have had some limitations
on access to documents. But I believe the OTS policy at that point
in time did not require the initiation of a MOU. But instead, at
that point in time, the OTS policy was consideration of a Board
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Resolution or a MOU, and that the policy requiring a MOU came
in place after that time period.

Senator LEVIN. Well, I am just reading the memo from Mr. Reich
here to Mr. Killinger. “Kerry, we almost always do a MOU for 3-
rated institutions, and if someone were looking over our shoulders,”
which I sure as hell wish there were, “they would probably be sur-
prised we don’t already have one in place.” I mean, that is your
email, so pretty good evidence contemporaneously.

Senator Kaufman.

Senator KAUFMAN. Thank you. I would like to go through some
of this. Mr. Reich, what is a stated income loan?

Mr. REICH. It is a loan where the borrower states his income. But
there is actually a little bit more documentation behind stated in-
come, low documentation, and no documentation loans than is obvi-
ous. Those are catch-all terms. But it is my understanding that
there is a little more documentation than the popular conception.

Senator KAUFMAN. We had a panel the other day and I asked
each of them and they said stated income loans are loans where
the only income is the stated income

Mr. REIcH. I think that in many cases, there is background
checking of reasonableness for the amount of income reported, de-
pending upon the person’s occupation.

Senator KAUFMAN. Is that your testimony, is that there was
background checking on stated income loans beyond——

Mr. REICH. That is what I have been told.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes. And that is

Mr. REicH. Now, I am not saying that was the case in every stat-
ed income loan

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. REICH [continuing]. But that there were some procedures
which existed——

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. REICH [continuing]. By institutions that made stated income
types of loans that relied upon other types of reporting agencies to
sort of verify the reasonableness of income for certain types of occu-
pations.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right. Mr. Dochow, has that been your expe-
rience with stated income loans?

Mr. DocHOWw. Actually, I think Mr. Reich is very accurate here.
Stated income loans tend to refer to programs for stated income.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. They were originally designed for self-employed
high-income individuals.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. They migrated over the years and they were of-
fered inappropriately to some customers.

Senator KAUFMAN. OK.

Mr. DocHOW. But when an institution makes a stated income
loan in their program, they should be getting, and the expectation
is they are checking FICO scores——

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DoCHOW [continuing]. They are checking appraisals and——

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.
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Mr. DocHOW [continuing]. They are doing a reasonableness test
on that stated income.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. So they have outside data sources for doing that.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. And that is what the examination process referred
to. So there are additional checks. It is not a customer walking in
and saying, “I make $100,000. Give me the loan.” That is just not
the way it is done.

Senator KAUFMAN. You are not saying that is the way it is done.
You are saying that is the way it is not supposed to be done?

Mr. DocHow. That is not supposed to be done that way.

Senator KAUFMAN. Exactly. And why did they even start a stated
income? Why would you even have stated income loans? I mean,
if I were to borrow money, I fill out this whole incredible form
about where is my bank account, how much is in it, and how much
I make, and have to provide documentation of what I make. It is
the one thing that I think everybody in America knows, when you
go into a loan, you have got to verify to the person that is making
the loan what your income is.

Mr. DocHOW. And I do the same thing, Senator:

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW [continuing]. And I think that is the appropriate
way—but I think we also need to keep in mind, the way it has been
explained to me is that stated income originally was for high-in-
come individuals who had income that was hard to document
through a W-2.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHow. Now, what happened was, over the years, it be-
came commoditized

Senator KAUFMAN. Exactly.

Mr. DoCHOW [continuing]. And the GSEs started accepting the
programs.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes.

Mr. DocHOW. And even their automated underwriting, Desktop
Underwriter or Loan Prospector, started accepting more liberal
terms.

Senator KAUFMAN. Exactly.

Mr. DocHOW. And so it became the situation where the docu-
mentation kept in the file, quite frankly, sometimes was purged.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes.

Mr. DocHOW. As you heard earlier today.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes.

Mr. DocHOW. Now, it was purged not because it wasn’t consid-
ered.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. It was purged because the stated income loan had
to operate under a given program.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. In order to qualify for the program, you couldn’t
have that information in the file. So I think there

Senator KAUFMAN. How would you have a program, you said you
can’t have the W-2 form in there?
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Mr. DocHOW. Because that is my understanding, the way it has
been explained to me is that is the way the GSEs and the sec-
ondary market accepted those programs.

Senator KAUFMAN. No, I can understand why they accepted the
program. They will accept anything. They were trying to get as
many mortgages as they could and get mortgage-backed securities
a}rlld ;nake it all work. I am just saying, why would the OTS accept
that?

Mr. DocHOW. I can tell you that it was standard practice that
those loans were made, and that to the extent they were sold into
the secondary market without recourse, or even with recourse—we
focused on the recourse, quite frankly.
| Seq}ator KAUFMAN. Sure. You didn’t focus on the riskiness of the
oans?

Mr. Docaow. We focused on the riskiness to the bank in terms
of what it may have to repurchase.

Senator KAUFMAN. In other words, if some bank just said, look,
we are not going to use any of this program, we are just taking
money in, you wouldn’t look at that as something to consider in
your oversight regulating an institution?

Mr. DocHow. No. I maybe have misunderstood the question.

Senator KAUFMAN. Sure.

Mr. DocHOW. We obviously are concerned with an institution’s
ability to prove the ability of the customer to repay the loan, and
that 1s why the agencies on an inter-agency basis issued the Non-
Traditional Mortgage Guidance and the Subprime Guidance, to
make sure that you documented the customer’s ability to repay.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right. Mr. Reich, I assume you agree with
what Mr. Dochow was saying?

Mr. REIcH. I do.

Senator KAUFMAN. So it started out 20 years ago as a program
for high-wealth people. I was going to go on, but I have to stop on
that. It seems to me a high-wealth person is the easiest person to
show you what they have got. And obviously, they are going to be
the ones with the biggest mortgages. It made more sense the other
day. They were saying it started with people who are self-em-
ployed. What would you say a high-income person would be?

Mr. DocHOW. Well, Senator, what I meant, when I said high-in-
come, I was including self-employed——

Senator KAUFMAN. No, I meant, what is a high-income person?

Mr. DocHOW. It would vary upon the type of loan they were get-
ting——

Senator KAUFMAN. No, I mean, what would you consider? If you
were putting together a program and you started and you said,
look, we are starting a program and we are going to have high-in-
come people——

Mr. DocHow. High six-figure incomes.

Senator KAUFMAN. High six-figure. I cannot believe that anyone
with a high six-figure income comes in for a loan and doesn’t give
you documentation on what they are making, at least a portion of
what they are making. To have no stated income, that is hard to
believe.

So it started out. It was one of those things you used in special
cases. I think, Mr. Reich, that is what you said. It is a special case.
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We are going to use it with high-income people. The people the
other day said we are going to start out using it with folks who are
self-employed. So that is a good program, and it is working for 20
years, as Mr. Reich says.

What happens when you find out that 90 percent of all WaMu’s
home equity loans are stated income, and you find out that 73 per-
cent of all Option ARMs are stated income, and 50 percent of your
subprime loans are stated income? I mean, wouldn’t you stop at
that point and say, what is going on here? Mr. Reich.

Mr. REICH. I didn’t know those percentages until I heard you say
them today.

Senator KAUFMAN. Let me just make sure I get this in context.
WaMu was one of the big thrifts that you were supervising?

Mr. REIcH. That is correct.

Senator KAUFMAN. In fact, they were the biggest, right?

Mr. REICcH. That is correct.

Senator KAUFMAN. And they had, I think at one point, of the
thrifts you were supervising, 25 percent of all the assets under su-
pervision were WaMu assets?

Mr. REICH. Approximately.

Senator KAUFMAN. Do you think it is hard for me to believe that
you didn’t know that 90 percent of all the home equity loans they
were doing were stated income?

Mr. REICH. I don’t know if it is hard for you to believe or not,
but I did not personally keep track of the composition of each seg-
ment of their portfolio. I was focused on asset quality overall and
not within each component of the portfolio.

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Dochow.

Mr. DocHOW. The percentages are alarming.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes.

Mr. DocHOw. But I also think it is fair to keep in perspective dif-
ferent products.

Senator KAUFMAN. I am trying to keep this in perspective. I real-
ly am.

Mr. DocHOW. Let us take the home equity loans.

Senator KAUFMAN. Sure.

Mr. DocHOW. If you and I went into a bank and wanted a home
equity line of credit, those become automated approval proc-
esses——

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW [continuing]. Much like a credit card.

Senator KAUFMAN. Sure.

Mr. DocHOW. You fill out your paperwork, you put down what
your income is

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DOoCHOW [continuing]. And the bank pulls your FICO scores,
your credit reports, the loan gets approved or disapproved. Those
programs lend themselves more to that type of underwriting.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. They are smaller in dollars. They are large in vol-
umes. And the credit score, their credit reports, their loan-to-value
ratios were historically the most predictive of ability to pay and
those loans’ performance.
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Senator KAUFMAN. So why not just ask people what their income
was and have some verification for it? That is the part I am having
trouble with. I got all the rest of it.

I mean, we could poll everybody in this room. I don’t think any-
one has ever gone in, outside of maybe if they were with WaMu
or some of the other banks in California which did practice this,
Mr. Reich, or this business as WaMu—I don’t think anybody in this
room has ever gone into a loan and they said, what is your income,
and they said, OK, that is enough. I am going to check your FICO
score and everything else, but you don’t have to document where
your income is coming from. You don’t have to give me a W-2 form.
You don’t have to do anything else. I have credit cards, I have
never seen that as an experience for me.

And again, I realize it started in this industry, and I think
maybe it started for a good reason. And as Mr. Reich said, I think
everyone would say this is an anathema. A stated loan is anath-
ema. I think that is what most people would say. I think the two
regulators who were here earlier kind of went, wow. When the
folks from the two risk managers that testified the other day were
concerned about this and reported their concern to management.

So I am trying to figure out—because every time something like
this has come down over history, the standard answer you hear—
well, everybody did it. Everybody did it. And when you hear that,
that is when I get very scared because what are we going to do
here in the Senate so that we deal with a concept that everybody
did it is—we are a Nation of laws, not a Nation of everybody did
it.

Mr. Reich and Mr. Dochow, would you like to comment on my
concern?

Mr. REIcH. I think stated income loans have since been ruled un-
satisfactory—I am not entirely certain of that, but I believe that
the regulators have since eliminated stated income loans as a cat-
egory of loans in the future.

Senator KAUFMAN. So that is what really concerns me. Do you
get the point I am trying to make? Here is a policy that everyone
agrees was a very bad policy. Here is a policy that was so wide-
spread that 90 percent of the home equity loans fall in this policy,
a policy that you said was anathema, a policy that even Mr.
Dochow, with all due respect, other concerns, most people say was
bad. I am not talking about people in this room, I am talking about
regulators, people in WaMu. Every time I have read it, everything
I read about stated income, from experts, folks like you, they say,
this is not a good program. This is not a good idea.

And you allow a situation to develop where 90 percent of the
home equity loans, 73 percent of the Option ARMs—I keep saying
these numbers over again because I hope they are going to
change—50 percent of the subprime loans are stated income loans.
And once it comes to light, everyone says we have to stop this.

Mr. Dochow, with all due respect to your explanation of how this
is a loan and could make some sense, everybody said, Whoa, this
has got to stop.

And so, Mr. Reich, my point is, when you are sitting up here, you
are trying to figure out, how do we stop this—what is the next stat-
ed income loan? Do you see what I am saying? What is the next
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program where people will say, well, everybody did credit default
swaps. Everybody did XYZ. Everybody took $500 out of the till

lt?lver%l Thursday before they went home. Do you see my concern
ere?

Mr. REICH. I understand your frustration.

Senator KAUFMAN. Thank you. Mr. Dochow.

Mr. DocHOw. I think you make an excellent point, Senator. Let
me add a little, if you will, flesh to some of your comments

Senator KAUFMAN. Sure.

Mr. DocHOW [continuing]. Because I think they are absolutely on
point. We saw when credit cards first came out, as an industry,
t}ll)zllt the modeling worked great for a few years, then failed miser-
ably.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes.

Mr. DocHow. We saw it with Basel II, the capital analysis that
it said these mortgages needed very little capital. There is very lit-
tle risk. Everybody was overcapitalized.

And so what we find is that the financial system, to the extent
it is free market, it develops products for the short-term.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes.

Mr. DocHOW. And that is very difficult because you have that
balancing act between having a free market, capitalistic system
and a safe and sound system. And to have someone just simply
rule, this product is good, this product is bad, has some con-
sequences. So it is a very difficult dilemma and——

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes, and frankly, I am concerned, because I
don’t want to see over-regulation, and I know you don’t, either. But
when you have situations like this, like you say, it was a systemic
problem, and it was a systemic problem right to the top, we are
going to just self-regulate the markets, we don’t need any regula-
tion, it was pretty widespread.

Let me ask you, though, at some point, Mr. Thorson said earlier
that this is like the fact that these numbers, which I will not read
again, there were so many of these types of loans, and as the
Chairman said, even have specific cases where people went in and
redacted the W-2, at some point, doesn’t this begin to look like
fraud on somebody’s part?

Mr. DocHow. I will comment, Senator, if I may.

Senator KAUFMAN. Sure.

Mr. DocHOW. Actually, I think it raises a different issue——

Senator KAUFMAN. OK.

Mr. DocHOW [continuing]. In addition to the potential fraud. It
raises the issue of income and incentives. And what I mean by that
is stated income programs generally gave the lending institutions
a higher margin.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. And even though the customer provided the in-
corge, even though the bank may have considered the income
and——

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DoCcHOW [continuing]. Looked at those W-2s, when they were
redacted from the file, the bank was then entitled to the higher in-
come.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.
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Mr. DocHOW. Now, the customer may have come in and applied
for the stated income program and requested it and the bank had
income information, but the bank—I think the issue it raised in my
mind when I heard that earlier was—what is the incentive here?

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOW. Is the customer being given a higher-costing prod-
uct than they should have been given?

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes. And here is my concern. I was at a hear-
ing yesterday on Afghanistan and the national police and the prob-
lem that we spent %8 billion and we have nothing to show for it,
and there is a way to deal with this at such a high level that we
get away from what actually happened. Oh, yes, it was because of
Basel. It was because of the national leadership in this country
saying we should have a free market and we didn’t need any regu-
lation.

And we have now learned that is not a problem, that was a real
problem. Alan Greenspan, as one of the parents of this, said this
is a problem. It causes me dismay that we failed. We found out
that the stated income loan doesn’t work. But this is at a very cold-
blooded level.

In the end, it took some people down in the trenches—and we
know that the Wall Street people were coming and encouraged peo-
ple to give mortgages. We can get these mortgage-backed securities
and we know we can move them down the line and they lead, like
the Chairman said, toxic waste flowing down the river away from
us.
And in that kind of environment, everybody—and we have a
compensation program, as you said, which is just saying to people,
you got a lot more compensation the more risky the events got. So
this is all happening.

But in the end, somebody has to say, I am going to break the
law. I am going to commit fraud. I am going to do something. When
you have 90 percent stated income loans—by the way, it is from
the top of the firm right on down. Everybody has got to know what
is going on. These are not dumb people.

And that is kind of what my concern is. OK, I understand it. It
was a bad environment. They weren’t getting good guidance from
their national leadership. I understand that they were doing tech-
niques that had been used, as Mr. Reich says, for 20 years and
were OK. I know my compensation is way up. Everybody’s com-
pensation is up, the more of these things we do. And I know Wall
Street was singing their siren song about mortgage-backed securi-
ties and we can all make a lot of money.

As Mr. Thorson said, this is a target-rich environment. It took
some people in the building to basically say, I am going to take the
money. I am going to put in stated loans. I mean, there are cases
where everybody involved, every loan, they go to someplace and
just tell me what you want, fill out the forms, we are off and run-
ning, right? I mean, this is an environment.

As a regulator, I mean, if you were regulating this now and you
knew about this thing, isn’t this time to send some notices to the
Justice Department about referrals?

Mr. REICH. If we see evidences of fraud, we should refer it to the
Justice Department.
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Senator KAUFMAN. All right. Mr. Dochow.

Mr. DocHOW. In fact, Senator, one of the things I have been
known to do is to require institutions themselves to make the
criminal referrals, also.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right. That would be the best. But the prob-
lem is, when you have it, like you said, systemically, where people
are—Mr. Reich, you didn’t know about this 90 percent, 73, and 50
percent, and hindsight is 20/20, but not taking hindsight, just say-
ing today, if you knew when you were there that 90 percent—these
numbers, wouldn’t you at least look into the fact that there might
be fraud being created?

Mr. REICH. I might have, had I known those numbers at that
point in time.

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes. Mr. Dochow.

Mr. DocHow. The answer is yes.

Senator KAUFMAN. Mr. Carter, you have been sitting here very
patiently through the whole thing. What do you think?

Mr. CARTER. We knew there was a greater propensity for fraud
in stated income loans. From an examination standpoint, we would
look at the fraud risk management practices of the institution from
the top down.

Senator KAUFMAN. And if you saw this going on, you were aware
of these numbers, you would have at least asked them to make a
referral to the Justice Department? If not, you would have referred
it yourself?

Mr. CARTER. Any time we saw any evidence of anything criminal,
we would require the institution to file a Suspicious Activity Re-
port.

Senator KAUFMAN. And is it fair to say that since, at least Mr.
Reich and Mr. Dochow—by the way, were you aware of these num-
bers, 90 percent, 73 percent, and 50 percent?

Mr. CARTER. I don’t recall those numbers offhand.

Senator KAUFMAN. So we are saying no one was aware of the
numbers. But what we are saying is if you did know the numbers,
you would at least in the first instance begin to look into—I read,
Mr. Carter, you would have looked into it? I mean, the target-rich
environment is not a bad phrase to use when you have 90 percent
of your loans being stated income, is that fair to say?

Mr. CARTER. We elevated our review of fraud risk management
practices as the market began to heat up

Senator KAUFMAN. Yes, but I mean, back in the beginning, and
this is what scares me. We start using things like fraud, examina-
tion, whatever you just said, and it all sounds so nice and cold-
blooded, but when you look down at this thing, as you say, and you
look at this and you say, there is somebody committing fraud down
here, and it isn’t just some clerk down at the bottom doing this.
They are doing something that Mr. Reich has qualified as an
anathema, that everyone considers as poor banking policy, and
they are doing it within 90 percent of their prime loans and 53 per-
cent of their—somebody down there is doing something.

And so it doesn’t matter whether you are making money or not,
to go back to the Chairman’s point. This institution is making
money or isn’t making money. You still look at this thing and say,
what is going on here? And if you knew that, I think all three of
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you agree, you would look into it, and I suggest that if you looked
into it based on what others have said, you would have found that
this just wasn’t happening. This was not a coincidence. That is the
only point I want to make. Am I making a fair statement, Mr.
Reich?

Mr. REICH. In my opinion, our examiners on the ground were
testing asset quality throughout all of their portfolios and they did
that consistently, year after year after year.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. REICH. And the institution continued to be 2-rated, which
is—

Senator KAUFMAN. But, I mean, because you didn’t have it and
you didn’t know—you now know that all these stated loan things
were out there. Don’t you have to, now that you know, say that at
}eas‘fi (;rou would begin to look into the possibility that it might be
raud?

Mr. REICH. I would agree with that, Senator Kaufman, but I
think, also, we need to remember what the economic environment,
the competitive environment and——

Senator KAUFMAN. Sure. I have got it.

Mr. REICH [continuing]. The emphasis on the American dream,
getting people in their homes——

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. REICH [continuing]. And finding financing vehicles that
would enable them to do that.

Senator KAUFMAN. OK. Thank you. The only point I want to
make is we went through that in Basel II, where all these things
are going on, but in the end, when it comes—that is what scares
me, Mr. Reich. I am getting OK, and then you scare the hell out
of me again because you basically say, well, you have got to under-
stand the environment. So it is the environment. Everybody was
doing it. You have got to understand that.

And my basic thing is, if that is what we are, then Senator Levin
and I are on a fool’s errand to try to straighten this out. If every
time something gets to be popular and every time people are mak-
ing a lot of money—I mean, if people are making a lot of money,
my normal response would be, I ought to look at that. That is not
reassuring to me.

Mr. REICH. Senator, I think lessons have been learned from what
we have been through.

Senator KAUFMAN. Thank you. Mr. Dochow.

Mr. DocHOW. One observation I would offer is I have always be-
lieved that companies such as banks who are insured by the FDIC
and the taxpayer is ultimately on the hook ought to have a special
standard, a special creed of some type, and that their performance,
in part, ought to be measured by that standard to the customer,
to the public interest.

I can tell you, in my career, I have been dismayed at comments
from CEOs and even small community banks who say their only
responsibility was to shareholders.

Senator KAUFMAN. Right.

Mr. DocHOw. I think that gets to the linchpin.

Senator KAUFMAN. I think that is basically—I am sorry to have
gone so far over, Mr. Chairman.
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Senator LEVIN. No, not at all. I am glad you are doing what you
are doing—it is exactly on target. It is not, though, just what you
have discussed. It is also the cultural environment inside the regu-
latory agency. I want to read you a couple more emails about that
cultural environment.

If you take a look at Exhibit 391, right in the middle there, it
says—this is to you, Mr. Dochow. “We are going to have the same
battle on the complaint memo, although I still stand by the find-
ings. Since we weren’t able to do a separate evaluation of the proc-
ess, they will fight it. It doesn’t matter that we are right, what
matters is how it is framed. And all we can do”—listen to this—
“is point to the pile of complaints and say there is a problem.”

That is not all you can do. You can do a lot more than that if
you have the will to do it.

Take a look at Exhibit 34.2 This one is really pretty dramatic
stuff. Exhibit 34, this is a time when OTS was looking at an under-
writing recommendation, and they were going to be a little bit
tougher in their recommendation, and they were talked out of it by
the bank. Take a look at page 2. “OTS confirmed today that they
will re-issue this memo without the ‘Criticism.” It will be a ‘Rec-
ommendation.”” So it starts off as a criticism, but then OTS is
talked into making it less than a criticism. It is just going to be
a recommendation.

And then if you look at the first page of Exhibit 34, you will see
a memo, “Good news”—this is inside of the bank. “Good news—
John”—and that is Robinson at WaMu—“was able to get the OTS
to see the light”—you guys were really seeing the light a lot—“and
revise the Underwriting rating to a Recommendation. Our response
is already complete.”

And then at the top of this memo from the head of Home Loans,
“I’ll bet you're a happy guy!!! Well done.”

Well, they were too happy too often with OTS backing off from
taking strong action.

And then take a look, if you would, at—and, by the way, while
Senator Kaufman is here, I think that stated income loans are still
not prohibited at all. We just heard that from the last panel, so I
think, Mr. Reich, when you said that you thought——

Mr. REICH. I thought it had been dealt with in the past year.

Senator LEVIN. No, it is not at all dealt with. It is still a very
open issue, and it is the reason why Congress has a responsibility
to put down some bright lines here. We cannot rely on the regu-
lators. That is obvious from today’s hearing, it seems to me. We
should be able to rely a lot more on the regulators, but we cannot.
We have to do some tough stuff:

Senator KAUFMAN. All the same, Mr. Chairman, good fences
make good neighbors, and I think good regulators work best when
they have bright-line rules on what is OK and what is not OK.

Senator LEVIN. They can point to them when they come to telling
the folks they are supposed to regulate, Hey, this is the law, we
are going to enforce it.

1See Exhibit No. 39, which appears in the Appendix on page 357.
2See Exhibit No. 34, which appears in the Appendix on page 335.
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There is plenty of discretion to do that, which is not used too
often, as we are seeing. But, nonetheless, it will, I think, help pret-
ty clearly if we have some bright lines.

Then we have to take a look at Exhibit 19.1 OTS examiners knew
that Washington Mutual and Long Beach were notorious for selling
bad loans. This gets to the point that Senator Kaufman was talking
about. Just let them go.

Now, Exhibit 19, in 2005 you had an OTS examiner sending an
email to colleagues with this description of the Long Beach mort-
gage-backed securities: “[Securitizations] prior to 2003 have hor-
rible performance. LBMC [Long Beach] finished in the top 12 worst
annualized NCLs [net credit losses] in 1997 and 1999 thru 2003.
. . . At 2/05, LBMC [Long Beach] was #1 with a 12% delinquency
rate.” Its delinquency rate was No. 1, and you folks knew about
this.

Now, OTS apparently does not think too much about the impact
of the thrifts that you are supposed to regulate selling billions of
dollars in poor-quality, high-risk, toxic loans in the financial mar-
kets. Apparently, that is not—you do not view that inside your ju-
risdiction. But it could be very directly inside your responsibility
because if those loans come back, that does have an impact on the
institutions that you are supposed to regulate. Would you agree
with that, Mr. Dochow?

Mr. DocHOW. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. OTS, on Exhibit 17,2 in May 2004 issued a find-
ings memo on excessive errors in the underwriting process, con-
cluded that some of the reasons were sales culture focused heavily
on market share via loan production and extremely high lending
volumes. OTS recommended to WaMu that it should compensate
loan processors based on the quality of the loans that they made.
And on page 5, WaMu laid out a set of corrective actions that it
planned to take. But as is happening regularly, as we have seen,
WaMu did not carry out the plan that it designed. And so next
year, Exhibit 27,3 OTS asked WaMu to address “continuing high
levels of errors in loan origination process.” That is OTS’ words.
OTS had to revisit the problem of paying loan staff for quantity
over quality. Again, it asked WaMu to reward loan processors
based on the quality of the loans that they made.

So how about Mr. Carter? Do you know whether OTS was more
successful the second time around in pressuring WaMu to reward
its loan processors for loan quality instead of quantity? Do you
know?

Mr. CARTER. I do not recall specifically what progress they made,
but they made steady progress throughout the examinations.

Senator LEVIN. They made steady progress on what?

Mr. CARTER. In addressing many of our issues.

Senator LEVIN. Well, what was the issue? We have just gone
through about 20 of them. What was the issue that you think they
made the greatest progress on?

1See Exhibit No. 19, which appears in the Appendix on page 277
2See Exhibit No. 17, which appears in the Appendix on page 269.
3See Exhibit No. 27, which appears in the Appendix on page 311.
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Mr. CARTER. The corrective action plans that they would give us
normally would involve changing management, changing systems,
and bringing in new processes.

Senator LEVIN. But the output, the outcome.

Mr. CARTER. The overall outcome of improving single family un-
derwriting was something they struggled with from exam to exam.

Senator LEVIN. And “struggled with” being a bureaucratic euphe-
mism for they did not do much.

Mr. CARTER. I do not think I would go as far as to say they did
not do much.

Senator LEVIN. Well, how far would you go? You say they strug-
gled with it. In other words, they did not accomplish very much.

Mr. CARTER. They were not fully effective in addressing all the
underwriting issues.

Senator LEVIN. How about saying, instead of “not fully effective,”
use more direct language like “they were ineffective?” I got that not
fully effective throughout your ratings here. They were not fully ef-
fective. How about saying “ineffective?”

Mr. CARTER. Ultimately, in reducing the exception rates down to
levels that we thought would be satisfactory, they were ineffective.

Senator LEVIN. They were ineffective. OK.

Mr. Carter, take a look at Exhibit 7,1 more a cultural problem.
Long Beach, you say in Exhibit 7, “was working at a deliberate,
reasonable pace.” That is on page 1. And then in Exhibit 7, I be-
lieve this is where you said the natural evolution, if I can find
those words, would be sufficient. Well, we will come back to that.
I do not have the right number exhibit in front of me.

Exhibit 7 is right. Take a look in the middle of that. “Long
Beach—natural evolution internally will address a number of
issues.” Well, it did not. So you wrote on Exhibit 32,2 Mr. Carter,
in reference to WaMu’s request to move Long Beach Mortgage
under the bank, “[Wle are not comfortable with current under-
writing practices, and you don’t want them to grow”—your words—
“significantly without having the practices cleaned up first.”

Six months later, now Exhibit 36,3 in response to findings that
Long Beach Mortgage had not improved their practices. OTS wrote
it could not “simply say [to them that] ‘you made a commitment
and haven’t kept it.”” Why couldn’t you tell Long Beach, simply,
“You made a commitment and haven’t kept it?” Why do you say
that you cannot do that in Exhibit 36?7 Why can’t you tell Long
Beach, “Hey, you guys made a commitment. You haven’t kept it?”

Mr. CARTER. Where are you on that page?

Senator LEVIN. Exhibit 36.

Mr. CARTER. Can you point me there?

Senator LEVIN. It is about eight lines from the top. “Our findings
are similar in some ways, but I don’t think we can just simply say,
You made a commitment and haven’t kept it.’ I think 90 days to
get a completely acceptable exception rate may also be unrealistic.
. . .” Now, mind you, this is a promise they made 6 months before.

Why can’t you simply say to the people you regulated, “You made
a commitment and haven’t kept it?”

1See Exhibit No. 7, which appears in the Appendix on page 228.
2See Exhibit No. 32, which appears in the Appendix on page 328.
3See Exhibit No. 1i, which appears in the Appendix on page 210.
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Mr. CARTER. Some of the difficulty—we were very focused on tak-
ing and looking at samples of loans. Then we were focused on ex-
ception rates and how many of the loans had errors in them. How
we defined “exception” rate was not always black and white.

Senator LEVIN. Well, you said they haven’t kept the promise.
Why don’t you just tell them they haven’t kept it?

Mr. CARTER. I think that we did tell them.

Senator LEVIN. No, you said you cannot just simply tell them,
“You made a commitment and haven’t kept it.” Why can’t you say
those words? Like “unacceptable,” why can’t you use the word “un-
acceptable” in your documents? We were finally able to get you to
say that here today, but your documents—that is not the way you
talk. Why can’t you tell someone you regulate, “Folks, you made a
commitment 6 months ago, and it was conditioned”—“our deter-
mination that you could become part of WaMu was dependent on
you making that commitment. You haven’t kept it?” Why can’t you
look people in the eye and say, “You made a commitment. You
haven’t kept it?”

Mr. CARTER. I think that overall when you look at single family
underwriting, we told them that.

Senator LEVIN. You said here you cannot tell

Mr. CARTER. This is not single family underwriting overall. This
is looking at a specific action plan where they had made promises
in the past——

Senator LEVIN. They had not kept them.

Mr. CARTER [continuing]. And we had to judge how much
progress they made on that action plan. They didn’t do nothing. I
think that is a double negative, but they had made progress on the
action plan. We had to make a judgment call. Did they make suffi-
cient progress that we would say it would be adequate? Did they
make so insufficient of progress that we would say they were to-
tally inadequate?

Senator LEVIN. It does not have to be “totally.” Just “inad-
equate.”

Mr. CARTER. And I think that what I said here is that we could
not conclude that their progress was wholly inadequate, because
they did make some progress.

Senator LEVIN. I am not saying “wholly inadequate.” Can you
use the words, “Folks, your progress is inadequate?” Are you able
to tell them that?

Mr. CARTER. For their progress on this specific action plan, I did
not conclude we could tell them that.

Senator LEVIN. That it was inadequate?

Mr. CARTER. That is right.

Senator LEVIN. You could tell them it was not wholly adequate.

Mr. CARTER. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. But not inadequate.

Mr. CARTER. I do not think I could say it was wholly inadequate.

Senator LEVIN. I did not use the word “wholly.” You could tell
them it was not wholly adequate, but you could not tell them it
was inadequate. That is what you are telling us.

Mr. CARTER. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. That is the kind of bureaucratic speech which I
think sends the message to people you regulate that, hey, folks, you
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are making progress, instead of telling them it is inadequate,
speaking clearly and directly to people that you have a responsi-
bility to regulate. And I think it goes—frankly, it is one of the
issues that I have seen throughout these documents, is that kind
of not clear statements to people you regulate. And I will not go
over a lot of them because obviously it is running late, but there
are a lot of them exactly like that.

Now the issues with FDIC and the turf battle that you folks had.
Exhibit 491, Mr. Dochow, is an email from Mr. Finn to you. “The
message was crystal clear today. Absolutely no FDIC participation
on any OTS 1 and 2 rated exams.”

Now, you could have allowed them, could you not, to participate?
It is not a prohibition. It is your discretion as to whether or not
they could participate on an OTS 1 and 2 rated exam. Is that cor-
rect that it 1s not against regulations?

Mr. DocHOW. I am not sure I am the right one to be answering
that. My understanding is that

Senator LEVIN. Well, who is the right one here? Mr. Reich, are
you the right one?

Mr. REIcH. I will be glad to answer the question.

Senator LEVIN. Is it against your regulations that they partici-
pate, or is it just discretionary?

Mr. REICH. We have an agreement between the agencies as to
when it is appropriate for back-up examinations, and that agree-
ment applies mainly to 3, 4, and 5 rates institutions and not 1 and
2 rated institutions.

Senator LEVIN. Now, there was a 2002 interagency agreement,
was there not, with FDIC?

Mr. REICcH. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. And there was a protocol.

Mr. REICH. That is right.

Senator LEVIN. And it permits OTS discretion, does it not, in al-
lowing FDIC——

Mr. REICH. It does.

Senator LEVIN. You had the discretion to allow them to do it?

Mr. REIcH. Well, may I expand?

Senator LEVIN. Oh, sure. Crystal clear, no participation on any
OTS 1 and 2 rates exams. This is 2006.

Mr. REICH. There are reasons for the policy as it exists, and one
of the reasons is that, first of all, the primary regulator is the pri-
mary Federal regulator, and when another regulator enters the
premises, when the FDIC enters the premises, confusion develops
about who is the primary regulator, who really is calling the shots,
who do we report to, which agency.

Second, there is the statutory authority that Congress has given
the primary Federal regulator. There is the desire to avoid confu-
sion with the institution. And, thirdly, when the FDIC enters an
institution, if it is known—sometimes they enter as examiners of
the primary Federal regulator or are not identified as being FDIC
examiners; but if it is known that they are, alarm bells can go off
bo‘{h Witélin the bank and within the community where the bank
is located.

1See Exhibit No. 49, which appears in the Appendix on page 389.
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Senator LEVIN. And you have discretion to allow them to enter?

Mr. REICH. We do.

Senator LEVIN. And you did not exercise it. There instead was a
series of emails here showing some real turf battles going on.

Mr. REicH. This was at the very outset of my entrance at OTS,
and I was—I mean, I have no recollection of-

Senator LEVIN. Well, maybe Mr. Dochow does. On July 25, if you
will look at Exhibit 45,1 this is your feeling about FDIC, and you
wanted to share this MOU we have talked about with them and
why it went to FDIC: “[Blecause I committed to [them] to consider
their comments in an effort to minimize their letter writing and
posturing.” You viewed FDIC as someone that was doing posturing.
Is that accurate?

Mr. DocHOw. I have always believed in sharing full information
with the FDIC. I have always been guided by agency policy and the
interagency protocol. The issue with the MOU was to make sure
we had the full FDIC comments. This is July 2008.

Senator LEVIN. I know.

Mr. DocHOw. This is a time period where the agencies were
struggling to determine if the 3 rating or the 4 rating was the ap-
propriate rating. And historically, the FDIC had written a number
of memos back in the—I understand in the early 2000s doing one-
sided documentation of issues. And it created

Senator LEVIN. One-sided documentation?

Mr. DocHOW. One-sided documentation of issues. And so I had
worked very hard to develop a strong relationship with Stan Ivie,
who was the Regional Director at the FDIC.

Senator LEVIN. Could you explain what is one-sided documenta-
tion?

Mr. DocHOW. Ignoring the primary regulator’s views and simply
stating speculation or conjecture or their analysis.

Senator LEVIN. And so you wrote in 2008 to Sheila Bair at FDIC
Exhibit 66?2

Mr. DocHow. Exhibit 66?

Senator LEVIN. “Dear Sheila, You really know how to stir up a
colleague’s vacation.”

“I do not under any circumstances want to discuss this on Fri-
day’s conference call. . . . I want to have a one on one meeting
with Ben Bernanke prior to any discussion. . . . I may or may not
choose to have a similar meeting with Secretary Paulson. I should
not have to remind you the FDIC has no role until the PFR [the
primary regulator] (i.e., the OTS), rules on solvency and the PFR
utilizes PCA.”

So no role for FDIC. Now, this is a bank. If this bank goes under,
their Insurance Fund is wiped out. They have about one-third of
the money in the Insurance Fund that they would have to lay out
if this bank goes under. But you are telling her, the head of FDIC,
“I should not have to remind you that FDIC has no role’—which
is not accurate. They have a back-up role surely to protect their In-
surance Fund.

1See Exhibit No. 45, which appears in the Appendix on page 368.
2See Exhibit No. 66, which appears in the Appendix on page 435.
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Then Scott Polakoff writes to you that he has “read the attached
letter from the FDIC regarding supervision of WaMu and am once
again disappointed that the FDIC has confused its role as insurer
with the role of the Primary Federal Regulator,” that its letter is
“inappropriate and disingenuous.” !

And now going to July 2008, you have your letter saying that
they are “posturing.” That is why you sent the MOU to them.

So you think they are exceeding their jurisdiction, and you think
they are posturing. Is that fair? That is what your emails show. At
that time you thought they were exceeding their jurisdiction, they
had no role

Mr. DocHow. That is not my email, Mr. Chairman.

Senator LEVIN. Which one?

Mr. DocHow. Exhibit 66. Those aren’t my emails.

Senator LEVIN. Well, Exhibit 45, let us go to the posturing one.
You thought they were posturing.

Mr. DocHOW. No. What I thought was by us being cooperative
and fully sharing the memorandum of understanding, if we could
get the reviews, it would avoid posturing.

Senator LEVIN. Yes, but that means you were afraid they would
be posturing. You had a fear that they were going to be posturing.

Mr. DocHOW. I do not express it that way.

Senator LEVIN. “It went to the FDIC because I committed to
[them] to consider their comments in an effort to minimize their
letter writing and posturing.” You had a fear of their posturing.

Mr. DocHOw. I had a concern that they would be posturing.

Senator LEVIN. You had a concern, not a fear.

Mr. DocHOW. Not a fear.

Senator LEVIN. But a concern.

Mr. DocHOW. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. And what was your concern?

Mr. DocHOW. My concern was that they would start documenting
the files with a series of information that we would then have to
respond to and that would drag out the process. Therefore, we
would not be effective in getting the supervision enforcement in
place in a timely manner.

Senator LEVIN. And, Mr. Reich, you are the one who wrote that
memo to Sheila Bair in August reminding her the FDIC has no role
until OTS rules on solvency. Is that accurate, they have no role?
Don’t they have a back-up role?

Mr. REICH. They do have a back-up role.

?Senator LEVIN. So why say no role? Kind of over the top, isn’t
it?

Mr. REICH. Well, it was in the context of what was going on dur-
ing this period of time. I did not mean to imply that they have——

Senator LEVIN. You are not implying——

Mr. REICH [continuing]. No role whatsoever.

1Senator LEVIN. You are not implying. You are stating it explic-
itly.

Mr. REICH. Obviously, they have a back-up role, and they have
an on-site examiner at WaMu.

Senator LEVIN. Well, you are reminding her

1See Exhibit No. 59, which appears in the Appendix on page 419.
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Mr. REICH. So they do have a role.

Senator LEVIN. Well, not at that time. You wrote her in August.
You must have been upset. You reminded her that the FDIC has
no role. Those are your words, not mine.

Mr. REICH. These were tense times.

Senator LEVIN. OK. I am sure they were. So what was the ten-
sion between your agency and FDIC here? Your folks would not
even give them a chair in the office, a desk.

Mr. REICH. I do not think that is accurate.

Senator LEVIN. All right. We will hear from them later. What
was the tension?

Mr. REICcH. Well, Rome was burning. The economy was going to
Hell in a hand basket.

Senator LEVIN. Yes, but what was the tension between the two
of you? You treated them, instead of being collaborators to try to
address a common problem, you treat them as though somehow or
other they are to be shoved away. What caused this?

Mr. REICH. I think basically and fundamentally it was who was
the primary Federal regulator.

Senator LEVIN. It was turf, in a word.

Mr. REICH. I think OTS had the responsibility as the primary
Federal regulator.

Senator LEVIN. Turf.

Mr. REICH. We had the statutory responsibility.

Senator LEVIN. Instead of going at this as partners

Mr. REICH. I have more than most—an understanding of the role
of the FDIC and their need to participate. I have been there.

Senator LEVIN. Let us take a look at another one of your emails,
Exhibit 68.1

Mr. REICH. I assume we are talking about audacity.

Senator LEVIN. Yes, we are talking about audacity. Chairman
Bair writes OTS that she informed WaMu of a ratings disagree-
ment. You expressed, “I cannot believe the continuing audacity of
this woman.” What is audacious about FDIC telling WaMu about
a potential downgrade, just telling WaMu? Why is that so auda-
cious that you cannot believe the audacity of this woman?

Mr. REICH. Again, it relates to the fact that OTS was the pri-
mary Federal regulator

Senator LEVIN. I understand.

Mr. REICH [continuing]. And I thought that OTS ought to be the
agency that relayed the downgrade in rating to the new CEO who
just took over.

Senator LEVIN. Turf.

Mr. REIcH. Characterize it as how you may. I have the highest
regard for Sheila Bair, but these were tense times, and people’s
blood pressure increases under situations like this, and sometimes
we say things that we wish would not appear in print.

Senator LEVIN. What really strikes me throughout here is that
we have a situation where we have two regulators; both clearly
have a stake. You are the primary regulator, but it is clear that
FDIC has a significant interest. If this bank goes under again,
their Insurance Fund is wiped out.

1See Exhibit No. 68, which appears in the Appendix on page 439.
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So instead of supporting each other, instead of supporting with
open arms, saying, “Hey, let’s proceed together on this, let’s do this
together,” instead of kind of “I've got your back, you've got my
back, let’s go after a common goal,” it is back biting that I read in
these emails.

Mr. REICH. Chairman Levin, if I may, I volunteered

Senator LEVIN. Well, no, let me finish.

Mr. REIcH. OK.

Senator LEVIN. Instead of kind of collaborating with the FDIC,
we have seen how OTS collaborated with the people they are sup-
posed to regulate, just collaborating all the way, working with
them instead of taking action when it was due against them, act
against them directly. So you see all that collaboration between you
and the people you are supposed to regulate. But when it comes to
collaborating with another agency to go after a problem which
threatens this economy, we see this kind of email traffic. And I
have got to tell you, I think the American taxpayers and the Amer-
ican people expect a lot more from their regulators than what we
have seen in this situation.

Mr. REIcH. Well, first of all, I think taking and publicizing an
email that is taken totally out of context is

Senator LEVIN. That is the whole email. I read the whole email.

Mr. REICH. It is a very short email message——

Senator LEVIN. Well, how can it be out of context?

Mr. REICH. But it does not in any way describe the context of the
environment that took place.

Senator LEVIN. Well, I read the whole email.!

Mr. REICH. I want to say that

Senator LEVIN. “You really know how to stir up a colleague’s va-
cation. I do not under any circumstances want to discuss this on
Friday’s conference call, in which I may or may not be able to par-
ticipate depending on cell phone service availability on the cruise
ship location,” where you are at. “Instead, I want to have a one-
on-one meeting with Ben Bernanke prior to any such discussion.
. . . Also, I may or may not choose to have a similar meeting with
Secretary Paulson.”

“I should not have to remind you the FDIC has no role until the
[primary regulator] (. . . OTS) rules on solvency . . .”

Now, I will tell you, that is the context. I am not taking anything
out of context. I read the whole thing twice.

Mr. REICH. Well, it is not all of the context. I volunteered to have
the OTS make a presentation in-depth to the Board of Directors of
the FDIC during this period of time. I don’t remember now the
date that it took place, but there was such a briefing, and it was
led by Darrel Dochow, and he did an absolutely outstanding job
presenting an in-depth picture of the situation at WaMu. It was at
the same board meeting that a presentation took place by another
agency on another institution which was far less informative and
far less in-depth.

Senator LEVIN. That is the context?

Mr. REICH. That is part of the context.

1See Exhibit No. 66, which appears in the Appendix on page 435.
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Senator LEVIN. Well, from what I can see—and we have looked
at plenty of contexts. We have 500 pages of context. About the only
time OTS showed backbone was against another agency’s moving,
in your view, into your turf. Boy, that really got your dander up.
That got your blood pressure up. I do not see your blood pressure
getting up against a bank which is engaged in the kind of dan-
gerous practices that the bank engaged in, dangerous to their sol-
vency, dangerous to their investors, dangerous to their depositors,
dangerous to this economy. I never saw that blood pressure come
up until you are in some kind of a turf issue with FDIC. That is
the way I think any fair reading of these documents lead one to.

Does anybody want to add anything before you are excused?

[No response.]

Senator LEVIN. Thank you. Thank you for being here today. We
will go to our next panel.

We will take a 10-minute break.

[Recess.]

Senator LEVIN. The Subcommittee will come back to order.

I will now call our third panel of witnesses, John Corston, Acting
Deputy Director of the Large Institutions and Analysis Branch at
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and George Doerr, the
Deputy Regional Director of the Division of Supervision and Con-
sumer Protection at the FDIC in San Francisco. We thank you both
for being with us. We know it has been a long morning and early
afternoon.

Pursuant to Rule 6, all witnesses who testify before this Sub-
committee must be sworn in at this time. We would ask you both
to stand and raise your right hand.

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you are about to give
will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so
help you, God?

Mr. CorsToON. I do.

Mr. DOERR. I do.

S%nator LEVIN. Were you here when I described the timing sys-
tem?

Mr. CORSTON. Yes.

Mr. DOERR. Yes, we were.

Senator LEVIN. So, Mr. Corston, we will have you go first, and
then Mr. Doerr.

TESTIMONY OF JOHN CORSTON,! ACTING DEPUTY DIRECTOR,
DIVISION OF SUPERVISION AND CONSUMER PROTECTION,
COMPLEX FINANCIAL INSTITUTION BRANCH, FEDERAL DE-
POSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

Mr. CORSTON. Thank you, Chairman Levin. I appreciate the op-
portunity to testify on my role with the FDIC regarding Wash-
ington Mutual Bank. On behalf of the Corporation, we have sub-
mitted to the Subcommittee a written statement that responds to
specific issues that were requested by the Subcommittee. In addi-
tion, allow me to briefly introduce myself and my roles and respon-
sibilities at the FDIC.

1The prepared statement of Mr. Corston appears in the Appendix on page 153.
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I am John Corston, Acting Deputy Director for the FDIC’s Divi-
sion of Supervision and Consumer Protection’s Complex Financial
Institution Branch in Washington, DC. I have had a leading role
in this branch since 2005, after working in three different regions
in various capacities related to bank supervision. I started as a
field examiner with the FDIC in 1987.

An element of my duties as Acting Deputy Director of Complex
Financial Institutions is to oversee the Large Insured Depository
Institution Program (LIDI). Broadly, the LIDI program provides
forward-looking assessment of insured depository institutions over
$10 billion, provides highly experienced technical experts to provide
on-site support for the regions, operates continuous presence at the
eight largest insured institutions, and assists in developing and
recommending strategy to the Division Director and the Chairman
regarding specific institutions.

With regard to Washington Mutual, I worked with technical ex-
perts on my staff and coordinated with the region to evaluate
CAMELS and LIDI ratings and supervisory strategy, including en-
forcement actions. While the region is primarily responsible for
these areas, input from the Complex Financial Institutions Branch
played a significant role in the decisionmaking process.

I also worked with my Washington-based counterpart at the Of-
fice of Thrift Supervision on LIDIs, including Washington Mutual,
to resolve issues regarding FDIC’s actions or conclusions that were
not resolved at the regional level.

One of the roles of the FDIC’s Complex Financial Institution
Branch is to identify risks that impact large institutions, including
high-risk lending strategies such as those that took place at Wash-
ington Mutual. To do this, we have technical experts on-site at in-
stitutions we have identified through the LIDI review process that
are considered to possess higher levels of risk. For instance, we
placed staff on-site at Countrywide, IndyMac, and Washington Mu-
tual to identify high-risk activities and measure their impact on
the financial condition.

My branch’s responsibility is to examine financial institutions
and gain an awareness of the speed in which the institution could
deteriorate, determine its sensitivity to market events, and analyze
its exposure to loss so appropriate and timely responses can be de-
veloped.

I thank you for the opportunity to testify today and I am pleased
to answer any of your questions.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much. Mr. Doerr.

TESTIMONY OF J. GEORGE DOERR,! DEPUTY REGIONAL DI-
RECTOR, SAN FRANCISCO REGION, FEDERAL DEPOSIT IN-
SURANCE CORPORATION

Mr. DOERR. Chairman Levin, I will be even more brief. I appre-
ciate the opportunity to testify on my role with the FDIC in the su-
pervision of Washington Mutual Bank (WaMu).

I am George Doerr, Deputy Regional Director for the FDIC in the
San Francisco Regional Office, a position which I have held since
June 2007. I have been with the FDIC almost 40 years. From Sep-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Doerr appears in the Appendix on page 155.
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tember 2002 until June 2007, I was Assistant Regional Director for
the FDIC San Francisco Regional Office. The San Francisco Region
covers 11 States—Washington, Oregon, California, Arizona, Ne-
vada, Utah, Idaho, Wyoming, Montana, Alaska, and Hawaii, in ad-
dition to the Territories of Guam and American Samoa and also
Micronesia. As Assistant Regional Director in those years, among
my responsibilities was our Regional Large Bank Program, which
included WaMu.

The three matters the Subcommittee asked me to be prepared to
address with respect to WaMu are, one, Non-Traditional Mortgage
Guidance; two, WaMu’s condition as assessed through the CAM-
ELS ratings; and three, FDIC’s Large Insured Depository Institu-
tions Program and ratings, also referred to as the LIDI program.
On behalf of the Corporation, we have provided discussion of these
three matters in the written statement submitted to the Sub-
committee.

Thank you again for the opportunity to testify, and I am pleased
to respond to any of your questions.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you both. Mr. Doerr, first, take a look at
Exhibit 51a, if you would.!

Mr. DOERR. OK.

Senator LEVIN. It is a memo entitled, “Potential Impact of Pos-
sible Housing Bubble on Washington Mutual.” In this memo, the
FDIC wrote an analysis of WaMu’s single-family residential loan
portfolio, focusing on Option ARMs, hybrid loans, low documenta-
tion loans, which means low number of document loans, payment
shock, and geographic concentrations. Now, if single-family residen-
tial lending was traditionally safe, what were the risks that FDIC
saw with these aspects of WaMu’s lending that made it less safe
than historical times?

Mr. DOERR. Well, we were becoming concerned with what would
happen were there to be a dramatic downturn in the mortgage in-
dustry and with housing in general, or what effect that sort of
downturn would have on the mortgage industry.

Senator LEVIN. Loans were risky, were they? They had multiple
risk factors layered on top of each other. Borrowers in low docu-
mentation loans were subject to higher default risk. Is that not
true? Payment shock increased default risk. Geographic concentra-
tions were vulnerable to high housing rate increases. Were they all
true?

Mr. DOERR. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. All right. The IG report, and that is Exhibit 82,2
page nine, found that Option ARMs were 47 percent of the loans
in WaMu’s portfolio. So now in light of the elevated risks in that
memo, low documentation, payment shock, geographic concentra-
tions, did FDIC or OTS discourage these products? If not, why not?

Mr. DOERR. Well, we did not specifically discourage those prod-
ucts. I, for one, can see a problem with certain of those products.
You have been talking during the hearings with stated income
loans, and I certainly see some holes in those. But as an agency,

1See Exhibit No. 51a, which appears in the Appendix on page 392.
2See Exhibit No. 82, which appears in the Appendix on page 484.

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00082 Fmt6633 Sfmt6633 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

69

FDIC did not take the position to prevent institutions from making
those loans.

What we did is we provided Non-Traditional Mortgage Guidance
in October 2006. We set out in the guidance certain safe and sound
principles under which institutions should approach these non-tra-
ditional mortgages. For example, one should qualify borrowers at
the fully indexed rate, not at the teaser rate. Also, that when eval-
uating a borrower’s capacity to handle increased amounts accruing
in a negative amortization loan, you have to evaluate the bor-
rower’s ability to pay the loan through to maturity. Avoidance of
over-reliance on collateral or the ability to refinance was another
big mistake made by a number of firms.

And when it comes to risk layering, which you mentioned, what
we did was encourage quality controls and risk mitigation for risk
layering items such as stated income loans, no documentation
loans, high loan-to-value, high debt-to-income, and those sort of
items. So that was the interagency statement that was issued.

Senator LEVIN. Right. Now, that interagency position is not bind-
ing, is that correct?

Mr. DOERR. It is not a law. It is not a rule or regulation.

Senator LEVIN. Is it binding by regulation?

Mr. DOERR. It is not.

Senator LEVIN. Should it be?

Mr. DOERR. Well, we might consider that.

Senator LEVIN. What would it take? I mean, given, I think, what
we understand the risks are here, I am just wondering whether or
not it shouldn’t be more than just guidance.

Mr. DOERR. As FDIC, we expected our institutions to be in com-
pliance with that guidance and be in compliance with it right away.

Senator LEVIN. Without it being stated as being mandatory. You
view that as an expectation——

Mr. DOERR. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. And has that expectation been lived up to, do you
know?

Mr. DOERR. Been lived up to in

Senator LEVIN. Has the guidance been followed?

Mr. DOERR. It has in some institutions and it has not in others.

Senator LEVIN. Have you, or will you remind all institutions
about your expectation?

Mr. DOERR. That is our expectation.

Senator LEVIN. But will you remind all the institutions?

Mr. DOERR. Well, that

Senator LEVIN. How would they know it is your expectation un-
less you send them frequent reminders of it?

Mr. DOERR. I think it would be a good idea that perhaps we
might. That is a policy item for our Washington office, but I would
agree with you, that would be a good idea.

Senator LEVIN. All right. Mr. Corston, you can jump in here, too,
if you would.

Mr. CORSTON. Absolutely. We certainly have concerns over any
loan product that, again, has less information incorporated into an
underwriting process that is layering on more risk. In this case, we
came out with our guidance to provide examiners some guidance
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and the industry some guidance when the risk became very appar-
ent to our agency and others.

Senator LEVIN. On Exhibit 51b,! if you will take a look at that
exhibit, this is a 2005 memo entitled, “Insured Institutions’ Expo-
sure to a Housing Slowdown.” Mr. Corston, what were the FDIC’s
concerns about the structure of the loans that were popular at that
time? What were the risk of those loans in bank portfolios?

Mr. CoOrSTON. The concern we had with these loans was the at-
tributes were such that when you have optionality in payments, it
becomes far more difficult to determine performance, whether you
are the bank or whether you are an examiner. Many of them be-
came an apparent collateral dependent, and when you are only de-
pending on one source of repayment, again, the risk goes up. We
became very concerned about the housing market in general and
the volume of loans that we had that appeared to be dependent on
the values of the underlying real estate as opposed to the under-
lying capacity of a borrower to repay themselves.

Senator LEVIN. On page four of that memo, you wrote about
Washington Mutual, among others, and you wrote there what they
held in Option ARMs and that 70 percent of Option ARM cus-
tomers only make the minimum payment each month. Do you see
that on page four?

Mr. CORSTON. Yes, I do.

Senator LEVIN. This is a memo, by the way, from you to Michael
Zamorski, right? Do I have that right?

Mr. CorsTON. That should be the Division Director.

Senator LEVIN. He is the Regional Director?

Mr. CorsTON. He would be the Division Director.

Senator LEVIN. OK.

Mr. CorsToN. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. OK. What consequences can you expect when
most customers only make minimum payment in terms of the bor-
rower’s reaction to a payment shock? What consequences can you
expect to negative amortization, to the safety and the soundness of
institutions that hold these kind of assets?

Mr. CORSTON. It suggests the inability to repay the loan out of
their payment capacity, which moves the reliance to the underlying
collateral. And I think we have seen the results.

Senator LEVIN. Now, several OTS officials told our Subcommittee
that single-family residential lending, compared to other types of
lending, was historically very safe, so that is how they judged
WaMu’s lending. Is that a fair comparison, given that WaMu’s
lending practices departed radically from historically safe products
and practices? Either one of you. Mr. Doerr, why don’t you start?

Mr. DOERR. No. There is definitely a problem there. What we
would expect is strong underwriting to take place, to take into ac-
count the ability of a borrower to handle a payment shock. If you
are going to give them a teaser rate to attract them into the insti-
tution, that is fine, but you have to qualify them to be able to pay
the loan as it resets.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Corston.

1See Exhibit No. 51b, which appears in the Appendix on page 398.
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Mr. CORSTON. In the case of Washington Mutual, certainly the
standard 30-year fixed-rate amortizing mortgage is generally not a
problem. Any product that you have that has amortization built in
and a steady interest rate that does not vary with the capacity of
the borrower to pay, generally, from an underwriting standpoint, is
not a problem. That is not what 70 percent of these products were.

Senator LEVIN. Now, as WaMu’s condition continued to worsen
in the summer of 2008, the FDIC conducted a capital analysis, rec-
ommended to OTS that a 4 rating was warranted. Take a look at
Exhibit 63.1 Do you see that?

Mr. CORSTON. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. This is from Sheila Bair to John Reich, and I
should have asked Mr. Reich about this. “Sheila, in my view, rating
WaMu a 4”—this is now August 2008—“rating WaMu a 4 would be
a big error in judging the facts in this situation. It would appear
to be a rating resulting from fear and not a rating based on the
condition of the institution. WaMu has both the capital and the li-
quidity to justify a 3 rating.”

And then the email back from Ms. Bair to Mr. Reich, “We will
follow the appropriate procedures if the staff cannot agree. You
asked me to hear out WaMu. I hope that you would also hear out
our examination staff if it comes to that.”

Then later, the next month, in September, after a lot of back-
and-forth, OTS followed FDIC’s lead and agreed to a 4 rating. Why
was OTS resistant to the FDIC’s tougher stance?

Mr. DoOERR. Well, we found that very puzzling. We made a rec-
ommendation in May to the OTS concerning capital. We presented
to them a stress capital analysis. We sent it to them a day ahead
and then we held a conference call with Mr. Dochow. And when I
say “we,” that is the Regional Director, Stan Ivie, and me. We held
a conference call with him to discuss that. His reaction was this
was not a Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), and
he rejected the argument. It is not a GAAP analysis. It is a stress
analysis. It says that the institution is going to need capital, more
capital, to be able to manage itself through a stress scenario as em-
bedded losses begin to become real losses. It is under the principle
that reserves are there to handle expected losses and capital is
there to handle unexpected losses. So it is a different item entirely.

We wanted to get capital addressed in some form of action. OTS
was going to do a MOU, we became aware, and we contacted Mr.
Dochow and wanted into the process so that we could get capital
addressed in that MOU.

As far as the rating goes, we had our dedicated examiner tell the
WaMu Board on July 15, that in FDIC’s view, this could be a 4.
We had not made a final decision at that point

Senator LEVIN. You had not made a final decision.

Mr. DOERR. We had not made a final decision

Senator LEVIN. It could be or should be?

Mr. DOERR. Could be. But by the end of the month, we had made
that decision, and——

Senator LEVIN. What month are we talking about?

Mr. DOERR. July 2008.

1See Exhibit No. 63, which appears in the Appendix on page 431.
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Senator LEVIN. OK.

Mr. DOERR. On July 31, we briefed Chairman Sheila Bair, and
the result of which was we told her this is a composite 4 and why.
Mr. Corston was on that. And she went over to tell Director Reich
that very day the same thing. It is composite 4.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Corston, anything you want to add to that?

Mr. CORSTON. The only thing I will add is the capital analysis
showed a capital deficit and that was our concern. And any institu-
tion that was showing a deficit in capital to the magnitude that we
were estimating, and it was approximately $5 billion, we felt in no
way we could justify a composite 3 rating.

[Pause.]

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Doerr, you have been in management roles
in the FDIC’s West Division since 1989, and as I understand it,
your division was responsible for WaMu. Through 2005, if I am cor-
rect, the FDIC’s working relationship with the OTS was a positive,
cooperative relationship. Is that correct?

Mr. DOERR. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. Now, if you look at Exhibit 51c,! this is your ex-
aminer, Mr. Funaro. He wrote the following to you.

Mr. DOERR. I am sorry. I have to find the page.

Senator LEVIN. Yes. That is OK.

Mr. DOERR. OK. I have got it here.

Senator LEVIN. OK. If you look near the bottom there, it says,
“Darrel Dochow contacted me today and we arranged a meeting for
September 14 at 9:00 a.m. . . . I was assuming we would coordi-
nate for the fall visit . . . and he would update me on WaMu, since
I haven’t had access to the WaMu examiner’s library since the end
of the [second quarter].” Why did he not have access to the WaMu
examiner’s library since then?

Mr. DOERR. Chairman Levin, he was supposed to. Initially, this
tied into the fact that Washington Mutual management was mov-
ing to a new tower, so there was different space to be provided for
the examiners, and we fully understood that. That was in July. But
OTS was to make provisions to provide Mr. Funaro with space in
the building. This dragged on and on. They promised that they
would take care of it. There were calls. There were meetings. I was
involved in one call where Mr. Dochow in August promised that he
would take care of this, absolutely no problem.

So every time this came up, we were promised it would be cor-
rected. It dragged on. It dragged on. This is in September and it
is still not taken care of. In fact, we got another email come Octo-
ber and it was still an outstanding issue.

Senator LEVIN. What was the reason?

Mr. DOERR. I can’t explain what the reason was. I personally
think they didn’t want us there. I mean, we were denied physical
access and the access to this examiner library. That is a library of
electronic materials that WaMu puts together for the regulators,
for both the OTS and the FDIC. He had temporarily lost that as
part of the move, but you shouldn’t have to go 4 months without
having to have that. We have a dedicated examiner arrangement

1See Exhibit No. 51c, which appears in the Appendix on page 404.
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for the large banks with all of the other regulators and part of it
is sharing information. So he should have had access to that.

Senator LEVIN. And it was essential that Mr. Funaro have access
to that library in order to get information about the Washington
Mutual?

Mr. DOERR. Absolutely.

Senator LEVIN. Now, was an explanation given to either of you
about that at any time, as to why that was?

Mr. DOERR. Why that delay happened?

Senator LEVIN. Yes.

Mr. DOERR. I never received an explanation, no.

Senator LEVIN. Did you get involved in that also, Mr. Corston,
I believe?

Mr. CORSTON. As far as an explanation?

Senator LEVIN. Were you involved in this issue?

Mr. CORSTON. Oh, in this?

Senator LEVIN. The access issue for FDIC?

Mr. CorsTON. I was definitely involved in the access issue at cer-
tain stages. This is probably not the stage where I got involved, but
I was very involved in the later stages.

Senator LEVIN. OK. Now, if you will look down at—well, did you
have anything to add, then, to that, as to what the reason was for
that denial of access to the FDIC?

Mr. CORSTON. No reason was given.

Senator LEVIN. All right. Now, if you look at the bottom of Ex-
hibit 51c,! at the message from you, Mr. Doerr, to Mr. Carter, here
is what it says there. It says, “John, we received a letter from RD
Mike Finn regarding our routine request to join their next on-site
exam target this fall. As you know, Mr. Finn says no, totally con-
trary to what Vanessa and I discussed with Deputy Dochow on Au-
gust 17.”

So here is another situation that came up where there is refusal
on the part of OTS to do something jointly with the FDIC. Again,
the date of this Exhibit 51c is September 2006. Can you tell us
what FDIC was seeking to do and why, and what do you know as
to why OTS was not permitting you to do it?

Mr. DOERR. We were seeking to join their examination.

Senator LEVIN. Why?

Mr. DOERR. We followed our normal protocols under the inter-
agency agreement, and on August 14, we sent the OTS a letter and
we asked to join under that interagency agreement, and we were
surprised. We got a letter back from them dated September 1 and
it said that OTS’ position was that FDIC needed to establish a
basis upon which we could join an examination. They knew of no
disagreements between the agencies, and without a disagreement,
we had no basis to be there and we were not invited to be on the
examination.

Senator LEVIN. Was it important in order for you to have a basis
that you have access?

Mr. DOERR. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. I mean, it is a chicken-and-egg issue, I presume.

1See Exhibit No. 51c, which appears in the Appendix on page 404.
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Mr. DOERR. It is circular. We need access to determine the condi-
tion of the institution and they are saying we have no disagree-
ments. The institution is sound, and so you have no basis.

Mr. CORSTON. Chairman Levin, if I could add some background,
we had dedicated examiners in six of the largest institutions at the
time. Washington Mutual was one of them. Our examiners on-site,
the dedicated examiners, worked regularly with the primary Fed-
eral regulator and participated in examinations, and the reason
was so we had a good idea of the risk in those institutions. The
only way this agency can get that information is to acquire it
through direct on-site access to the information. This was a unique
situation where we were receiving push-back from the primary
Federal regulator.

Senator LEVIN. Did OTS continue to have this posture towards
FDIC requests to look through files, Mr. Corston?

Mr. CORSTON. Yes, they did.

Senator LEVIN. And do you have any examples of that?

er. CORSTON. Mr. Doerr probably would have the best exam-
ples——

Senator LEVIN. All right. Mr. Doerr.

Mr. DOERR. Yes, we did. We actually got resolution to this 2006
matter, both to join the examination and the access for Dedicated
Examiner Funaro in November. It took several months, but we got
it.

We again followed our protocols to join the examination for 2007,
only to find out in February from Mr. Funaro that OTS refused to
allow us to look at loan files.

Senator LEVIN. Now, FDIC requested to look at files after the
Non-Traditional Mortgage Guidance, correct?

Mr. DOERR. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. And OTS had opposed that guidance and they
took this position, even to the extent that they opposed having the
FDIC tag along with the OTS’ own review, and I think you have
just described that, is that correct?

Mr. DOERR. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. All right.

Mr. DOERR. We told them that our examiners will sit side by side
with your examiners. No duplication of effort here. We will work
some files, you work some files, but we want to work some files.

Senator LEVIN. And did you believe that OTS had a substantive
reason for the positions that it took in terms of FDIC access, or
was it, in your view, just a regulatory turf battle?

Mr. DOERR. I knew of no substantive position that could be taken
to tell us not to look at loan files.

Mr. CorsTON. I also received no substantive

Senator LEVIN. From your perspectives, it was a turf battle. Pro-
tecting turf.

Mr. CORSTON. Yes.

Mr. DOERR. That is a good description of it.

Senator LEVIN. Now, there is a binder in front of you there which
remains a sealed exhibit because apparently there is—bank exam-
ination reports are apparently confidential, so that file is sealed.
Can you take a look at Tab Q207, the FDIC LIDI report? I think,
Mr. Corston, this is going to be for you.

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00088 Fmt6633 Sfmt6633 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

75

Mr. CORsTON. OK.

Senator LEVIN. Can you explain what this LIDI off-site rating
and scale is?

Mr. CorsTON. Essentially, we have a scale that goes from A to
E, and what we try to do with that scale is take the risk level of
the institutions. This rating does not tie necessarily to CAMELS,
blut it does predict CAMELS when you get to the C, D, and E lev-
els.

A C stable would indicate an institution that would more than
likely still be CAMELS 2 rated, but probably have higher levels of
risk. It could also include 3-rated institutions. The reason Wash-
ington Mutual would be included as a C stable is that it had higher
levels of risk.

Senator LEVIN. So that in this exhibit, which is based on the sec-
ond quarter of 2007, is it accurate to say that FDIC assigned
WaMu a C rating?

Mr. CorsTON. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. Which is kind of, is it fair to say, heading to-
wards a 3? Is that a fair summary? Is that some sort of weaknesses
or concentrations which——

Mr. COrRSTON. A C negative would clearly indicate that it would
be heading towards a 3. As a C stable, it would certainly have the
risk characteristics of an institution that could be heading to a 3
if it was under some level of stress. You can see the areas where
it was most vulnerable, most notably in the area of credit risk,
which was increasing in nature. That is probably the first red flag
in this report.

Senator LEVIN. And what is the date of this?

Mr. DOERR. This was actually done in October. There is some-
thing wrong with the date. It says 1899, but it was actually—it was
done in October of-

Senator LEVIN. That is a computer error, apparently. We saw
that, too. But the information was based on the second quarter?

Mr. CORSTON. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. All right. And so is it accurate to say that FDIC
had a more negative outlook for WaMu at that time than a simple
2 CAMELS rating?

Mr. CorsToN. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. So what were you looking at that would not be
inside that OTS 2 rating? Were there some additional things you
were looking at?

Mr. CorsTON. Essentially, we would be looking at the level of
risk and the direction of risk. So when we are looking at this re-
port, it has moderate to high credit risk that is increasing in na-
ture. And I think if you go through the reports, you will see that
the mitigants for higher levels of credit risk, such as risk practices
and things like that, were not apparent in this institution. That
was a concern. And this is one of the reasons that access to clearer
information for the FDIC in that situation was more critical.

Senator LEVIN. Just to make sure I understand that, that is
why—what you just said is the access to their information

Mr. CORSTON. To their information.

Senator LEVIN [continuing]. Was more critical.

Mr. CORSTON. More critical.

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00089 Fmt6633 Sfmt6633 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

76

Senator LEVIN. Because of the situation there. Now, if you look
at the credit issue or rating at the top right-hand corner of that
document, they are A-1 or A. Is that correct?

Mr. CORSTON. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. Now, look forward a few more tabs to the Q2, sec-
ond quarter, 2008 LIDI. OK?

Mr. CORSTON. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. Now, the credit ratings, instead of being A-1 or
A, n‘;)W have gone down to B, AA2, BBB plus, and BBB. Is that cor-
rect?

Mr. CorsToON. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. And this is the information in the second quarter
of 2008.

Mr. CorsToON. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. Now, as of 2008, then, the credit ratings contin-
ued to go down all the way to non-investment grade in September.

Mr. CORSTON. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. But how important were those rating agency
downgrades between those two documents? Was that significant?

Mr. CORSTON. And it is significant in that the funding mecha-
nisms that this institution had had some triggers that could be
triggered by the outside credit rating agencies. So when we looked
at Washington Mutual, we had to consider these outside credit rat-
ing agencies because it could impact the thrift’s access to liquidity.

Senator LEVIN. So is it fair to say that those credit rating agen-
cies’ ratings were of great significance to you. You put great stock
and significance in them.

Mr. CORSTON. Absolutely.

Senator LEVIN. Now, what is the relationship between asset
quality and liquidity?

Mr. CorsTON. It has everything to do with liquidity. If you have
strong asset quality, you will not have liquidity issues because your
assets—you can borrow either against them or you can sell them.
If you have weak asset quality, you are going to have liquidity
issues at some point.

Senator LEVIN. Now, there are some that have said that WaMu’s
liquidity problems were unexpected and were the result simply of
market forces. Isn’t it the case, however, looking at these docu-
ments, that since liquidity is based in significant measure on asset
quality, WaMu’s liquidity problems arose, at least in significant
part, because of bad quality of their mortgage loans, which were
the bulk of their assets?

Mr. CORSTON. Correct.

Senator LEVIN. Do you have a conclusion as to why Washington
Mutual failed?

Mr. CORSTON. Asset quality. Weak asset quality. It brought on
the liquidity problems.

Senator LEVIN. And that lack of sufficient capital was something
that reflected embedded losses in their asset portfolio?

Mr. CORSTON. As has been discussed earlier, with the optionality
in their payment structure in their assets, they are extremely hard
to value. That makes it very difficult for us as an insurer to deal
with, but it also makes it very difficult for investors to value the
company and put capital in. So the type of business they were in-
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volved in made it very difficult for them to go out, and raise cap-
ital, one, and then, two, when the liquidity became squeezed, the
assets, again, with the asset quality deterioration, they could not
fund themselves.

Senator LEVIN. OK. Take a look finally—and I think this will be
my last question—at Exhibit 1b. This is a chart that we have used
to show some of the high-risk lending practices that were going on
not just in Washington Mutual but a lot of other lenders across the
country, and bank regulators allowed these unsafe, unsound mort-
gage practices to go on.

Now, Exhibit 1b! is in your book. You will not be able to read
that unless you have phenomenal eyes, which probably you do
given your occupation. At least you used to.

Mr. DOERR. I can read the chart. Is that where it is?

Senator LEVIN. All right. Well, it is also in your book of exhibits,
Exhibit 1b. These are some of the practices that we have talked
about. One is low-document loans, teaser rate loans, stated income
loans, interest-only rate loans, negatively amortizing loans. Those
five that I just rattled off, what is the status of those practices
today? Are they permitted? Are they frowned upon?

Mr. CORSTON. They certainly are frowned upon. To the degree
they are not permitted, I do not know. As far as nontraditional
loans, to the extent that they are being done at this point, there
is not nearly as much market acceptance. A lot of these loan types
had characteristics targeted towards a securitization market that
does not exist anymore.

Senator LEVIN. Right. But that could come back again.

Mr. CORSTON. Yes, it could.

Senator LEVIN. What in the rules, guidance, regulations is there
today relative to those five elements?

Mr. DOERR. There is nothing to prevent them in the rules today.

Senator LEVIN. Are they discouraged in any guidance?

Mr. DOERR. Well, unless there is strong risk mitigation—I mean,
there is a right way and a wrong way to make some of those loans.
A negative amortization loan, if the borrower has the financial ca-
pacity and you can verify that to pay that loan through to matu-
rity. If all you are doing is finding a way to get them a loan and
not worrying about what comes later, that is wrong.

So it is a question of not strictly discouraging all negative arm
loans, but there has to be a right way to handle them.

Senator LEVIN. How about stated income loans?

Mr. DOERR. Stated income loans, I guess

Senator LEVIN. Does that depend, too? Is that the answer——

Mr. DOERR. Well, if you went back to what Mr. Dochow men-
tioned of high-net-worth borrowers and it is limited to that, I can
see some circumstances where a person has $100,000 worth of se-
curities that they own free and clear, you might not worry about
what their income is. But other than a situation like that, stated
income is probably not right.

Mr. CORSTON. I would say, Chairman Levin, under no cir-
cumstances would these be considered acceptable to the level that
Washington Mutual was putting these loans on the books. I mean,

1See Exhibit No. 1b, which appears in the Appendix on page 198.
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if these are one-off situations—I do not know I could speak to that
necessarily, but, no, this is not an acceptable structure for an insti-
tution to do in any type of volume. We have seen the type of risk
and the results.

Senator LEVIN. So since there is no regulation on the books for
these kinds of risky practices, how are we going to get them on the
books? How are the regulators going to put into the books that you
can—obviously, there may be circumstances where you can have a
stated income loan under the kind of circumstance you talked
about. But as a general practice, no. How do we get these kind of
important practices and policies in place? They are not there now.
Should we legislate? I am tempted, frankly—and I may do it—to
just ban negatively amortizing loans. But you point out if you have
a guy who has plenty of assets and securities, you might want to,
for some reason I cannot imagine, have a negatively amortizing
loan. But how are we going to do it? Should we legislate it?

Mr. CorsTON. Well, policy is not my area of expertise, but I will
say this: As an examiner in an institution, a tool such as a regula-
tion is fairly easy to support. Guidance becomes—you can support
it, but it is not as strong. Because it goes more to best practices,
again, it becomes more something you need to influence.

So it is something that, certainly from a rules standpoint, obvi-
ously needs to be looked at. From an examiner’s standpoint, it is
a challenge.

Senator LEVIN. You had an acceptable structure at WaMu, as
you said.

Mr. CORSTON. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. So why wasn’t it changed? What were the rea-
sons it was not changed from what you have heard? Is it that there
was not clear guidance, that there was not good common sense
used? What were the reasons?

Mr. CORSTON. At the time when examiners were in these institu-
tions, we knew—and one of the first memos that you brought up,
we saw the issues. But it became very hard to influence institu-
tions to change these practices. They certainly were competing
against each other, and there were institutions outside the insured
environment that were influencing the underwriting also. And it
became difficult from an examiner’s point of view as a one-off to in-
fluence, say, Washington Mutual when there were other non-in-
sured institutions with which they competed. It made it a chal-
lenge. And I would say when we were dealing with these institu-
tions at the time, that is what we were facing.

Senator LEVIN. After a while—I do not have the exact—I guess
it was October 2006, there is a joint interagency guidance for non-
traditional mortgages that is agreed upon. I do not know why it
was guidance instead of enforceable regulations. We have talked a
little bit about that. There was not a clear effective date, but I un-
derstand FDIC, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC),
and the Federal Reserve treated the guidance as effective imme-
diately. Is that correct?

Mr. DOERR. That is correct.

Senator LEVIN. OTS did not. It gave thrifts a year to implement.
I do not think that guidance dealt with NINA loans. Did it? Do you
remember?
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Mr. DOERR. Well, that is probably what you would call layered
risk. It would probably be in there, one of the elements of layered
risk.

Senator LEVIN. How about no-document loans?

Mr. DOERR. Same. That is a layered risk.

Senator LEVIN. I guess one of the issues, obviously the big issue
we will be looking at in the next two hearings is the dumping of
high-risk loans into the financial system as a whole. We have been
looking at the upstream. In one bank, a big bank, these mortgages
ended up being a lot of toxic mortgages were created and put into
the commercial stream. Next week we will be looking at credit rat-
ing agencies, how were those mortgages rated when they were
securitized and the failures, the flaws, the shortcomings in that
process, and then the week after we will be looking at the invest-
ment banks and the securitizing and the selling of those securities
and what were the failures and inadequacies in that process that
led to such horrific outcomes for our economy.

But what role, if any, should the regulators have, what guidance
should there be relative to a financial institution dumping these
kind of toxic mortgages into a financial system? They can come
back and bite the institution themselves, obviously, if they turn out
to be flawed and there is a claim back on the institution. So that
is one area why I would hope regulators would see that something
needs to be done in that area. But, in general, I think you know
exactly what I am driving at. What, if any, guidance should be
given to institutions by regulators relative to that issue as to put-
ting into the stream of commerce the mortgages which are bad
mortgages? Let us just call them that. Mr. Corston.

Mr. CORSTON. I do not deal directly, obviously, with policy, but
I will say this. There are efforts to have institutions have what
they call “skin in the game,” but I think the most important thing
is that loans that are underwritten should be underwritten the
same as if you are going to portfolio on your balance sheet as op-
posed to pushing them off your balance sheet.

Senator LEVIN. And how do you put that in guidance? How do
you write that in guidance? Should that be a standard? And should
that be checked in the institution? Should your regulators or some
regulator, depending on who it is, go to an institution and say, look
this is now the guiding principle, act as though you are keeping
this in your own portfolio, and if there is not a specific amount of
skin kept in the game, whatever that percentage might be

Mr. CorsTON. Right.

Senator LEVIN [continuing]. How would a regulator check that
out to see whether that kind of guidance is being followed? Act as
though you are going to own this instead of just dumping it in a
stream.

Mr. CORSTON. Through the same exam process we do now. They
are underwriting the loan so we can see the underwriting stand-
ards and we can sample them.

Senator LEVIN. The same standards that you are now using to
check

Mr. CORSTON. The same process.

Senator LEVIN. The same process could be effective in adding
that one element of guidance.
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Do you want to add to that, Mr. Doerr?

Mr. DOERR. That is correct. It is consistent underwriting on both
iﬂ,ides of the equation—for the portfolio loans, for the securitized
oans.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you both. Did you want to add anything?

[No response.]

Senator LEVIN. OK. Thank you. I appreciate your coming.

OK. We are going to have a fourth panel.

[Pause.]

Senator LEVIN. Our final panel this afternoon: Sheila Bair,
Chairman of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; and John
Bowman, Acting Director of the Office of Thrift Supervision. We
are grateful not just for your being with us today, but for your vol-
untary, or involuntary, patience. I think you both know what our
rules are, so under Rule VI, our witnesses, all of them, are sworn
in.

So we would ask you to please stand and raise your right hand.

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you are about to give
to this Subcommittee will be the truth, the whole truth, and noth-
ing but the truth, so help you, God?

Ms. Bair. I do.

Mr. BowmaN. I do.

Senator LEVIN. Ms. Bair, why don’t we ask you to go first.

TESTIMONY OF THE HON. SHEILA C. BAIR,! CHAIRMAN,
FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

Ms. BAIR. Chairman Levin, I appreciate the opportunity to testify
regarding the role of regulators in their supervision of Washington
Mutual Bank (WaMu). The FDIC shares the Subcommittee’s con-
cerns about issues associated with the primary regulation of large
and complex insured depository institutions that pose significant
risk to the Deposit Insurance Fund and the FDIC’s role as back-
up supervisor.

To assist the FDIC in carrying out its deposit insurance respon-
sibilities, Congress has given the FDIC “back-up” authority to ex-
amine insured banking organizations, like WaMu, that have a dif-
ferent agency as their primary Federal regulator. We have often
used this authority in a collaborative process to convince the pri-
mary regulator to require corrective measures. However, when the
collaborative process fails, our ability to independently access infor-
mation is governed by a 2002 Interagency Agreement in which the
FDIC agreed to conduct a special examination only when an insti-
tution “represents a heightened risk” to the Deposit Insurance
Fund. As we learned in the case of WaMu, this is a self-defeating
requirement as we must first gain entry before we can establish
that the requisite triggering conditions exist.

For example, in 2005, WaMu management made the decision to
change its business strategy from conventional single-family loans
to nontraditional and subprime loan products. OTS management
determined that FDIC should not actively participate in OTS ex-
aminations at WaMu, citing the 2002 Interagency Agreement. In
subsequent years, the FDIC faced repeated resistance to its efforts

1The prepared statement of Ms. Bair appears in the Appendix on page 156.
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to fully participate in examinations of WaMu. Even as late as 2008,
as problems at WaMu were becoming more apparent, OTS manage-
ment sought to limit the number of FDIC examiners involved in
the examination and did not permit the FDIC to review loan files.

In the spring of 2008, WaMu raised additional capital, but the
amount raised proved to be insufficient. Virtually all other high-
risk mortgage lenders had closed, gone bankrupt, or had chosen to
be acquired by other institutions. WaMu’s board rejected an acqui-
sition offer from a large commercial bank in favor of a capital infu-
sion that allowed WaMu to retain its independence and manage-
ment to stay in place, but limited future options for raising capital.
In both July and September 2008, WaMu suffered substantial de-
posit runs, and liquidity was dissipating quickly. By September 24,
cash on hand had declined to 54.4 billion, a dangerously low
amount for a $300 billion institution that had seen average daily
deposit withdrawals exceeding $2 billion in the previous week. The
next day the OTS closed WaMu.

It has been an extraordinarily challenging time for the Nation’s
banking industry, and we have all learned lessons at many levels.
I am very proud of the FDIC’s role as an early advocate for ban-
ning unaffordable abusive lending practices, for fighting against
large bank capital reductions, and, most importantly, for maintain-
ing confidence in the Nation’s banking system by resolving failed
institutions in an orderly way and ensuring that insured depositors
have seamless access to their money. However, we too are learning
important lessons from the crisis, and a central one is that we need
to be more proactive in using our back-up authority, particularly
for the larger institutions where our exposure is the greatest.

We have welcomed the findings and recommendations of the In-
spectors General of the FDIC and the Treasury from their WaMu
review and have already begun a number of their suggested initia-
tives. In addition, the FDIC strongly supports pending legislative
reform efforts to address the orderly resolution of large financial
organizations. The ability to resolve these institutions in the same
way that smaller banks are treated, as we did with WaMu, is es-
sential to ending the too-big-to-fail doctrine.

The FDIC also strongly supports the need for an independent
consumer financial protection regulator. Products and practices
that strip personal wealth undermine the foundation of the econ-
omy. Finally, we support legislation to require that issuers of mort-
gage securitizations retain some “skin in the game” to provide
added discipline for underwriting quality. In fact, the FDIC Board
will consider in May a proposal to require insured banks to retain
a portion of the credit risk of any securitizations that they sponsor.

The FDIC would always like to see troubled institutions return
to health and safe and sound practices. However, as was the case
with WaMu, when an institution is no longer viable, closing and
resolution represent the best course. Further delay by the govern-
ment would have significantly raised the cost to the FDIC, imposed
losses on uninsured depositors, and creditors to even greater losses.
The resolution went smoothly. The FDIC was able to preserve all
of WaMu’s deposits, both insured and uninsured. The resolution
left branches open, preserved many jobs, and allowed for a seam-
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less transition for WaMu’s customers the day after the bank was
closed. In other words, most of WaMu was saved.

As with all FDIC resolutions, the institution was not bailed out
but, rather, competitively bid to the private sector. We were able
to sell it at zero cost to the Deposit Insurance Fund. In contrast,
had the FDIC been forced to liquidate WaMu, the FDIC estimates
that it would have suffered approximately $41 billion in losses.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify, and I am pleased to an-
swer your questions.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much, Ms. Bair. Mr. Bowman.

TESTIMONY OF JOHN E. BOWMAN,! ACTING DIRECTOR,
OFFICE OF THRIFT SUPERVISION

Mr. BOowMAN. Good afternoon, Chairman Levin. My name is
John Bowman. I am a career Federal employee who became Acting
Director of the Office of Thrift Supervision a little over 1 year ago
during the height of the financial crisis after about 5 years as the
agency’s chief counsel. It is not a role that I sought, but I am hon-
ored to serve.

My written testimony summarizes OTS’ supervision of Wash-
ington Mutual, and the reasons why WaMu failed. It is important
to note that this failure came at no cost to the Deposit Insurance
Fund and at no cost to the American taxpayer unlike recent fail-
ures of other financial institutions and the near collapse of some
of the Nation’s largest banks which were deemed “too big to fail”
and, therefore, provided government assistance.

The demise of WaMu came early in the procession of more than
200 banks and thrifts that have closed during this crisis. Lifelines,
such as the Treasury’s TARP program and the FDIC’s increase in
deposit insurance coverage, came too late for WaMu.

During the real estate boom before the crisis, WaMu and other
financial firms made a critical error by widely underwriting home
mortgages based more on the value of the collateral represented by
the homes than on the borrower’s documented ability to repay. As
home prices continued to rise, these practices supported a widely
praised initiative to increase homeownership in America. Yet, as
we now know, homeownership reached unsustainable levels and
became too much of a good thing.

Like all of the players in the home mortgage market, bank man-
agers at WaMu and elsewhere mistakenly believed that they were
effectively averting risks by moving loans off their books and
securitizing them. Similarly, homeowners perceived little risk in
their adjustable-rate mortgages because they thought they could
sell their homes at a profit before rate resets kicked in. Investors
believed mortgage-backed securities carried little risk because cred-
it rating agencies rated them highly. Those beliefs proved mis-
placed when the real estate market collapsed, the secondary mar-
ket froze, and the risks turned out to be all too real. The fallout
hit financial institutions large and small, with State and Federal
charters, overseen by every banking industry regulator.

Since WaMu’s failure, the OTS has taken lessons to heart from
our own internal review of failed thrifts and from the Treasury In-

1The prepared statement of Mr. Bowman appears in the Appendix on page 181.
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spector General’s Material Loss Reviews, and we have made strides
to address the resulting recommendations. We have instituted con-
trols to better track problems identified in their examination re-
ports and to take timely, effective action when necessary. We have
established a Large Bank Unit to keep close watch over our largest
regulated institutions, strengthened oversight of our OTS regions,
enhanced supervisory consistency among regions, tightened scru-
tiny of problem banks, and set deadlines for taking enforcement ac-
tions after safety and soundness downgrades. In short, we have
made meaningful changes.

Although some thrifts helped to overinflate the housing bubble,
traditional thrifts whose managers stuck to their conservative busi-
ness practices of lending to people they knew and keeping loans on
their books weathered this economic storm and continue to provide
badly needed credit in their communities. Because consumer and
community lending remains important for American families, I con-
tinue to believe in the thrift charter and the need for thrifts to
have a separate regulator. With the changes we have instituted, I
believe we have made the OTS significantly stronger for the future.

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman. I am happy to answer your
questions.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you very much, Mr. Bowman.

Throughout the last few years of WaMu’s operation, the FDIC as
the back-up regulator made repeated requests to participate in
OTS exams and was continually rebuffed. We heard in the second
panel how the FDIC sought to participate in OTS exams of Wash-
ington Mutual, was limited in terms of staff, forbidden to do file
revielw. For periods of time, OTS blocked FDIC access to exam ma-
terial.

Mr. Bowman, are you familiar with that, and was that the right
course of action?

Mr. BOwWMAN. I can’t say that I am familiar with it, Mr. Chair-
man, given my responsibilities prior to becoming the Acting Direc-
tor, but I have read enough about it and I have been watching
these proceedings to have a sense of what is alleged to have gone
on.
Senator LEVIN. What is your reaction?

Mr. BowMaN. My reaction is twofold, actually. One is the two
people who were probably the two most senior people within our
organization were both prior employees of the FDIC. John Reich,
who spoke earlier, was the Vice Chairman of the FDIC for 5 years.
Scott Polakoff, who was the Senior Deputy Director, had served at
the FDIC, I think probably in excess of 25 years, including that as
a Regional Director out in Chicago. My sense was they knew what
the issues were. Their perspective, I presume, would be as close to
the FDIC’s as anyone’s within OTS. So I followed their lead.

Senator LEVIN. I mean, why should it take the FDIC 4 months
to get a desk or access to the examiner’s library with WaMu docu-
ments? Does that make any sense to you? Does it ring right?

Mr. BOwWMAN. Yes, that is sort of a specific allegation, sir, that
I really don’t have any response to.

Senator LEVIN. All right. And did you follow the email traffic
back and forth here?

Mr. BowmAN. No.
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[Pause.]

Senator LEVIN. The FDIC was going to discuss with WaMu the
recommendation that it was going to make to downgrade its stand-
ing from a 2 to a 3. OTS got wind of it and said, “I cannot”—this
is from Mr. Reich to Mr. Polakoff, rating disagreement—*I cannot
believe the continuing audacity of this woman,” the audacity being
that they were going to sit down and discuss their recommendation
to downgrade WaMu. Why is that so audacious?

Mr. BOowMAN. Are you reading from a particular email, sir?

Senator LEVIN. I am, Exhibit 68.1

Mr. BowmMmaN. All right.

[Pause.]

Mr. BowMAN. So the question again?

Senator LEVIN. What is audacious about the FDIC seeking access
to—not in this case access—sitting down with a bank which has
had the kind of problems that the bank had and to tell that bank
that they were going to recommend a downgrading in their rating?
Why is that so audacious?

Mr. BowMAN. Well, I think you probably have to ask John Reich
that, sir. I don’t mean to
Senator LEVIN. I did.

Mr. BOWMAN [continuing]. Make light of it, but I am not sure ex-
actly what else might have been going on with the Director at that
time, what his perception was, what his perspective was, and why
he would have put it into an email like this.

Senator LEVIN. And in terms of access to files and sitting next
to OTS when you do your examination, is there anything particu-
larly problematic about that?

Mr. BowmaN. I don’t think so

Senator LEVIN. Did that happen?

Mr. BowMAN. That FDIC should sit next to an OTS examiner?

Senator LEVIN. No, that they should be rejected when they try.

Mr. BowMAN. Well, I mean, the difficulty I am having with the
characterization of rejected is that I am looking at the FDIC IG’s
report, which was issued as part of this, and that seems to indicate
that, in fact, in the end, and I am quoting now from page 45 of the
report, the information obtained from invoking back-up examina-
tion authority did not prompt FDIC to challenge OTS’ composite
rating of WaMu until mid-2008. So that to me indicates that the
FDIC got its information. They did not

Senator LEVIN. It took 4 months——

Mr. BowMAN. Maybe not in a timely fashion——

Senator LEVIN. Yes. Mr. Bowman, it took 4 months to get a desk.
Now, look, there is a problem. There is a turf—

Mr. BowmMmAN. A desk?

Senator LEVIN. Yes, a desk.

Mr. BowmMmaAN. OK.

Senator LEVIN. In FDIC’s offices

Mr. BowmaN. WaMu’s offices.

Senator LEVIN. No, in OTS’ offices. In WaMu’s offices.

Mr. BowMaAN. Right.

1See Exhibit No. 68, which appears in the Appendix on page 439.

PsN: PAT



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

85

Senator LEVIN. Let me get it straight. In WaMu’s offices where
OTS had space, it took 4 months for the FDIC to get a desk. Now,
there is a problem there. There was a turf war going on here, it
is obvious. They couldn’t get to the examiners’ library that had
WaMu documents. We had testimony here today. Did you hear that
testimony?

Mr. BowMaN. I heard some of it, yes, sir.

Senator LEVIN. Should that be the case? Should that happen?

Mr. BowMAN. It depends upon the circumstances.

Senator LEVIN. All right. Do you know anything about these cir-
cumstances?

Mr. BowMAN. These particular circumstances? I know there was
a dispute going on in terms of how the 2002 agreement should be
implemented. Yes, sir, I know that.

Senator LEVIN. All right. And you know that Mr. Dochow in July
2008 sends a message about that Memorandum of Understanding
that was finally issued relative to this bank. The first thing he
wanted to know was how come that went to the FDIC before it
came to me. The answer that he gets back, that Mr. Dochow sends
to Mr. Ward, is the following.! He apologized, sends the MOU, and
he says, “The MOU came up yesterday in a call I had with John
Reich and Scott Polakoff. . . . It went to the FDIC because I com-
mitted to [the FDIC] to consider their comments in an effort to
minimize their letter writing and posturing.” FDIC’s posturing.

This is the email traffic between your people. Does that bother
you that is the case, that there is this feeling that exists here that
there is a rejection of access to files, to doing an examination with
the FDIC sitting next to it, that a Memorandum of Understanding
which is shared with the FDIC, that the FDIC is viewed as being
a posturer and that is why it was sent, to try to avoid that pos-
turing? Is that kind of something that folks in your agency feel
about the FDIC, and does it trouble you if they feel that way, and
how do you cure it?

Mr. BowMAN. I am not sure what other people within the agency
think about the FDIC. I know what I think about the FDIC.

Senator LEVIN. No, but your people—this is the expression.

Mr. BowMaN. Right. I have two responses.

Senator LEVIN. Does that trouble you, is my point.

Mr. BowMAN. I have two responses. To the extent that an em-
ployee of the OTS, and I say that as the Acting Director, uses that
kind of language in an email correspondence is inappropriate.

To the extent that it reflects other issues that may have prompt-
ed that language, there has to be a way to work those issues out.

Senator LEVIN. Now, with the FDIC, when they were not given
the access to the files, they weren’t given space and they asked for
reasons, they are not even given reasons. When I asked, what was
the reason given by OTS, they said, “We weren’t given any rea-
sons.”

Then you have an Interagency Memorandum which has now
been entered into. As I understand this, the agencies negotiated
this memorandum. There is a standard in there for FDIC access
and FDIC involvement. Is this Interagency Memorandum—and I

1See Exhibit No. 45, which appears in the Appendix on page 368.
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ask this of you, Ms. Bair—is this memorandum sufficient now, or
is it being renegotiated? What is the status of this memorandum?

Ms. BAIR. No, it is not sufficient and it is being renegotiated.

Senator LEVIN. And why is that?

Ms. BAIR. Because, I think as our IG reported, it is circular in
that it requires us to show risk before we can get access, and fre-
quently we need the access to prove the risk. So we really need
much broader authority to be able to go in when we feel it is nec-
essary to protect the Deposit Insurance Fund or gauge our risk ex-
posure.

Senator LEVIN. And Mr. Bowman, what is your reaction to that
renegotiation?

Mr. BowMAN. I have a couple of thoughts. One is going back to
your earlier question about the access to information. I go to the
report of the FDIC IG that was issued today. In that document, it
states categorically that the FDIC had sufficient information to ar-
rive at and concur with the CAMELS rating that the OTS had en-
tered into. That is a significant amount of information in terms of
who got to sit at which desk or who got to sit in which chair

Senator LEVIN. No. It is not which desk.

Mr. BowMAN. Whether they got a desk or not, or whether they
had to stand in the hall—

Senator LEVIN. No, whether they had access

Mr. BowmaN. I don’t have any information about that.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Bowman, the question here is access.

Mr. BowMAN. It appears, sir, that they got the access because
they came up with a CAMELS rating——

Senator LEVIN. It took them 4 months——

Mr. BOWMAN [continuing]. That concurs with the OTS.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Bowman, it took them 4 months to get a desk
with your folks. They were denied access for 4 months at a critical
moment of a bank that was in deep trouble. I hope you are not
going to justify that. I hope you will look into what happened and
why it happened——

Mr. BowMAN. I will certainly look into it, sir. I can’t justify it be-
cause I don’t have any knowledge of it other than what is being
presented here today.

Senator LEVIN. All right. Well, I think your folks did have knowl-
edge of it long before today and I think you should have looked into
it long before today so

Mr. BowMAN. I think at least two of those folks that spoke today,
sir, no longer work at the agency.

Senator LEVIN. Yes, but your legislative folks have access to this
material.

Mr. BowMAN. OK. I also should point out, sir, the first I saw the
information I am being asked about in terms of this book here was
when it was placed on the desk in front of me. We asked access
to it so I could perhaps be a little bit more helpful yesterday and
was refused permission to see it——

Senator LEVIN. These are your documents.

Mr. BowMAN. But there were probably how many different docu-
ments turned over?
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Senator LEVIN. According to my staff, these documents were
shown to you in your interview. We had an interview with you, did
we not?

Mr. BowMAN. The number of documents that were shown to me
in my interview numbered 10. I see a significant number of tabs
beyond 10.

Senator LEVIN. And how many did we ask your staff about, or
your former staff about today, more than 10?

Mr. BowmAN. I don’t know.

Senator LEVIN. Well, let us take a look at something which
comes from your documents which I have asked them about. These
were OTS documents. These are excerpts from documents. I don’t
%{DOW if I want to read these again. I don’t think you were here ear-
ier

Mr. BOWMAN. I can save you the trouble.

Senator LEVIN. You can? OK. Well, do you want to look at Ex-
hibit 1d in your book.! This is the pattern. “Underwriting of single-
family residential (SFR) loans,” 2004, “remains less than satisfac-
tory.” Level of SFR underwriting exceptions in our samples has
been an ongoing examination issue, “in other words, a problem,” for
several years and one that management has found difficult to ad-
dress. “[Residential quality assurance]’s review of the 2003 origina-
tions disclosed critical error rates as high as 57 percent of certain
loan samples. . . .” SFR loan underwriting, this has been an area
of concern for several exams. Securitizations prior to 2003 have
horrible performance.

Year after year after year, these are the findings, and yet no for-
mal action taken by OTS against this bank. That was a problem.
I don’t know whether—I guess you didn’t hear me ask questions
about it before, but this is not effective regulation. It is feeble regu-
lation, year after year after year.

The Inspector General’s report is highly critical. I don’t know if
you have read that report or not. Did you?

Mr. BowMaN. I actually read the report prior to providing the
management response and accepted it. We, in fact, have already
adopted the one recommendation that was made in that report in
terms of further changes by the Office of Thrift Supervision, which
was the implementation of a system to track management re-
sponses. This had been put in place in October 2007.

Senator LEVIN. So you have read that critical report?

Mr. BOWMAN. I have read it and the FDIC’s, as well.

Senator LEVIN. Mr. Bowman, are you willing to work with the
FDIC to come up with an Interagency Memorandum which will
make it possible for the FDIC to promptly access information about
insured institutions whenever it finds the need for information?

Mr. BOWMAN. Sir, up until whenever it finds the information, I
was prepared to say, yes, I would be prepared to work with them
along with the Federal Reserve Board, the OCC, which are the four
Federal regulators. I should point out, sir, that my only hesitation
in saying that whenever they would like to get the information is
that we do have a statutory structure which assigns certain respon-
sibilities to different agencies. The FDIC’s authority as it relates to

1See Exhibit No. 1d, which appears in the Appendix on page 200.
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the Federal Reserve, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency,
and the Office of Thrift Supervision is that of a back-up regulator.

One of the complaints, and I think one of the reasonable com-
plaints by Congress coming out of this crisis is that there was no
one to provide or assign responsibility to. There was no one in
charge. To the extent that we mix up or try to shave over who the
primary Federal regulator is, I think we get ourselves into trouble
again with that same kind of charge. If we are responsible for it,
if we made a mistake, we should be held accountable for it. We can
work with the FDIC, and I am committed to making sure that we
work something out so that we don’t have a situation like we ap-
parently had with FDIC and OTS as it relates to WaMu.

Senator LEVIN. Is there any reason, since they are a back-up reg-
ulator that has got major skin in the game, as one would say, given
the fact that they insure these firms, these banks, is there any rea-
son why you cannot work together cooperatively without mixing up
your roles in terms of accountability?

Mr. BOowMAN. As you also know, as the Acting Director of the
OTS, I am also a Director on the Board of Directors of the FDIC.
So the answer to your question is there is no reason why we can’t
work together.

Senator LEVIN. Is there any reason why we cannot assign prin-
cipal responsibility to you if we wanted to, or to any other regulator
if we wanted to, without having that kind of cooperative relation-
ship with the FDIC? In other words, you can assign responsibility
to someone and still have them act in cooperation with somebody
else, right?

Mr. BowMAN. Absolutely.

Senator LEVIN. All right. So that fact was repeated in these
emails. OTS has principal responsibility. FDIC doesn’t. We went
through these emails earlier today. OTS wanted to remind the
FDIC that OTS was the principal regulator, as though FDIC didn’t
know it. And that is what is so darn troubling here, is in critical
times in terms of this bank and its depositors, its impact on the
economy, its investors, and so forth, we didn’t see that. We didn’t
see a cooperative relationship, and I can still not understand what
the reluctance was. I don’t understand why FDIC was apparently
rejected when it sought access to materials and access to joint ex-
aminations.

[Pause.]

Senator LEVIN. Let me ask both of you about some of the risky
practices that we have talked about at these hearings, the stated
income loans, the negative amortizing loans, teaser rates. Should
these practices be banned, either by a regulator or by Congress? 1
think, Ms. Bair, you talked about one of them, I believe.

Ms. BAIR. Yes. We have

Senator LEVIN. Go into all of them, the 3 or 4 that we have
talked about.

Ms. BAIR. We have. We are opposed on a policy level. We are op-
posed to stated income. We are opposed to teaser rate under-
writing. You need to underwrite at the fully indexed rate. We think
you should document income. You should document the customer’s
ability to repay, not just the initial introductory rate, but if it is
an adjustable product, when it resets, as well.
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One of the things that complicates the ability to set strong un-
derwriting standards across the board is that we can only reach in-
sured depository institutions and a lot of this—actually, the major-
ity of this—was done by non-banking institutions that would not be
subject to prudential standards or consumer standards of bank reg-
ulators.

The Federal Reserve under HOEPA does have the authority to
apply consumer lending standards across the board. In 2008, we
filed a strong comment letter urging the Federal Reserve to ban
stated income, to require ability to repay, to require underwriting
at the fully indexed rate for all higher-risk mortgages, not just
subprime or higher-rate mortgages, but also Option ARMs, inter-
est-only loans, any non-traditional mortgage product. The Federal
Reserve did finalize rules, but they only apply to the high-rate
loans. They don’t apply to the negative amortization loans.

They are out for comment again on this issue. We filed another
comment letter suggesting that these type of standards should
apply to at least non-traditional mortgages. I think, frankly, given
the deterioration in the prime market, they should consider apply-
ing them across the board to all mortgages.

The authority is there now and we have strongly encouraged the
Federal Reserve to use that and we would be happy to make our
comment letters available to the Subcommittee.

Senator LEVIN. And you have the authority, as well?

Ms. BAIR. The banking regulators have the authority for insured
depository institutions under safety and soundness rules, yes.

Senator LEVIN. But you have the authority to act on all of those
items that you enumerated?

Ms. BAIR. We do for insured depository institutions.

Senator LEVIN. Stated income, teaser rates, document

Ms. BAIR. That is right, for insured depository institutions, the
primary regulators do.

Senator LEVIN. And you do. And you have made recommenda-
tions to your board, have you?

Ms. BAIR. We have. We joined the Interagency Guidance, which
was a negotiated document. It did not completely ban stated in-
come, as our examiners indicated, but it did make clear that we
think that should be the exception, not the rule. I personally would
be willing to go further and just eliminate stated income. I think
if you provide flexibility in terms of the types of documentation
that could be provided, whether it is deposit slips or W-2s or tax
returns, fine. Any third-party good verification of income can be al-
lowed. But some verification should be made.

I, frankly, don’t personally think there is any reason for a stated
income loan and we would be happy to see rulemaking applied
across the board for all insured depository institutions. But again,
you are only getting part of the market if you don’t apply that to
the non-banks as well, and you do get into this regulatory arbitrage
problem. The more standards you put on banks, you have the non-
banks doing looser underwriting and drawing market share from
the banks.

Senator LEVIN. Well, that is exactly the kind of testimony which
I think is going to be very helpful to us as we proceed with the leg-
islative response.
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Mr. Bowman, what would be your answer to my question?

Mr. BowMAN. I actually would agree with everything that Chair-
man Bair said. Unfortunately, the OTS does not have separate reg-
ulatory responsibility or regulation writing responsibility. That
goes to the Federal Reserve as HOEPA. And in terms of guidance
versus regulation, regulation is the way to go in that regard.

The only difficulty and the only caution I might have, taking
Chairman Bair’s point, one is it has to be applied across the board,
both to regulated depository institutions as well as what is
euphemistically referred to as the shadow banking agencies or the
shadow banking industry.

I think we also have to be careful in terms of, right now, we are
getting lots of indications that there is a credit crunch going on in
our country. Consumers, small businesses, individuals don’t have
the kind of access to credit that they believe they need. Some of
that may be an overreaction to the response to what happened in
2003 through 2007, but the more prescriptive we become in terms
of the kinds of products that are made available to consumers, I
think it could have an impact upon availability of credit.

Senator LEVIN. Subject to that risk, it is important, though, that
we be clear and prescriptive? Subject to that risk that you have
just outlined

Mr. BOWMAN. Yes.

Senator LEVIN [continuing]. You support what Ms. Bair said?

Mr. BOowMAN. Yes.

Senator LEVIN. OK. And did you comment on the negative amor-
tizing loans, Chairman Bair?

Ms. BAIR. Yes. Well, we think, again, that any loan that has ad-
justable features must be underwritten at the fully indexed rate so
that the issuer of the loan should determine not just whether the
borrower can make the payment at the initial introductory rate,
but when it resets.

These Option ARMs are terrible products. As was the case with
WaMu and most of the institutions that made these loans, the vast
majority of borrowers continued making the minimum payment
only, so building up not only negative amortization, but also facing
an interest rate increase when the loans reset. Our experience with
failed banks is that Option ARMs almost always go bad when they
hit the reset period. They were not underwritten at the fully in-
dexed rate and shouldn’t be allowed. Again, we have encouraged
the Federal Reserve to expand their rules so that they apply to all
non-traditional mortgages, not just what we call subprime, which
are the high-rate mortgages.

Senator LEVIN. That is very helpful.

Mr. Bowman, do you want to react to that?

Mr. BOWMAN. Nothing to add to that. I agree with that.

Senator LEVIN. OK. You have indicated that you have already
sent some public comments——

Ms. BAIR. Yes.

Senator LEVIN [continuing]. On this that you would share with
this Subcommittee. We appreciate that.

Any comments further on this subject, Mr. Bowman, we would
appreciate from you, as well.
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I think on that positive note, we will end. Rather than trying to
summarize a long hearing, I don’t think I will. It is obvious that
we had a situation where a bank was riddled with unsafe and un-
sound lending practices. The regulators saw them, understood
them, but did not act to stop them, and that was part of the prob-
lem that we have had, a big part of it. Other parts will be taken
up next week when we look at the credit rating agencies, what
their failures were that contributed to this economic disaster. And
then the week after, we will be looking at the investment banks
and what their major contribution was to this economic disaster.

But today’s hearing will now be adjourned with thanks.

Ms. BAIR. Thank you.

Mr. BowmMmaN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[Whereupon, at 2:55 p.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned.]
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APPENDIX

Opening Statement of Senator Carl Levin (D-Mich)
Before the
U. S. Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
on
Wall Street and The Financial Crisis:
The Role of Bank Regulators

April 16, 2010

This is the second in a series of four Subcommittee hearings examining some of the
causes and consequences of the 2008 financial crisis. Earlier this week, our first hearing used
Washington Mutual Bank (“WaMu™) as a case history to illustrate how, from 2004 to 2008, U.S.
financial institutions loaded up on risk and churned out hundreds of billions of dollars in high
risk, poor quality home loans to Wall Street in exchange for big fees. Together, they initiated the
economic assault.

As regulated entities, most of those financial firms couldn’t have done what they did
unless their regulators let them. Today’s hearing asks why federal bank regulators saw the
shoddy lending practices, saw the high risk lending, saw the substandard securitizations,
understood the risk, but let the banks do it anyway.

Washington Mutual was a thrift, so its primary federal regulator was the Office of Thrift
Supervision or OTS. WaMu was the largest single financial institution that OTS oversaw, with
$300 billion in assets, $188 billion in deposits, and 43,000 employees. WaMu’s fees alone paid
for 12-15 percent of the OTS budget. Because WaMu'’s deposits were insured, the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) served as a backup regulator whose focus was on
safeguarding the Deposit Insurance Fund.

Like other bank regulators, OTS was supposed to serve as our first line of defense against
unsafe and unsound banking practices. But OTS was a feeble regulator. Instead of policing the
economic assault, OTS was more of a spectator on the sidelines, a watchdog with no bite, noting
problems and making recommendations, but not acting to correct the flaws and failures it saw.
At times, it even acted like a WaMu guard dog, trying to keep the FDIC at bay.

To document what happened, we are releasing today another big book of documents, as
well as a joint report by the Treasury and FDIC Inspectors General examining shortcomings in
OTS and FDIC oversight of Washington Mutual. Together, they disclose an ineffective bank
regulatory culture hindered by weak standards, lax oversight, and agency infighting.

Shoddy Lending Practices
Before its fall, Washington Mutual held itself out as a well-run, prudent bank that was a
pillar of its community. But Tuesday’s hearing showed that, behind closed doors, the bank’s

management was surrounded by deep-seated problems including shoddy lending practices and
poor quality loans.

(93)
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This chart, Exhibit 1(i) from Tuesday’s hearing, shows how, over a 5-year period, from
2003 to 2008, Washington Mutual and its subprime lender, Long Beach, loaded up with risk.
The bank dumped low-risk 30-year fixed loans in favor of high risk subprime, option ARM, and
home equity loans. Low risk loans shrunk from two-thirds of the bank’s originations to one-
quarter. High risk loans grew from one-third to three-quarters of the bank’s home loan business.

Those high risk loans were problem-plagued. Tuesday’s hearing examined voluminous
evidence of WaMu internal reviews finding poor quality loans, fraud, errors, and other
deficiencies. In one instance, a year-long internal WaMu probe found that two of WaMu'’s top
loan producing offices were issuing loans with fraud rates of 58% and 83%. Another WaMu
investigation two years later found that one of the office’s fraud rate was 62%. At still another
loan office, a sales associate admitted “manufacturing” documents to support quick loan
closings.

Washington Mutual’s shoddy lending practices affected more than its own operations,
WaMu and Long Beach sold or securitized most of their loans. As this chart shows, from 2000
to 2007, WaMu and Long Beach securitized at least $77 billion in subprime loans, stopping only
when the subprime secondary market collapsed in September 2007. WaMu sold another $115
billion in Option ARM loans. Together, WaMu and Long Beach dumped hundreds of billions of
dollars of toxic mortgages into the financial system like polluters dumping poison in a river.

Washington Mutual’s Regulatory History

So where were the bank regulators? The painful fact is that they had a front row seat to
Washington Mutual’s high risk lending strategy, its poor quality loans, and substandard
securitization practices, but did little to stop it.

The documents reviewed by the Subcommittee show that OTS knew all about
Washington Mutual’s high risk lending strategy. In fact, it was OTS that required the bank to get
Board approval of it in January 2005, OTS knew about WaMu’s shoddy lending practices,
having repeatedly identified problems with the bank’s operations in examination reports year
after year. Every time OTS listed a problem, it also told WaMu to take corrective action. But
when the problem didn’t get fixed, OTS failed to force change. Instead, OTS wrung its hands as
the bank sank into deeper and deeper waters.

This chart, Exhibit 1{c), provides a quick summary of some of the findings made by OTS
over the years regarding failings in the underwriting -- meaning lending — practices at
Washington Mutual.

Start with 2004: “Underwriting ... remains less than satisfactory.” “[N]ot ... successful
in effecting change.” Next is 2005: “Underwriting exceptions evidence lack of compliance with
bank policy.” “Increase[s] with the risk profile of the portfolio.” “[Dleterioration in these [Long
Beach] older securitizations.”

Those 2005 findings came from a Report on Examination which stated more broadly:
“[W]e remain concerned with the number of underwriting exceptions and with issues that

2
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evidence lack of compliance with bank policy .... [Tlhe level of deficiencies, if left unchecked,
could erode the credit quality of the portfolio. Our concerns are increased [when] the risk profile
of the portfolio is considered, including concentrations in Option ARM loans to higher-risk
borrowers, in low and limited documentation loans, and loans with subprime or higher-risk
characteristics.”

Unfortunately, the level of deficiencies was left “unchecked.” In fact, those deficiencies
continued to run rampant. Here’s 2006: “[Clontinuing weakness in ... loan underwriting at
Long Beach.” “Numerous instances of underwriter exceeding guidelines ... [and] errors.” Now
2007: “Too much emphasis on loan production ... at the expense of loan quality.” “Subprime
underwriting practices remain less than satisfactory.” “[U]nderwriting exceptions and errors
above acceptable levels.” And finally, 2008, the year the bank failed: “[N]ot in compliance with
the Interagency Guidance on Nontraditional Mortgages.” “High ... losses due in part to ... poor
underwriting.” [A]ctions should have been taken sooner.”

Those are all OTS observations about problems at WaMu year after year. In 2008, the
year the bank collapsed, OTS said, “actions should have been taken sooner.” Actions sure
should have been taken sooner -- by OTS itself. OTS raised the concerns listed on this chart
with WaMu’s top executives and Board of Directors for 5 straight years. Each year, WaMu
promised to do better, but it didn’t, and OTS never took action to change that.

At our Tuesday hearing, even WaMu officials expressed surprise at OTS’ reluctance to
act. WaMu’s Chief Risk Officer from 2004-2003, Jim Vanasek, testified: “What I cannot
explain is why the superiors in the agencies didn't take a tougher tone with the banks given the
degree of ... negative findings. . .. [T]here seemed to be a tolerance there or a political
influence on senior management of those agencies that prevented them from taking a more active
stance. By a more active stance, I mean putting the banks under letters of agreement and forcing
change.” His successor at WaMu, Ron Cathcart, testified that “the approach that the OTS took
was much more light-handed than I was used to. It seemed as if the regulator was prepared to
allow the bank to work through its problems and had a higher degree of tolerance ... than I had
seen with the other ... regulators.”

Regulations work best when regulators stay at arms length from those that they regulate.
Too often in this case, WaMu regulators were not at arms length; they were arm in arm. Over
time, OTS allowed Washington Mutuat and Long Beach to load up on risk and engage in a host
of unsafe and unsound practices. This chart, Exhibit 1(b), lists some of them.

Targeting High Risk Borrowers

Steering Borrowers to Higher Risk Home Loans

Offering Teaser Rates, Interest Only, and Negative Amortizing Loans
Not Verifying Income

Offering Higher Pay for Making Higher Risk Home Loans

“« o o o o
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The documents show that more than one OTS examiner expressed misgivings about these
lending practices, but never got the support of OTS management to end them. One WaMu
examiner wrote that stated income loans — loans in which borrowers state their income without
any verification -- were “a flawed product that can’t be fixed and never should have been
allowed in the first place.” Another OTS examiner tried to object to so-called NINA loans —
meaning loans in which “No Income and No Asset” numbers are required to be provided by the
borrower. An OTS policy official agreed, writing in a 2007 email that NINA loans are
“collateral dependent lending and deemed unsafe and unsound by all the agencies.” But the OTS
West Region dismissed that analysis, allowed NINA loans, and called the OTS policy official a
“lone ranger.”

Still another example involves Washington Mutual’s flagship product, the Option Adjustable
Rate Mortgage. WaMu engaged in a host of shoddy lending practices that vastly increased the
risks associated with its Option ARMs, such as permitting virtually every Option ARM borrower
to make minimum payments which resulted in negatively amortizing loans in which the loan
principal actually increased over time. Washington Mutual relied on rising house prices and
refinancing to avoid payment shock and loan defaults. For years, OTS said that WaMu should
reduce the increased risks, while watching the bank originate $30 to $60 billion or more in
Option ARMs each year. It never took action to enforce its judgment.

In 2004, OTS found that WaMu’s incentive compensation for loan officers failed to provide
any money for loan quality. Volume and speed were king, and loan officers got paid more
money for more risk. OTS recommended that WaMu “enhance” its system to emphasize loan
quality, and closed the finding based on WaMu’s promise to redesign its pay system. In 2005,
OTS discovered that WaMu had not changed its compensation plan, and again asked the bank to
fix it. In 2008, WaMu discovered rampant fraud at one of its top loan producing offices, and its
own staff faulted pay incentives that put loan speed before loan quality. In four years, WaMu
had never fixed the problem.

OTS had multiple enforcement tools to force change at WaMu. It could have required,
for example, a private Board Resolution or a public Memorandum of Understanding, imposed a
monetary fine, or issued a Cease and Desist order. But OTS didn’t take any of those steps. It
acted like a spectator, chronicling the bank’s failures rather than preventing them. QTS didn’t
take enforcement action on its criticisms of the bank until 2008, the year WaMu failed.

Why was OTS so reluctant to act? A 2007 email by OTS Director John Reich, Exhibit
78, supplies part of the answer. He wrote to his staff: “Kerry Killinger, the CEO of Washington
Mutual (WaMu) will be in town Friday and wants to have a lunch meeting. He’s my largest
constituent.” OTS viewed WaMu as its constituent, losing sight of the fact that OTS’ real
constituents were not the banks it oversaw, but the American people it was supposed to protect
from unsafe and unsound banking practices.

A 2005 email by the OTS Examiner in Charge at Washington Mutual is also telling. The
Examiner in Charge wrote to his bosses: “[T1his is just one of several symptoms of the ongoing
broader problem of getting their house in order from an underwriting standpoint. It has been
hard for us to justify doing much more than constantly nagging (okay, "chastising") through
ROE [Reports on Examination] and meetings, since they have not been really adversely
impacted in terms of losses.” Think about that. The WaMu bank examiner felt he couldn’t do
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more than “nag” the bank, unless WaMu was losing money. The OTS handbook, by the way,
states explicitly that losses are not necessary for an examiner to take action. But the OTS
examiner saw himself, not as a civil servant enforcing the law and protecting the banking system,
but as just a nag.

Still another part of the answer may be that WaMu was OTS’ largest bank and supplied
the largest amount of fees of any bank.

Washington Mutual’s Demise

WaMu’s downfall began in 2006, when the value of its subprime loans began falling. In
July 2007, after two credit rating agencies suddenly downgraded hundreds of subprime mortgage
backed securities, the subprime market froze, and banks like WaMu were left holding billions of
dollars of suddenly unmarketable home loans. The value of those assets began plummeting.
Washington Mutual recorded a $1 billion loss in the fourth quarter of 2007, and another $1
billion loss in the first quarter of 2008.

Finally, in late February 2008, OTS downgraded the bank from a 2 to a 3 CAMELS
rating. The CAMELS rating system is used by all the federal bank regulators to rate the safety
and soundness of financial institutions, and measures capital, asset quality, management,
earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity to market risk. It uses a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 being the best
rating and 5 the worst. The ratings are normally not made public. Washington Mutual had a 2
rating for many years, which signifies a fundamentally sound bank.

Once OTS assigned the 3 rating, which signifies a troubled bank, OTS policy required it
to issue a public Memorandum of Understanding at the same time, to correct the bank’s
deficiencies. But OTS inexplicably didn’t. Instead OTS waited until the next month and
accepted a nonpublic Board Resolution in which the Board promised to fix problems but
provided no specific plans or deadlines for doing so. It was a kid gloves approach that made
absolutely no sense given the bank’s problems and the intensifying financial crisis.

In the meantime, the FDIC expressed increasing concerns about the bank, which its
internal Large Insured Deposit Institution (LIDI) reports showed to be deteriorating. FDIC told
the OTS that the bank should consider an outside purchaser. In March 2008, WaMu invited
potential buyers of the bank to review its internal data. In April, WaMu announced it had lost
another $3.2 billion in the second quarter. JPMorgan Chase made an offer to buy the bank, but
WaMu turned it down, after raising $7 billion in capital to reassure the market.

In July 2008, IndyMac, another high-risk thrift on the west coast, closed its doors.
WaMu's large depositors, fearing a similar fate at Washington Mutual, withdrew about $9 billion
in a quiet run on the bank. Two months later, on September 15, 2008, Lehman Brothers declared
bankruptcy, and over the next eight days, WaMu depositors withdrew another $17 billion from
the bank, triggering a liquidity crisis.

On September 7, 2008, OTS took its first formal enforcement action against the bank, but
it was way too little too late. After more than a month of trying to persuade OTS that WaMu

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00111 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.005



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

98

should be downgraded to a 4 rating, the FDIC independently downgraded the bank on September
18. OTS reluctantly followed suit that same day. By then, the FDIC was contemplating whether
the $300 billion thrift, if it failed, might exhaust the entire federal Deposit Insurance Fund which
then contained a total of about $45 billion.

On September 25, 2008, due to the bank’s intensifying liquidity problems, the regulators
finally pulled the plug. They felt the bank couldn’t even make it to the end of the week, as their
usual practice, and instead moved on a Thursday. OTS closed Washington Mutual and
appointed the FDIC as its receiver. That same day, the FDIC sold the bank’s assets and deposits
to JPMorgan Chase for about $1.9 billion.

Critics complain that WaMu should not have been shut down, that it should have
received a taxpayer bailout under the TARP program, emergency lending from the Federal
Reserve, and SEC protection from short-selling. But our focus here is not on the regulators’
decision to close the bank, but on how regulators let the bank deteriorate to the point where its
failure threatened to bust the Deposit Insurance Fund.

Regulatory Failures

The fact is that our bank regulators failed us. OTS failed to stop Washington Mutual
from engaging in high risk lending practices that created a mortgage time bomb. It failed to
force the bank to correct years-long deficiencies. It failed to cooperate with efforts by the FDIC
to evaluate the bank’s operations. And it failed to stop the bank from sending toxic mortgages
into the financial system and poisoning the secondary market. These failures were not limited to
Washington Mutual, but were symptomatic of sector-wide failures that played a major role in the
2008 financial crisis.

The Washington Mutual case history makes it clear that OTS had bought into the view
that as long as Washington Mutual was profitable, the bank could continue its high risk lending
strategy. OTS management saw no reason to tighten lending standards, even after its fellow
regulators decided to issue joint guidance to strengthen lending standards for so-called
“nontraditional mortgages.” OTS argued against strong restrictions, noting internally that they
needed to go “on the offensive” to stop them, and even presenting data supplied by WaMu
showing how stronger lending standards would reduce the bank’s business.

The Guidance On Nontraditional Mortgages was promulgated by all the banking
regulators in October 2006. Other agencies told their financial institutions to comply promptly,
but OTS did not. In 2007, when the FDIC asked OTS to review WaMu loan files to evaluate its
compliance with the Guidance, OTS refused and disclosed it was giving its thrifts more time to
comply. Meanwhile, WaMu had calculated that complying with the Guidance would reduce its
loan volume by 33 percent, because fewer borrowers would qualify for loans. In an email to
colleagues, WaMu’s Chief Risk Officer argued “in favor of holding off on implementation until
required to act for public relations ... or regulatory reasons.” By the time, OTS made the
Guidance effective for its thrifts, the subprime secondary market had frozen and WaMu’s loan
originations had already dropped.
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Turf War. At the same time the documents show OTS’ reluctance to say no to WaMu,
they show that OTS did have a backbone when it came to saying no to a fellow regulator.

For many years, OTS and FDIC had shared a cooperative relationship in regulating
Washington Mutual. In 2006, OTS practices abruptly changed. The West Region Director told
his staff: “[T}he message was crystal clear today. Absolutely no FDIC participation on any OTS
1 and 2 rated exams.” Since WaMu had a 2 rating, OTS rejected the FDIC’s request to
participate in a WaMu exam.

OTS went further. It actually impeded FDIC’s examination efforts. It denied the FDIC
examiner access to WaMu data, refused for several months to assign him space on-site at the
bank, and rejected his requests to review bank loan files. When the FDIC urged OTS to lower
WaMu’s rating, OTS resisted. OTS fought this turf war at the same time the largest financial
institution it was supposed to regulate was losing value, capital, and deposits.

Systemic Risk. OTS also took a narrow view of its responsibility to the U.S. banking
system as a whole. The documents show that OTS allowed Washington Mutual to engage in
high risk lending, in part, because the bank did not plan to keep the high risk loans on its books,
but sell them into the marketplace. OTS never considered how dumping billions of dollars in
toxic mortgages into the stream of commerce would weaken the financial system and even come
back to harm its own institutions.

One OTS examiner commented on the agency’s approach in a 2008 email as follows:
“We were satisfied that the loans were originated for sale. SEC and FED [were] asleep at the
switch with the securitization and repackaging of the cash flows, irrespective of who they were
selling to.”

OTS examiners knew that Washington Mutual and Long Beach were notorious for selling
bad loans. As early as 2005, an OTS exarminer sent an email to colleagues with this description
of Long Beach mortgage backed securities: *“[Securitizations] prior to 2003 have horrible
performance. ... [Long Beach] finished in the top 12 worst annualized [Net Credit Losses] in
1997 and 1999 thru 2003. ... At 2/05, [Long Beach] was #1 with a 12% delinquency rate.
Industry was around 8.25%.” Yet OTS took no steps to require Long Beach or Washington
Mutual to clean up their securitizations or the bad loans underlying them. OTS just didn’t see it
as part of its job, even while the flood of toxic mortgages was slowly poisoning the secondary
markets, leading to their collapse and the financial crisis of 2008.

Conclusion

Our bank regulators were not blind to the problems building up in the mortgage banking
system. They knew. Instead of getting in the game, they sat on the bench. OTS, in particular,
didn’t act on what it knew. It appeared to have been too close to the banks it oversaw. The
bottom line is that OTS never said “no” to any of the high risk lending or shoddy lending
practices that came to undermine WaMu’s portfolio, its stock price, its depositor base, and its
reputation. The result was a bank failure, a financial system it helped poison with toxic
mortgages, and an economic meltdown.
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Today, we are examining what happened in this case history. The question for Congress
is how do we strengthen our regulatory culture.

On that somber note, I turn to my Ranking Member, Senator Coburn, for his insights. 1
thank him again for his and his staff’s support in this investigation.
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STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE ERIC M. THORSON
INSPECTOR GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
BEFORE THE SENATE HOMELAND SECURITY AND
GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS COMIVITTEE
PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS
APRIL 16, 2010
9:30 AM

Chairman Levin, Senator Coburn, and Members of the Committee, thank you for
the opportunity, along with Mr. Jon Rymer, the Inspector General of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), to discuss our joint evaluation of the failure
of Washington Mutual Savings Bank (WaMu) of Seattle, Washington,

Over the past 2 plus years, our country has found itself immersed in a financial
crisis that started when housing prices stopped rising and borrowers could no
longer refinance their way out of financial difficulty. Since then, we have seen
record levels of delinquency, defaults, foreclosures, and declining real estate
values. As a resulit, securities tied to real estate prices have plummeted, and
financial institutions have collapsed. In many cases, these financial institutions
were large and, before the crisis, seemed to be financially sound. But the warning
signs were there. Since mid-2007, my Office has completed 18 reviews of failed
financial institutions, including the one that we are testifying about this morning.
Based on those reviews, we have found that time and time again, the regulators for
which we have oversight, the Office of Thrift Supervision {OTS) and the Office of
Comptroller the Currency (OCC), frequently identified the early warning signs (or
“red flags"”) that could have at least minimized, if not prevented, the losses
associated with the financial institutions’ failure but did not take sufficient
corrective action soon enough to do so.

My testimony today, and that of my colleague, will focus on the failure of WaMu.
WaMu was a federally-chartered savings association established in 1889 and FDIC-
insured since January 1, 1934. WaMu was wholly owned by Washington Mutual,
Inc., a non-diversified, multiple savings and loan holding company. WaMu grew
rapidly through acquisitions and mergers during the period 1991 to 2006, acquiring
11 institutions and merging with 2 affiliates with assets totaling nearly $198
billion. At the time of its failure, WaMu was one of the eight largest federally-
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insured financial institutions, operating 2,300 branches in 15 states, with total
assets of $307 billion.

TREASURY OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL OVERVIEW

My office provides independent audit and investigative oversight of the Department
of the Treasury’s programs and operations and that of its bureaus, excluding the
Internal Revenue Service and the Troubled Asset Relief Program also know as
TARP. In addition to overseeing Treasury’s financial institution regulators, OTS and
OCC, we oversee Treasury’s programs and operations to combat money laundering
and terrorist financing, manage federal collections and payments systems, manage
and account for the public debt, maintain government-wide financial accounting
records, manufacture the Nation's currency and coins, collect revenue on alcohol
and tobacco products and regulate those industries, provide domestic assistance
through the Office of the Fiscal Assistant Secretary and the Community
Development Financial Institutions Fund, and international assistance through
multilateral financial institutions. Our current on-board staffing level is 144 which
breaks down as follows: 100 personnel in the Office of Audit and 20 personnel in
the Office of Investigations. The remaining personnel include my deputy, my legal
counsel, our administrative support staff, and me. Our fiscal year 2010 budget
appropriation is $29.7 million.

INSPECTOR GENERAL REVIEWS OF FEDERALLY-INSURED FAILED FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 (FDICIA)
requires that the Inspector General of the cognizant federal banking agency review
and report to that agency when an institution under its supervision fails and that
failure results in a material loss to the Deposit Insurance Fund. Among other things,
these reviews determine the causes of the institution’s failure and assess the
supervision exercised over the failed institution. Furthermore, a loss to the Deposit
Insurance Fund is considered material if it exceeds the greater of $25 million or 2
percent of an institution’s total assets at the time of its failure.

With that in mind, beginning with the failure of NetBank, FSB, in September 2007,
65 Treasury-regulated {OTS and OCC) financial institutions have failed as of

April 1, 2010. Of those, 49 have met the material loss review threshold. Of those,
my office has completed and issued 17 such reviews {8 to OTS and 9 to OCC); we
currently have another 32 failed thrift/bank reviews in progress. The total estimated
loss to the Deposit Insurance Fund attributable to those 49 Treasury-regulated
failed financial institutions is approximately $34.5 billion. Unfortunately, looking
forward, | believe my office will be busy conducting such reviews for some time to
come,
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JOINT TREASURY OIG/FDIC 0IG REVIEW OF WAMU

On September 25, 2008, OTS closed WaMu and FDIC facilitated the sale of WaMu
to JPMorgan Chase in a closed bank transaction for $1.89 billion that resulted in
no loss to the Deposit Insurance Fund. It should be noted that since the failure of
WaMu did not result in a loss to the Deposit Insurance Fund, it did not trigger a
material loss review by my office. Nonetheless, given the size of WaMu and the
loss that it would have caused to the Deposit Insurance Fund had a sale not been
facilitated, Inspector General Rymer and | decided that an evaluation of OTS and
FDIC supervision was warranted. Among other things, we thought such a review
would provide important information and observations as the Administration and
Congress consider regulatory reform.

We completed our joint review and issued our results to Acting OTS Director
Bowman and FDIC Chairman Bair on April 9, 2010, That report discussed three
things: (1) the causes of WaMu's failure; {2) OTS’s supervision of WaMu, and

{3) FDIC's monitoring of WaMu in its role as deposit insurer, including the manner
and extent to which FDIC and OTS coordinated oversight of the institution. The
balance of my testimony will cover the causes of WaMu's failure and OTS's
supervision of it. Inspector General Rymer’s testimony will focus on FDIC's role as
deposit insurer and its coordination with OTS with regard to exercising its back-up
examination authority. | will also briefly share the results of other work conducted
by my office involving a certain senior OTS official that interacted with FDIC in the
federal supervision of WaMu.

CAUSES OF WAMU'S FAILURE

WaMu failed because its management pursued a high-risk business strategy
without adequately underwriting’ its loans or controlling its risks. WaMu’s high-risk
strategy, combined with the housing and mortgage market collapse in mid-2007,
feft WaMu with loan losses, borrowing capacity limitations, and a falling stock
price. In September 2008, WaMu was unable to raise capital to counter significant
depositor withdrawals sparked by rumors of WaMu's problems and other high-
profile failures at the time. OTS closed WaMu on September 25, 2008.

High Risk Lending Strategy

In 2005, WaMu shifted away from originating traditional fixed-rate and conforming
single family residential loans, towards riskier subprime loans® and option adjustable

! Underwriting is the process by which a lender decides whether a potential borrower is
creditworthy and shouid receive a loan.

2 WaMu defined borrowers with a score of less than 620 on the FICO scale as subprime. FICO is a
credit score representing the creditworthiness of a person or the likelihood that person will pay his
or her debts. A person’s FICO score falls somewhere between 300 and 850,

OIG-CA-10-006 ' Page 3 of 18

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00117 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.011



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

104

rate mortgages also known as Option ARMs.® WaMu pursued this new strategy in
anticipation of higher earnings and to compete with Countrywide Financial
Corporation, which, at the time, it viewed as its strongest competitor.

In 2006, WaMu estimated in internal documents that its internal profit margin on
subprime loans was more than 10 times the amount for a government-backed loan
product and more than 7 times the amount for a fixed-rate loan product. WaMu
also estimated its internal profit margin on Option ARMs at more than 8 times the
amount for a government-backed loan product and nearly 6 times the amount for a
fixed-rate loan product. In short, WaMu saw these riskier loan vehicles as a way to
substantially increase its profitability.

Option ARMs represented nearly half of all WaMu loan originations from 2003 to
2007 and totaled approximately $59 billion, or 47 percent, of the home lcans on
WaMu's balance sheet at the end of 2007.

WaMu's underwriting policies and procedures made inherently high-risk products
even riskier. For example, WaMu originated a significant number of loans as “stated
income” loans, sometimes referred to as “low-doc” loans. These loans allowed
borrowers to simply write-in their income on the loan application without providing
supporting documentation. Approximately 90 percent of all of WaMu’s home equity
loans, 73 percent of its Option ARMs, and 50 percent of its subprime loans were
“stated income” loans.

WaMu also originated loans with high loan-to-value ratios.* To that end, WaMu
held a significant percentage of loans where the loan exceeded 80 percent of the
underlying property value. For example, at the end of 2007, 44 percent of WaMu's
subprime loans, 35 percent of WaMu’s home equity loans, and 6 percent of
WaMu’s Option ARMs were originated for total loan amounts in excess of 80
percent of the property’s value. Moreover, WaMu did not require borrowers to

* An option ARM is an adjustable rate mortgage that typically offers a very low teaser rate which
translates into very low minimum payments for a very short period of time. WaMu's Option ARMs
provided borrowers with the choice to pay their monthly mortgages in amounts equal to monthly
principal and interest, interest-only, or a minimum monthly payment. The minimum monthly
payment was based on teaser rate, After the introductory rate expired, the minimum monthly
payment feature introduced two significant risks to WaMu's portfolio: negative amortization and
payment shock. Negative amortization occurred when the minimum monthly payments made after
the expiration of the teaser rate was insufficient to pay monthly interest cost. The unpaid interest
was added to the principal loan balance thereby increasing the original loan amount. Payment shock
occurred 5 years after the loan was originated, or sooner in some circumstances, because the
minimum monthly payment was recomputed using a market interest rate, the larger principal
balance, and the remaining term of the loan.

* Loan to value {LTV) is one of the key risk factors that lenders assess when qualifying borrowers
for a mortgage. Typically, low LTV ratios {below 80 percent) carry with them lower rates for lower-
risk borrowers. Conversely, as the LTV ratio of a loan increases, the qualification guidelines for
certain mortgage programs become much more strict. Lenders can require borrowers of high LTV
loans to buy private mortgage insurance to protect the lender from borrower default.
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purchase private mortgage insurance to protect itself against loss in case of default
by the borrowers.

Inadequate Controls to Manage the High-Risk Strategy

In addition to originating retail loans with its own employees, WaMu began
originating and purchasing wholesale loans through a network of brokers and
correspondents.’ From 2003 to 2007, wholesale loan channels represented 48 to
70 percent of WaMu's total single family residential loan production.® WaMu saw
the financial incentive to use wholesale loan channels for production as significant.
According to an April 2006 internal presentation to the WaMu Board, it cost WaMu
about 66 percent less to close a wholesale loan ($1,809 per loan) than it did to
close a retail loan {$5,273). So while WaMu profitability increased through the use
of third-party originators, it had far less oversight and control over the quality of
the originations.

In fact, WaMu did not adequately oversee the third-party brokers who were
originating most of WaMu's mortgages. Specifically, in 2007, WaMu only had 14
WalMu employees overseeing more than 34,000 third-party brokers — an oversight
ratio of over 2,400 third party brokers to 1 WaMu employee. WaMu used
scorecards to evaluate its third-party brokers, but those scorecards did not measure
the rate of significant underwriting and documentation deficiencies attributable to
individual brokers. Furthermore, in 2007, WaMu itself identified fraud losses
attributable to third-party brokers of $51 million for subprime loans and $27 million
for prime loans. These matters are under further review by law enforcement
agencies.

Risk management was especially important for WaMu because of its high-risk
lending strategy, significant and frequent management changes, corporate
reorganizations, and significant growth as well as its sheer size. WaMu grew
rapidly from a regional to a national mortgage lender through acquisitions and
mergers with affiliate companies. From 1991 to 2006, WaMu acquired 11
institutions and merged with 2 affiliates. WaMu, however, did not fully integrate
and consolidate the information technology systems, risk controls, and policies and
procedures from the companies it acquired into a single enterprise-wide risk
management system. To that end, from 2004 through 2008, OTS repeatedly noted
that WaMu did not have effective controls in place to ensure proper risk
management.

® Brokers concentrate on finding customers in need of financing and process the loan application
and mortgage documents. Correspondents deal with the customer, then close and fund the loan
before selling the ioan to an investor.

& WaMu exited wholesale lending channels in 2008 as losses mounted.
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Significant Liquidity Stress in 2008

WaMu experienced liquidity problems beginning in late 2007. In the fourth quarter
of 2007 and first quarter of 2008, WaMu suffered consecutive $1 billion quarterly
losses because of loan charge-offs and reserves for future loan losses. WaMu did
briefly improve its liquidity position in April 2008 through a $7 billion investment in
WaMu'’s holding company made by a consortium led by the Texas Pacific Group,
$5 billion of which was downstreamed to WaMu. Nevertheless, WaMu went on to
suffer a $3.2 billion loss in the second quarter of 2008 and saw its share price
decrease by b5 percent.

The high-profile failure of IndyMac Bank in July 2008 coupled with rumors of
WaMu's problems further stressed WaMu's liquidity. At the same time, the Federal
Home Loan Bank of San Francisco began to limit WaMu’s borrowing capacity. As a
result, WaMu began offering deposit rates in excess of its competitors in order to
bring in deposits to improve liquidity. Shortly thereafter, Lehman Brothers collapsed
on September 15, 2008, and over the following 8 days, WaMu incurred net deposit
outflows of $16.7 billion, creating a second liquidity crisis. WaMu's ability to raise
capital was hindered by its borrowing capacity limits, share price declines, portfolio
losses, and an anti-dilution clause tied to the $7 billion capital investment. On
September 25, 2008, OTS closed WaMu and appointed FDIC as receiver.

OTS’S SUPERVISION OF WAMU

WaMu was OTS's largest regulated institution and represented as much as 15
percent of OTS's revenue from 2003 through 2008. OTS spent significant
resources examining WaMu, For example, in 2003, OTS devoted 17,285
examination hours to WaMu (the equivalent of more than 8 full time employees for
the entire year). Annually increasing the hours, by 2007 OTS devoted over 31,000
examination hours to WaMu (the equivalent of more than 15 full time employees
for the entire year).

OTS conducted regular risk assessments and examinations that rated WaMu's
overall performance satisfactory until 2008. Furthermore, it shouid be noted that
those supervisory efforts did identify the core weaknesses that eventually led to
WaMu's demise — high-risk products, poor underwriting, and weak risk controls. In
fact, issues with poor underwriting and weak risk controls were noted at least as
far back as 2003, the earliest examination documentation we looked at during our
review, and issues with high-risk loan products were reported soon after WaMu
started to offer them in 2005. OTS, however, relied largely on WaMu management
to track progress in correcting examiner-identified weaknesses and accepted
assurances from WaMu management and its Board of Directors that problems
would be resolved. The problem was, however, that OTS did not ensure that
WaMu corrected those weaknesses. In fact, OTS did not take any safety and
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soundness enforcement action against WaMu until 2008 after the thrift started to
incur significant losses, and the two actions taken were very weak.

Bank regulators, including OTS, use a uniform rating system called CAMELS” to
assess financial institution performance. The CAMELS rating is a critical factor in
supporting the need for enforcement actions and in determining the assessment
rate an institution should pay for deposit insurance. Briefly put, CAMELS ratings are
based on a scale from 1 to 5, with 1 being the best rating and 5 being the worst.
Generally, if a financial institution has a composite CAMELS rating of 1 it is
considered to be a high-quality institution, while financial institutions with
composite CAMELS ratings of greater than 3 are considered to be less than
satisfactory.

The following table provides standard definitions of each CAMELS composite rating
level.

CAMELS Composite Rating Definitions

1 Sound in every respect
2 Fundamentally sound
3 Exhibits some degree of supervisory concern in one or

more of the component areas {i.e., capital adequacy,
asset quality, management, earnings, liquidity,
sensitivity to market risk}

4 Generally exhibits unsafe and unsound practices or
conditions
5 Exhibits extremely unsafe and unsound practices or

conditions; exhibits a critically deficient performance;
often contains inadequate risk management practices
relative to the institution’s size, complexity, and risk
profile; and is of the greatest supervisory concern

From 2001 to 2007, OTS consistently rated WaMu a CAMELS composite 2,
meaning, by definition, that OTS considered WaMu as fundamentally sound during
these years. Specifically, the CAMELS composite criteria for a 2 rating state that
such institutions have only moderate weaknesses that are within the board’s and
management’s capability and willingness to correct, and have satisfactory risk
management practices relative to the institution’s size, complexity, and risk profile.
Furthermore, institutions in this category are considered to be stable and capable of
withstanding business fluctuations.

7 The CAMELS rating is a supervisory rating of a financial institution's overall condition. Bank
regulators assign each financial institution under their supervision a score on a scale of 1 (bestj to 5
{worst) for each CAMELS component. The CAMELS components are: C - Capital adequacy,

A - Asset quality, M - Management quality, E ~ Earnings, L ~ Liquidity, and S - Sensitivity to
Market Risk.
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Given the multiple repeat findings related to asset quality and management, and
considering the definitions of the composite ratings, it is difficult to understand
how OTS continued to assign WaMu a composite 2-rating year after year. It was
not until WaMu began experiencing losses at the end of 2007 and into 2008 that
OTS lowered WaMu's CAMELS composite rating to 3 in February 2008, and
ultimately to 4 in September 2008,

The following chart shows the CAMELS composite ratings and asset management
and management component ratings assigned to WaMu by OTS from 2003 through
2008.

WaMu's OTS—Assigned CAMELS Ratings

Asset

Year Composite Quality Management
2003 2 2 2
2004 2 2 2
2005 2 2 2
2006 2 2 2
2007 2 2 2
2008

As of February 27 3 3 2
As of June 30 3 4 3
As of September 18 4 4 3

OTS Examiners ldentified Concerns with WalMu’s Asset Quality

Asset quality is one of the most critical areas in determining the overall condition of
a financial institution. The primary factor to consider in assessing an institution’s
overall asset quality is the quality of the loan portfolio and the credit administration
program.

OTS examiners repeatedly identified issues and weaknesses associated with
WaMu's asset quality — especially with regard to issues identified in single family
residential loan underwriting and oversight of third-party brokers. Nevertheless,
OTS rated WaMu's asset quality as satisfactory {CAMELS component rating of 2)
until February 2008, when it downgraded it to a 3 on an interim basis. The asset
quality rating was further dropped to a 4 in June 2008.
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CAMELS asset quality ratings definitions are shown in the table below.

CAMELS Ratirg Definitions for Asset Quality

1 Strong asset quality and credit administration
practices

2 Satisfactory asset quality and credit administration
practices

3 Less than satisfactory asset quality and credit
administration practices

4 Deficient asset quality or credit administration
practices

5 Critically deficient asset quality or credit

administration practices

OTS identified a number of significant concerns with WaMu's single family
residential underwriting practices from 2003 to 2008. Those concerns inciuded
questions about the reasonableness of stated incomes contained in loan
documents, numerous underwriting exceptions, miscalculations of loan-to-value
ratios, and missing or inadequate documentation, Furthermore, the fact that so
many of WaMu's single family residential loans were Option ARMs further
underscored the risky nature of its loan portfolio. In the 2005 Report of
Examination to WaMu, OTS wrote, “We believe the level of deficiencies, if left
unchecked, could erode the credit quality of the portfolio. Our concerns are
increased when the risk profile of the portfolio is considered, including
concentrations in Option ARM loans to higher-risk borrowers, in low and limited
documentation loans, and loans with subprime or higher-risk characteristics. We are
concerned further that the current market environment is masking potentially higher
credit risk.”

Examples of WaMu underwriting deficiencies identified by OTS from 2003 to 2007
when asset quality was rated as a 2 are described below.

= 2003 and 2004 - OTS reported that underwriting of single family residential
loans, WaMu's core loan activity, was less than satisfactory.

» 2005 - OTS reported that although overall single family residential loan quality
and performance trends were stable, the thrift's underwriting remained less than
satisfactory. OTS noted that this concern had been expressed at several prior
exams as well as internal reviews and that the examiners remained concerned
with the number of underwriting exceptions and with issues that evidenced a lack
of compliance with bank policy.

* 2006 to 2007 - OTS reported that single family residential loan and prime
underwriting had improved to marginally satisfactory and generally satisfactory,
respectively. However, OTS reported concerns with subprime underwriting

OIG-CA-10-006 Page 9 of 18

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00123 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.017



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

110

practices by Long Beach Mortgage Company, a WaMu affiliate that merged with
WaMu in March 2008. OTS also reported that subprime underwriting practices
remained less than satisfactory and cited exceptions related to the miscalculation
of debt-to-income ratios, reasonableness of stated incomes on loan documents,
and borrower acknowledgement of payment shock. (It should be noted that
WaMu discontinued subprime lending in the fourth quarter of 2007.)

From 2005 through 2007, while OTS was issuing multiple repeat findings
pertaining to single family residential loan underwriting, WaMu originated almost
$618 billion in single family residential loans.

As discussed earlier, in addition to originating retail loans with its own employees,
WaMu began originating and purchasing wholesale loans through a network of
brokers and correspondent banks. So much so that wholesale loan channels
represented 48 to 70 percent of WaMu's single family residential loan production
from 2003 to 2007. The financial incentive to use the wholesale channels was
significant—internal WaMu documents dated April 2006 showed that it cost WaMu
more than $5,000 to close a retail loan but only $1,800 to close a wholesale loan.
It was simply far cheaper, and more profitable, for WaMu to purchase loans then to
originate them with its own employees.

From 2003 to 2007, OTS repeatedly identified weaknesses in WaMu‘s oversight of
third-party originators. As discussed earlier, in 2007, there were only 14 WaMu
employees overseeing more than 34,000 third-party brokers. It wasn’t until April
2008 that WaMu management announced that it would discontinue the wholesale
channel.

During our review, we asked OTS examiners why they did not lower WaMu’'s asset
quality ratings earlier. Examiners responded that even though underwriting and risk
management practices were less than satisfactory, WaMu was making money and
loans were performing. Accordingly, the examiners thought it would have been
difficult to lower WaMu's asset quality rating.

This position was a surprise to us since OTS’s own guidance states: “[if] an
association has a high exposure to credit risk, it is not sufficient to demonstrate
that the loans are profitable or that the association has not experienced significant
losses in the near term.”

Given this guidance, the significance of single family residential lending to WaMu's
business, and the fact that the OTS repeatedly brought the same issues related to
asset quality to the attention of WaMu management and the issues remained
uncorrected, we find it difficult to understand how OTS could assign WaMu a
satisfactory asset quality 2-rating for so long. Assigning a satisfactory rating when
conditions are not satisfactory sends a mixed and inappropriate supervisory
message to the institution and its board. It is also contrary to the very purpose for
which regulators use the CAMELS rating system.
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OTS Examiners identified Problems but Consistently Rated WaMu Management
Satisfactory

OTS’s guidance states that one of the most important objectives of an examination
is to evaluate the quality and effectiveness of a savings association’s management,
and that the success or failure of almost every facet of operations relates directly
to management.

The CAMELS management rating definitions are below.

CAMELS Rating Definitions for Management

1 Strong performance by management and the Board of
Directors and strong risk management practices

2 Satisfactory performance by management and the
Board of Directors and satisfactory risk management
practices

3 improvement needed in management and Board of

Directors performance or less than satisfactory risk
management practices

4 Deficient management and Board of Directors
performance or inadequate risk management practices
5 Critically deficient management and Board of

Directors performance or risk management practices

OTS identified problems regarding WaMu management in its examination
documents from 2003 through 2008. The primary areas of concern were the lack
of effective internal controls and an insufficient commitment on the part of WaMu’s
Board and management to take action to address OTS-identified weaknesses.

Despite its concerns, OTS reported that WaMu's Board oversight and
management’s performance was satisfactory through 2007 and rated the CAMELS
management component a 2 in those examinations. It was not until June 2008 .
that OTS reported that WaMu's Board oversight and management’s performance
was less than satisfactory and downgraded the CAMELS management component
to a 3. OTS faulted the WaMu Board and management for not adequately
addressing prior examination findings, including single family mortgage loan
underwriting weaknesses and an ineffective enterprise-wide risk management
system. OTS now {in 2008 and after WaMu started incurring big losses) concluded
that failure to address those weaknesses in a timely manner was exacerbating
credit losses and exposing WaMu to heightened reputation risk.

OTS examination reports repeatedly directed that WaMu take corrective actions in
response to examination findings. Nevertheless, WaMu management did not make
lasting or complete improvements to its asset quality or risk management

programs. Here again OTS’s own guidance notes that governance is strong when
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the Board addresses and corrects problems early. That guidance further states that
where governance is weak or nonexistent, problems remain uncorrected, possibly
resulting in the association’s failure.

In an effort to determine the extent to which WaMu addressed OTS findings, we
attempted to review the 545 findings made by OTS and WaMu's responses to
them from 2003 through 2007. The status of these findings were tracked in a
WaMu system called Enterprise Risk Issue Control System (ERICS) and not
independently by OTS on an OTS system. Based on our review of ERICS reports
and other documents, we were unable to determine whether a number of findings
had been closed and resolved. As discussed later, after considerable effort, OTS
was able to provide evidence that some of those findings had been closed.

We also noted that a number of the findings reported by OTS were repeat findings,
indicating the issue was identified during more than one examination cycle. For
example, 18 percent of OTS’s more significant findings {those specifically directed
to WaMu's Board for corrective action) between 2003 and 2006 were categorized
as repeat findings. However, WaMu discontinued indicating in ERICS whether a
finding was a repeat finding in 2006, Thus, the number of repeat findings could
have been much greater.

Given WaMu's lack of progress in addressing OTS-identified weaknesses, we
believe that a less than satisfactory management component rating should have
been assigned to WaMu sooner.

OTS Should Have Done More to Track WaMu's Progress

We found, to our surprise, that OTS largely relied on WaMu's ERICS system
instead of its own to track corrective actions. As | mentioned earlier, we tried to
track findings closed and resolved through the WaMu tracking system, but could
not.

OTS examiners told us that they had a process for reviewing WaMu’s corrective
actions. Specifically, we were told that during an examination, ERICS reports were
divided up among the OTS examiners based upon each examiner’s area of
responsibility. Each examiner was responsible for determining whether ERICS
properly reflected the status of findings for their assigned area. If satisfied, the
examiner would then sign-off on the respective ERICS report.

With that in mind, we reviewed 8 ERICS status reports for the years 2003 through
2008, and found evidence of examiner sign-off on only 3 of the 8 reports. During
our review, we asked OTS to provide evidence of the status of 39 significant
findings that appeared to be open in the ERICS reports.

OTS showed us that 16 findings were issued/newly identified during 2008 and
remained unresolved as of WaMu's failure. For another 16 findings, OTS provided
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evidence, although limited in some cases {such as handwritten notes on an ERICS
report), that those findings were resolved. For the other 7 findings, however, OTS
either did not provide evidence as to the findings’ status or stated that the findings
had been replaced by new findings pertaining to a repeat finding area. While OTS
was ultimately able to provide some additional information about the status of
certain findings, doing so required considerable time and effort on OTS’s part. This
further underscores the flawed decision by OTS to rely on the WaMu system for
tracking the examiner findings.

OTS Enforcement Actions Against WaMu Were Limited and Late

OTS can take a variety of enforcement actions, both informal (which are non-
public) and formal (which are public), to address, among other things, unsafe and
unsound practices by a thrift,

In general, OTS policy provides that formal enforcement action should be taken
when any institution is in material noncompliance with prior commitments to take
corrective actions and for CAMELS composite 3-rated institutions with weak
management, where there is uncertainty to whether management and the board
have the ability or willingness to take appropriate corrective measures.

OTS never took formal enforcement action against WaMu to force it to correct its
safety and soundness deficiencies. OTS did impose two informal enforcement
actions against the thrift, but not until 2008. The informal enforcement actions —a
Board Resolution and an MOU-lacked sufficient substance and were too late to
make a difference. Moreover, though, there were other troubling aspects as to how
OTS handled both actions. In the instance of the Board Resolution, the OTS West
Region Director approved the Board Resolution despite concerns raised by other
regional management officials. Furthermore, with regard to the MOU, an important
provision that FDIC had proposed that would have required WaMu to raise $5
billion in additional capital was replaced with a capital contingency plan, and
another requiring that a consultant review of Board oversight was dropped at the
request of WaMu,

During our review, we were told that OTS had a general sense of the status of
WaMu's progress in addressing weaknesses, but OTS examiners said that tracking
WaMu's progress was difficult given its size and complexity. Further, OTS
examiners told us that WaMu oftentimes replaced managers as its response to
significant findings in their areas of responsibility. WaMu would then ask OTS for
time to allow the newly hired manager to implement plans to address weaknesses.
Given the size of WaMu, the magnitude of the weaknesses identified by OTS
examiners year after year, coupled with the limited progress made by WaMu
management in correcting those weaknesses, we believe that OTS should have
elevated its supervisory response much sooner and much more forcefully,
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OTS sought a Board Resolution as a result of the interim downgrade of WaMu to a
CAMELS composite 3 rating in February 2008. WaMu drafted the Board Resolution
and sent it to the OTS West Region Director on March 13, 2008. The Board
Resolution endorsed undertaking “strategic initiatives” to improve asset quality,
earnings, and liquidity and directed WaMu management to implement and report on
those initiatives. The strategic initiatives tied the improvements to either (1) the
sale of WaMu or (2) raising $3 billion to $4 billion in capital. Interestingly, the
resolution only addressed short-term liquidity issues, not the systemic problems
repeatedly noted by OTS.

The OTS West Region Director sent the Board Resolution to two members of OTS’s
regional management for their comments. Both OTS regional management officials
expressed concern about the fact that the Board Resolution did not require specific
corrective actions. Further, those officials recognized WaMu's lack of follow-
through on past promises and believed that OTS needed to review management's
strategic plans to ensure they addressed the critical weaknesses linked to WaMu's
composite downgrade. Despite the concerns of these officials, the OTS West
Region Director approved WaMu's version of the Board Resolution anyway, which
the Board passed on March 17, 2008.

The second informal enforcement action taken by OTS against WaMu was an MOU
as a consequence of its downgraded CAMELS composite 3 rating at the end of its
examination on June 30, 2008. QTS drafted the MOU and provided a copy to FDIC
for comment. FDIC proposed a number of changes to the MOU, including a
provision that WaMu raise an additional $5 billion in capital. OTS did not want to
include the $5 billion capital increase requirement because OTS believed that
WaMu's capital was sufficient following a $2 billion contribution from WaMu’'s
holding company in July 2008. Further, OTS thought that FDIC’s model used to
determine the $5 billion amount was flawed. FDIC and OTS eventually
compromised and included a capital contingency plan requirement in the MOU
rather than a specific amount, OTS sent WaMu management the proposed MOU on
August 1, 2008, that would require WaMu to

e correct all findings noted in OTS's June 30, 2008, examination;
s submit a contingency capital plan and maintain certain capital ratios;
* submit a 3-year Business Plan to OTS;

* engage a consultant to review WaMu’'s risk management structure,
underwriting, management, and board oversight; and

» certify compliance with the MOU quarterly.
On August 4, 2008, WaMu asked that the requirement for the consultant review of
Board oversight be removed from the proposed MOU. OTS accepted WaMu's
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change notwithstanding the OTS examiners’ findings over many years that the
Board's performance was weak. By August 25, 2008, WaMu's attorney and OTS
had informally reached agreement on the terms of the MOU and were waiting for
final execution of the MOU. However, it was not until September 7, 2008, that
OTS signed the MOU. A week later, WaMu was placed into receivership. The MOU
was therefore obviously ineffective.

While we recognize it is speculative to conclude that earlier and more forceful
enforcement action would have prevented WaMu's failure, we believe that more
forceful action in 2008 and 2007 may have compelled WaMu's Board and
management to take more aggressive steps to correct deficiencies and stem the
losses that eventually occurred because of its risky loan products and weak
controls.

Prompt Corrective Action Was Not a Factor With WaMu

The Prompt Corrective Action {PCA)} provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance
Act provides OTS with supervisory remedies aimed to minimize losses to the
Deposit Insurance Fund. PCA requires that certain operating restrictions take effect
when a thrift's capital levels fall below well-capitalized. In the case of WaMu, OTS
did not take, and was not required to take, PCA action because WaMu remained
weli-capitalized through September 25, 2008, when it was placed in receivership.
That said, it was only a matter of time before losses associated with WaMu's high-
risk lending practices would have depleted its capital below regulatory
requirements.

TREASURY 0OIG RECOMMENDATIONS

We have made a number of recommendations to OTS as a result of completed
material loss reviews of failed thrifts during the current economic crisis. These
recommendations have pertained to the need for OTS to take more timely formal
enforcement action when circumstances warrant, ensure that high CAMELS ratings
are properly supported, remind examiners of the risks associated with rapid growth
and high-risk concentrations, ensure thrifts have sound internal risk management
systems, ensure repeat conditions are reviewed and corrected, and require thrifts
to hold adequate capital. OTS has taken or plans to take action in response to each
of these recommendations. As a result of this review, we made one new
recommendation to OTS. Specifically, OTS should ensure that an internal OTS
system is used to formally track the status of examiner recommendations and
related thrift corrective actions. The Acting Director of OTS concurred.

FINAL REMARKS AND OBSERVATIONS

Among other things, in my invitation to testify before you this morning, the
Subcommittee requested that | address our Office’s findings regarding OTS's
implementation of the /nteragency Guidance on Nontraditional Mortgage Product
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Risks (NTM Guidance) at WaMu as well as its level of cooperation with other
federal financial regulators towards WaMu, including but not limited to FDIC.

Implementation of NTM Guidance. In short, this guidance, issued in October
2006 by the federal financial institution regulatory agencies, sets forth
supervisory expectations for institutions that originate or service
nontraditional mortgage loans, including:

+ Portfolio and Risk Management practices. Financial institutions should
have strong risk management practices, capital levels commensurate with
risk, adequate allowances for loan losses, and strong systems and
controls for establishing and maintaining relationships with third parties.

» lLoan Team and Underwriting Standards. Institutions should establish
prudent lending policies and underwriting standards for nontraditional
mortgage products that include consideration of a borrower’s repayment
capacity.

+ Risk Layering. Financial institutions that layer multiple product types may
increase the potential risks of alternative mortgage products. Institutions
should perform adequate underwriting analysis when layering products,
including alternative mortgage loans, reduced or no documentation loans,
foans without customer verification, or a combination of any of these
mortgages with simultaneous second mortgages.

+ Consumer Protection. Institutions should implement programs and
practices designed to ensure that consumers receive clear and balanced
information to help them make informed decisions while shopping for and
selecting alternative mortgage loans.

Our work did not specifically evaluate OTS’s assessment of WaMu's
implementation of, or compliance with the NTM Guidance. Nonetheless,
based on your request, | had my staff review the documents we had
collected in the conduct of our work. To that end, we did find that in the
2007 report of examination on WaMu, OTS noted that while WaMu was not
in complete adherence with the NTM Guidance, satisfactory progress had
been made to address identified risks. OTS also drafted a finding during the
2007 examination cycle that identified the steps WaMu planned to take to
comply with the guidance and also included that WaMu should review third-
party originators because they were a key source of WaMu's nontraditional
loans. OTS classified this finding as an “observation” which meant that it
was a weakness that was not a regulatory concern, but could improve the
bank’s operating effectiveness if addressed.

OTS Cooperation with Qther Federal Financial Regulators. Our work did not
expressly evaluate OTS’s cooperation with other federal financial regulators.
However, we are able to comment on OTS's relationship with FDIC as the

deposit insurer. In this regard, FDIC, as the deposit insurer, has a number of
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procedural and regulatory tools available to take action when an institution’s
risk increases, to include requesting that the primary regulator (OTS in the
case of WaMu) grant FDIC back-up examination authority. FDIC invoked its
back-up examination authority each year from 2005 to 2008. Those
requests, however, often met with resistance from OTS.

A discussion of OTS’s interaction with FDIC on these requests follows. OTS
granted FDIC's 2005 back-up examination request but denied FDIC the
ability to review the subprime operations of WaMu'’s affiliate, Long Beach
Mortgage Company (LBMC), because LBMC was a subsidiary of WaMu's
parent corporation and not part of WaMu. In 2006, FDIC again requested
back-up examination authority, and OTS initially denied the FDIC request.
After the matter was elevated to OTS and FDIC headquarters, OTS
eventually granted FDIC back-up examination authority.

OTS granted FDIC’s 2007 back-up examination request but did not allow
FDIC examiners access to WaMu residential loan files. OTS considered loan
file review to be an examination activity rather than an insurance risk
assessment activity. FDIC wanted to review the files because of
underwriting concerns and because FDIC had concerns that OTS had not
adequately reviewed the loan files during its examination to fully understand
the embedded risk.

In granting FDIC’s 2008 back-up examination request, OTS was concerned
about the number of examiners {nine} that FDIC was planning to use. OTS

indicated that it was a heavy staffing request given OTS’s on-site presence
and reiterating that FDIC was not to actively participate in the examination.

As one final matter, as | noted above, we were troubled by the handling of the
informal enforcement actions that OTS finally did impose in 2008 including the
decision by the then OTS West Region Director to approve the use of a Board
Resolution that did not require WaMu to correct its deficiencies. This is not the only
decision by that OTS official that we have found of serious concern. As our office
previously reported,® the same OTS official approved IndyMac Bank, FSB, to
backdate a capital contribution made in May 2008 to the guarter ending March 31,
2008. The impact of recording the capital contribution in this manner was that
IndyMac was able to maintain its well-capitalized status for the quarter, and avoid
the requirement in law to obtain a waiver from FDIC to accept brokered deposits.®
Having said that, | do want to note that shortly after our Office first reported this
matter to the Treasury Secretary, OTS placed the official on administrative leave
pending an internal review. The official has since retired from federal service.

8 Treasury OIG, Safety and Soundness: OTS Involvement With Backdated Capital Contributions by
Thrifts {O1G-09-037; issued May 21, 2009).

® On July 11, 2008, OTS closed indyMac and appointed FDIC as conservator. As of December 31,
2008, the estimated loss to the Deposit Insurance Fund for indyMac was $10.7 billion.
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That concludes my prepared statement. | will be happy to answer any questions
you may have. Thank you.
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STATEMENT OF JON T. RYMER, INSPECTOR GENERAL
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
on
The Role of Regulators in Exercising Their Supervision of Washington Mutual Bank
from 2004-2008

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs
United States Senate

April 16, 2010

Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Coburn, and Members of the Subcommittee:

Thank you for providing me the opportunity to participate in this very important hearing. My
name is Jon T. Rymer, and I am the Inspector General (IG) for the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC). As noted in your invitation letter, the purpose of today’s hearing is to focus
on the role of regulators in exercising their supervision of Washington Mutual Bank (WaMu).
Specifically, you asked about the findings regarding the joint report entitled, Evaluation of
Federal Regulatory Oversight of Washington Mutual Bank (Report No. EVAL-10-002), which
we completed with our colleagues at the Department of the Treasury Office of Inspector General
(OIG) and are releasing today. We appreciate your interest in our evaluation and hope that it
contributes to the work of your Subcommittee.

The WaMu evaluation is the first report to comprehensively analyze the supervisory efforts of
the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS) and the FDIC with respect to a single failure. The two
federal regulators had concurrent oversight responsibility for an institution that failed during the
current financial crisis. OTS was the primary federal regulator (PFR) and was responsible for
conducting safety and soundness examinations while FDIC was the back-up supervisor and was
responsible for monitoring WaMu to assess risks to the Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF). WaMu
was, in fact, the largest bank failure in United States history, but the sale of WaMu to JP Morgan
Chase & Co. avoided a loss to the DIF.

Section 38(k) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act requires the cognizant IG to conduct a
material loss review (MLR) of the causes of the failure and PFR supervision when the losses to
the DIF exceed $25 million or 2 percent of an institution’s total assets at the time the FDIC was
appointed receiver. Because the FDIC facilitated a sale of WaMu to JPMorgan Chase & Co.
without incurring a material loss to the DIF, an MLR was not statutorily required. However,
given WaMu’s size, the circumstances leading up to WaMu’s sale, and non-DIF losses, such as
the loss of shareholder value, the IGs of the Department of the Treasury and FDIC believed that
an evaluation of OTS and FDIC actions could provide important information and observations
going forward.

Our objectives were to (1) identify the causes of WaMu’s failure; (2) evaluate OTS’s supervision
of WaMu, including implementation of the Prompt Corrective Action provisions of Section
38(k), if required; (3) evaluate FDIC’s monitoring of WaMu in its role as deposit insurer,
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including the manner and extent to which FDIC and OTS coordinated oversight of the
institution; and (4) assess FDIC’s resolution process for WaMu to determine whether that
process complied with applicable laws, regulations, policies, and procedures. The WaMu
evaluation covers the first three objectives. We deferred work on objective four to a later date
pending resolution of ongoing litigation.

The statement of the Treasury IG to the Subcommittee focuses on the first two objectives —
causes of WaMu’s failure and the OTS’s supervision of the institution because of its
responsibility as the IG over the PFR. As detailed in the Treasury 1G’s statement, we found that
WaMu failed because its management pursued a high-risk lending strategy that included liberal
underwriting standards and inadequate risk controls. OTS examiners spent a significant amount
of time examining WaMu and identified numerous concerns with WaMu’s high-risk lending
strategy, including management weaknesses, single family loan underwriting, and inadequate
risk controls. Although OTS supervision identified problems at WaMu, OTS did not adequately
ensure that WaMu corrected those problems early enough to prevent a failure of the institution.
In particular, OTS did not invoke its formal enforcement powers to compel WaMu to make
changes. Further, OTS assigned satisfactory safety and soundness ratings until WaMu began
encountering significant financial losses in 2008.

My written statement focuses on the FDIC’s oversight and monitoring of WaMu and also
addresses the questions you posed in your invitation letter.

The FDIC OIG

By way of background, the FDIC OIG is an independent and objective unit established under the
Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended. Our mission is to promote the economy, efficiency,
and effectiveness of FDIC programs and operations, and protect against fraud, waste and abuse.
This year, the FDIC OIG is operating under a budget of $37.9 million, with an authorized
staffing level of 138.

To carry out our mission, my office conducts audits, evaluations, and investigations; reviews
existing and proposed legislation and regulations; and keeps the FDIC Chairman and the
Congress currently and fully informed of problems and deficiencies relating to FDIC programs
and operations. The FDIC OIG also has statutory responsibility to perform MLRs of failed
FDIC-supervised institutions under the provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act.

To date, my office has issued 58 MLRs of FDIC-supervised institutions and has an additional 34
reviews underway. In total, 163 federally regulated institutions, with assets at closing totaling
$556 billion, have failed during this economic crisis. As of December 31, 2009, 702 institutions
were on the “Problem List,” indicating a probability of more failures to come and an increased
asset disposition workload.

Our work on institution failures, including our work on the circumstances surrounding the failure
of WaMu, is yielding important insights on regulatory supervision of the nation’s financial
institutions. We appreciate the Congressional support of our efforts.
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Summary of FDIC OIG Findings

Overall, we determined that the FDIC monitored WaMu and, similar to OTS, identified the
problems that ultimately caused WaMu’s failure. The risks noted through FDIC monitoring
were not, however, reflected in WaMu’s deposit insurance premiums. As a result, WaMu paid
deposit insurance premiums that were not commensurate with its inherent risk. This discrepancy
occurred because the deposit insurance regulations relied on OTS safety and soundness ratings
and regulatory capital levels to gauge risk and assess related deposit insurance premiums.
Although FDIC monitoring began to show risks at WaMu earlier than OTS safety and soundness
ratings, the FDIC did not challenge OTS’s ratings until 2008. The FDIC did invoke back-up
examination authority based on increasing FDIC internal risk monitoring in order to obtain
additional information about WaMu. OTS resisted FDIC back-up examination requests because
the OTS believed the FDIC did not meet the terms of an Interagency Agreement’ governing such
requests. Specifically, the interagency agreement required FDIC to prove to OTS that WaMu
exhibited one of the following: (1) a heightened level of risk (meaning WaMu was a CAMELS?
3, 4, or 5 and was undercapitalized), (2) material deteriorating conditions at WaMu, or (3) other
adverse developments that could result in WaMu becoming troubled in the near term. Finally,
although the FDIC could have taken enforcement action against WaMu, the FDIC chose not to
do so because of the cumbersome procedures required to independently invoke that authority.
The remainder of my statement provides details on these matters.

FDIC’s Oversight Role for WaMu

In its capacity as deposit insurer, the FDIC is responsible for regularly monitoring and assessing
the potential risks that all insured institutions present to the DIF, including those for which it is
not the PFR. FDIC was the deposit insurer for WaMu from 2003 to 2008 and was responsible
for monitoring WaMu for purposes of assessing WaMu’s risk to the DIF. WaMu was, in fact,
one of the eight largest institutions insured by FDIC.

FDIC has a number of tools it used to monitor risk at WaMu. First, FDIC tracks macro-economic
developments in the banking industry to assess broad risks and has special institution-specific
programs to monitor Jarge institutions such as WaMu. From a macro-economic perspective, the
FDIC relies on two of its primary business divisions, the Division of Supervision and Consumer
Protection (DSC) and Division of Insurance and Research (DIR) to synthesize information from
Large Insured Depository Institution (LIDI) reports, aggregate data on large banks to identify
trends and emerging risks, summarize national economic conditions and banking industry trends,
and communicate this information to FDIC senior management, the FDIC Board of Directors,
other regulators, and FDIC staff. The FDIC also has regional and national risk committees that

! Coordination of Expanded Supervisory Information Sharving and Special Examinations (January 29, 2002).

* The Uniform Financial Institution Rating System that has been developed jointly by the federal banking regulators
to assign each financial institution a composite rating. The composite rating is based on the results of the on-site
examination that evaluates and rates six essential components of an institution’s financial condition and operations.
The component factors address the adequacy of Capital, the quality of Assets, the capability of Management, the
quality and leve! of Earnings, the adequacy of Liquidity, and the Sensitivity to market risk-—collectively known as
the CAMELS ratings. Evaluations of the components take into consideration the institution’s size and
sophistication, the nature and complexity of its activities, and its risk profile. The composite ratings range on a scale
from 1 (best) to 5 (worst).
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review and evaluate regional economic and banking trends and risks to determine whether any
actions need to be taken in response to those trends and risks and identify and evaluate the most
significant regional risks facing the FDIC and the banking industry as a whole.

Second, at the institution level, for large institutions like WaMu, whose PFR is another agency,
the FDIC first relies on the examinations conducted by OTS to determine the bank’s overall
condition and the risks. The FDIC also conducts its own analysis and monitoring. In 2002, FDIC
developed the Dedicated Examiner Program for the eight largest insured institutions to assign
one FDIC examiner full-time to an institution to devote the examiner’s full attention to assessing
the on-going risk posed by the institution to the DIF.

One of the more significant tasks of the Dedicated Examiner was to prepare quarterly executive
summaries that assigned a level of risk to WaMu using the LIDI scale from A to E. WaMu was
part of the LIDI program and had a dedicated examiner assigned for the entire period covered by
this evaluation from 2003-2008. The LIDI program was developed in 1984 to quantify the level
and direction of a company’s risk to the DIF. The LIDI program focuses on issues that are
broader in nature than those covered by typical safety and soundness examinations. Specifically,
the LIDI program looks at an institution’s business profile and considers factors such as product
mix, strategic focus across markets, overall management expertise, and franchise value. FDIC
also has a number of offsite monitoring systems that generate financial ratios based on Call
Report data. Dedicated examiners must perform an offsite review of situations where a bank’s
financial ratios fall outside of FDIC-determined tolerances.

FDIC has a number of procedural and regulatory tools at its disposal to address any identified
increasing risk at a depository institution even where the FDIC is not the primary regulator.

L Back-up Examination Authority: Section 10(b)(3) of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Act provides FDIC special examination authority (also known as
back-up authority) to make any special examination of any insured depository
institution whenever the FDIC Board of Directors determines a special
examination is necessary to determine the condition of the institution for
insurance purposes. In January 2002, the FDIC’s Board of Directors approved an
interagency agreement, “Coordination of Expanded Supervisory Information
Sharing and Special Examinations” (Interagency Agreement) that established a
set of principles related to use of special examination authority.

= Challenge Ratings: The FDIC can challenge the PFR’s CAMELS composite
rating if it disagrees with the PFR’s conclusions.

" Back-up Enforcement Action: The FDIC is also authorized under Section 8(t) of
the Federal Deposit Insurance Act to engage in back-up enforcement action.” In this
capacity, FDIC generally has the same powers with respect to any insured depository
institution and their affiliate as the primary federal banking agency has with respect
to the institution and its affiliates.

3 12U8.C. §1818(1).
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Concern Noted in FDIC Monitoring Reports Did Not Influence WaMu’s
Deposit Insurance Premium Payments

Our evaluation found that the FDIC followed its internal policies and completed its required
monitoring. For example, the FDIC assigned a dedicated examiner to monitor WaMu and
completed quarterly LIDI reports that assessed the risk that WaMu posed to the DIF. Each
quarterly LIDI report included a risk rating for WaMu. The LIDI system was, in fact, developed
by the FDIC in order to provide measures beyond the PFR’s safety and soundness CAMELS
ratings to better understand an institution’s risk to the DIF. LIDI reports consider future risks at
an institution, where CAMELS ratings, in practice, are more point-in-time measures of
performance.’ LIDI reports are internal FDIC ratings and are not provided to an institution. The
LIDI ratings are on a scale from A to E as described in Table 1 below and the CAMELS
composite rating is on a scale from 1 to 5 as defined in Table 2 below.

Table 1 _EDIC LIDI Ratings Table 2: CAMELS Composite Rating
Description Description
b
A — Low risk of concern regarding 1 Sound in every respect
ultimate risk to the insurance
funds. 2 Fundamentally sound
B ~ Ordinary level of concern 3  Exhibits some degree of supervisory concern in
regarding ultimate risk to the one or more of the component areas (i.e., capital
insurance funds. adequacy, asset quality, management, earnings,

liquidity, sensitivity to market risk)
4  Generally exhibits unsafe and unsound practices
or conditions

C —~  More than an ordinary level of
concern regarding ultimate risk
to the insurance funds.

D _ Hiigh level of concern regarding 5  Exhibits extremely unsafe and unsound practices
~ ; or conditions; exhibits a critically deficient
the ultimate risk to the (. N
insurance funds performance; often contains inadequate risk
E - - management practices relative to the institution’s
- Senou§ concerns size, complexity, and risk profile; and is of the
regarding ultimate risk to greatest supervisory concern

the insurance funds.

* The CAMELS rating criteria, as written, allow for examiners to take into account future risks. In practice,
however, examiners view CAMELS as point-in-time measurements.
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We compared WaMu’s CAMELS composite rating, LIDI rating, deposit insurance risk category
deposit insurance premium assessment, and premium payments from 2003 to 2008 to determine
their interrelationship. As shown in the Table 3, FDIC LIDI monitoring showed more concern
with risk at WaMu sooner than OTS CAMELS ratings. The LIDI rating dropped in July 2004

Table 3: WaMu Ratings and Insurance Assessments

sms— = B e S ———— ——————
CAME . FDIC LIDI Insurance .

January 2003 2 B 1A $0 $0

July 2003 2 B 1A $0 $0

January 2004 2 B 1A $0 $0

July 2004 2 B/C 1A $0 30

January 2005 2 B/C 1A $0 30

July 2005 2 B/C 1A $0 $0

January 2006 2 B/C 1A $0 $0

July 2006 2 B/C 1A $0 $0

March 2007 2 B/C R-l $33,416,173 $0

June 2007 2 C R-I $31,461,565 $0
September 2007 2 C R-1 $30,966,418 $0
December 2007 2 C R-1 $28,905,951 $0

March 2008 3 D R-II $39,178,352 $9,113,681
June 2008 3 E R-1I $51,742,730 $42,205,190
TOTAL $251,671,191 $51,318,871

from B, meaning WaMu was an ordinary risk to the DIF to a B/C, meaning WaMu posed a
somewhat more than ordinary risk fo the fund. The FDIC maintained the B/C rating for WaMu
until June 2007, when the FDIC again lowered its rating from a B/C to a C, meaning WaMu
posed more than an ordinary risk to the DIF. WaMu maintained the C rating through 2007.
During the period from 2003 to the end of 2007 when the FDIC LIDI ratings were showing
increasing concern with WaMu, the OTS CAMELS ratings maintained a consistent 2 rating,
meaning OTS believed that WaMu was fundamentally sound.

Both the FDIC LIDI rating and the OTS CAMELS rating dropped during the first quarter of
2008. The LIDI rating indicated a D, meaning the FDIC had a high level of concern about
WaMu’s risk to the DIF. The OTS 3 rating indicated that there was some degree of supervisory
concern. This period coincides with WaMu posting back-to-back $1 billion losses in the 4Q
2007 and 1Q 2008. In June 2008, the FDIC LIDI rating fell to its lowest level of E, meaning
there were serious concerns about the risk WaMu posed to the DIF. The OTS completed its
examination at this point and decided to maintain a CAMELS rating of 3 despite a $3.2 billion
2Q 2008 loss suffered by WaMu.

Despite the increasing risks shown in the FDIC’s LIDI reports, WaMu remained in the highest-
rated (lowest-risk) deposit insurance risk category (1A/R-I) from January 2003 until December
2007 and in the second highest-rated deposit insurance category (R-II) from March to June
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2008.° This disconnect occurred because WaMu’s deposit insurance risk category assignment,
by regulation,”® was based on WaMu’s consistent CAMELS composite 2 rating and WaMu’s
regulatory capital level. Table 3 illustrates the insurance assessments by period.

Further, as a result of WaMu’s placement in the 1 A insurance risk category from January 2003 to
July 2006, the FDIC did not charge WaMu any deposit insurance premiums for that period. In
fact, FDIC did not charge deposit insurance premiums for any institution in the 1A insurance risk
category during this period because the amount of money in the deposit insurance funds (there
were two funds at the time) exceeded a statutory ratio requirement to hold $1.25 for every $100
in insured deposits at financial institutions.” When that requirement was met, FDIC could not,
by statute, set premiums that would increase the statutory ratio except when an institution
“exhibited financial, operational, or compliance weakness or is not well-capitalized.”® The FDIC
Board, by regulation, interpreted the statute to mean that FDIC could not charge premiums for
any institutions in the 1A risk category. Therefore, despite WaMu’s size and pursuit of a high-
risk lending strategy during this period, FDIC could not charge WaMu any deposit insurance
premiums because WaMu’s CAMELS composite 2 rating and capital level placed it in the 1A
risk category.

From March 2007 to June 2008, FDIC assessed WaMu $215 million in insurance premiums
based upon WaMu’s insurance risk category. WaMu paid $51 million, or 24 percent, of those
premiums. WaMu payments were less than FDIC premium charges because of a one-time credit
that Congress included in the Federal Deposit Insurance Reform Act of 2005 (Reform Act).
According to the Congressional Record, the credit was meant to reward the institutions that
capitalized the deposit insurance funds in the mid-1990s. The Reform Act did include a limit on,
but not an elimination of, the credit when an institution exhibited certain financial, operational,
or compliance weakness. On May 25, 2007, WaMu received a $164.4 million credit to be used
to offset premiums beginning in 2007 according to the terms of the Reform Act. WaMu used the
credit to offset the full balance of the insurance assessment between March 2007 and December
2007. FDIC limited WaMu’s use of its credit in March 2007 because of WaMu’s composite 3
CAMELS rating, but WaMu was able to use the $9.1 million of its remaining credit in June
2008. In effect, WaMu was able to use the entire $164.4 million credit to offset premiums.

FDIC LIDI Monitoring Reports Prompted FDIC Back-up Examination
Requests from 2005 to 2008 But Those Requests Met Resistance from OTS

Prior to 2005, FDIC was the primary regulator for a smaller financial institution held by WaMu’s
parent company. Examiners told us FDIC and OTS had a very good working relationship during
this period and the OTS routinely used FDIC examiners to assist OTS examiners with their
examination. In 2005, the FDIC-supervised institution was merged into WaMu, and FDIC no

$ FDIC Deposit Insurance Regulations changed the deposit insurance risk assessment categories in 2007, Prior to
2007, 1A was the high-rated/lowest risk category and after 2007 the category was changed to R-I. R-II was the
second high-rated/lowest risk category in 2007,

$12CFR. 327

7 The ratio is known as the Designated Reserve Ratio,

¥ 12 US.C. 1817(h)2)(A)V).
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longer held a primary regulator role. Because FDIC was no longer a primary regulator, FDIC
was required to invoke back-up examination authority to bring any examiners, other than the
FDIC dedicated examiner, to WaMu, if additional monitoring was warranted.

Back-up examination authority is a key tool that FDIC can use when risk is increasing in an
institution like WaMu. As previously discussed, the FDIC’s Board of Directors approved an
Interagency Agreement that established a set of principles related to the use of back-up
examination authority for those institutions that present “heightened risk” to the DIF and
delegated its authority to DSC.° The term “heightened risk” is defined as an institution having a
composite rating of 3, 4, or 5 and that is undercapitalized, as defined under Prompt Corrective
Action rules. Further, FDIC may request permission from the PFR to participate in an
examination for an institution that does not meet the heightened risk definition but exhibits
material deteriorating conditions or other adverse developments that may result in the institution
being troubled in the near-term.

Procedurally, a dedicated examiner prepares a memorandum documenting the basis for a
back-up examination request and submits the request to the FDIC Regional Director or Deputy
Regional Director who may accept or reject the request. If the request is based on heightened
risk, the Regional Director formally notifies the PFR counterpart by sending a letter stating FDIC
would like to participate in the examination. If the request is not based on heightened risk, the
process is more in the manner of a request where the FDIC Regional Director asks the PFR
counterpart whether the PFR would object to FDIC’s participation. Implicit in both of these
requests is the principle of effective and efficient supervision. In the event that FDIC and the
PFR disagree as to the appropriateness of FDIC’s participation, the respective agency
supervision representatives determine whether FDIC participation is appropriate. In the event
the agency representatives cannot agree, the FDIC Chairman and the principal of the PFR will
make the determination.

FDIC invoked back-up examination authority in each year from 2005 to 2008 in order to obtain
additional information about the risks in WaMu's portfolio. Generally, FDIC used back-up
examination authority to bring examiners to WaMu to review specific areas of concern, such as
single family lending and mortgage servicing rights. OTS granted FDIC’s 2005 back-up
examination request but denied FDIC the ability to review the subprime operations of WaMu’s
affiliate, Long Beach Mortgage Company, because it was a subsidiary of WaMa’s parent
corporation and not part of WaMu.

In 2006, FDIC’s request for back-up examination authority, was initially denied by OTS. It
appears that 2006 was a turning point in the relationship between FDIC and OTS in terms of
information sharing that carried through to 2008. The September 1, 2006, letter from the OTS
Regional Director denying back-up authority indicates that OTS believed that FDIC had not
shown the requisite regulatory need for back-up examination authority according to the terms of
the Interagency Agreement.

Internal OTS emails indicate that OTS interpreted the Interagency Agreement test for a material
deteriorating condition or adverse development as requiring a composite 3 rating for WaMu.

® January 29, 2002 Interagency Agreement, “Coordination of Expanded Supervisory Information Sharing and
Special Examinations.”
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Such a requirement is not contained in the Interagency Agreement. In response to the denial of
back-up examination authority, the FDIC Regional Director sent a letter to the OTS Regional
Director expressing concern about the denial,

[rlegarding your reasoning for rejecting our participation in these target
reviews, you are correct that our request is not predicated on any current
disagreement related to examination findings or concern regarding
supervisory activities at Washington Mutual. Such criteria are not
prerequisite for requesting — or for the OTS granting — FDIC staff
participation in targeted examination activities... The 2002 [Information
Sharing] Agreement clearly allows for FDIC staff participation in
examination activities to evaluate risk of a particular banking activity to
the DIF. Washington Mutual is a very large insured financial institution,
and in our view participation on the upcoming targeted reviews is
necessary to fulfill our responsibilities to protect the deposit insurance
fund.

The request was elevated to FDIC and OTS Washington officials, and about 2 months after the
denial letter, OTS decided to grant FDIC back-up examination authority. The November 10,
2006 letter from the OTS Regional Director rescinding the denial states,

OTS does not seek to have FDIC staff actively participate in our
examination activities and conclusions at Washington Mutual. We do
understand your need for access to examination information and your need
to meet with OTS staff to discuss our supervisory activities at Washington
Mutual. To facilitate this information sharing and discussions, we have
agreed to allow your Dedicated Examiner...to conduct his FDIC risk
assessment activities on site at Washington Mutual when our examination
team is on site. All FDIC requests for information should continue to be
funneled through our examiner-in-charge... We will consider these limited

_requests to send additional FDIC staff to Washington Mutual on a case-
by-case basis.

The OTS granted the FDIC’s 2007 back-up examination request but did not allow FDIC
examiners access to WaMu residential loan files. Emails indicate the OTS considered loan file
review to be an examination activity rather than an insurance risk assessment activity. FDIC
wanted to review the files because of underwriting concerns and because FDIC had concerns that
OTS examiners had not adequately reviewed the loan files during the examination to fully
understand the embedded risk. Underwriting was a significant issue because WaMu’s liberal
underwriting standards were a significant contributing factor to WaMu’s failure. As discussed
later, FDIC also wanted to review loan files to assess WaMu's compliance with new
nontraditional mortgage guidance.

Finally, in granting the FDIC’s 2008 back-up examination request, OTS was concerned about
FDIC’s request for nine examiners, indicating that it was a heavy staffing request given OTS’s
on-site presence and reiterating that FDIC was not to actively participate in the examination.
Once again, OTS did not allow FDIC examiners to review WaMu loan files.
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The terms of the Interagency Agreement and the OTS interpretation of requisite risk necessary to
invoke back-up examination authority served as roadblocks in FDIC’s ability to assess WaMu’s
risk. In the end, the information obtained from invoking back-up examination authority did not
prompt FDIC to challenge OTS’s composite rating of WaMu until mid-2008.

FDIC LIDI Monitoring Reports Did Not Prompt the FDIC to Challenge OTS
CAMELS Ratings of WaMu until 2008, and That Challenge Met with OTS
Resistance

FDIC did not challenge the OTS CAMELS composite rating for WaMu in any year except for
the composite 3 rating assigned by OTS in July 2008. FDIC did not challenge those prior ratings
despite LIDI ratings decreases because FDIC believed the CAMELS composite ratings were
appropriate. FDIC’s rationale was that the risks in WaMu’s portfolio had not manifested
themselves as losses and nonperforming loans, and therefore did not impact WaMu’s financial
statements. Further, FDIC examiners explained that no one could have predicted the precipitous
fall in home prices and the complete shut-down of the secondary market. In essence, FDIC
considered WaMu’s potential risk in the LIDI rating but did not consider that future risk to be
significant enough to be reflected in the CAMELS composite rating.

FDIC has a protocol in place for interagency CAMELS rating disagreements. The protocol
provides a hierarchy where differences are to be resolved beginning at the examiner level and
then referred to the next more senior level of each respective agency.® If the disagreement
reaches the level of the FDIC Associate Director of the Division of Supervision and Consumer
Protection (DSC) without a satisfactory resolution, the DSC Director, in consultation with the
FDIC Chairman, will make the final decision concerning FDIC’s rating.

A May 8, 2008 email provided the first indication that FDIC disagreed with the OTS’s plan to
assign WaMu a composite 3 rating at the completion of the OTS examination in July 2008. The
primary area of concern was that FDIC believed that WaMu needed an additional $5 billion in
capital to weather potential portfolio losses. The FDIC capital projection was based upon a
capital needs model that FDIC developed at the request of the FDIC Chairman in 2007 after the
near collapse of Countrywide. The model was different from traditional FDIC analysis as it
focused on forward-looking, long-term capital requirements similar to a private sector purchase
analysis.

FDIC regional officials followed the disagreement protocol and provided a written memorandum
outlining FDIC’s support for a composite 4 rating for WaMu to the OTS Regional Director on
August 11, 2008. Discussions were held at the regional level on August 28, 2008, but regional
management for FDIC and OTS continued to disagree on the ratings.

On September 8, 2008, the FDIC DSC Director sent an email to the OTS Chief Operating
Officer communicating FDIC’s intention fo rate WaMu a composite 4, including a copy of

' EDIC Case Managers Manual, Section 3.4 (VD).
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FDIC’s rationale for the rating, and requesting a meeting to discuss the issue before September
12, 2008. The OTS Chief Operating Officer responded,

1 believe the OTS and FDIC staff has met a number of times to discuss
differing views and, until this email and the very recent communication
from the FDIC Chairman, was under the impression that this item was still
under active discussion between our regional staff. Our Regional Director
has not received any written communication from his FDIC counterpart
that a final rating difference exists between the regional offices. Asa
consequence, our regional staff has not been afforded the opportunity to
counter any FDIC views in a written response. If my understanding is
accurate, it seems that we should insist that regional protocol be followed
before you and I attempt to reconcile differences.

That same day, the FDIC Regional Director again sent the same information to OTS that was
provided on August 11, 2008 justifying the ratings downgrade.

On September 10, 2008, FDIC decided to speak directly to the newly installed WaMu CEO and
notify him that FDIC intended to rate WaMu a composite 4. OTS and FDIC officials
subsequently made presentations to the FDIC Board on September 16, 2008 to support their
ratings conclusions although the presentations were not a requirement according to the protocol.
As the dialogue between OTS and FDIC was ongoing, WaMu continued to have its borrowing
capacity limited by the Federal Home Loan Bank; raised its certificate of deposit rates higher
than competitors to gain depositors; and continued to experience significant deposit withdrawals.
FDIC and OTS were monitoring liquidity, but to put things in perspective, the financial market
was in turmoil at that time. FDIC had just closed one of the largest institutions in its history,
IndyMac, and OTS examiners told us FDIC expressed concern about the FDIC’s ability to
handle 2 WaMu failure as WaMu’s assets were ten times larger than IndyMac’s. During this
same period, the Federal Reserve released a statement that the downside risks to growth had
increased appreciably; Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were placed under government
conservatorship; and there were rumors of problems with Merrill Lynch and Lehman Brothers.

During this time, however, the OTS and FDIC had competing interests. As noted by former
FDIC Chairman William Isaac, OTS as primary regulator wanted to rehabilitate WaMu and keep
it in business while FDIC, on the other hand, as an insurer wanted to resolve the institution’s
problems as soon as possible to maintain the value of WaMu in order to reduce the cost of any
failure.”! In the end, both FDIC and OTS agreed to change WaMu’s composite rating to a 4 on
September 18, 2008, only 7 days prior to WaMu’s failure. The ratings change had no impact on
WaMu’s deposit insurance premium prior to failure.

"' Statements from former FDIC Chairman William Isaac, The Wall Street Journal, August 19, 2008 describing the
roles of primary regulator and insurer.

11
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The FDIC Elected Not to Invoke Its Enforcement Authority against WaMu in
2008 Because of Procedural Hurdles

Section 8(t) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act allows FDIC to take enforcement action
against an institution in the same manner as if FDIC were the primary regulator, provided certain
procedural requirements are fulfilled.'? In the case of an OTS-supervised institution, FDIC must
request that OTS take action by providing a formal written recommendation to OTS and
allowing OTS 60 days to take action. If such action is not taken, FDIC must petition the FDIC
Board to take action. The FDIC Board membership includes the Director of the OTS. FDIC can
take action without first requesting OTS action in certain exigent circumstances; however, the
FDIC Board must agree to such action. Enforcement actions under this authority generally
include formal actions that carry civil money penalties and are enforceable in federal court.
FDIC guidance notes that FDIC should take action under that authority when there is an
“immediate near-term risk to the fund or unsafe or unsound conditions or practices are noted
without appropriate action by the PFR.”® From a procedural perspective, DSC officials
indicated that a number of cumbersome steps would be required to commence a Section 8(t)
enforcement action.

In July 2008, FDIC believed WaMu should be rated a composite 4 and that WaMu needed

$5 billion in capital to withstand potential future losses. At that time, OTS had a Memorandum
of Understanding (MOU) underway to address issues at WaMu but did not issue the MOU to
WaMu until September 7, 2008. An MOU is an informal agreement that does not fall within
FDIC’s formal enforcement action authority noted above. Given OTS’s reluctance to issue the
MOU along with the significant risks at WaMu, FDIC could have taken enforcement action to
remedy or prevent unsafe or unsound practices. FDIC Washington officials told us they briefly
contemplated enforcement action, but given the procedural hurdles involved in invoking such
action and the time required to implement an action, it was easier to use moral suasion to attempt
to convince OTS to change its rating. According to OTS guidance, there is a strong presumption
that institutions with 4 ratings warrant formal enforcement actions; therefore, convincing OTS to
rate WaMu a 4 would have the same effect.

Evaluation Recommendations and Observations

We recommended that the FDIC Chairman, in consultation with the FDIC Board of Directors,
take the following actions:

1. Information Access — Revisit the Interagency Agreement governing information access and
back-up examination authority for large insured depository institutions to ensure it provides
FDIC with sufficient access to information necessary to assess risk to the DIF.

2. Deposit Insurance — Revisit the FDIC Deposit Insurance Regulations to ensure those
regulations provide FDIC with the flexibility needed to make its own independent
determination of an institution’s risk to the DIF rather than relying too heavily on the primary
regulator’s assignment of CAMELS ratings and capital levels.

Z12U.8.C. §1818(5).
3 FDIC Case Manager Manual, Enforcement Actions, page 8-2.
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FDIC concurred with both of our recommendations. FDIC is actively working with other
primary regulators to enhance information sharing including revising the Interagency Agreement
to provide FDIC with greater access to information about risk at other large depository
institutions (institutions with assets greater than $10 billion). FDIC anticipates that agreements
can be reached by December 31, 2010 and in the interim, FDIC is using all available authority to
acquire timely access to information related to risks posed by financial institutions to the DIF.
FDIC is also developing a new proposed deposit insurance pricing system for large banks that
does not rely on external CAMELS and capital ratings. FDIC anticipates that this change will be
implemented by December 31, 2010.

We note that WaMau is our second review of FDIC’s monitoring and insurance assessment for
large non-FDIC supervised institutions. As previously mentioned, we issued an evaluation
report on FDIC’s monitoring of IndyMac on August 27, 2009." We found that a number of the
issues we noted with FDIC’s monitoring and insurance assessments for IndyMac were also
present at WaMu.

First, the terms of the Interagency Agreement governing information sharing and back-up
examinations require that FDIC prove a requisite level of risk at an institution — heightened risk,
material deteriorating conditions, or adverse developments — in order for the primary regulator to
grant FDIC access to the institution’s information. The level of risk is largely based on an
institution’s CAMELS composite ratings and regulatory capital level.

For large institutions such as WaMu, that by their sheer size pose a high risk to the DIF, we
believe FDIC should not have to prove a particular level of risk to the primary regulator to obtain
access to the institution’s information, as the institution’s risk of failure and the resulting
potential impact on the DIF should be enough to allow FDIC access to information it needs to
assess risk of loss. As shown in our WaMu report and our report on IndyMac, OTS’s consistent
assignment of a CAMELS composite 2 ratings for those institutions until their near failure raises
questions about the reliability of CAMELS ratings as predictors of risk to the DIF.

The Interagency Agreement was intended to balance the needs of the FDIC against the
regulatory burden on an institution of having two regulators duplicating examinations. One key
principle of the Interagency Agreement is that FDIC must rely, to the fullest extent possible, on
the work of the primary regulator. In practical terms, the Interagency Agreement appeared to
drive a wedge between the OTS and FDIC, as attempts by FDIC to review information at WaMu
were seen as an affront to the capabilities of OTS examiners. We believe FDIC must have
sufficient and timely access to information at all large insured depository institutions (defined by
FDIC as having assets of $10 billion or more) in order to properly assess risk and appropriately
price deposit insurance. We also believe that it may not be in the best interest of FDIC to place
too much reliance on the ability of the primary regulator to assess risk to the DIF. Ultimately,
the DIF, which is backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, and thus the American
taxpayer, is responsible for absorbing an institution’s failure, not the primary regulator.

* FDIC OIG Report, The FDIC’s Role in the Monitoring of IndyMac Bank, EVAL-09-006, August 2009,
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Second, at both IndyMac and WaMu, the CAMELS ratings and capital levels drove FDIC’s
assessment of the institutions’ risk to the DIF and the institutions’ deposit insurance premium
computation despite indications in the LIDI reports that the risk posed by those institutions was
higher than that indicated by the CAMELS ratings. We believe there is currently too much
reliance on the CAMELS rating for the purpose of assessing the risk that an institution poses to
the DIF. At both WaMu and IndyMac, FDIC examiners generally agreed with their OTS
counterparts that composite CAMELS 2 ratings were appropriate despite high levels of risky
loan products and inadequate underwriting practices because those loans were performing and
the institutions were profitable. Such an analysis may be insufficient for assessing risk for
purposes of insuring deposits, as those loans may potentially cause future losses. FDIC must
have significant flexibility to take into account more than CAMELS ratings and regulatory
capital levels to adequately price an institution’s risk to the DIF.,

Response to Other Issues

We note in your invitation letter that you inquired about the FDIC’s interpretation of the
Interagency Guidance on Nontraditional Mortgage Product Risks (Guidance) issued by the
federal financial institution regulatory agencies in October 2006. The Guidance specifies safety
and soundness standards and practices to assist financial institutions with managing the risks
associated with the growing use of nontraditional mortgages (NTM), or affordability products.
Among such standards and practices are: :

» Qualifying borrowers’ repayment capacity at the fully indexed rate of interest;

+ Evaluating borrowers’ financial capacity to repay the debt until final maturity, including
any balance increase that may accrue as a result of negative amortization;

» Avoidance of sole dependency on collateral value or ability to refinance;

+  Strong quality control and risk mitigation in the area of risk layering, including high loan
to value, low doc features, or stated income loans.

Our evaluation report does not directly address WaMu's compliance with the Guidance.
However, the report discusses in detail certain aspects of the NTM guidance (e.g., WaMu’s high-
risk loan products such as Option ARM loans with negative amortization and payment shock
potential and oversight of third party originators). Further, the source of confrontation between
FDIC and OTS over FDIC's request to review WaMu loan files in 2007 and 2008 noted above
centered on the FDIC's concern that WaMu was not following the NTM guidance. FDIC was
attempting to gain access to WaMu loan files for the purpose of assessing WaMu's compliance
with the NTM guidance.

Regarding whether the Guidance was mandatory or enforceable, FDIC viewed the Guidance as a
best practice, or expectation of controls that banks should have in place, rather than a rule or
regulation. However, substantial non-compliance with the guidance would influence the FDIC's
view of management and could impact the CAMELS ratings. Further, safety and soundness
issues related to NTM lending could lead to enforcement actions.

Thank you again for allowing me to testify today. I appreciate the Subcommittee’s interest in
our work and look forward to continuing to effectively and efficiently conduct work on behalf of
the Congress, the FDIC, and the American public. This concludes my testimony. I welcome the
opportunity to answer any questions that you might have.
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Good morning, Mr. Chairman, and Members of the Subcommittee,
my name is John Reich. Iretired in February 2009 after a 49 year career that
included 25 years as a community bankers in Illinois and Florida — 12 years
as CEO,; followed by nearly 12 years in the U.S. Senate as a staff member
with former Senator Connie Mack — the last three years as his chief of staff;
and eight (8) years from January 15, 2001 to February 27, 2009 as a member
of the Board of Directors of the FDIC that included five (5) years as an
inside director serving as Vice Chairman. In 2005, the White House asked if
I would move to the Office of Thrift Supervision to serve as its Director, and
on August 5, 2005, I took the Oath as OTS Director and served in that
capacity for three and one-half years until I retired on February 27, 2009.

When asked by the White House to move to OTS, I agreed to do so -
with some level of concern. The banking industry was at the peak of a six
year boom, recording successively increasing earnings records, and a decline
seemed likely. In addition, OTS staffing numbers had exi)erienced a decline
in recent years, with no new hiring at any level, and a diminishing priority
had been given to the compliance function, partially evidenced by the
elimination of senior level Compliance and Consumer Protection

management positions in Washington, DC,
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At the beginning of my tenure as OTS Director, the agency had 899
employees, 4 Regional Offices, and no centralized Compliance and
Consumer Protection function in the Washington, DC headquarters office. I
spent a good portion of my first year becoming familiar with staff and
structure throughout the agency, initiating a number of changes. I learned
very early that OTS had operated its Regions with a high degree of
decentralization and autonomy. This presented challenges with achieving
consistency in carrying out our responsibilities, and we sought durir;g the
duration of my tenure to change the culture to more standardized procedures
with greater direction and leadership from the headquarters office.

Much of this effort was facilitated by regular meetings of senior
regional staff with senior Washington, DC management, usually, but not
always, including me. These Regional Management Group (RMG) meetings
occurred approximately 6 times a year, rotating among Regional offices
around the country and the Washington, DC office. The meetings generally
lasted two to two and one-half days, and the Agenda almost always included
briefings from each Region on the current status of high risk cases. Thus,
Washington Mutual Bank (WaMu) was formally discussed several times a

year by OTS management, and in fact, during the last year of its existence,
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was discussed informally on virtually a daily basis by Washington, DC
management.
The Failure of Washington Mutual Bank
There are three points I would like to make concerning the failure of
WaMu on September 25, 2008:

1. Though Asset Quality was a growing and continuing concern at
WaMu, this was a liquidity failure, not a capital failure, brought on
because of a $16.4 billion run on deposits, during the 10-day period
preceding September 25", with zero cost to the Deposit Insurance _
Fund or to taxpayers.

2. A majority of WaMu’s mortgages were in California and Florida —
two of the states hit with the most severe price declines.

3. WaMu suffered with a lack of diversity in its asset portfolio because
of restrictions imposed by the HOLA statute under which savings
institutions operate. Though they attempted asset diversity, all of the
categories were in real estate related loans.

The liquidity failure at WaMu was induced by the decline in public
confidence in large financial institutions, brought on by a series of prior

significant events in 2008:

the March failure of Bear Stearns;

the July failure of IndyMac,

c. the early September government takeover of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac;

d. the mid-September coliapse of Lehman and bailout of AIG;

e. the September 21% weekend approval by the Fed for Goldman
Sachs and Morgan Stanley to become bank holding companies.

f. On September 25th, WaMu was closed by OTS with zero cost

to the Deposit Insurance Fund or to taxpayers.

op

These events were followed by:
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a. The September 29™ acquisition of Wachovia announced by Citi

b. The October 3™ acquisition of Wachovia announced by Wells
Fargo

c. The October 3" announcement by the FDIC of an increase in
deposit insurance to $250,000 per depositor — an event which
might have prevented the closure of WaMu if it had occurred a
couple of weeks earlier.

d. The November 24™ announcement of a government bailout of
Citigroup (not the first, by the way)

Had WaMu’s liquidity crises occurred 2 weeks later, there would have
been no failure, as the FDIC’s October 3™ announcement of an increase in
deposit insurance to $250,000 per depositor would likely have mitigated the
run on deposits which took place. Whether there would have been a later
capital failure is pure conjecture. Furthemore, though I do not personally
support the “Too Big to Fail” public policy which presently exists, the
informal definition of which in reality was acknowledged and expanded
when regulators publicly mandated a capital stress test of the 19 largest
institutions in the country in 2009 with over $100 Million in Total Assets —
WaMu again would have been prevented from failure. Under an
inconsistent and moving public policy, WaMu was in fact a systemically
important institution and should have béen treated as such. It is noteworthy

that Secretary Hank Paulson in his recent book, On The Brink, states (on

page 293) that... “I see that, in the middle of a panic, this was a mistake.
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WaMu, the sixth-biggest bank in the country, was systemically important.”
1 agree with Secretary Paulson’s revised view.
WaMu and OTS and Staffing

During my tenure at OTS, I believe WaMu at its peak size represented
approximately 23% of the Totai Assets in institutions supervised by OTS,
and its assessment revenue represented approximately 12 to 13% of OTS’s
Total Assessment Revenue.

As Director of the agency, I never ever felt beholden to ‘preserve’
WaMu or any other chartered entity under our supervision for the purpose of
preserving OTS’s revenue stream or its standing as a separate regulatory
agency.

I’m fully aware there is a belief - long held by some - that a
supervising agency dependent on those it supervises for significant
components of its revenue stream, may tend to supervise or administer with
a lighter touch in order to preserve the future of the supervising agency. 1
understand why that belief is held — for in Material Loss Reviews and case
studies throughout all of the Federal Banking Agencies over the years,
includit;g OTS, OCC, FDIC, and the Fed, there are examples cited indicating
that examination information was known and recommendations made by

examiners calling attention to serious weaknesses which if not corrected
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could jeopardize an institution’s safety and soundness. In a number of
instances in recent years, including WaMu, these prophecies came true,
though in WaMu’s case, [ strongly maintain the immediate cause of OTS’s
decision to close the institution and appoint the FDIC as receiver was not a
depletion of capital, but a depletion of liquidity.

Some opinions to the contrary, I firmly believe that size of an
institution and its proportion of an agency’s revenue stream are irrelevant
factors. It is also an insult to the integrity of nearly 5,000 bank examiners
and professional regulators around the country to suggest their priorities and
motivations would be anything other than to provide for the safety and
soundness of our nation’s financial institutions. Anyone aware of the psyche
of the typical career bank examiner or career regulator would understand this
view. These are dedicated public servants committed to their mission, and
are often described by bankers as overly-zealous.

OTS, though a small agency, had sufficient resources dedicated to the
examination of WaMu, including resident examiners and assigned
specialists. In 2005, at the time I became Director of OTS, the agency was
performing full-scope annual ‘point-in-time’ examinations. In 2007, OTS

moved to a ‘continuous’ examination process, issuing ‘findings memoranda”
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to bank management during the year, and including these as necessary in a
final Report of Examination.

With regard to Agency staffing, we restored a hiring and internal
professional development program, and over the period 2005 to 2009, with
approximately 45 to 50 retirements per year, OTS recruited well over 200
new employeeé, and total staffing stood at approximately 1,030 employees
at the time of my retirement, with an approved staffing level of 1,060. In
addition, we almost immediately restored and staffed a centralized
Compliance and Consumef Protection management function in Washington,
DC, coordinating compliance and consumer protection through Regional
Compliance and Consumer Protection managers and gave increased
emphasis on compliance and consumer protection examinations. Many new
hires were directed into the compliance examiner training program.

OTS Supervision of WaMu

I believe the record (Reports of E?(amination) and any external
Inspector General reviews of OTS’s work will show that OTS examiners
were diligent and rigorous in the conduct of their work and in identifying
matters requiring attention. Many issues and weaknesses were brought to
bank management’s attention during the examination process,. not waiting

for the production of a Report, but communicated through periodic
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memorandums which contained findings classified as Criticisms,
Recommendations, or Observations.

Asset Quality was an underlying concern at WaMu monitored
contingously by OTS examinefs and highlighted in Reports of Examination.
As worldwide liquidity markets crashed in August, 2007, considerable losses
developed in WaMu’s loan portfolio because of stated income, low doc and
no doc loans. For some time I had been concerned about these types of
loans. As a former banker, these concepts were anathema to me; having
grown up in an era when loans were made, regardless of type, based upon
the 5 C’s of Credit: Character, Collateral, Capacity, Capital, and Conditions.
My greatest regret as a regulator is that I did not act to eliminate these types
of loans. I was influenced by the argument that these types of loans had
been successfully underwritten and administered by institutions on the West
Coast of the United States for more than 20 years with minimal loss
experience. As simplistic as it may seem, regardless of size of institution, if
the 5 C’s of credit administration had been followed in the past, and if they
are utilized as fundamental components of lending policies in the future, any
meltdown such as we have recently experienced will be far less traumatic.

Long Beach Mortgage Company (LBMC) was a source of concern

from the bottom to the top of OTS management because of its subprime

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00156 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.050



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

143
mortgage practices. My recollection is that OTS insisted that certain
underwriting improvements take place before WaMu was permitted to
integrate LBMC into the bank. In the second half of 2007, WaMu ceased
making subprime loans, though — in my recollectién - not before this
component of their portfolio represented a little over 10% of their entire

portfolio.

Relationship with FDIC

As previously mentioned, I spent five of my eight years as a regulator
as an inside Director within the FDIC, serving as Vice Chairman for several
years, and as Acting Chairman for several weeks during 2001 prior to
Donald Powell taking the Oath as Chairman. During this period, the failure
of Superior Bank FSB, Hinsdale, Illinois occurred. The institution was
supervised by OTS, and it became necessary for me to make the then-OTS
Director aware that OTS’s Regional Office in Chicago had declined FDIC’s
request to participate in a joint examination. My call resulted in the reversal
of OTS’s decision, but it was too late to preserve the institution. I cite this
experience to indicate that I am well aware of the FDIC’s need for timely
examination visits and information, and am generally predisposed to agree to

such requests.

10
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Part of the tension is attributable to the composition of the FDIC
Board - currently five members, with three inside Director positions and two
outside Director positions — the Comptroller of the Currency and the
Director of the OTS. 1 believe a diverse board is an asset. There are
occasional differences of opinion on policy issues which come before the
FDIC Board resulting in a 3-2 split. The inside directors may think the
outside directors are viewing issues from their own independent agency’s
parochial point of view and not from the standpoint of what is in the best
interests of the FDIC and its Deposit Insurance Fund. Conversely, the
outside directors may believe the inside directors view issﬁes from an overly
narrow perspective and do not always appreciate the potential for unintended
consequences and negative impacts on institutions the FDIC does not
supervise and about which they may not have an informed perspective.

Some Members of Congress seem to believe that disagreement among
regulators is unseemly and an indication the process is broken and needs to
be changed. I could not disagree more with that view. Like the U.S.
Congress, differences of opinion are desirable, productive, and usually result
in the best policy being adopted.

In the exercise of its backup supervisory authority, the FDIC has the

unfettered right to examine any 3, 4,or 5 rated institution. For institutions

11
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rated 2 or higher, the FDIC must have the consent of the primary federal
regulator in order to perform or participate in an examination of an
institution that it does not directly supervise. These backup policies ‘and
practices exist for basically four reasons in my opinion:

1. The statutory authority of the primary supervisory gives that
supervisor the responsibility for the oversight of the institution.

2. The presence of another supervisory authority creates room for
confusion among the staff of the financial institution over what
agency really is in charge.

3. Past experience has highlighted situations that occur among
“financial institutions over the additional regulatory burden
presented when an additional agency’s staff is on site making
requests, sometimes duplicative.

4. Finally, the presence of FDIC staff in an institution for which it is
not the primary federal regulator heightens concern and alarm
within an institution and a community if it becomes known that the
FDIC is on site.

Conclusion

WaMu failed because of an acute run on deposits totaling $16.4
Billion during the 10 days preceding September 25, 2008, resulting in
backup liquidity lines at the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle, the Federal
Home Loan Bank of San Francisco, and the Federal Reserve Bank of San
Francisco being reduced or pulled. Its financial condition was exacerbated

over the years by the fact it operated under an obsolete HOLA statute which

essentially mandates two-thirds of a savings institution’s assets be invested

12
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in real estate related loans. Hence by definition, a savings institution’s
portfolio is a concentration of assets in what has now proven to be a
vulnerable component of our economy — the housing market.

In my opinion, the current thrift charter is obsolete. Savings
institutions need the flexibility for greater asset diversity, and Congress
needs to provide for that capability in any reform legislation. In addition,
the competitive landscape needs to be leveled from a regulatory point of
view. We cannot continue to have an environment where highly regulated
institutions compete against lesser or unregulated entities for the same or

similar financial products.

13
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ORAL STATEMENT OF DARREL DOCHOW BEFORE THE SENATE
PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS ON APRIL 16,2010

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Coburn, and distinguished Subcommittee
members. 1 have a short oral statement to read into the record that 1 believe will aid the
Subcommittee’s inquiry.

By way of background, I retired from the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS) in March,
2009 after a 36 plus year career as a bank examiner and regulator. I began my career as
an Assistant National Bank Examiner with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
(OCC) in 1972. I examined national banks and rose to the position of Assistant Chief
National Bank Examiner in Washington, DC during my 13 year OCC service. In 1985, 1
became a senior regulator with the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle and subsequently
with the Office of Regulatory Activities. Ibecame an OTS employee with its creation in
1989 and served in various regional examination and supervisory capacities, working out
of the Seattle, Washington office and reporting to various regional line managers and
ultimately to the Regional Director. I was promoted to Regional Director, West Region
in September 2007 and thereafter reported directly to OTS career bank supervision
executives in Washington, DC.

Over the course of my 36 years of public service I saw some of the nation’s more notable
financial and economic crisis and worked very closely with sister regulatory agencies
such as the Federal Reserve, FDIC, OCC and state regulatory authorities. I also saw
agency policy changes in response to such crisis. These experiences, grounded by my
years as a bank examiner, helped define my approach toward bank supervision.

I have always believed that interagency cooperation is both appropriate and beneficial.
As an examiner, I found that when fellow examiners from any of the agencies understood
the same set of facts, there was usually agreement on the bank’s condition and
appropriate regulatory corrective action. In addition, analysis is often improved by
collaboration and constructive critique. I also found that it is critical to be factual and
analytical so that conclusions are supported and regulatory actions are appropriate. |
generally considered the seemingly unlimited FDIC staffing as a welcome aid to the OTS
West Region’s limited resources. As Regional Director, my predecessor and 1 followed
the direction given us by OTS career executives in Washington DC and the written
Interagency protocols governing FDIC participation in examinations.

Bank supervision is grounded in law, regulation and agency policies, but can involve
significant judgment and discretion. My approach was to have open discussion of
examination and supervisory strategy, findings and proposed supervisory actions at all
levels of OTS, and with the FDIC on higher risk institutions. We conducted regular
briefings and case discussions including examiners, regional managers and agency
executives, and obtained direction or concurrence on proposed next steps and actions.
Supervision was a collaborative process between the Regions and Washington DC.
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Examination findings and ratings typically form the basis for bank supervisory actions. 1
worked vigorously with other Regions and Washington DC to have highly talented and
experienced examiners assigned to West Region institutions posing significant risk. I
consider the OTS examiners to be some of the very best. They are well trained, highly
experienced, extremely hard working, independent in thought, and were supported by me
and some of the finest specialist from the capital markets, mortgage banking, accounting,
appraisal, legal, and fair lending disciplines. Ialso welcomed Washington DC
participation in examinations and supervision. I expected line managers that were
responsible for daily supervisory oversight to meet with examiners, bank executives, risk
managers, auditors and directors on a regular basis. In this regard, I also attended board
meetings with the region’s largest and most troubled institutions whenever possible. |
believe in supporting examiners and their conclusions, and in taking supervisory action in
accordance with agency policy to address weaknesses.

The then OTS philosophy toward supervisory actions was that they should be firm but
fair. Generally, the prevailing OTS practice was that supervisory action should be the
least formal necessary to obtain corrective action from management. I have seen many
instances where a simple request from an examiner or supervisor was effective in
obtaining timely correction. To help ensure supervisory enforcement actions were taken
in accordance with OTS policy, the West Region has long followed a practice of having a
committee and/or executive review of possible enforcement action situations. OTS
Washington DC participated in most Enforcement Committee reviews and was always
consulted. National tracking systems for following enforcement actions, examination
findings, and violations were in various states refinement, development or completion
during my time at OTS. ’

Bank supervision is a bard job and hindsight is a good teacher. There are things that [
wish I could change. I am deeply saddened when an institution fails because of the
impact felt by all customers, communities, employees, and other stakeholders including
taxpayers. Over my years in public service, I worked very hard to do the very best job
possible in accordance with agency policies and practices.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman and distinguished Subcommittee members for allowing me to
read my brief oral statement. I will do my best to answer all your questions.
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Opening Statement of Lawrence D. Carter
National Examiner, Office of Thrift Supervision
Washington, D.C., April 16,2010

Good morning Chairman Levin, Ranking Member Coburn, and distinguished
members of the Subcommittee. Thank you for the opportunity to testify on matters
concerning the supervision of Washington Mutual Bank, known more widely as

“WaMu”, headquartered in Seattle, Washington.

I am presently a National Examiner for the Office of Thrift Supervision, or
“OTS”. Twould like to tell you a little about my background so that you understand how

my experience underlies my testimony today.

My college education includes-an associate degree in business administration
from Northern Virginia Community College, which I received, magna cum laude, in
1980. I then moved to California and obtained a bachelor of science degree in economics
from the University of California at Riverside in 1983. In 1987, [ graduated from

California State University, Los Angeles, with an MBA, specializing in finance.

While in graduate school I worked in private industry, including a sﬁnt with the
Trust Company of the West, or “TCW”. At TCW I was involved in investment account
management for pension fund clients. After receiving my MBA in mid-1987, I went to
work for the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco, where I originally worked as a

supervisory analyst. Shortly thereafter, in 1989, I became an examiner for the OTS,
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when the examination functions of the Federal Home Loan Bank Board were transferred
to that organization as part of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and

Enforcement Act of 1989.

I have served in lead examination roles for many years at many large and small
savings institutions, some of which were troubled. I also served in support roles,
performing in all the “CAMELS” areas of the exam, capital adequacy, asset quality,
management, earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity to market risk. I'have supervised on-site
staffs of 70 or more examiners, including the generalist safety and soundness examiners,
compliance examiners, information technology or “I'T” examiners, accountants, capital
markets examiners, and Washington-based quantitative specialists well-versed in the
emerging Basel requirements. Throughout my career I worked closely and effectively
with my counterparts from the FDIC, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the

Federal Reserve, and state regulators.

It should be noted that, with few exceptions, OTS examiners do not work
exclusively examining a single savings institution, but will be involved with a number of
different institutions over the course of a year. Examinations of small banks, as you
might guess, take considerably less examination resources than do large institutions, such

as WaMu.

From 1999 through 2002, I was the “loan portfolioc manager” on the annual

‘WaMu examinations. The loan portfolio manager is responsible for overseeing the Asset
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Quality, or “A” component in CAMELS. In this role, I implemented a statistical
sampling process for our review of WaMu'’s homogeneous loan portfolios, which
included the home loan portfolio, and I oversaw the more judgmental sampling and loan
review activities for other types of loans in multiple geographic locations. From 2003
through 2006, I was the dedicated Examiner-in-Charge (EIC) for WaMu. As EIC for
WaMu, I was responsible for exam scoping and planning prior to our examinations or
field visits, overseeing the work of all examiners and managing communication of
findings during the examination process, and then preparing the examination report and
leading “exit” meetings with management and the board of directors after the end of an
examination. Of course, I performed these responsibiliﬁes under the guidance and
oversight of my superiors, both within the region and in Washington, D.C., as well as
with the support of numerous senior examiners and specialists. Late in my tenure as
EIC, I worked to develop our continuous examination proc;ess for WaMu, tailored from

the large bank supervision programs of the OCC and the Federal Reserve.

As EIC at WaMu, I supervised an experienced team of examiners and supervisory
professionals that thoroughly analyzed the issues and challenges concerning this very
large financial institution, I worked closely with region and Washington office staff to
resolve complex policy issues as they arose. Qur role on the examination was to identify
risks and regulatory issues, discuss those risks and issues with senior OTS management,
and then require appropriate cotrective actions by WaMu management to address those

risks and issues in a manner that promoted the safe and sound operation of the institution.

Two years after I ended my term as EIC at WaMu, the institution failed. Ishould
note that I have no special personal insight into the final days of WaMu, but I would be
pleased to share with the Subcommittee my observations and experiences gained from

my 23 years of regulating savings institutions, and answer any of your questions.
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Statement of Mr. John Corston
FDIC Acting Deputy Director
Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection, Complex Financial Institution Branch
U.S. Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations

April 16,2010

Chairman Levin, Ranking Member Coburn and members of the Subcommittee, 1
appreciate the opportunity to testify on my role with the FDIC regarding Washington
Mutual Bank (WaMu). On behalf of the Corporation, we have submitted to the
Subcommittee a written statement that responds to specific issues that were requested by
the Subcommittee. In addition, allow me to briefly introduce myself and my roles and
responsibilities at the FDIC. Iam John Corston, Acting Deputy Director for the FDIC’s
Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection’s Complex Financial Institution
Branch in Washington, DC. 1 have had a leading role in this branch since 2005, after
working in three different regions in various capacities related to bank supervision. 1

started as a field examiner with the FDIC in 1987.

An element of my duties as Acting Deputy Director of the Complex Financial
Institutions Branch is to oversee the Large Insured Depository Institution program, also
known as the LIDI program. Broadly, the LIDI program provides forward looking
assessment of insured depository institutions over $10 billion, provides highly
experienced technical experts to provide on-site support for thé regions, operates a

continuous presence at the 8 largest insured institutions, and assists in developing and
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recommending strategy to the Division Director and the Chairman regarding specific

institutions.

With regard Washington Mutual, I worked with technical experts on my staff in
the Complex Financial Institution Branch and coordinated with the region to evaluate the
CAMELS and LIDI ratings and supervisory strategy, including enforcement actions.
While the region is primarily responsible for these areas, input from the Complex
Financial Institutions Branch played a significant role in the decision-making process. I
also worked with my Washington-based counterpart at the Office of Thrift Supervision
(OTS) on LIDIs, including WaMu, to resolve issues regarding the FDIC’s actions or

conclusions that were not resolved at the regional level.

One of the roles of the FDIC’s Complex Financial Institutions Branch is to
identify risks that impact large institutions, including high-risk lending strategies such as
took place at Washington Mutual. To do this, we have technical experts on-site at
institutions we have identified through the LIDI review process that are considered to
possess higher levels of risk. For instance, we placed staff on-site at Countrywide,
IndyMac and WaMu to identify high-risk activities and measure that impact on their
financial condition. My branch’s responsibility is to examine a financial institution to
gain an awareness of the speed in-‘which the institution could deteriorate, determine its
sensitivity to market events, and analyze its exposure to loss so that appropriate and

timely responses can be developed.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify and I am pleased to answer any questions.
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Statement of Mr. George Doerr
FDIC Deputy Regional Director for San Francisco Region
Before U.S. Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations

April 16,2010

Chairman Levin, Ranking Member Coburn and members of the Subcommittee, I
appreciate the opportunity to testify on my role with the FDIC in the supervision of
Washington Mutual Bank (WaMu). I am George Doerr, Deputy Regional Director for »
the FDIC in the San Francisco Region, a position I have held since June 2007. 1 have
been with the FDIC for almost 40 years. From September 2062 until June of 2007, I was
Assistant Regional Director for the FDIC’s San Francisco Regional Office. The San
Francisco region covers 11 states: Washington, Oregon, California, Arizona, Nevada,
Utah, Idaho, Wyoming, Montana, Alaska, and Hawaii - in addition to the territories of
Guam, American Samoa and Micronesia. Among my responsibilities was our Regional
Large Bank Program, which included WaMu.

The three matters the Subcommittee asked me to be prepared to address with
respect to WaMu are (1) Nontraditional Mortgage Guidance; (2) WaMu’s cohdition as
assessed through the “CAMELS” ratings; and (3) the FDIC’s Large Insured Depository
Institutions Program and ratings, also referred to as the LIDI program. On behalf of the
Corporation, we have provided discussion of these three matters in the written statement
submitted to the Subcommittee.

‘Thank you again for the opportunity to testify. I am pleased to respond to any of

your questions.
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STATEMENT OF THE

FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

on

EXAMINING THE ROLE OF REGULATORS IN THE SUPERVISION OF
WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK 2004-2008

before the

PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS
COMMITTEE ON HOMELAND SECURITY AND GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS
U.S. SENATE

April 16,2010 ~
Room 106, Dirksen Senate Office Building
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Chairman Levin, Ranking Member Coburn and members of the Subcommittee,
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) appreciates the opportunity to testify
regarding the causes and consequences of the recent financial crisis and specifically the
role of regulators in their supervision of Washington Mutual Bank (WaMu). The FDIC
shares thé Subcommittee’s concerns about the issues that it has identified, particularly
with respect to large and complex insured depository institutions that pose significant risk
to the Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF). In accordance with your invitation letters, our
testimony will address the FDIC’s role as back-up regulator of WaMu, our examination
and enforcement policies and practices for large insured depository institutions, the level
of cooperation between the FDIC and the primary federal regulator for WaMu, the Office
of Thrift Supervision (OTS), and legislative and other changes to assess and respond to

safety and soundness risks posed by large financial institutions.

Background

The WaMu failure must be understood in the context of events that became the
catalyst for the broader financial crisis. During the years preceding the crisis, a number
of mortgage lenders and originators of mortgage backed securities, including WaMu,
became attracted to a variety of high-risk mortgage structures that enabled them to grow
revenue and market share. Repayment or refinancing of many of these mortgages
depended on a continuation of robustly increasing home prices. When home prices began
to turn down, these institutions’ business models could not withstand the resulting

stresses. Virtually all of the large bank and nonbank mortgage lending specialists
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headquartered on the West coast, and many others located around the nation, were closed
or acquired. The list of these institutions in addition to WaMu includes Golden West
(acquired before the crisis by Wachovia); Ownit Mortgage (closed); Fremont Investment
and Loan (an industrial bank that received a March 2007 FDIC Cease and Desist order
and was subsequently acquired by CapitalSource, Inc.); New Century Financial
(bankrupt); American Home Mortgage (closed); Countrywide Financial (acquired during
the crisis by Bank of America); IndyMac (failed); Ameriquest (closed); Pomona First
Federal (failed); Downey Savings (failed); Taylor, Bean, and Whitaker (closed); and First

Federal Bank of California (failed).

The mortgages originated by these institutions during the years preceding the
crisis had a variety of features that, singly or in combination, greatly amplified risk and in
some cases were abusive to the borrower. Practices included lending with low or no
documentation of income; lending with low initial teaser payments but explosive
payment increases 2 or 3 years after origination (the so-called 2-28s and 3-27s);
conducting no analysis of the borrower’s ability to repay these higher payments;
requiring no escrows for taxes or insurance; lending at high loan-to-value ratios; and

making high-cost subprime loans.

In the years leading up to the crisis, many of these loans were sold into
securitizations and subdivided into tranched structures, the bulk of which received the
highest investment grade ratings. When housing prices started to turn down, and

investors increased their focus on the quality of the loans underlying these securities, the
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securitization market shut down. Resulting liquidity pressures on these thrifts were
exacerbated because counterparties were demanding higher haircuts on mortgage
collateral—if they would lend against such collateral at all-—and securities held in
inventory could not for practical purposes be sold. Mortgage lenders had to hold in
portfolio loans that had been in the securitization pipeline or loans they had committed to
originate, and in some cases these lenders had to repurchase, under representation and
warranty clauses, or for reputational reasons, loans they had previously sold. At all the
institutions listed, with the onset of the crisis, liquidity pressures and credit losses were so

severe as to rule out their survival on a stand-alone basis.

The unsustainable increase in home prices that led up to the crisis was driven, we
believe, by a credit boom fueled by an unprecedented tolerance among market
participants for financial leverage, in particular as it pertained to mortgage finance. The
advanced approaches of Basel II provide a good indicator of the consensus regulatory
thinking on acceptable leverage in mortgage lending in the years leading to the crisis. In
an interagency study to estimate the impact of the Basel II rules conducted before the
onset of the crisis, capital requirements for residential mortgage lending were estimated
to decline by a median 73 percent across the 26 participating banks; for home equity
lending, the median decline in capital requirements was 79 percent. Institutions with a
focus on mortgage lending, such as WaMu, stood to benefit the most from these new
rules. The reasoning that produced reductions in capital requirements of such magnitudes
is similar to that which produced AAA ratings for large swaths of mortgage securities

backed largely by low or no-documentation loans. In both cases, market participants
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were officially encouraged to place comfort in modeling assumptions rather than
traditional capital adequacy benchmarks or lending standards. The FDIC successfully
delayed implementation of the Basel Il rules so that large banks and thrifts maintained

higher capital levels going into the crisis.

The FDIC has taken a leading role in addressing some of the unsustainable trends
that precipitated the mortgage crisis. We have been an early and forceful advocate of
regulatory reform to end abusive mortgage lending under the Home Ownership and
Equity Protection Act (HOEPA). We have also taken a strong supervisory stance on
these mortgage practices, including our Cease and Desist action against Fremont in early
2007 that predated the mortgage meltdown by several months, and our strong support for
effective supervisory guidance to end these abusive practices, including the Inferagency
Guidance on Nontraditional Mortgage Products Risks (NTM Guidance). We have
consistently and strongly advocated for responsible loan modifications as the most cost-
effective approach to avoid needless foreclosures. We advocated strongly and
successfully within the Basel process for new operational requirements for the use of
credit ratings in setting capital requirements, to ensure adequate information and due
diligence regarding the exposures underlying securitizations rated by the credit rating
agencies. With respect to the appetite for financial leverage implicit in the advanced
approach of Basel 11, the FDIC was never part of the consensus. We have consistently
advocated against over-reliance on models, and for robust risk-based capital floors under
the advanced approaches and the retention of the simple and transparent leverage

requirements that Congress mandated in 1991.
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The FDIC’s Role and Responsibility as Back-Up Regulator

The FDIC is charged by Congress with maintaining stability and public
confidence in the nation’s financial system by, among other things, examining and
supervising insured depository institutions for safety and soundness and consumer
protection. The FDIC is the primary federal regulator (PFR) for nearly 5000 state-

chartered depository institutions that are not members of the Federal Reserve System.

In addition to its role as primary federal regulator for most state-chartered
depository institutions, the FDIC also is respousible for insuring deposits at about 8000
federally insured depository institutions. This means that the DIF is exposed to losses
from institutions that are not directly supervised by the FDIC. To assist the FDIC in
effectively carrying out this responsibility, Congress has given the FDIC “back-up”
authority to examine insured banking organizations, like WaMu, that have a different
federal regulatory agency as PFR.! The statute authorizes the FDIC to conduct a special,
or “back-up,” examination of any insured depository institution, provided the FDIC
Board of Directors “determines that a special examination is necessary to determine the

condition of [that] depository institution for insurance purposes.”

In 2002, the FDIC worked with the other agencies to develop an agreement to
implement our statutory authority. This was a collaborative process that was meant to

balance our needs for ready access to information with the primary federal regulators

'Section 10(b)(3) of the Federal Deposit Insurance (FDI) Act [12 U.S.C. § 1820(b)(3)].
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concerns with a potential duplication of efforts. In order to achieve a consensus
agreement, several modifications to the statutory authority were necessary. One of the
more notable concessions agreed to at the time was that the FDIC would conduct a
special or back-up examination only if the institution “represent{s] a heightened risk” to
the DIF. The Interagency Agreement defines institutions that present a “heightened risk”
as institutions that a) have poor supervisory ratings or b} are undercapitalized for
purposes of “prompt corrective action.” Siﬁcc 1979, the federal banking regulatory
agencies, including the FDIC, have assessed the soundness of financial institutions

according to the Uniform Financial Insfitutions Rating System (UFIRS).?

In addition, the agreement limited our direct access to bank employees and
required the FDIC to rely, when possible, on examinations and inspections conducted by
the appropriate PFR. As discussed later, the compromises that appeared reasonable in
theory at the height of the banking industry profitability served to bind us when the FDIC

needed to implement this agreement in practice.

The FDIC’s statutory special examination authority differs from the examination

authority granted the PFR in several important respects. First, the statutory requirement

% The Prompt Corrective Action (PCA) provisions in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
Improvement Act of 1991 (FDICIA) (Section 38 of the FDI Act) require that regulators set a threshold for
critically undercapitalized institutions, and that regulators promptly close institutions that breach the
threshold unless they quickly recapitalize or merge with a healthier institution. Bank regulators set the
threshold for critically undercapitalized institutions to 2 percent tangible capital.

* Under UFIRS, which is intended to identify those institutions requiring special supervisory
attention, each financial institution is assigned a composite rating based on an evaluation and rating of six
essential components of an institution's financial condition and operations. The six component areas arc
Capital adequacy, Asset quality, Management, Earnings, Liquidity, and Sensitivity to market risk. The
rating system is often referred to as the "CAMELS" rating system.
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for FDIC Board action to authorize special examinations builds delays into the conduct of
such examinations by the FDIC. Second, the FDIC’s authority applies to the insured
depository institution and its affiliates, but does not specifically extend to examinations
of holding companies regulated by the PFRs. Finally, when the FDIC conducts a special
examination, the statute requires that the FDIC coordinate with the PFR, a provision

often cited by the PFR to constrain our special examination activities.*

In addition, Congress also authorized the FDIC to take enforcement action in
certain circumstances.” Specifically, the FDIC first must recommend in writing that an
institution's PFR take enforcement action. If the PFR does not act within 60 days the
FDIC itself may institute an enforcement action, provided action is authorized by the

FDIC’s Board of Directors based on a determination that:

(A) the insured depository institution is in an unsafe or unsound condition;

(B) the institution or institution-affiliated party is engaging in unsafe or unsound
practices, and the recommended enforcement action will prevent the
institution or institution-affiliated party from continuing such practices; or

{(C) the conduct or threatened conduct (including any acts or omissions) poses a
risk to the deposit insurance fund, or may prejudice the interests of the

institution’s depositors.

* Section 10(d)(6) of the FDI Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1820(d)(6).
5 Section 8(t)(2) of the FDI Act [12 U.S.C. § 1818()}(D)]).
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Large Insured Depository Institutions Exam and Enforcement Policies and Practices

The FDIC's Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection (DSC) monitors
the activities of all insured depository institutions, conducts supervisory examinations,
and develops supervisory strategies. As part of its supervisory program, DSC also
identifies the impact of industry-wide risks on large insured depository institutions
(LIDIs), currently defined as insured depository institutions with total assets of at least
$10 billion. At year-end 2009, the number of LIDIs was 109. The PFRs for the current
LIDIs include the OTS, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the FDIC, depending upon the nature of

the institution’s charter (thrift, state member, national, or state non-member).

Within DSC, the Complex Financial Institution Branch (CFI Branch) supports
supetvisory activities in LIDIs. The CFI Branch analyzes and aggregates data on large
banks as an element of its LIDI rating process. Daily responsibility for oversight of most
LIDIs is assigned to a case manager. The case manager monitors examination reports
prepared by the PFR, analyzes data from quarterly institution Call Reports, and analyzes
other financial and economic data. The FDIC also assigns a dedicated examiner (DE)
and additional on-site examination staff to the largest LIDIs. Ideally, the DE and staff
work in cooperation with the PFR and bank personnel on-site at the institution on an
ongoing basis. The DE performs comprehensive quarterly analyses of the risk profile of

assigned LIDIs and of the PFR’s proposed supervisory strategies for dealing with

perceived risks.
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The Division of Insurance and Research (DIR) supports DSC’s supervision of
insured depository institutions. Among other things, DIR identifies and analyzes
emerging risks; conducts research that supports sound deposit insurance, banking policy,
improved risk assessment, and consumer protection; assesses the adequacy of the DIF;

and implements an effective and fair risk-based premium system.

As previously noted, in September, 2002, the FDIC began implementing a
Dedicated Examiner (“DE”) program at the eight largest insured banking institutions.
Under this program, an FDIC senior examiner is assigned to each of these banks,
regardless of who the PFR may be. Under the Interagency Agreement, PFR personnel
are “expected to keep the [DE] informed of all material developments” and to “invite the
[DE] to observe and participate in certain examination activities.” PFR personnel are
expected to ensure that “the FDIC has an understanding of the supervisory issues and risk

management structure” of the LIDIs.

In addition to its DE program, the FDIC carries out its examination
responsibilities with respect to LIDIs, which included WaMu, by performing offsite risk
analyses under the LIDI Program. That program is designed to provide comprehensive
and forward-looking assessments of the risk profiles of LIDIs. LIDI analysis helps
identify the largest risks to the DIF and to identify emerging risks and trends in the

banking industry.
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To quantify the level and direction of risk, each LIDI is assigned a rating (A
through E, with A being the best) and an outlook (positive, stable, or negative). Ratings
and outlooks are assigned at least quarterly, with interim changes made when necessary.
All relevant sources of information available are used in performing LIDI analysis,
including both public information and confidential bank supervisory information. For
non-FDIC supervised institutions, supervisory information or internal bank reports are

obtained through the PFR.
Level of Cooperation between the FDIC and OTS

The 2002 Agreement that was negotiated with the other agencies included vérious
provisions that limited our ability to conduct the special examinations that were
authorized under the Statute. It is noteworthy that the Interagency Agreement requires
FDIC to show “heighteped risk” to the deposit insurance fund, with specific reference to
the bank being 3, 4, or 5 rated or undercapitalized. Further, the CAMELS trigger is tied
solely to the primary federal supervisor’s evaluation of the institution, not the FDIC’s.
Therefore, the argument for FDIC participation proved to be circular. When an
institution is deteriorating but has not triggered any of these provisions it becomes
difficult to gain entry as often the reason we have requested an on-site presence is to
determine if these conditions exist. Further, we had difﬁculty gaining access at WaMu
because of a requirement in the Interagency Agreement that: “To the fullest extent
possible, FDIC should continue to rely on the results of the work performed by the

primary bank supervisors in assessing the condition of individual institutions.”

10
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Following is a chronological review of the level of cooperation between OTS and

FDIC in the supervision of WaMu.

Years 2004- 2006

In 2004, WaMu’s holding company, Washington Mutual Inc. (“WMI”), owned
and controlled a state chartered bank, Washington Mutual Bank (“WMB?™), for which the
FDIC was the PFR. FDIC last conducted an examination of WMB in March 2004 and a

visitation in October 2004,

On January 1, 2005, WMI merged its thrift and state chartered bank. The
resulting institution was a federally chartered savings association, for which the OTS was
the PFR. As the PFR, OTS became responsible for scheduling, staffing and sefting the
scope of supervisory activities for the institution, including pursuit of necessary formal
and informal administrative enforcement actions. Following the merger, FDIC assessed
WaMu’s safety and soundness, and the risk posed by WaMu to the DIF, primarily by

participating in OTS examinations of WaMu in a back-up capacity..

In 2005, WaMu management made the decision to change its business strategy
from traditional fixed rate conventional single family loans toward nontraditional and
subprime loan products. In August 2005, OTS management for the first time expressed

to FDIC its determination that FDIC should not actively participate in OTS examinations

11
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at WaMu, citing the 2002 Interagency Agreement. Subsequently, following the protocol
as set forth in the Interagency Agreement, the FDIC San Francisco Regional Office
requested permission to participate in the 2006 OTS examination. OTS responded by
letter indicating: “...we (OTS) do not plan to have FDIC examiners actively participate in
the examination review and rating assessment.” The letter also informed the FDIC that it
would not be allowed to participate in a review of subprime lender Long Beach
Mortgage, then a subsidiary of WaMu’s holding company and thus an affiliate of the
bank. Ultimately, the FDIC participated in the March 2006 examination, but was not

allowed to review loan files at Long Beach Mortgage.

The FDIC again experienced resistance from OTS to our participating in
examinations September 2006. That month, OTS moved to a “continuous examination
approach,” whereby OTS performed periodic “target” examinations during an
examination cycle and issued an annual “rollup” examination report. In early September,
the OTS informed the FDIC that it must demonstrate a regulatory need to join an
examination of a 2-rated bank, and that since OTS was not aware of any disagreements
between the agencies as to WAMU, FDIC had failed to demonstrate such need. FDIC
pointed out that regulatory disagreement was not a prerequisite for participation under the
Agreement. Following elevation of the dispute to our respective Washington Offices,
denial of participation was reversed in November, with the proviso that the FDIC’s DE
must funnel all requests through the OTS examiner in charge (EIC). FDIC then

participated in the OTS’s 4t quarter 2006 target exam of WaMu.

12
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For four months after WaMu moved to new headquarters in 2006, OTS failed to
provide the FDIC’s DE with either access to WaMu’s electronic “Examiner Library”
{(WaMu’s electronic repository of the supervisor and regulatory information it prepared
for the regulators), or a physical workspace on-site at WaMu. The FDIC ultimately was
able to obtain this access in late October, again after the issue was elevated to the

Washington Offices of both agencies.

Years 2007

Beginning in 2007, OTS restricted FDIC examinations staff from reviewing all
Joan files, indicating that an FDIC loan file review would be duplicative and a regulatory
burden for the bank. FDIC argued unsuccessfully that we needed to review the loans for
compliance with the NTM Guidance, and suggested that we split the review with OTS
examiners for this purpose. OTS refused, indicating that the OTS was not reviewing loan
files until WaMu had time to make some changes in its practices in order to comply with

the NTM Guidance.

Year 2008

In 2008, OTS objected to the number of examiners that FDIC proposed to have
involved in the examination. OTS management communicated to the FDIC that the
number of examiners it proposed be involved in the examination was excessive. Again,

OTS did not permit FDIC examiners to conduct an exam or review loan files. Further,
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OTS indicated that should FDIC want to review asset quality, FDIC could review OTS

workpapers only.

As WaMu’s PFR, OTS assigned a Composite 2 CAMELS rating until February
27, 2008, when OTS made an interim rating change to a Composite 3. WaMu had
suffered operating losses of $1.8 billion in the 4™ quarter of 2007. WaMu suffered
another $1.1 billion loss in the 1% quarter of 2008, but another downgrade was averted
when WM], its holding company, raised $7 billion in capital in April 2008 and
downstreamed $3 billion of this amount to the bank. Subsequently, another $2 billion
was downstreamed by WaMu’s holding company, for a total capital infusion to WaMu
from WMI of $5 billion in 2008. The remaining $2 billion raised remained at WMI for

debt service.

During this period, WaMu received a strategic offer by JP Morgan Chase to
acquire the company for approximately $7 billion or as much as $8 per share. Instead,
WaMu management accepted a capital infusion (described above) from TPG that

preserved WaMu’s independence but also limited future options for raising capital.

Following the $7 billion capital raise, the FDIC prepared a capital analysis that
revealed that in a stress scenario WaMu would need $5 billion in addition to the $5
billion of capital already downstreamed, to survive. The stress capital analysis took into
account the estimated embedded losses in WaMu'’s portfolio, which were likely to require

additional capital, and gave WaMu credit for pre-provision and pre-tax income that it
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could reasonably expect to generate. The analysis was based on the premise that while
WaMu’s reserves might cover its expected losses in the near term, more capital was
necessary to protect WaMu from unexpected losses in the long term. The FDIC shared
and discussed its WaMu stress capital analysis with the OTS in May of 2008. OTS
rejected the analysis, arguing that the analysis was not in accord with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP). The FDIC responded that a stress capital analysis is
different from a GAAP analysis. OTS did not provide a capital analysis of its own to the

FDIC.

At this point, the FDIC’s view was that WaMu needed more capital. The FDIC
was also concerned that the institution did not recognize the problems facing it and was
not taking the necessary corrective measures. The FDIC believed that if WaMu
management would not take these essential steps on their own, the regulators would need

to take additional supervisory action to bring about corrective measures.

AtaJuly 15, 2008 WaMu Board of Directors meeting, OTS presented its exam
findings and stated that WaMu’s CAMELS rating would continue to be a Composite 3.
FDIC examiners put WaMu’s Board on notice that the FDIC considered WaMu’s
CAMELS rating to be a Composite 4, thus putting the Board on notice of a possible
downgrade. OTS proposed that corrective action be memorialized in a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) with the WaMu Board of Directors. The MOU was executed on
September 17, 2008, 8 days before WaMu was closed. The OTS accepted FDIC input for

the MOU provisions that required:

15

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00185 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.079



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

172

o Downstreaming of an additional $2 billion capital from the parent (as referenced
above)
¢ Maintenance of PCA capital ratios at least 1 percent in excess of “Well
Capitalized”
- e A contingency capital plan

s Maintenance of adequate Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses (“ALLL”).

In the weeks following the July 11 failure of IndyMac Bank, WaMu suffered a
$10 billion retail deposit run-off. The deposit run-off, combined with WaMu’s
significant loss operations and the need for capital, further supported FDIC’s view that
WaMu should be downgraded to a Composite 4. On August 11, FDIC forwarded draft
comments in support of a Composite 4 rating to OTS and met with OTS to discuss the
agencies’ ratings disagreement on August 28. FDIC presented its in-house analysis and
projections. OTS presented WaMu’s projections, which relied on WaMu’s credit card
division (formerly Providian) to restore WaMu to profitability in 2009. The FDIC
determined that a restoration of profitability for WaMu in 2009 was implausible. The
agencies’ rating disagreement was escalated to their respective Washington Offices for

resolution.
The FDIC Board of Directors discussed reconciliation of the rating differences at

its September 16 meeting. The FDIC Board received a staff briefing, and the OTS

strongly disagreed with the FDIC proposed composite rating of 4. After the Board

16
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meeting, on September 18, the OTS nevertheless determined to lower WaMu’s rating to

Composite 4.

In the wake of the failure of Lehman Brothers in mid-September 2008, WaMu
experienced a second run on deposits. The institution lost nearly $17 billion in deposits
over an 8-day period, resulting in a liquidity crisis. Average daily deposit withdrawals
(both retail and commercial) exceeded $2 billion on multiple days over the week
preceding the September 25 receivership. The run on deposits extended to both insured

and uninsured accountholders.

Bank customers began %0 request cash payouts rather than accepting official
checks. While the Bank had access to Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve
Discount Window borrowing lines, these totaled less than $10 billion; and, both were
evaluating the overall financial condition of WaMu and had initiated actions to diminish
borrowing capacity, due to deteriorating asset quality. The Federal Reserve Bank of San
Francisco had dropped the bank to secondary credit status on September 24, thus
reducing the bank’s borrowing capacity, and was prepared to impose a 10 percent haircut
on collateral requirements of the bank. On that day, cash on hand declined to $4.4
billion, a dangerously low number for a $300 billion institution that had experienced

deposit runoff as a high as $3 billion in a single day during the latest deposit run.
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On September 25, the OTS projected that the institution would likely be unable
to pay obligations or meet depositor demands in the normal course of business over the

near term. OTS closed WaMu on Thursday, September 25.
Lessons Learned

It has been an extraordinarily challenging time for the nation’s banking industry,

and we have all learned lessons at many levels.

| We welcome findings and recommendations from the FDIC’s Inspector General
(IG) and the Inspector General of the Department of the Treasury in connection with their
evaluation of the federal regulatory oversight of WaMu. The evaluation identified the
Interagency Agreement’s “heightened risk” requirement as limiting the FDIC's ability to
assess the potential risk of an institutional failure and the resulting impact on the DIF,
corroborating the FDIC’s experience. The IG report also expresses concerns about the
FDIC's historic reliance on CAMELS ratings for the purpose of establishing risk-based
premiums for deposit insurance coverage. The IG report includes recommendations to
address both issues. The FDIC agrees with the recommendations, and had already begun
a number of initiatives which will implement these recommendations, as described

below.
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Strengthening the Interagency Agreement

At the outset of the testimony we mentioned that the FDIC has authority to
conduct special or “back-up” examinations of insured depository institutions. The
usefulness of this authority has been limited by its procedural bottlenecks and
requirement, established in less stressful times than we have now, that these examinations
can be made only when necessary to deal with “heightened risk™ to the insurance fund, a
determination that logically can be most prudentially made only after a special
examination has taken place. The MOU requires the FDIC to rely on the PFR. The
FDIC has proposed modifications to the other PFRs to strengthen the Interagency
Agreement. The FDIC must, as Congress clearly intended, be able to make an
independent assessment of the risk of insured banks to the DIF, perform contingency
resolution planning, obtain the information necessary to protect the DIF, or for such other
purposes that the FDIC determines is necessary for effective administration of the

provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act.

The FDIC also needs the ability to determine the time and manner in which such
special examinations shall be conducted and to maintain an examination staff with an on-
site and continual presence at the largest depository institutions in order to facilitate the
conduct of special examinations. We are hopeful that a consensus on a new Interagency

Agreement can be reached in the near future.
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Similarly, the FDIC recommends that the procedural limitations on our ability to
take enforcement action to correct any violation of law or regulation, or any unsafe and
unsound banking practice be removed. The FDIC recommends that we be given the
ability to move decisively to deal with such situations without having to wait for 60 days

for a decision by another agency on whether such action may be implemented.

Deposit Insurance Pricing Revisions

Also, the FDIC has proposed new deposit insurance assessment regulations for‘
large insured institutions that are consistent with the FDIC’s Inspector General (IG)
recommendations that the FDIC not rely too heavily on the primary federal regulator’s
assignment of CAMELS ratings and capital levels. The current system constricts FDIC’s
ability to differentiate risk because institutions are placed in one of four risk categories
determined by their CAMELS ratings and capital category. Therefore, if CAMELS are
slow to reflect elevated risk, the current system limits the amount that can be charged to

reflect that risk.

The FDIC Board has approved publication of a notice of proposed rulemaking
that would eliminate those risk categories and, therefore, the amount of risk
differentiation would not be constrained to the same degree by CAMELS ratings. This
risk differentiation would be based on well-defined financial measures that are more
forward looking and better suited to measure the unique and concentrated risks posed by

the largest institutions, which is also consistent with the IG’s recommendations.
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Recognizing that the FDIC’s role as insurer is, in some ways, very different from
the role of a supervisor, the proposed rule would increase or decrease the assessment rate
for banks depending on how expensive it would be for the FDIC to resolve. The
proposed rule would also retain the FDIC’s ability to make discretionary adjustments,
based on the risk factors that the FDIC deems relevant. If the proposed rule had been in
effect prior to WaMu’s failure, WaMu would have paid significantly higher assessments
in tfxe periods leading up to its failure. Following the completion of public rulemaking
processes, it is expected that these new standards will be implemented by the beginning

of next year.

Other Proposed Rulemakings .

Consistent with some of the reform proposals pending before Congress, the FDIC
is considering proposing a rale to require LIDI subsidiaries of large and complex
financial parent companies to provide the FDIC with analyses, information, and
contingent resolution plans that address and demonstrate each LIDI’s ability to be
separated from its pérent structure, and to be wound down or resolved in an orderly
fashion. Once finalized, this rule will enhance the FDIC’s ability to engage in a direct
dialogue with complex LIDIs about mitigating or eliminating identified impediments to

the FDIC’s ability to conduct an orderly resolution of the insured institution.

The FDIC also is considering a rulemaking to tie federal deposit insurance

assessments to bank employee compensation structure in order to keep compensation in
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line with the long-term interests of the institution. The financial crisis has shown that
most financial-institution compensation systems were not properly linked to risk
management. Formula-driven compensation allows high short-term profits to be
translated into generous bonus payments, without regard to any longer-term risks.
Mortgage brokers and bankers went into the subprime and other risky markets because
these markets generated high returns not just for investors but also for the originators
themselves, and this of course was the case at WaMu as well. The lack of a downside in
these compensation schemes ultimately hurt both the borrowers who could not pay their
risky mortgages and the economy. Your comments would be most welcome on this

rulemaking.

A further proposal the FDIC Board is considering would require banks to retain a
portion of the credit risk of any securitizations they sponsor. This latter proposal will be

presented to our Board at the May Board meeting.

Regulatory Reform

The FDIC strongly supports pending legislative reform efforts to address the
orderly resolution of large financial organizations, and other financial reform measures
already discussed above. In particular, legislation currently under consideration by the
Senate Banking Committee and legislation approved by the House of Representatives
would establish enhanced oversight of large bank holding companies and non-bank

financial companies that are systemically significant and should be subject to heightened
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prudential standards and oversight -- and we support their hard work in this regard. The
ability to resolve these large and complex institutions in a manner similar to how smaller

banks are treated is essential to ending the too-big-to-fail doctrine.

The FDIC also strongly supports the need for an independent consumer financial
protection regulator. As we have testified previously, many of the current problems
affecting the safety and soundness of the financial system were caused by a lack of
strong, comprehensive rules against abusive lending practices applying to both banks and
non-banks, and lack of a meaningful examination and enforcement presence in the non-
bank sector. Products and practices that strip individual and family wealth undermine the

foundation of the economy.
Conclusion

While the FDIC would much rather see a troubled institution return to health and
safe and sound practices, at the point at which WaMu failed, the embedded losses and
liquidity problems had made the institution unviable. Critics may say it was overly harsh
to close WaMu, but the reality is that mortgage losses were mounting, downgrades were
occurring, and efforts to raise capital had been exhausted. The institution had already
gone through one major deposit run and was in the midst of another. The franchise value
of WaMu was dissipating rapidly. Action had to be taken. Further delay by the
government would have significantly raised the costs to the FDIC of fulfilling its

obligation to protect the $160 billion of insured deposits at WaMu.
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This resolution went remarkably smoothly. The FDIC was able to preserve all of
WaMu’s deposits, both insured and uninsured. The resolution left branches open,
preserved many jobs, and allowed for a seamless transition for WaMu’s customers the
day after the bank was closed. The resolution came at zero cost to the DIF, and the
institution was not bailed out. In contrast, had the FDIC been forced to liquidate WaMu,

the FDIC estimates that it would have suffered approximately $41 billion in losses.

Again, thank you for the opportunity to testify. We are pleased to answer any

questions.
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Testimony on

Wall Street and the Financial Crises: The Role of Bank
Regulators

Before the Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs
United States Senate
April 16, 2010

Statement of John E. Bowman
Acting Direcfor, Office of Thrift Supervision

Introduction

Good afternoon, Chairman Levin, Ranking Member Coburn and Members of the
Subcommittee. Thank you for the opportunity to testify today on the supervision of
Washington Mutual Bank (WaMu). We appreciate the Subcommittee’s efforts to
examine this and other matters associated with the recent financial crisis. We share the
Subcommittee’s commitment to examine the causes and consequences of the crisis and to
prevent any recurrence.

In my testimony, I will discuss the supervision of WaMu- by the Office of Thrift
Supervision (OTS) and the circumstances surrounding its failure. I will also discuss the
draft findings of a joint investigation of the inspectors general of the Department of the
Treasury and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) concerning the Federal
Regulatory Oversight of WaMu. Finally, I will describe changes in policies and
procedures that the OTS has adopted since the failure of WaMu to assess the safety and
soundness of thrifts and respond to risks.

Background

WaMu was a fedérally chartered stock savings bank with its home office in

Henderson, Nevada, and its primary executive and business office in Seattle, Washington.

It operated primarily in major metropolitan areas on both the east and west coasts and in
selected other states with four primary business units: (1) the home loans group, which
engaged in nationwide single-family residential (SFR) lending, servicing and capital
market activities, (2) the card services group, which operated a nationwide credit card
lending business, (3) the commercial group, which conducted a multi-family and
commercial real estate lending business, and (4) the retail banking group, which operated
a retail bank network of 2,239 offices in California, Florida, Texas, New York,
Washington, Hlinois, Oregon, New Jersey, Georgia, Arizona, Colorado, Nevada, Utah,
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Idaho and Connecticut. Before WaMu's failure, it had $307 billion in assets. WaMu’s
OTS-chartered operating subsidiary, Washington Mutual Bank fsb, of Park City, Utah,
held WaMu’s investment portfolio. Washington Mutual, Inc., of Seattle, Washington
(Holding Company), its top-tier holding company, was mainly a shell holding company.
Based on its consolidated assets on December 31, 2007, the Holding Company was the
seventh largest among all U.S.-based bank and thrift holding companies.

WaMu was.incorporated in 1889 as the Washington National Building Loan and
Investment Association. In 1983, WaMu purchased a brokerage firm (Murphey Favre)
and demutualized, converting to a capital stock savings bank. After demutualization,
WaMu grew largely by acquisition. By 2005, it was the third largest mortgage lender in
the U.S. and, with the acquisition of Providian Financial Corporation, the ninth largest
credit card company.

In 2005, WaMu management made a decision to shift the firm’s business strategy
away from originating traditional, fixed-rate, conforming single-family residential loans,
toward nontraditional loan products and subprime loans. At the same time, management
diversified liabilities and equity via preferred stock and hybrid issuances. WaMu pursued
the new strategy in anticipation of increased earnings and to compete with other mortgage
lenders and banks. This business model catered to a strong demand by capital markets for
new, higher-yielding loan products that easily could be placed into securitized structures.

From 2005 through the first part of 2007, WaMu was able to sell most of its
nontraditional and subprime loans to the secondary market at sizeable gains. However,
the mortgage securities market severely deteriorated in the summer of 2007 as rising
delinquencies on subprime loans suggested greater than anticipated losses for holders of
bonds collateralized with these assets. Investors shunned the mortgage securities market
and thus removed a key source of funding for mortgage originators, such as WaMu. By
August 2007, there was simply no market for WaMu and other originators to sell or
securitize loans.

Even before the secondary mortgage market had essentially frozen, WaMu
management began tightening credit standards for credit cards and subprime lending, and
shifted focus to a more retail-based strategy through its retail branches. After the third
quarter of 2007, WaMu instituted significant operational changes, including exiting all
subprime SFR lending, discontinuing certain loan purchase and sale operations,
tightening underwriting of all portfolios, closing all freestanding home loan offices,
exiting the wholesale lending channel, increasing reliance on Federal Home Loan Bank
(FHLB) advances, releasing approximately $30 billion in available collateral, issuing $3
billion and $7 billion in preferred and common stock, respectively, with $4 billion of the
proceeds infused into WaMu, curtailing dividends from WaMu to the Holding Company
and from the Holding Company to shareholders, and ceasing option ARM and stated
income lending,

In February 2008, as WaMu incurred significant losses, the OTS lowered WaMu’s
composite CAMELS rating from a “2” to 2 “3.” In that month, the OTS took informal
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enforcement action against WaMu by requiring it to adopt a Board Resolution to address
areas of concern over asset quality, earnings and liquidity. WaMu adopted the Board
Resolution on March 19, 2008.

In response to continuing losses and at the OTS’s urging, the Holding Company
infused WaMu with an additional $3 billion, $2 billion and $500 million in capital in
April, July and September 2008, respectively. Despite its other problems, WaMu
remained well capitalized.

In June 2008, the OTS notified WaMu that OTS would be taking another
enforcement action. The OTS would require WaMu to enter into a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) as a result of WaMu'’s composite “3” rating that was to be
reported for the examination ending June 30, 2008. The MOU, which the OTS issued on
September 7, 2008, required WaMu to: (1) correct all findings noted in the June 30, 2008,
examination by the dates specified; (2) submit a contingency capital plan within 90 days
and maintain certain capital ratios; (3) submit a three-year business plan to OTS within 30
days; and (4) certify compliance with the MOU requirements on a quarterly basis.

On September 18, 2008, the Regional Office provided notice to the Institution that
its CAMELS Composite and Liquidity ratings were downgraded to a “4.” On September
25, 2008, the OTS closed WaMu and appointed the FDIC as receiver. WaMu was
immediately merged with JPMorgan Chase & Co and subsequently operated as part of
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A,, Columbus, Ohio. The failure of WaMu resulted in no cost
to the Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF).

lll. Cause of WaMu’s Failure

A liquidity crisis was the immediate cause of WaMu’s failure. After the closing
of IndyMac Bank in July 2008, WaMu’s liquidity became stressed. Cash outflows in July
and August 2008, primarily related to deposit withdrawals, totaled about $9.1 billion.
WaMu then began offering deposit rates exceeding competitors’ rates to bring in deposits
to improve liquidity, resulting in a net inflow of approximately $4.3 billion. However, in
September 2008, the media speculated about the future of WaMu and a possible sale.
Another deposit outflow gained momentum, combining with payments on other
obligations for a net cash outflow of more than $17.3 billion in 14 business days. The
largest single day had a net cash outflow of $3.6 billion.

During this period of time, Lehman Brothers filed for bankruptcy, Merrill Lynch
agreed to be acquired by Bank of America, the Federal Reserve Board was bailing out
American International Group, or AIG, and Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were placed
under government conservatorship. The market was extremely anxious; large-dollar,
uninsured depositors were especially skittish.

The deposit outflow nearly eliminated WaMu’s ability to meet its needs for

operating liquidity. As of September 23, 2008, WaMu had only $4.6 billion in cash to
meet its obligations. Its core earnings were insufficient to supplement its cash base and it
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depended on borrowings from the FHLB of San Francisco, the FHLB of Seattle and the
Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco to meet its funding needs. The FHLB of San
Francisco had recently decreased the amount of daily funding it had been providing to
WaMu, In addition, market-based funding sources, such as sales of new unsecured debt
and securitizations, were unavailable. Moreover, most WaMu assets that were not
already pledged as collateral for borrowings at the FHLBs or the Federal Reserve Bank
were of either insufficient quality to secure other borrowings or were not readily saleable.

Poor earnings and asset quality problems created additional liquidity concerns
because continued deterioration in these areas could have significantly reduced the level
of available funding sources. Nonetheless, WaMu was well capitalized when it was
placed into receivership, with reported capital ratios as of June 30, 2008 of 7.07 percent
core capital and 12.44 percent risk-based capital. These capital ratios were higher than
they had been in the three prior year-end periods.

IV. No Cost to Deposit Insurance Fund

WaMu is the largest bank failure in U.S. history and OTS has been criticized for
regulating the largest bank that failed. However, it is important to remember the failure
of WaMu resulted in no cost to the DIF. Also, institutions much larger than Washington
Mutuat — for example, Citigroup and Bank of America — collapsed, but the federal
government prevented their failures by authorizing open bank assistance. By law, this
assistance can be granted only to prevent failure. These “too big to fail” institutions are
not regulated by the OTS. The OTS did not regulate the largest bank that failed; the OTS
regulated the largest bank that was allowed to fail.

V. Inspectors General Draft Report

The inspectors general of the Department of the Treasury and the FDIC have
investigated the federal regulatory oversight of WaMu and issued a draft audit report of
their findings. Since the closure of WaMu resulted in no loss to the DIF, a material loss
review was not mandated under Section 38(k) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act.! We
understand, however, that the inspectors general undertook the joint review as an exercise
in good government.

After undertaking this review, the inspectors general made one recommendation to
the OTS, that the agency should use its own internal system to formally track the status of
examiner recommendations and related thrift corrective actions.

The OTS concurs with that recommendation and already has systems in place to
implement it. In October 2007, the OTS added a new follow up function to its internal
Examination Data System/Reports of Examination (EDS/ROE) to allow examiners and
other regional staff members to associate dates and comments with matters requiring

'12U.8.C. 18310(k).
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board attention and other important issues identified by examinations as requiring follow-
up. Five new reports were added to EDS/ROE to provide staff with the tools necessary to
monitor follow-up items. This follow-up system is now well populated and actively used
by staff and monitored by senior management for all OTS-regulated institutions.

VI. Additional Changes in Policies and Procedures

OTS is committed to strengthening its supervisory process. As discussed above,
we fully concur with the single recommendation in the inspectors general draft report.
Similarly, we have been responsive to recommendations and lessons learned from OTS’s
own internal failed bank reviews in the past and material loss reviews by Treasury’s
Inspector General. The OTS has made important changes in policies and procedures
since the failure of WaMu to better assess the safety and soundness of thrifts and respond
to risks.

. The agency has developed internal and external guidance to identify and improve
risk management. The agency released several CEO Letters to the industry, expanding
guidance in crucial risk areas. Key examples mclude guidance on best practices for
estimating allowances for loan and lease losses;’ guxdance on asset and liability
concentrations and related risk management practices;’ guidance regarding accounting
considerations related to other-than-temporary impairment of securities;* guidance on
prudent commercial real estate loan workouts guidance on the supervisory expectations
for sound interest rate risk management ¢ and guidance on sound practices for managing
funding and liquidity risk.”

Internaly, the agency has also made structural changes to better manage and
monitor large banks and problem banks. OTS established the Assistant Deputy Director
position to improve oversight of the OTS regions. OTS also created a Large Bank Unit,
headed by the Assistant Deputy Director, to oversee all savings associations with more
than $10 billion in total assets. The Large Bank Unit hosts quarterly briefings on the
large bank caseload and is responsible for providing an independent review and rating
concurrence for all large bank examinations. The group also acts as a liaison between the
regional offices and senior managers at OTS headquarters in Washington, D.C., for
significant large bank issues that arise.

2 OTS CEO Letter 304 — May 27, 2009 — ALLL ~ Observed Thrift Practices Including Sound Lending
Practices.

® OTS CEO Letter 311 ~ July 9, 2009 - Risk Management: Asset and Liability Concentrations.
OTS CEO Letter 320 —~ September 3, 2009 — Accounting Considerations Related to OTTT of Securities.
OTS CEQ Letter 325 — October 30, 2009 - Guidance on Prudent Commercial Real Estate Loan Workouts.
O’r S CEO Letter 334 ~ January 7, 2010 - Interagency Advisory on Interest Rate Risk Management.

7 OTS CEO Letter 342 - March 17, 2010 ~ Interagency Policy Statement on Funding and Liquidity Risk
Management.
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One goal of the Large Bank Unit is to ensure consistency between the OTS
regions in all aspects of examination and supervision for the large bank caseload. The
Large Bank Unit coordinates extensively with subject matter experts in critical
disciplines, such as accounting, capital risk, credit risk, information technology,
compliance with consumer protection laws and regulations, interest rate risk, liquidity risk
and holding company policy. Coordination with these experts connects policy
development with examination activities and ensures that new guidance is uniformly
applied in all key examination activities, including scoping and supervisory planning.

The OTS has also expanded its program for monitoring problem banks. In
addition, the agency has established national guidance for regions to hold Enforcement
Review Committee (ERC) meetings to discuss and approve all informal and formal
enforcement actions. The ERC guidance also outlines appropriate timeframes for
enforcement actions to take effect following ratings downgrades. The agency continues
to hold quarterly high risk briefings about thrifts with elevated or unique risk profiles that
are at risk of failure. Most recently, the agency improved its examination follow-up
system to provide staff with automated notifications for all examination and enforcement
actions that are coming due or are overdue.

Since the failure of WaMu, the OTS has more than tripled the number of formal
enforcement actions it has taken each year. As indicated in the table below, the OTS took
225 formal actions in 2009. By way of comparison there were 47 such actions in 2007
and 68 in 2008. So far this year the agency has taken 51 formal enforcement actions.

OTS Formal Enforcement Actions

Cease and Desist Orders: 30 15 13 20 34 106 17
Supervisory Agreements: 14 16 - 15 7 8 30 5
Civil Money Penalties: 26 19 10 5 i1 26 10

Prompt Corrective Action

{PCA) Directives: I | 0 2 3 18 11
Prohibition Orders: 20 19 15 13 12 45 8
TOTALS: 91 70 53 47 68 225 51
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OTS also has developed aninternal failed bank review program requiring
completion of a review within 90 days of each thrift failure. The failed bank review
program is required to identify the causes of failure, develop a chronology of events
leading to the failure, assess the appropriateness and timeliniess of OTS’s supervisory
actions, and make recommendations for addressing findings and correcting supervisory
weaknesses. The review is required to be independent of the supervisory and
examination staff that worked directly on the failed institution.

OTS has also educated staff internally. The agency hosts monthly policy
conference calls for examiners to highlight key elements of new guidance. The agency
has released a series of internal memos called New Directions Bulletins to raise staff
awareness of changes in procedures and to highlight key lessons learned from the
financial crisis. The agency released 16 bulletins in 2008 and 37 bulletins in 2009. Key
examples include “Lessons Learned — Failed Thrift Institution Review;™® “Failed Thrift
Institution Review Time Frames;”® “Examination and Supervision of Mortgage Banking
Activity;”' “Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses — Observed Thrift Practices Including
‘Better Practices;” ™! “Regional Enforcement Review Committees;”'? “Reminder ~
Required Follow-up on Examination Findings;”"* “Brokered Deposit Restrictions;”™
“Classification of Real Estate Owned;”"* and “Authority to Impose Higher Capital
Requirements.”'®

Vil. Conclusion
In conclusion, the OTS supports the work of this Subcommittee to examine the
causes and consequences of the financial crises in general and the supervision of WaMu

in particular. The OTS is committed to continually improving its supervision of thrifts.

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Coburn and Members of the
Subcommittee for the opportunity to testify on behalf of the OTS.

We look forward to working with the Members of this Subcommittee and to
reviewing the Subcommittee’s report on this important matter.

® OTS New Directions Bulletin 08-05.

® OTS New Directions Bulletin 08-05a.
¥ OTS New Directions Bulletin 08-08.
7 OTS New Directions Bulletin 08-11.
2 OTS New Directions Bulletin 09-11a,
3 OTS New Directions Bulletin 09-06.
* OTS New Directions Bulletin 9-12.

' OTS New Directions Bulletin 09-35.
' OTS New Directions Bulletin 09-37.
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MEMORANDUM
To:  Members of the Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations

From: Senator Carl Levin, Subcommittee Chairman
Senator Tom Coburn, Ranking Member

Date: April 16, 2010

Re:  Wall Street and the Financial Crisis: The Role of Bank Regulators

On Friday, April 16, 2010, beginning at 9:30 a.m., the Permanent Subcommittee on
Investigations will hold the second in a series of hearings examining some of the causes and
consequences of the recent financial crisis. This hearing will focus on the role played by federal
bank regulators, using as a case history Washington Mutual Bank, the largest bank failure in U.S.
history.

Subcommittee Investigation. In November 2008, the Permanent Subcommittee on
Investigations initiated a bipartisan investigation into some of the causes and consequences of
the financial crisis. Since then, the Subcommittee has engaged in a wide-ranging inquiry, issuing
numerous subpoenas; conducting over 100 interviews and depositions; and consulting with
dozens of government, academic, and private sector experts on banking, securities, financial, and
legal issues. The Subcommittee has also accurmulated and initiated review of over 50 million
pages of documents, including court pleadings, filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, trustee reports, prospectuses for securities and private offerings, corporate board
and committee minutes, mortgage transactions and analyses, memoranda, marketing materials,
correspondence, and email. The Subcommittee has also reviewed documents prepared by or sent
to or from banking and securities regulators, including bank examination reports, reviews of
securities firms, enforcement actions, analyses, memoranda, correspondence, and email.

To provide the public with the results of its investigation, the Subcommittee is holding a
series of hearings addressing the role of high risk lending, regulators, credit rating agencies,
investment banks, and others in the financial crisis. These hearings will examine issues related
to mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, credit default swaps, and other
complex financial instruments. After the hearings, a report on the investigation will be prepared.

Washington Mutual Case History. The initial hearing in the series, on April 13, used
Washington Mutual Bank as a case study to examine the role of high risk loans in the U.S.
financial crisis. Headquartered in Seattle, with branches and loan centers across the country,
Washington Mutual Bank had over 100 years of experience in the home loan business and had
grown to become the nation’s largest thrift with more than $300 billion in assets, $188 billion in
deposits, and 43,000 employees. Washington Mutual’s thrift charter required the bank to
concentrate on home loans and maintain most of its assets in mortgage related activities. Each
year, it originated or acquired billions of dollars of home loans through multiple channels,
including loans originated by its own loan officers, loans brought to the bank by third party
mortgage brokers, and loans purchased in bulk from other lenders or firms. In addition, its

———
Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
EXHIBIT #l1a
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affiliate, Long Beach Mortgage Company (Long Beacli), originated billions of dollars in home
loans brought to it by third party mortgage brokers specializing in subprime lending.

Washington Mutual kept a portion of its home loans for its own investment portfolio, and
sold the rest either to Wall Street investors, usually after securitizing them, or to Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac. At first, Washington Mutual worked with Wall Street firms to securitize its home
loans, but later built up its own securitization arm, Washington Mutual Capital Corporation.

Until 2006, Washington Mutual’s operations were profitable. In 2007, many of its high
risk loans began experiencing increased rates of delinquency and loss, and after the subprime
mortgage backed securities market collapsed in September 2007, Washington Mutual was unable
to sell its subprime loans. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the bank recorded a loss of $1 billion.
In 2008, Washington Mutuals stock price plummeted against the backdrop of a worsening
financial crisis, including the forced sales of Countrywide Financial Corporation and Bear
Stearns, government takeover of IndyMac, bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers, taxpayer bailout of
AIG, and conversion of Goldman Sachs and Morgan Stanley into bank holding companies. In
the first half of 2008, Washington Mutual lost another $4.2 billion, and its depositors withdrew a
total of over $26 billion from the bank. On September 25, 2008, Washington Mutual Bank was
placed into receivership by its primary regulator and was immediately sold to JPMorgan Chase
for $1.9 billion.

Washington Mutual’s Regulators. Washington Mutual's primary federal regulator was
the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS). OTS was created in 1989, in response to the savings and
loan crisis to charter and regulate the thrift industry. It is part of the U.S. Department of the
Treasury and headed by a Presidentially-appointed Director. Like other bank regulators, OTS is
charged with ensuring the safety and soundness of the financial institutions it oversees. Its
operations are funded through semiannual fees assessed on the institutions it regulates, with the
fee amount based on the size, condition, and complexity of each institution’s portfolio.
Washington Mutual provided 12-15% of OTS revenue from 2003 to 2008.

OTS supervises its thrifts through four regional offices led by a Regional Director,
Deputy Director, and Assistant Director. The regional offices assign an Examiner In Charge,
supported by other examination personnel, to each thrift. OTS currently oversees about 765
thrift-chartered institutions. In all, approximately three-quarters of the OTS workforce reports to
the four regional offices, while the remaining quarter works at the OTS Washington
headquarters. Washington Mutual was supervised by the West Region whose office was,
through the end of 2008, based in Daly City, California.

In addition to OTS, Washington Mutual was regulated by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC). The mission of the FDIC is to maintain stability and public confidence in
the nation’s financial system by insuring deposits, examining and supervising financial
institutions for safety and soundness and consumer protection, and managing failed institutions
placed into receivership. To carry out these responsibilities, FDIC has backup supervisory
authority over approximately 3,000 federally insured depository institutions whose primary
regulators are the OTS, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, or Federal Reserve. The
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Deposit Insurance Fund is financed through fees assessed on the insured institutions, with
assessments based on the amount of deposits requiring insurance and the degree of risk posed by
each institution to the insurance fund.

For the eight largest institutions, the FDIC assigns at least one Dedicated Examiner to
work on-site at the institution. The examiner's obligation is to evaluate the institution’s risk to the
Deposit Insurance Fund and work with the primary regulator to lower that risk. The FDIC has
entered into a 2002 inter-agency agreement with the primary bank regulators to facilitate and
coordinate their respective oversight obligations and ensure the FDIC is able to protect the
Deposit Insurance Fund. Pursuant to that agreement, the FDIC may request to participate in
examinations of large institutions or higher risk financial institutions, recommend enforcement
actions to be taken by the primary regulator, and if the primary regulator fails to act, take its own
enforcement action with respect to an insured institution. Washington Mutual had a FDIC-
assigned Dedicated Examiner who worked with OTS examiners to oversee the bank.

Federal bank regulators have a wide range of informal and formal enforcement actions
that may be used to ensure the safety and soundness of a financial institution. Informal
enforcement actions, which are not made public, include issuing examination findings to the
bank and both recommending and requiring corrective action, notifying the Board of problems,
and requiring the Board to issue a resolution with commitments for corrective actions. Formal
enforcement actions, which become public, include requiring the bank to enter into a
Memorandum of Understanding with commitments for corrective action, imposing monetary
fines, issuing cease and desist orders, and removing bank personnel.

The Examination Process. The stated mission of the OTS is*{tJo supervise savings
associations and their holding companies in order to maintain their safety and soundness and
compliance with consumer laws, and to encourage a competitive industry that meets Americds
financial services needs” The OTS Examination Handbook, in section 10.2, requires‘{pjroactive
regulatory supervisior’ with a focus on evaluation of future needs and potential risks to ensure the
success of the thrift system in the long term?”

To carry out its mission, OTS traditionally conducted an examination of its thrifts every
12-18 months and provided the results in an annual Report of Examination (ROE). In 2006,
OTS initiated a“continuous exani’ program for its largest thrifts, requiring its examiners to
conduct a series of specialized examinations during the year with the results from all of those
examinations included in an annual ROE. The Examiner in Charge led the examination
activities which were organized around a rating system called CAMELS that is used by all
federal bank regulators. The CAMELS rating system evaluates a banks: (C) capital adequacy,
(A) asset quality, (M) management, (E) earnings, (L) liquidity, and (S) sensitivity to market risk.
CAMELS ratings use a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 being the best rating and 5 the worst. In the annual
ROE, OTS provided its thrifts with an evaluation and rating for each CAMELS component, as
well as an overall composite rating on the bank’s safety and soundness.

At Washington Mutual, OTS examiners conducted both on-site and off-site activities to
review bank operations, and maintained frequent communication with bank management through
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emails, telephone conferences, and meetings. Washington Mutual formed a Regulatory
Relations office charged with overseeing its interactions with OTS, the FDIC, and other
regulators. During the year, OTS examiners issued“findings memos;” which set forth particular
examination findings, and required a written response and corrective action plan from
Washington Mutual management. The findings ranged from“observations; to‘recommendations;’
to‘criticisms.” The most serious findings were elevated to the Washington Mutual Board of
Directors through designation as a Matter Requiring Board Attention (MRBA”). MRBAs were
set forth in the ROE and presented to the Board in an annual meeting attended by OTS and FDIC
personnel. Washington Mutual tracked OTS findings and its responses through its Enterprise
Issue Tracking System (ERICS?). In a departure from its usual practice, OTS did not maintain a
separate tracking system but simply relied on Washington Mutual's ERICS system to identify
past examination findings and the banK's responses.

The FDIC also examined Washington Mutual, relying primarily on the examination
findings and ROEs developed by OTS. The FDIC assigned its own CAMELS ratings to the
bank. In addition, for institutions with assets of $10 billion or more, the FDIC has established
the Large Insured Depository Institutions (LIDI) Program to assess and report on emerging risks
that may pose a threat to the Deposit Insurance Fund. Under this program, the Dedicated
Examiner and other regional case managers perform ongoing analysis of emerging risks within
each insured institution and assign a quarterly risk rating, using a scale of A to E, with A being
the best rating and E the worst. In addition, senior FDIC analysts within the Complex Financial
Institutions Branch analyze specific bank risks and develop supervisory strategies.

Washington Mutual’s Examination History. From 2003 to 2008, OTS repeatedly
identified significant problems with Washington Mutual's lending practices, risk management,
and asset quality, and requested corrective action. Washington Mutual promised year after year
to correct identified problems, but failed to do so. OTS failed to respond with meaningful
enforcement action, resisted FDIC recommendations for stronger measures, and even impeded
FDIC examination efforts.

OTS findings memoranda and ROEs repeatedly identified serious underwriting and risk
management deficiencies at Washington Mutual. OTS elevated these issues to Washington
Mutuals board by issuing MRBASs on underwriting deficiencies every year from 2003-2008. For
most of those years, OTS determined that either Single Family Residential loan underwriting at
Washington Mutual or subprime underwriting at Long Beach was“less than satisfactory” It also
issued MRBAs on the need for stronger risk management from 2004-2008. In 2007, an OTS
examiner noted that WaMu had nine different compliance officers in the past seven years, and
that“[t}hif amount of turnover is very unusual for an institution of this size and is a cause for
concern’

! Draft OTS Exam Findings Memo, “Compliance Management Program,” May 31, 2007, Franklin_Benjamin-
00020408_001.
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In January 2005, Washington Mutual made a strategic decision to shift its focus from low
risk fixed rate and govemnment-backed loans to higher risk subprime, home equity, and Option
ARM loans. OTS examiners expressed concern about but did not restrict a number of high risk
lending practices at the bank, including accepting stated income loans without verifying the
borrower’s assets or ability to repay the loan, low documentation loans, loans with low FICO
scores and high loan-to-value ratios, loans that required interest only payments, and loan
payments that did not cover even the interest owed, much less the principal.> When one OTS
examiner attempted to restrict‘No Income No Asset (NINA loans}’in which the lender did not
have to verify information about a borrower's income or assets, the OTS West Region overruled
him and ignored an OTS pelicy official in Washington, D.C., discouraging use of such loans,
calling him a‘Jone rangef’within the agency.

When Washington Mutual announced its shift to higher risk loans, OTS examiners
observed that robust risk management practices would be necessary to function as a check and
balance on the high-risk lending strategy. Yet from 2005 through 2008, OTS examiners
consistently found Washington Mutual's risk management practices lacking. In addition, as noted
above, throughout this period, OTS examiners continuously criticized Washington Mutual's
underwriting standards and practices as“less than satisfactory”and the amount of underwriting
errors as“higher than acceptable?” OTS also observed over the years loans with erroneous or
fraudulent information, loans that did not comply with the bank's credit requirements, or loans
that contained other problems. Notwithstanding the many control weaknesses the banK’s
underwriting and risk management practices, OTS examiners took no action to bring about
change in these areas.

OTS examiners were also aware that many Washington Mutual and Long Beach loans
were brought to the bank by third party mortgage brokers or lenders over which the bank
exercised weak oversight, but again took little action. For example, when OTS examiners noted
in a 2007 findings memo that Washington Mutual had only 14 full-time employees overseeing
over 34,000 third-party brokers, the examiners made only the following observation: “Given the .
.. increase in fraud, early payment defaults, first payment defaults, subprime delinquencies, etc.,
management should re-assess the adequacy of staffing” Washington Mutual management
agreed with the finding, but provided no corrective action plan, stating only that‘{sjtaffing needs
are evaluated continually and adjusted as necessary?”

In 2006, due to increasing concerns about lax lending practices and exotic high-risk
mortgages, federal bank regulators worked together to draft inter-agency guidance on

? See, e.g., OTS Report of Examination for Washington Mutual Bank, March 14, 2006, at 19, OTSWMEF-
0000047030 (“We believe the level of delinquencies, if left unchecked, could erode the credit quality of the
portfolio. Our concerns are increased when the risk profile of the portfolio is considered, including concentrations
in Option ARMS to higher-risk borrowers, in low and limited documentation loans, and loans with subprime or
higher-risk characteristics. We are concerned further that the current market environment is masking potentially
higher credit risk.”).

* OTS Examination Findings Memo, “Broker Credit Administration,” June 7, 2007, Hedger_Ann-00027930_001.
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nontraditional mortgage products (NTM guidancé). During the drafting process, OTS argued for
less stringent lending standards than other regulators were advocating, using data supplied by
Washington Mutual in order to protect the banK's loan volume. Once the guidance was issued in
October 2006, while other bank regulators told their institutions that they were expected to come
into immediate compliance, OTS took the position that compliance was something institutions
“thould’do, not something they“must’do, and allowed its thrifts over a year to comply.

For example, the NTM guidance required banks to evaluate a borrower’s ability to repay a
mortgage using a fully-indexed interest rate and fully-amortized payment amount. Washington
Mutual, after learning that compliance with that requirement would lead to a 33% drop in loan
volume due to borrowers who would no longer qualify for the loans, determined to*hold[] off on
implementation until required to act for public relations. .or regulatory reasons” OTS allowed
Washington Mutual to continue qualifying borrowers using lower loan payment amounts for
another year, resulting in the bank’s originating many Option ARM loans that would later suffer
significant losses.

OTS justified its regulatory stance in part by pointing to Washington Mutuals profits and
low level of mortgage delinquencies during the height of the mortgage boom, reasoning that the
lack of losses made it difficult to require the bank to reduce the risks threatening the bank’s safety
and soundness. The OTS Examiner in Charge put it this way in a 2005 email: “It has been hard
for us to justify doing much more than constantly nagging (okay, ‘chastising) through ROE and
meetings, since they have not been really adversely impacted in terms of losses” Another
examiner concerned about the bank expressed her frustration this way: ‘Imnot up for the fight or
the blood pressure problems. . . . It doesn’t matter that we are right . . . They [Washington
Mutuap aren’t interested in our ‘opinions of the program. They want black and white, violations
or not’

FDIC evaluations of Washington Mutual were consistently more negative than those of
the OTS, with LIDI ratings that showed a higher degree of bank risk than OTS CAMELS ratings
indicated, creating friction between the two agencies. In 2006, OTS began to exclude FDIC staff
from active bank oversight by limiting the number of staff allowed on site, temporarily
disrupting FDIC access to office space and bank information, and refusing to allow FDIC to
review loan files, even for higher risk loans that could affect the FDIC's assessment of insurance
fees on Washington Mutual or pose a threat to the deposit insurance fund. In February 2007,
OTS refused to allow the FDIC to review loan files to evaluate Washington Mutual's compliance
with the NTM guidance. In April 2007, when FDIC officials raised the issue with the OTS West
Region Director, he disclosed for the first time to the FDIC that OTS was allowing the bank
additional time to comply with the guidance before conducting file reviews.

* Email from Ron Catheart to David Schneider, dated March 19, 2007, JPM_WMO02571598.

* EIC Lawrence Carter email to West Region Deputy Director Darrel Dochow, Sept. 15, 2005, OTSWMS05-002
0000535,

® Email from Mary Suzanne Clark to EIC Ben Franklin, dated June 3, 2007, OTSWMS07-013 0002576.

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00208 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.102



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

195

7

‘When asked why the FDIC did not use its independent enforcement authority at
Washington Mutual, one senior FDIC official told the Subcommittee that the agency had never
used that authority because its fellow banking agencies would view an independent enforcement
action as“an act of waf™an invasion of their regulatory turf that would irreparably harm the
FDICs working relationships with those agencies. Rather than take independent enforcement
action, the FDIC had restricted itself to urging action by the primary bank regulator.

In July 2007, U.S. financial markets took a turn for the worse. Credit rating agencies
suddenly downgraded hundreds of subprime mortgage backed securities, including over 40 Long
Beach securities, and the subprime market collapsed. Washington Mutual was suddenly stuck
with billions of dollars in unmarketable subprime loans and securities, and reported a §1 billion
loss in the fourth quarter of 2007. In late February 2008, OTS downgraded Washington Mutual
for the first time, changing its CAMELS rating from a 2 to a 3, signifying a troubled bank. At
that point, consistent with its own practice, OTS should have concomitantly issued an
enforcement action, but did not do so. Washington Mutual lost another $1 billion in the first
quarter of 2008, and $3.2 billion in the second quarter. Its stock price plummeted, and depositors
began withdrawing substantial sums.

In March 2008, at the urging of the FDIC, Washington Mutual invited potential buyers of
the bank to review its information. Several institutions responded, and JPMorgan Chase made an
offer which Washington Mutual turned down. The bank raised additional capital of $7 billion
instead to reassure the market. In July 2008, IndyMac, another thrift with high risk loans, failed
and was taken over by the FDIC. In response, Washington Mutual depositors began to withdraw
more funds from the bank, eventually removing over $9 billion.

During this liquidity run on the bank, the FDIC formally challenged the OTS CAMELS
rating, advocating a downgrade to a 4, indicating significant concern about the bank's long-term
viability. The two agencies argued amongst themselves over the rating for weeks during the
summer of 2008, as the bank's condition continued to deteriorate. Finally, in September 2008, as
the FDICs judgment of Washington Mutuals risk profile became more severe, the FDIC
independently downgraded the bank to a 4. In response, mere days before the bank's failure,
OTS agreed to the 4 rating. In addition, on September 7, 2008, OTS took its first formal
enforcement action, requiring the bank to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding. Even
then, the MOU did not require the bank to strengthen its lending or risk management practices,
instead directing if to hire a consultant to revise its business plan. FDIC contributed the strongest
measure, requiring development of a plan to increase the bank’s capital. Apart from the
capitalization plan, OTS Chief Operating Officer described the MOU as a‘benign supervisory
document?”

After Washington Mutual failed, the OTS Examiner in Charge at the bank expressed his
frustration with the role played by the bank regulators, writing to an OTS colleague: “You know,
I think that once we (pretty much all the regulators) acquiesced that stated income lending was a
reasonable thing, and then compounded that with the sheer insanity of stated income, subprime,
100% CLTV [Combined Loan-to-Value], lending, we were on the figurative bridge to nowhere.
Even those of us that were early opponents let ourselves be swayed somewhat by those that
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accused us of being ‘chicken littl¢ because the losses were slow in coming, and let{]s not forget
the mantra that ‘our shops have to make these loans in order to be competitive. I will never be
talked out of something I know to be fundamentally wrong ever again!t’

OTS failure to act allowed Washington Mutual to engage in unsafe and unsound practices
that cost borrowers their homes, led to a loss of confidence in the bank, and sent hundreds of
billions of dollars of toxic mortgages into the financial system with its resulting impact on
financial markets at large.

Findings. Federal bank regulators are supposed to ensure the safety and soundness of
individual U.S. financial institations and, by extension, the U.S. banking system. Washington
Mutual was just one of many financial institutions that federal banking regulators allowed to
engage in such high risk home loan lending practices that they resulted in bank failure and
damage to financial markets. The ineffective role of bank regulators was a major contributor to
the 2008 financial crisis that continues to afflict the U.S. and world economy today.

Based upon the Subcommitte€’s ongoing investigation, we make the following findings of
fact regarding the role of federal regulators in the Washington Mutual case history.

(1) Largest U.S. Bank Failure. From 2003 to 2008, OTS repeatedly identified significant
problems with Washington Mutuals lending practices, risk management, and asset
quality, but failed to force adequate corrective action, resulting in the largest bank failure
in U.S. history.

(2) Sheddy Lending and Securitization Practices. OTS allowed Washington Mutual and
its affiliate Long Beach Mortgage Company to engage year after year in shoddy lending
and securitization practices, failing to take enforcement action to stop its origination and
sale of loans with fraudulent borrower information, appraisal problems, errors, and
notoriously high rates of delinquency and loss.

(3) Unsafe Option ARM Leans. OTS allowed Washington Mutual to originate hundreds of
billions of dollars in high risk Option Adjustable Rate Mortgages, knowing that the bank
used unsafe and unsound teaser rates, qualified borrowers using unrealistically low loan
payments, permitted borrowers to make minimum payments resulting in negatively
amortizing loans (i.e., loans with increasing principal), relied on rising house prices and
refinancing to avoid payment shock and loan defaults, and had no realistic data to
calculate loan losses in markets with flat or declining house prices.

(4) Short Term Profits Over Long Term Fundamentals. OTS abdicated its responsibility
to ensure the long-term safety and soundness of Washington Mutual by concluding that

7 OTS EIC Benjamin Franklin email to OTS Examiner Thomas Constantine, Oct. 7, 2008, Franklin_Benjamin-
00034415,
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short-term profits obtained by the bank precluded enforcement action to stop the bank’s
use of shoddy lending and securitization practices and unsafe and unsound loans.

(5) Impeding FDIC Oversight. OTS impeded FDIC oversight of Washington Mutual by
blocking its access to bank data, refusing to allow it to participate in bank examinations,
rejecting requests to review bank loan files, and resisting FDIC recommendations for
stronger enforcement action.

(6) FDIC Shortfalls. FDIC, the backup regulator of Washington Mutual, was unable to
conduct the analysis it wanted to evaluate the risk posed by the bank to the Deposit
Insurance Fund, did not prevail against unreasonable actions taken by OTS to limit its
examination authority, and did not initiate its own enforcement action against the bank in
light of ongoing opposition by the primary federal bank regulators to FDIC enforcement
authority.

(7) Recommendations Over Enforceable Requirements. Federal bank regulators
undermined efforts to end unsafe and unsound mortgage practices at U.S. banks by
issuing guidance instead of enforceable regulations limiting those practices, failing to
prohibit many high risk mortgage practices, and failing to set clear deadlines for bank
compliance.

(8) Failure to Recognize Systemic Risk. OTS and FDIC allowed Washington Mutual and
Long Beach to reduce their own risk by selling hundreds of billions of dollars of high risk
mortgage backed securities that polluted the financial system with poorly performing
loans, undermined investor confidence in the secondary mortgage market, and
contributed to massive credit rating downgrades, investor losses, disrupted markets, and
the U.S. financial crisis.

(9) Ineffective and Demoralized Regulatory Culture. The Washington Mutual case
history exposes the regulatory culture at OTS in which bank examiners are frustrated and
demoralized by their inability to stop unsafe and unsound practices, in which their
supervisors are reluctant to use formal enforcement actions even after years of serious
bank deficiencies, and in which regulators treat the banks they oversee as constituents
rather than arms-length regulated entities.
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A Mortgage Time Bomb

Targeting Higher Risk Borrowers

Steering Borrowers to Higher Risk Home Loans

Increasing Sales of High Risk Home Loans to Wall Street
Offering Teaser Rates

Offering Interest Only and “Pick a Payment” Loans

Offering Negative Amortizing Loans

Not Verifying Income (Accepting Stated Income or “Liar” Loans)
Requiring Low or No Documentation

Qualifying Borrowers By Ability to Make Initial Low Payments
Ignoring Signs of Fraudulent Borrower Information

Presuming Rising Home Prices When Approving Loans

Making Loans That Are Dependent on Refinancing to Work
Using Lax Controls over Loan Approvals

Offering Higher Pay for Making Higher Risk Home Loans
Offering Higher Pay for Charging Excess Interest Rates or Points
Rewarding Employees for Loan Volume over Loan Quality
Securitizing Home Loans Identified as Likely to Fail

Securitizing Home Loans Identified as Fraudulent

Prepared by U.S, Senate Permanent Subcommittes on Investigations, April 2010

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
EXHIBIT #1b
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Office of Thrift Supervision Comments On WaMu and Long Beach
Underwriting/Lending Deficiencies

e “Underwriting ... remains less than satisfactory.” September 2004

e “[NJot ... successful in effecting change.” Seprember 2004

s “[Ulnderwriting exceptions [are] evidence [of] lack of compliance with bank policy.” June 2005
* “[Dleficiencies, if left unchecked, could erode the credit quality of the portfolio. Our concerns are
increased with the risk profile of the portfolio.” August 2005

o “[Dleterioration in these [Long Beach] older securitizations is not unexpected.” October 2005

2006:
* “[Clontinuing weakness in ... loan underwriting at Long Beach.” March 2006

o “[N]umerous instances of underwriter exceeding underwriting guidelines ... [and] errors.” M
g gu ay

2006

» “[Tjoo much emphasis was placed on loan production ... at the expense of loan quality.” September

2007
* “[S]ubprime underwriting practices remain less than satisfactory.” September 2007

* “[Ulnderwriting exceptions and errors remain above acceptable levels.” September 2007

» “[N]ot in compliance with the Interagency Guidance on Nontraditional Mortgages.” June 2008

* “High SFR [single family residential loan] losses due in part to ... poor underwriting.” July 2008

¢ “[Alctions should have been taken sooner.” July 2008 K permanent Subcommittee on Lnvesti ,';D,,S‘I
Permanent Subcommitteg on Investigations|

EXHIBIT #1¢

Prepared by U.S. Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations, April 2010
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Excerpts from Documents Showing OTS Repeatedly Identified
Washington Mutual and Long Beach Underwriting/Lending Deficiencies

2004

“Underwriting of SFR loans remains less than satisfactory.” One of the three causes of underwriting
deficiencies was “a sales culture focused on building market share.” 2004 Report of Examination (ROE),
9/13/04, OTSWMS04-0000001497. (Full exhibit sealed.)

“Notwithstanding satisfactory asset quality overall, some areas still require focused management and Board
attention. Most important is the need to address weaknesses in single-family residential (SFR) underwriting,
which is an ongoing issue from prior exams.” 2004 ROE, 9/13/04, OTSWMS04-0000001492. (Full exhibit
sealed.)

“The level of SFR underwriting exceptions in our samples has been an ongoing examination issue for several
years and one that management has found difficult to address.” Field Visit ROE, 10/18/04, OTSWMEF-
00000047576. (Full exhibit sealed.)

“[Residential Quality Assurance]’s review of 2003 originations disclosed critical error rates as high as 57.3
percent of certain loan samples, thereby indicating that SFR underwriting still requires much improvement,
While this group has appropriately identified underwriting deficiencies, it has not been as successful in
effecting change.” 2004 ROE, 9/13/04, OTSWMS04-000001498. (Full exhibit sealed.)

2005

“SFR Loan Underwriting — This has been an area of concern for several exams. As management continues
to make change in organization, staffing, and structure related to SFR loan underwriting, delays in meeting
target dates become inevitable. The board should closely monitor these delays to ensure they do not become
protracted.” MRBA, OTS Letter to Washington Mutual Board of Directors, 2/7/05, OTSWMEF-
0000047591, (Full exhibit sealed.)

“[Securitizations] prior to 2003 have horrible performance. ... LBMC finished in the top 12 worst
annualized [Net Credit Losses] in 1997 and 1999 thru 2003. ... At 2/05, LBMC was #] with a 12%
delinquency rate. Industry was around 8.25%.” Internal OTS email, 4/14/05, OTSWME05-012 0000806.
Exhibit 19.

“We continue to have concerns regarding the number of underwriting exceptions and with issues that
evidence lack of compliance with Bank policy.” OTS Exam Findings Memo, 6/3/05, “Single Family
Residential Home Loan Review,” OTSWME05-004 0000392, Exhibit 26.

“[W]e remain concerned with the number of underwriting exceptions and with issues that evidence lack of
compliance with bank policy .... [T]he level of deficiencies, if left unchecked, could erode the credit quality
of the portfolio. Our concerns are increased with the risk profile of the portfolio is considered, including
concentrations in Option ARM loans to higher-risk borrowers, in low and limited documentation loans, and
loans with subprime or higher-risk characteristics. We are concerned further that the current market
environment is masking potentially higher credit risk.” 2005 ROE, 8/29/05, OTSWMS05-004 0001794,
(Full exhibit sealed.)

Permanent Subcommitiee on Investigations
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“Older securitizations of [LBMC] continue to have some issues due to previously known underwriting issues
in some vintages. The deterioration in these older securitizations is not unexpected.” 2005 Holding
Company Field Visit ROE, 10/3/05, OTSWMS06-010 00002532, (Full exhibit sealed.)

2006

“During the prior examination, we noted numerous instances of underwriters exceeding underwriting
guidelines, errors in income calculations, errors in debt-to-income (DTI) calculations, lack of sufficient
mitigating factors for credit-quality related issues, and insufficient title insurance coverage on negative
amortization loans. . . .. [Ulnderwriting errors [] continue to require management’s attention.” OTS Exam
Findings Memo, 5/23/06, “Home Loan Underwriting,” OTSWMS06-008 0001299, Exhibit 33.

“Overall, we concluded that the number and severity of underwriting errors noted remain at higher than
acceptable levels.” OTS Exam Findings Memo, 5/25/06, “Loan Underwriting Review - Long Beach
Mortgage,” OTSWMS06-008 0001243, Exhibit 35.

“Subprime underwriting practices remain less than satisfactory. .. .[TThe number and severity of
underwriting exceptions and errors remain at higher than acceptable levels. ... The findings of this
judgmental sample are of particular concern since loans with risk layering . .. should reflect more, rather
than less, stringent underwriting. Borrowers in this category generally have debt ratios that are near the
maximum rations allowed by LBMC’s policy; thus, any DTI ratio calculation errors made by LBMC
underwriters for such borrowers are likely to push these loans outside LBMC’s underwriting guidelines for
DTI ratios.” 2006 ROE, 8/29/06, OTSWMS06-008 0001680. (Full exhibit sealed.)

2007

“Underwriting policies, procedures, and practices were in need of improvement, particularly with respect to
stated income lending. Based on our current findings, and the fact that a number of similar concerns were
raised at prior examinations, we concluded that too much emphasis was placed on loan production, often at
the expense of loan quality.” 2007 ROE, 9/18/07, OTSWMEF-0000046679. (Full exhibit sealed.)

“Based on our review of 75 subprime loans originated by LBMC, we concluded that subprime underwriting
practices remain less than satisfactory . ... Given that this is a repeat concern and MRBA, we informed
management that underwriting must be promptly corrected, or heightened supervisory action would be taken,
including limiting the Bank's ability to continue SFR subprime underwriting.” 2007 ROE, 9/18/07,
OTSWMEF-0000047146. (Full exhibit sealed.)

2008

“High SFR losses due in part to downturn in real estate market but exacerbated by: geographic
concentrations, risk layering, liberal underwriting policy, poor underwriting.” OTS Presentation to WaMu
Board of Directors based on Comprehensive Examinations, 7/15/08, Polakoff_Scott-00061303_007. Exhibit
12.

“Discontinuing higher risk lending and tightened underwriting policy should improve asset quality; however,
actions should have been taken sooner,” OTS Presentation, 7/15/08, Polakoff_Scott-00061303_012. Exhibit
12.
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Excerpts from Documents Showing OTS Repeatedly Identified
Washington Mutual and Long Beach Risk Management Deficiencies

2004

“Board oversight and management performance has been satisfactory ... but ... increased operational
risks warrant prompt attention. These issues limit the institution’s flexibility and may threaten its ability
to remain competitive and independent.” 2004 Report of Examination (ROE), 9/13/04, OTSWMS04-
0000001504, (Full exhibit sealed.)

“[Plrimary risks associated with Long Beach Mortgage Company remain regulatory risk, reputation risk,
and liquidity of the secondary market in subprime loans.” 2004 Holding Company ROE, 4/5/04,
OTSWMEF-0000047477. (Full exhibit sealed.)

“Ensure cost-cutting measures are not impacting critical risk management areas.” 2004 ROE, 9/13/04,
OTSWMS04-000001488. (Full exhibit sealed.)

2005

“Monitor and obtain reports from management on status of [Enterprise Risk Management] in terms of
effectiveness and resource adequacly. ... ERM provides an important check and balance on the
company's profit-oriented units and warrants ongoing strong Board commitment given the institution’s
curtent strategic direction.” MRBA, 2005 ROE, 8/29/05, OTSWMS05-004 0001783. (Full exhibit
sealed.)

“Until full exception data collection, reporting, and follow-up processes are in place and stabilized, senior
management and the Board cannot fully assess whether quality assurance processes are having a
meaningful impact on line activities, including loan underwriting. We are particularly concerned with the
establishment of good quality assurance process for SFR underwriting, which has been an issue for the
past several examinations.” 2005 ROE, 8/29/05, OTSWMS05-004 0001792, (Full exhibit sealed.)

“We criticized the lack of Trend and Dashboard Report to senior management and the board, without
which it is impossible to determine whether line functions are performing acceptably and, more
specifically, whether the quality assurance process is having a meaningful impact on improving loan
underwriting.” 2005 Field Visit ROE, 10/3/05, OTSWMEF-0000047602. (Full exhibit sealed.)

2006

“Continue to monitor and obtain reports from management on the status of ERM to ensure its
effectiveness and adequacy of resources. ... ERM should provide an important check and balance on
profit-oriented units ... particularly given the bank's current strategy involving increased credit risk.”
MRBA, 2006 ROE 8/29/06, OTSWMS06-008 0001671. (Full exhibit sealed.)

“Within ERM, fraud risk management at the enterprise level is in the early stage of development.” 2006
ROE, 8/29/06, OTSWMS06-008 0001687. (Full exhibit sealed.)

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations!
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2007

“Risk management practices in the HLG (Home Loans Group) during most of the review period were
inadequate .... We believe that there were sufficient negative credit trends that should have elicited more
aggressive action by management with respect to limiting credit exposure. In particular, as previously
noted, the risk misrepresentation in stated income loans has been generally reported for some time. This
information should have led management o better assess the prudence of state income lending and curtail
riskier products well before we indicated during this examination that we would limit the Bank’s ability
to continue such lending.” 2007 ROE, 9/18/07, OTSWMEF-0000046681. (Full exhibit sealed.)

“Board oversight and management’s performance was less than satisfactory. ... Contributing factors
should have been more proactively managed by the Board and management. The most significant of
these factors include Matters Requiring Board Attention that were noted in prior examinations but were
not adequately addressed, including ... an ERM function that was not fully effective.” 2007 ROE,
9/18/07, OTSWMEF-0000046690. (Full exhibit sealed.)

“The ERM function has been less than effective for some time. ... ERM has not matured in a timely
manner and other ERM functions have been generally ineffective.” 2007 ROE, 9/18/07, OTSWMEF-
0000046691, (Full exhibit sealed.)

2008

“Poor financial performance due in part to market conditions; however, performance exacerbated by
conditions within management’s control: poor underwriting quality, geographic concentrations in
problem markets, liberal underwriting policy, risk layering.” OTS Presentation to WaMu Board of
Directors based on Comprehensive Examinations, 7/15/08, Polakoff Scott-00061303_027. Exhibit 12.

“An adequate [Enterprise Risk Management] function still does not exist although this has been an
MRBA for some time.” OTS Presentation, 7/15/08, Polakoff Scott-00061303_028. Exhibit 12.
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Excerpts from Documents Showing
Slow and Weak OTS Enforcement at Washington Mutual

2003

“It is clear from my experience that changes seem to progress slowly at WaMu so I don’t know if we can
expect faster progress .... If any target is missed, as happens at WaMu, then we may not be in a position
to determine the effectiveness of the corrective actions.” Email from Dennis Fitzgerald, OTS Examiner,
to Lawrence Carter, 6/27/03, OTSWEM04-0000006748. Exhibit 15.

2004

“In any event, a paragraph very clearly tells WaMu they need to identify originated subprime in both
home and consumer loans and demonstrate compliance with the interagency policy .... Ken Kroemer
from the FDIC is pushing toward some arbitrary FICO score cutoff and I think he is going to hit a brick
wall. I'd like us to have our ducks in order so we can head him off at the pass.” Email from Lawrence
Carter to Benjamin Franklin, et al, 4/8/04, Franklin_Benjamin-00001837_001. Exhibit 18.

2005

“The response looks good. They agree to take ail action required to correct the problem. The Target
Completion Dates are not real timely but fine for WaMu.” Email from Verlin Campbell, OTS Examiner,
to Zalka Ancely, OTS Examiner, 6/8/2005, OTSWMEO05-003 0000634. Exhibit 29.

“Agree, but I think this is just one of several symptoms of the ongoing broader problem of getting their
house in order from an underwriting standpoint. It has been hard for us to justify doing much more than
constantly nagging (okay, “chastising") through ROE and meetings, since they have not been really
adversely impacted in terms of losses.” Email from Lawrence Carter to Darrel Dochow, September 15,
2005, OTSWMS05-002 0000535, Exhibit 6.

“While we may (and have) questioned the reasonableness of these standards, they are all we have at this
time. If our tolerance for some reason is now a lot lower than our handbook standards, it would be nice to
have this clarified. ... Obviously, we should have higher expectations for ... a subprime portfolio. ... It
would be nice if they could meet even higher expectations, but that would require us to agree on what the
standard should be.” Email from Lawrence Carter to Benjamin Franklin, Darrel Dochow, and Gail Croil,
11/21/05, OTSEMS05-004 0001911. Exhibit 30.

2006

“The letter seems okay. They obviously want to leave it a little squishy, of course, on the growth plans,
but at least they make a firm commitment to clean up the underwriting issues. At some level, it seems we
have to rely on our relationship and their understanding that we are not comfortable with current
underwriting practices and don’t want them to grow significantly without having the practices cleaned up
first.” Email from Lawrence Carter to Darrel Dochow, 1/27/06, OTSWMS06-008 0001082. Exhibit 32.
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“Good news - John was able to get the OTS to see the light and revise the Underwriting rating to a
Recommendation.” Email from Wayne Pollack, SVP at WaMu, to David Schneider, et al, 5/30/06,
IPM_WM02619434. Exhibit 34.

“OTS confirmed today that they will re-issue this memo without the *Criticism.” It will be a
‘Recommendation.”” Email from John Robinson, VP of Regulatory Relations at WaMu, to colleagues,
5/30/06, JIPM_WM02619435. Exhibit 34.

“... [Wle feel that the few negative things we have brought up through findings memos and meetings,
while important to keep in front of management, are not so serious they wipe out all the right things the
institution is doing in all those areas we reviewed and did not have any issues, nor should they negate the
ongoing good progress in making improvements in a manner that seems reasonable given the size,
complexity, and status of the institution.” Email from OTS examiner Lawrence Carter to OTS Regional
Director Darrel Dochow, 6/15/06, Dochow_Darrel-00022908_001. Exhibit 7.

“[OTS’] initial response was that they view the guidance as flexible. They specifically pointed out that
the language in the guidance says ‘should’ vs. ‘must’ in most cases and they are looking to WaMu to
establish our own position of how the guidance impacts our business processes.” Washington Mutual,
Alternative Mortgage Guidance Implementation Plan, October 2006, JPM_WM02549037. Exhibit 73.

2007

“WaMu’s compliance management program has suffered from a lack of steady, consistent leadership.
Dick Stevenson, who took over as Chief Compliance Officer on March 2, 2007, is the bank’s ninth
compliance leader since 2000...The OTS is very concerned that this lack of consistent, stable leadership
leaves the program vulnerable. This amount of turnover is very unusual for an institution of this size and
is a cause for concern. The Board of Directors should commission an evaluation of why smart, successful,
effective managers can’t succeed in this position. If you would like my opinion, just ask. (HINT: It has to
do with top management not buying into the importance of compliance and turf warfare and Kerry not
liking bad news.)” Draft Compliance Memo from Susie Clark, OTS Compliance Specialist, 5/31/07,
Franklin_Benjamin-00020408_001. Exhibit 9.

“Regulatory Relations [WaMu office that deals with regulators] is a joke. The purpose of this group
seems to be how can we give the regulators the bare minimum without them raising a fuss.” Draft
Compliance Memo from Susie Clark, OTS Compliance Specialist, 5/31/07, Franklin_Benjamin-
00020408 _002. Exhibit 9.

2008

“We almost always do an MOU for 3-rated institutions, and if someone were looking over our shoulders,
they would probably be surprised we don’t already have one in place.” Email from OTS Executive
Director to Kerry Killinger, 7/3/08, OTSWMS08-014 0000912. Exhibit 44.

“{The Memorandum of Understanding] is, unfortunately, another example of a benign supervisory
document.” Email from OTS Senior Deputy Director Scott Polakoff to OTS Deputy Director Tim Ward,
7/28/08, Polakoff Scott-00060660_001. Exhibit 45.
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Excerpts from Documents Showing
OTS Impeding FDIC’s Oversight

2006

“The message was crystal clear today. Absolutely no FDIC participation on any OTS 1 and 2 rated
exams. . . . We should also deny FDIC requests to participate on HC or affiliate exams.” Email from OTS
senior official Michael Finn to Edwin Chow and Darrel Dochow, 1/24/06, OTSWMU06-006 0000129,
Exhibit 49.

“The OTS must really be afraid of what we might come across, but bottom line is we need access to the
information. ... [T]his is the second access issue that has come up on WaMu in a relatively short period
of time . ...” Email from FDIC senior official John Carter to Regional Director George Doerr, 9/7/06,
FDIC-EM_00252239. Exhibit 51(c).

“T have received your response to our August 14 2006 letter in which we request permission to participate
in aspects of the upcoming examination of Washington Mutual Bank. Regarding your reasoning for
rejecting our participation in these target reviews, you are correct that our request is not predicated on any
current disagreement related to examination findings or concerns regarding supervisory activities at
Washington Mutual. Such criteria are not prerequisite for requesting — or for the OTS granting —~ FDIC
staff participation in target examination activities.” Letter from FDIC senior official John Carter to OTS
senior official Michael Finn, 10/6/06, FDIC_WAMU_000014445. Exhibit 52(a).

“Please read info about OTS denying us space and access to information. The situation has gone from bad
to worse.” Email from FDIC Regional Director George Doerr to FDIC senior official John Carter and
others, 10/13/06, FDIC_WAMU_000014449. Exhibit 53.

2007

“I’m just not relishing another round of “No.” Well, let them make fools of themselves again!” Email
from FDIC Regional Director George Doerr to FDIC examiner Stephen Funaro, 1/5/07, FDIC-
EM_00252316. Exhibit 54.

“John, here we go again. This is unnecessary hair splitting by OTS Seattle. ... When it comes to non
traditional mortgages, proper risk assessment would involve getting a feel for how the bank ensures
compliance with non traditional mortgage guidance, and to do that, you do some file review.” Email from
FDIC Regional Director George Doerr to FDIC senior official John Carter, 2/6/07,
FDIC_WAMU_000014456. Exhibit 55.

“[OTS Regional Director] Finn pushed back on his previous approval of our participation in the 2007
exam targets, specifically as to our ability to work loan files alongside OTS examiner, and we were
particularly interested in WAMU’s compliance with nontraditional mortgage guidance. ... Mr. Finn and
his examiner, Ben Franklin, stated that OTS did not intend to look at files for purposes of testing
nontraditional mortgage guidance until after the bank made a few changes they had agreed to. Iasked if
we could then join the file review whenever OTS did look at this, and he said, ‘No.”” Email from FDIC

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
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West Region Assistant Director George Doerr to FDIC official David Collins, 4/30/07,
FDIC_WAMU_000014457. Exhibit 57.

2008

“I have read the attached letter from the FDIC regarding supervision of WaMu and am once again
disappointed that the FDIC has confused its role as insurer with the role of the Primary Federal Regulator.
Its letter is both inappropriate and disingenuous. Iwould like to see our response to the FDIC, which I
assume will remind it that we, as the PFR, will continue to effectively supervise the entity and will
continue to consider FDIC’s views.” Email from OTS senior official Scott Polakoff to Darrel Dochow
and Edwin Chow, 7/22/08, OTSWMS08-014 0000936. Exhibit 59.

“We will follow the appropriate procedures if the staff cannot agree. You asked me to hear out wamu. 1
hope that you would also hear out our examination staff if it comes to that.” Email from FDIC Chairman
Sheila Bair to OTS Executive Director John Reich, 8/1/08, Reich_John-00050932_001. Exhibit 63.

“Major il will at WaMu meeting yesterday caused by FDIC suggestion in front of WaMu management
that they find a strategic partner. Reich reportedly indicated that was totally inappropriate and that type of
conversation should have occurred amongst regulatory agencies before it was openly discussed with
management.” Email from FDIC senior official David Promani to FDIC colleague Stan Ivie, 8/1/08,
FDIC-EM_00246958. Exhibit 64.

“The headbutting is currently going on in DC between myself and Sheila Bair.” Email from OTS
Executive Director John Reich to OTS colleagues Darrel Dochow, Scott Polakof¥, and Tim Ward, 8/6/08,
Ward_Timothy-00005346. - Exhibit 65.

“I should not have to remind you the FDIC has no role until the PFR [Primary Federal Regulator] (i.¢. the
OTS) rules on solvency and the PFR utilizes PCA [Prompt Corrective Action].” Email from OTS
Director John Reich to FDIC Chairman Sheila Bair, 8/6/08, FDIC-EM_00110089. Exhibit 66.

“The purpose of the meeting would be to discuss the various views of the institution’s risk profile,
current actions under consideration by the FDIC, and possible capital considerations. We would control
the meeting and ensure that we have no repeat of the inappropriate behavior displayed by some of the
FDIC in our last session with the bank. This is my idea, not the FDIC’s idea.” Email from OTS senior
official Scott Polakoff to OTS Executive Director John Reich, 9/10/08, Reich_John-00049195_001.
Exhibit 69.

“I cannot believe the continuing audacity of this woman.” Email from OTS Executive Director John
Reich to OTS senior official Scott Polakoff (referring to FDIC Chair Sheila Bair), 9/10/08,
Polakoff_Scott-00065461_001. Exhibit 68.
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Excerpts from Documents Showing OTS Internal Views on
Inability to Stop Poor Quality Lending Practices

2005

“It has been hard for us to justify doing much more than constantly nagging (okay, ‘chastising’) through
[Reports of Examination] and meetings, since they have not been really adversely impacted in terms of
losses.” Email from OTS Examiner Lawrence Carter to OTS supervisor, 9/15/05, OTSWMS05-002
0000535. Exhibit 6. :

“As I have mentioned to some, by the time we come out with regulatory guidance, moral suasion and
market/media attention will have already done the trick, at least for the regulated entities!” Email from
OTS Examiner Lawrence Carter to OTS West Region Assistant Director Darrel Dochow, 9/29/05,
OTSWMS05-002 0000403. Exhibit 5.

2007

“I noted that several of our institutions make NINA loans. That, in my humble opinion is collateral
dependent lending and deemed unsafe and unsound by all the agencies. ... What would ever possess
those institutions to make such loans widely available. I could see it if they required a 760 Fico and lots
of equity? Why would our examiners not question such practices? It is not at all surprising that
delinquencies are up, even among Alt-A. In my opinion, credit standards have gone too low.” Email
from Bill Magrini to OTS supervisor and colleagues, 3/27/07, Quigley_Lori-00110324. Exhibit 76.

“Apparently Bill Magrini is the lone ranger in his view that NINA’s are imprudent. West region position
seems to be that FICO, appraisal, and other documentation such as application etc. is sufficient to assess
the borrower’s ability to repay in all but subprime loans. While I probably fall more into the Magrini
camp (until we get empirical data to support NINAs are not imprudent) we will just document our
findings...until the ‘official’ policy has been worked out.” Email from OTS examiner Ben Franklin to
OTS colleagues, 5/16/07, Franklin_Benjamin-00020056_001. Exhibit 79.

“Considering the meeting on Friday, I'm of a mind to go with a ‘2" I’'m not up for the fight or the blood

pressure problems. ... Since we weren’t able to do a separate evaluation of the process, they will fight it.

It doesn’t matter that we are right, what matters is how it is framed. And all we can do is point to the pile
of complaints and say there is a problem.” Email from OTS examiner Mary Clark to OTS colleagues,
6/3/07, OTSWMS07-013 0002576. Exhibit 39.

2008

“You know, [ think that once we (pretty much all the regulators) acquiesced that stated income lending
was a reasonable thing, and then compounded that with the sheer insanity of stated income, subprime,
100% CLTV, lending, we were on the figurative bridge to nowhere. Even those of us that were early
opponents let ourselves be swayed somewhat by those that accused of being “chicken little” because the
losses were slow in coming, and lets not forget the mantra that ‘our shops have to make these loans in
order to be competitive.”” Email from OTS examiner Ben Franklin to OTS colleague, OTS, 10/7/08,
Franklin_Benjamin-00034415_003. Exhibit 14.
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“Kurt and Steve G laughed at my projections of gloom and doom for stated {income loans] since 2003
and started calling me the housing ‘bubble’ boy. ... When I told Scott Polakoff in April 2007 that stated
income subprime should not be made under any circumstance, I was corrected by Mike Finn that that was
not the West Region’s position. Irest my case. ... [N]ot one regulatory agency had a rule or guideline
saying you couldn’t do stated income lending, even to this day. That, I find incredible. ... [I]n hindsight,
I’m convinced that it is just a flawed product that can’t be fixed and never should have been allowed in
the first place. How do you really assess underwriting adequacy when you allow the borrower to tell you
what he makes without verification. We used to have documentation requirements for underwriting in the
regs, but when those were taken out, the industry slowly migrated to an anything goes that got us into this
mess.” Emails from OTS examiner Ben Franklin to OTS colleague Thomas Constantine, 10/7/08,
Franklin_Benjamin-00034415_001-002. Exhibit 14.

“My big problem is with us allowing people with W-2 incomes to go stated. How hard is it to send that
in. Everyone has it. Also, I can’t believe we allowed 100% financial of anything. What a joke. ... We
were satisfied that the loans were originated for sale. SEC and FED asleep at the switch with the
securitization and repackaging of the cash flows, irrespective of who they were selling to. The lack of
transparency caused the general panic we live with today.” Email from OTS examiner Thomas
Constantine to OTS colleague Ben Franklin, 10/7/08, Franklin_Benjamin-00034415_001. Exhibit 14.
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Washington Mutual Regulators Timeline

DATE

EVENT

1/2005

‘WaMu Board approved High Risk Lending Strategy.

8/29/05

OTS sent Report of Examination to WAMU for 3/14/05 exam, with “2” CAMELS
rating. FDIC participated as back-up regulator. Matters Requiring Board Attention
{MRBAs) included: 1) need for strong Executive Risk Management function; 2)
continued weak loan underwriting; 3) need to enhance Board supervision of
Corporate Risk Oversight group.

1/10/06

WAMU announced lower earnings in 4Q2005 due to increased loss reserves at Long
Beach. Long Beach early payment defaults had increased due to loosened credit
standards, requiring repurchase of about $875 million in whole loans and a $107
million loss. Long Beach management fired.

3/1/2006

With OTS approval, Washington Mutual Bank acquired Long Beach Mortgage
Company from its parent holding company, Washington Mutual Inc.

4/18/06

WaMu Finance Committee approved plan to reduce low risk loans and originate more
high risk loans due to higher gain on sale figures.

6/21/06

WaMu CEO Kerry Killinger released memo on change in the Bank’s strategic
direction, directing Home Loans group to grow its market share in Option ARMs,
Alt-A, and subprime loans, while curtailing low-margin government and fixed rate
loans.

8/30/06

OTS sent Report of Examination for 3/13/06 exam, with “2” rating. MRBAs
included: 1) weak subprime underwriting at Long Beach and marginally satisfactory
prime underwriting; and 2) need to ensure Enterprise Risk Management’s
effectiveness and adequacy of resources.

10/5/06

Nontraditional Mortgage Guidance released by banking regulators, highlighting loan
risks; need for sufficient loan loss reserves and risk management practices; need to
assess borrowers’ ability to repay even after a payment increase; and plan for bank
examiners to scrutinize bank procedures to ensure compliance with guidance.

4/30/07

FDIC repeated request to OTS to evaluate WaMu compliance with NTM Guidance;
OTS refused and said it was allowing WaMu more time to comply.

7/07

Bear Stearns hedge funds failed; credit rating agencies downgraded hundreds of
subprime mortgage backed securities, including 40 at Long Beach; subprime MBS
market slowed and stopped two months later, in September.

9/17/107

OTS sent Report of Examination for 1/8/07 exam, with “2” Rating. MRBAs
included: 1) continued weak subprime lending and instruction to Board to reduce
underwriting deficiencies; and 2) continuing need to monitor Enterprise Risk
Management effectiveness, resources, and support. WaMu ended subprime lending.

1/2008

Credit rating agencies downgraded 7,000 residential mortgage backed securities.
Countrywide closed and sold to Bank of America. WaMu announced $1 billion loss
from 2007 fourth quarter.

2/27/08

OTS downgraded WaMu to a “3,” and required a Board resolution to address
deteriorating conditions.

3/08

At regulators’ urging, WaMu invited potential buyers of bank to review info.
JPMorgan Chase made an offer that WaMu turned down.

4/8/08

‘WaMu announced first quarter loss of $1 billion. WaMu parent holding company
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raised $7.0 billion in capital from investment group Texas Pacific Group.

6/25/08

Darrel Dochow, OTS West Region Director, met with WaMu CEO Kerry Killinger,
who asked if OTS could avoid issuing a Memorandum of Understanding (an informal
enforcement action) to bank. OTS said no. Later in the summer, OTS and FDIC
negotiated over MOU provisions with FDIC pressing for tougher provisions.

7/08

IndyMac failed; WAMU announced second quarter loss of $3.2 billion; WaMu
depositors withdrew $9 billion from bank.

7/15/08

OTS presented Report of Examination to WaMu Board with downgraded capital,
asset quality, and management CAMELS ratings, but an overall rating of “3” for
bank. FDIC agreed with overall rating,

8/1/08

OTS and FDIC met with Killinger and other execs, who presented WaMu's long-term
forecast. FDIC suggested WaMu find a “strategic partner” to meet its capital needs.
OTS upset with FDIC’s suggestion.

8/1/08

FDIC informed OTS it planned to downgrade WaMuto 2 “4.”

9/7/08

WaMu Board signed MOU with OTS. Kerry Killinger resigned.

9/15/08

Lehman declared bankruptcy. WaMu depositors pulled $17 billion over next 8 days.

9/18/08

OTS and FDIC downgraded WaMu to a “4.”

9/08

AIG given bailout; Goldman Sachs & Morgan Stanley convert to bank holding co’s.

9/25/08

OTS closed WAMU and assigned FDIC as receiver. FDIC facilitated immediate sale
to JP Morgan Chase for $1.9 billion. WAMU had $307 billion in assets, $188 billion
in deposits, and 43,000 employees — largest U.S. bank failure ever,

Prepared by the U.S, Senate Subcommittee on Investigations, April 2010
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Administration Section 010

Handbook and Program Use

The Examination Handbook is a new Handbook that integrates safety and soundness (S&S) and
compliance guidance. This Handbook replaces the Thrift Activiies and Compliance Activities
Handbooks. We retained the general layout of the handbooks with a chapter for each CAMELS
component and a chapter for Compliance and the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA).

The Examination Handbook is a guide for the examination of savings associations regulated by the
Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS). Specifically, the Handbook aids OTS regulatory staff and the
savings and loan industry in the regulatory process. The Handbook provides uniform standards for
planning and conducting examinations and addressing supervisory issues. It also serves as a reference
tool, training aid, and guide to national policies and procedures.

The Handbook illustrates and describes, for examiners and the thrift industry, certain standards of
conduct and prudent operation that OTS views as important to the safe and sound operation of savings
associations. These standards should be consistent with the respective fiduciary duties of those
individuals associated with them.

This Handbook Section explins how to use the Handbook and the programs in the examination

process. It describes the organization of the Handbook chapters and sections, and sets forth objectives
and procedures common to all phases of the examination.

REGULATORY PROCESS

The regulatory process allows you to meet the following objectives:
o Assess an association’s degree of safety and soundness.
®  Assess the adequacy of the association’s compliance management program.

s Assess how well an association manages compliance with consumer protection and public
interest-related laws and regulations (Complance).

e Hvaluate an associatdon’s condition.
¢ Identify the association’s strengths.

o ldentify existing regulatory violations.

Office of Thrift Supervision November 2004 Examination Handbook 0101

OTSWMEF-0000031968
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Administration _ Section 010

s Idendfy potenn'ai problems.

® Prevent the development or continuation of unsafe operating practices.”
* Report findings.

¢ Inform directors of association strengths and weaknesses.

e Facilitate corrective action where needed.

Proactive regulatory supervision should evaluate future needs

and potential risks to ensure the success of the thrift system in The Handbook encourages
the long term. This Handbook provides a framework for the independent reasoning,
successful completion of that process. objectivity, efficiency, and

. professionalism in the
The Handbook encourages independent reasoning, objectivity, examination process.
efficiency, and professionalism in the examination process. To

promote consistency among the OTS regional offices, the

Handbook sets forth national minimum standards for examination objectives and procedures. While
this process promotes standardization of the examination process, we encourage you to modify
programs to fit the association’s specific needs.

We are designing the Examination Handbook to cover S&S, compliance, and CRA for both new and
experienced examiners. Background information, applicable references, and expanded procedures
within the text serve to help in the learning process.

You should supplement your use of the Handbook and associated programs with your education,
experience, and judgment. We will periodically update the Handbook and issue individual sections as
necessary. Separate manuals are available for Compliance Self-Assessment, Holding Companies, Trust
and Asset Management Activities, Information Technology (IT), and Applications Processing. These
Handbooks are available via the OTS website.

HANDBOOK ORGANIZATION

The Examination Handbook will contain a table of contents, one chapter for each CAMELS element, a
chapter on other activities, and a chapter for Compliance and CRA. A brief discussion of the
Handbook’s organization appears below.

Table of Contents

>

The table of contents lists each Handbook chapter, section number and title; and, if applicable
programs, questionnaires, and appendices,

010.2 Examination Handbook November 2004 Office of Thrift Supervision

OTSWMEF-0000031969
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Administration Section 010

000 Administration

This chapter gives a general overview of the administration and coordination of the regulatory process.
It includes instructions on determining the scope of an examination, monitoring the regulatory profile
process, assigning component and composite CAMELS ratings, and Compliance and CRA ratings, and
devising an examination strategy.

100 Capital Adequacy

This chapter provides useful information for assessing whether an association’s capital position is
sufficient, given the risk level, to ensure ongoing viability. Discussions of minimum regulatory capital
requirements, prompt corrective action (PCA) categories, and stock ownership and control help you
determine the adequacy and composition of an association’s capital.

200 Asset Quality

This chapter addresses the following two issues:
e The determination of risks related to the association’s assets.
s The association’s management, administration, and evaluation of the quality of these assets.

It also provides guidance in assessing credit risk and reviewing asset portfolios (including loans,
investments, and other assets). This chapter focuses on three areas:

*  The quality of loan underwriting and portfolio management.
® Affirmation of classified asset levels.
® Adequacy of valuation allowances.

There are also sections discussing real estate appraisals, loan sampling, the Qualified Thrift Lender Test,
and margin securities.

300 Management

This chapter provides guidance in evaluating the capability of executive management and the board of
directors. It covers objectives, procedures, and references for examining compliance management,
internal controls, internal and independent audits, fraud and insider abuse, and transactions with
affiliates and insiders.

Office of Thrift Supervision November 2004 Examination Handbook 0103

OTSWMEF-0000031970
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Administration Section 010

400 Earnings

This chapter will assist in analyzing an association’s financial condition. It covers objectives,
procedures, and references for examining the association’s financial record keeping and reporting
methods and operations analysis. The chapter also discusses present value analysis.

500 Liquidity

This chapter provides assistance in assessing liquidity and the funding risk confronting an association. It
includes material on funds management, liquidity management, and investment activities. The chapter
also discusses the Government Securities Act, Payments Systems Risk, and Regulation D.

600 Sensitivity to Market Risk

This chapter provides assistance in assessing the market risk confronting an associaton. It includes
guidance on managing interest rate risk and hedging.

700 Other Activities

This chapter addresses review of the thrift’s or subordinate organization’s activities in insurance, real
estate development, and networking arrangements.

This chapter also provides guidance in the evaluation of risk that operating subsidiaties, service
corporations, and lower-tier entities (such as joint ventures or limited partnerships) pose to the
association and thereby the insurance fund.

1000 Compliance

The Compliance chapter covers the new Compliance Oversight Examination Program (COEP); fair
lending laws and regulations such as the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and the Fair Housing Act; the
consumer protection laws and regulations such as the Truth in Lending Act, Real Estate Settlement
Procedures Act, and the Electronic Funds Transfer Act; the laws and regulations such as the Bank
Secrecy Act, the Bank Protection Act, and the Community Reinvestment Act and regulations.

FFIEC-Approved Procedures

In many instances, you will notice that the Federal Financial Institution Examination Council (FFIEC)
logo and approval appears at the bottom of the first page of a Compliance section addressing a law or
regulation. This indicates that the entire section, including the examination objectives and procedures,
has been approved for use by all the agencies represented on the FFIEC (the Federal Reserve Board,
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, OTS, and the
National Credit Union Administration).

010.4 Examination Handbook November 2004 Office of Thrift Supervision
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Ancelx‘ Zalka A

From: Hickok, Bruce |

Sent: Monday, June 27, 2005 3:37 PM

To: Ancely, Zalka A

Subject: RE: Revised ALLL Findings Memo Response

Sensitivity: Private

Zalka,

in summary, the extended time frames (1 - 2 month i for imp ion of various portions of the response do

not appear to be significant due 10 the fact that they are only 1-2 month extensions of management's own initiatives and
we don't want to penalize management for their own initiatives. Also, the overall level of ALLL was considered o be a
conservative level so its not critical to implement new models or procedures in order to get an increase in ALLL to an
adequate jevel.

However, it does bring up the questions if implementation of LPRM v3.1 will be delayed until the 3rd party validation is
completed (by January 31, 2008) or will the 3rd party validation be done after the fact since Joe Mattey’s group has already
done a validation separate from the vendors validation? Also, is there a bigger reason why they are delaying some items?
Do they need some more recoveries at June 30, 2006 fo offset poorer operating results, or will implementation of LPRM
v3.1 result in a recovery of ALLL that management wants to delay since preliminary 2nd quarter operating results look to
be stronger than expected? These are just larger questions about managements underlying reasons for the extensions.
The extensions are understandable if they are actually due to operational issues (fime needed by management fo actually
complete the expanded support for the unallocated standards and further validation of the model).

Bruce
208.468.5038
~—riginal Message---
From: Ancely, Zalka A
Sent: Monday, )une27 2005 1:30 PM
Fo: Hickok, Bru

Subject: Revised ALLL Fmdms Memo Response
Sensitivity:  Private

Bruce,

As noted in the email sent by Cathy D., management has revised their response which includes time frames. Please
let me know if this is acceptable,

Tharks!
z
<< File: OTS Memo 3 - ALLL Modeling {Final).doc >>

Important Notice - Please Read

This electronic message, along with any attachments, is an official United States government communication and is
intended solely for the identified recipients. This communication may contain unpublished OTS information within the
scope of 12 C.F.R. § 510.5. Unpublished OTS information is subject to restrictions on use and disclosure as set forth
therein. You may not use or disclose unpublished OTS information except as provided in 12 C.F.R. § 510.5.
Unauthorized access or release of this communication may result in civil and criminal sanctions.

If you received this communication in error, please permanently delete it from your system, destroy any paper copies,
and notify the sender promptly.

AuthCode3c3417c2-088s-1147-934a-000347082632

1

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
EXHIBIT #3
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Dochow, Darrel W
From: Carter, Lawrence D
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2005 7:36 AM
To: Kirch, Kurt J
Ce: Dochow, Darrel W
Subject: Morigage Survey
Sensitivity: Private

Kurt, thank you for getting my input on the affordability products survey. Darrel gave me a copy during our meeting
yesterday, but { didn't realize it was such a monster with such a short turnaround time. 1t's hard to believe we've only had it
for a couple of days and people are trying to get it out this week.

{ would not send this to WAMU without more preparation. First, | think it asks for too much detailed information. it reads
more like an exam program than a survey. ! wish we would have had it at the baginning of our exam. it looks as though
we have asked for everything we could think of without perhaps thinking through exactly what we were going to do with al
the information. | think what might happen is that institutions will have to do a lot of f g of proxy

because they will have a difficult time meeting the needs of the mairix exactly. This would mean we would not have apples
{0 apples comparative data, which would kind of defeat our purpose | think. Second, this seems more geared to
institutions for which this information has never been collected before (OCC, Fed?). Wa have been doing our neg am
survey for a while and we have been geiting other information about the so called affordability products during our regular
exams. Third, we just did an exam and obtained ali kinds of information. We probably have similar, though not exact,
information as requested in the survey, But the bottom line is that we reviewed the risk and communicated our concerns
to management already. To ask for this similar information in the survey would almost be like one hand didn't know what
the other was doing. My preference would be to shorten the survey quite a bit and start with higher leve! information, and
then drili down on individual exams.

My own personal opinion, of course, is that we are late to the party. The yield curve, the media, and particularly the rating
agencies are already having an effect. 1 think the excitement over Option ARMs will dwindie and underwriting will probably
tighten.

With ali that said, | wouid at least make the following changes to the survey. when we ask for things from the past
"several” years, | would change that to "three.” | would change “investor owned property” loans to "non-owner occupied
loans.” #4-stress testing is not clear. #5-we are asking for too much-—almost exam-iike request. #6-we need to ask them
to describe, "in general,” the controls and procedures... #7-Agaln describe "in general” pricing methodology ... #8--Again,
too much~exam-like request #10--what about ARM and neg am disclosures, or other special compliance disclosures—did
anyone from compliance look at this request? #11--add borrowers with FICO scores below 620, borrowers on higher LTV
{greater than 85%) loans, efc.77?

MOST iIMPORTANT is that { have a meeting with Jake Domer this morning and would like to get psrmission from
whomevar | need to get permission from to give him a draft copy of this survey and ask how difficult it would be
to complite some of the information. This wouid be a perfact opportunity to give some verbal guidance on what
we are trying to achieve rather than the institution just getting » form letter.

Thanks again for working through me. 1 think it is really important that these kinds of things get channeled properly so this
gets handled professionally and effectively..

1

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
EXHIBIT #4
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13524 )
Dochow, Darrel W Y 2
From: Carter, Lawrence D
Sent: Thursday, September 29, 2005 8:11 AM
To: Dochow, Darrel W
Subject: FW: WS Article re: tightening mtg stds
Sensitivity: Private

As | have mentioned to some, by the fime we come out with regulatory guidance, moral suasion and market/media
attention will have already done the trick, at least for the regulated entities! Also of note is that the big lenders like to move
in unison. | can assure you WAMU always checks what others are doing before it acts on its own (which is why | really
have skepticism on what Countrywide has REALLY been doing). 1f WAMU ever leads the market, it is by centimeters, not
by yards, which is why it is not gamering market share.

Interesting to note here is that the article refiects WAMU's claim that it has been qualiifying borrowers at "roughly” 5.25
percent. Where did that figure come from??? Does one hand know what the other is doing?

-~—Qriginal Message-——
From: Adams, Jeff 1
Sent: Thursday, September 29, 2605 #:17 AM
Tos Dochow, Darrel W; Dyer, Nichotas J; Lane, Timothy J; Buting, Michael W, Potthast, John W; Swanson, Kevin B; Carter, Lawrence D;

Chen, Dennis; Hearick, Lawra L
5 Haakinson, Joanne J; Lake, Stephen A
Subject: WS Article re: tightening mitg stds

Sensitivity: Private
Below is the text of a WSJ article di ing heigt d app or raised rates, including Wamu, World, &

Downey. | don't believe this made it fo the News Clips today.
Jeff

Mortgage Lenders Tighten Standards

Amid Concern Over Rising Risk, Banks Make
It Harder to Qualify for Certain Home Loans

By RUTH SIMON and JAMES R. HAGERTY
Staff Reporters of THE WALL STREET JOURNAL
September 29, 2005; Page D1

After years of easy money, some mortgage lenders are beginning to tighten their standards.

Lenders have rolled out a raft of new mortgage products in recent years that have made housing
purchases more affordable and allowed many people to extract cash from their homes' equity without
boosting their monthly payments.

Now, in what could be the first signs of a reversal, some lenders are starting to raise the bar on
making these products available to new borrowers. To be sure, rates for many types of morigages
have been rising anyway as the Federal Reserve has boosted short-term interest rates. But some
mortgage lenders are going further by making it harder for borrowers to qualify for certain loans,
Other lenders also are cutting back on the number of riskier mortgages they make or raising rates.

Last week, Washington Mutual Inc., one of the nation's biggest maorigage lenders, told morigage

: AL FILE COPY
Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations ' : “,’-" rST
EXHIBIT #5
OTSWMS05-002 0000403
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brokers that it will make it more difficult for borrowers to qualify for its option ARMs, which carry an
introductory rate of as low as 1.25%. Under the new rules, which are expected to take effect next
month, borrowers will have o show they can afford the monthly payment if the interest rate on the
loan is 6% -- or 6.25% for borrowers purchasing a second-home or investment property - after the
introductory rate expires. Currently, the bank's rate for qualifying borrowers for these loans is roughly
5.25%.

New Century Financlal Corp., a mortgage lender in Irvine, Calif., last week said it was aiming to
reduce the amount of interest-only loans it grants to less than 25% of total loan production from 33%
in the year's first haif. New Century said it was making the move in an effort to boost profit margins.

Some lenders are making their loans more costly, which could discourage borrowing. This month,
Option-One Mortgage, a unit of H&R Block Inc., boosted the rates on all of its mortgage products by
0.40 percentage point. Option One says the move reflects both rising interest rates and changes in
investor appetite for its loans.

The moves come as bank regulators are sounding the alarm bells about rising risks in the mortgage
market. Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan said in a speech this week that "the apparent
froth in housing markets may have spilled over into mortgage markets"” and called the "dramatic
increase” in interest-only mortgages and "more exotic forms of adjustable-rate morigages ...
developments that bear close scrutiny.”

The chairman's remarks echo the concemns of other bank regulators who fear that some borrowers
are using exotic mortgage products to purchase houses they couldn't otherwise afford. If the housing
market stalls, regulators are concermned that defaults could climb.

For consumers, tighter lending standards and higher costs could make it harder to afford homes and
ultimately couid heip cool some hot housing markets. "It will take a lot of people out of the market and
take some of the speculative fervor out of the market," says Kenneth Rosen, chairman of the Fisher
Center for Real Estate at the University of California at Berkeley.

The tightening in morigage lending is not yet widespread and some morigage brokers say they
haven't yet seen any indications that banks have pulled back. But the recent changes are particularly

noteworthy because they follow a long trend of loosening that was apparent as recently as this
summer.

GETTING TOUGHER

Some mortgage lenders have begun tightening standards on some popular loans that have helped
fuel the housing boom in recent years.

* Washington Mutual has told brokers it plans to make it more difficult for borrowers to qualify for
its option ARMs.

« Countrywide Financial is raising the bar for borrowers who want the lowest teaser rate for option
ARMs.

* New Century Financial plans to limit interest-only loans to below 25% of total ioans, from 33% in
the year's first half.

2
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Among other changes, Countrywide Financial Corp., another big lender, earlier this month made it
tougher for borrowers to qualify for a 1% teaser rate on its option ARMs. Countrywide now considers
a number of factors in setting the introductory rate, including the size of the loan, how much
documentation the borrower provides, and whether the properly is a second home or for investment.
The teaser rate for borrowers with multiple risk factors can be as high as 3%, the company says.

Other lenders are also boosting their charges. Golden West Financial Corp. says that next month it
will raise the introductory rate for its option ARMs to 2.20% from 1.95%. The rise "will be the first of
several moves," says Golden West Chairman and CEO Herbert Sandier. "I don't know how high it will
go, but it should go higher,” he adds.

Raising the teaser rate on an option ARM boosts the minimum payment a borrower must make,
particularly in the loan's early years. The teaser rate is used to determine the minimum payment in
the first year; after that there's a cap in the first few years on how much the minimum payment can
increase, uniess the loan balance climbs beyond a certain threshold.

The tighter lending standards also come as profit margins on some loans are being squeezed. Credit
rating agencies have tightened their standards for certain mortgages, and investors who buy pools of
mortgages are beginning to demand higher yields for purchasing riskier loans.

Other changes may be less noticeable to borrowers, at least initially. Several lenders that offer option
ARMs have raised the "margin” used to determine the interest rate on the loan once the infroductory-
rate period ends. To set the rate on the loan, lenders each month typically add the margin to an index
that measures short-term interest rates. Since the index rises along with market rates, the banks'
wider margins represent additional costs to new borrowers beyond increases in short-term interest
rates.

in mid-August, Washington Mutual increased the margin on its option ARMs by 0.20 percentage
point to 2.5%. As a result, a borrower who took out an option ARM tied to one popular index — the
12-month Moving Treasury Average — might pay 5.52% instead of 5.32%, Also last month,
Countrywide boosted the margin on its option ARMs by between 0.125 and 0.375 percentage point,
depending on how risky the loans are. Downey Financial Corp. and Secured Bankers Morigage Co.,
California-based lenders, also raised the margins on some option ARMs, company executives said.

Because the introductory rate on an option ARM is so low, the minimum payment generally isn't
enough to cover even the interest that is due in the loan's early years. That means borrowers who
choose to pay the minimum amount can make regular payments and still see their loan balance
swell, also known as "negative amortization."” Borrowers could also be hit with sharply higher monthly
payments down the road when the monthly payment is reset so that the loan can be repaid over a
30-year period.

Even before the recent changes, rising short-term interest rates were making products such as option
ARMs less attractive. A borrower with an option ARM tied {o the Moving Treasury Average that
currently carries a rate of 5.52%, after the introductory rate expired, would have paid about 4% in
June 2004, according to HSH Associates in Pompton Plains; N-J:-Rates-on-loans tied to other
popular indexes can be well above 6%, HSH says. That compares with a current average of 5.97%

3
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for a 30-year fixed-rate morigage.

At the same time, some lenders are pushing more borrowers who take out option ARMs into loans
that cany prepayment penalties. In a conference call with investors in July, Countrywide said that
nearly three-quarters of its option ARMs carried prepayment penalties, up from 18% in 2003.
GreenPoint Mortgage, a unit of North Fork Bancorp, recently modified its option ARM program to
make loans without prepayment penatties less attractive. More than half of the option ARMs
GreenPoint grants now carry prepayment penalties, up from less than one-third a year ago.

Write to Ruth Simon at puth.simon j.com <mailto;ruth.simon@wsi.com>* and James R. Hagerty
at bob.hage wsj.com <mailto:bob hage wsj.com>2

URL for this article:
hitp://online wsj.com/article/0,,SB112795805459255441,00.htmi
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Comcast Message Center Page 1 of 4

From: "Dochow, Darrel W' <darrel.dochow@ots.treas.gov> y0?
To: NN
Subject: FW: Mesting
Date: Sun, 18 Sep 2005 17:07:31 +0000 e = Redacted by the Permanent l
Subcommittee on Investigations

~-~Originai Message-——

From: Carter, Lawrence D

Sent: friday, September 16, 2005 9:07 AM
To: Dochow, Darrel W

Subject:  RE: Mgeting

Sensitivity:  Private

Ok, 1 play good cop.

Historically, they have always had sore problem setting up systems and procedures
to consistently and automatically comply with our policy of underwriting at or near the
fully indexed rate, Recently, we have refied on the fact that the administrative rate
was higher than fully indexed and that they were going to monitor their qualifying
rates to make sure they were in compliance with our policy. We did not choose to
spend resources getling to the bottor of whatever systems issues they had because
we knew they were in the process of making wholesale systems changes in home
lending (still in process). We did point out (orally | think) that there were cases in
which they underwrote below the fully indexed rate because of the varying margin).
We also did not, as far as | know, ask whether they had made changes to the
administrative rate during our exam, even though we knew rates were rising. If we
had, we would have identified this issue as it was emerging. But, like happens with
other emerging issues sometimes, we were focused on resolving the issues we had
already identified and not updating the whole exam to Junet

By the way, in terms of policy, | am not sure we have ever had a really hard rule that
institutions MUST underwrite to the fully indexed rate. | remember going back and
forth with Bilt Magrint over the years on this. In fact, | remember when we did Home
Savings years ago, we aliowed: (1} loans held for sale could be underwritten to
secondary market standards (which | betieve was 200 bp above start rate or basically
to first adjustment on an ARM that adjusted annually — FHA, | believe, now stilt has a
similar standard) — [ think they had to have firm commitments to sefl in place, but
don't recall for sure; and (2) an interpretation of "near” | believe to be no more than 25
to 50 bp below the fully indexed rate. | believe we would still find that secondary
market requirements are more lax than our policy on underwriting to fully indexed
rates. Additionally, | think our guidance has always been to underwrite at initial or
“start” rate on hybrid ARM (3-, 5, 7-, 10-year products; these products have
traditionally not had "teasers.” Of course, this guidance was before the interest only
hybrid products started coming out.

What all this means is, if you aliow them the exception for loans held for sale and you

allow them 25 to §0 basis points below fully indexed, they probably do not have a ton

of loans that fall far outside our poticy guidance—only loans underwritten in recent

months, The issue of competitors taking the holier-than-thou position is different,

though. If WAMU is really garnering market share by more lax underwriting

standards, this is a problem. But | really am curious as to whether the competitors

are as holy as they prociaim. | have heard that indyMac is, but WaMu's primary

competitor is Countrywide. Remember, Countrywide would not fotlow in a teaser rate OFF 1C AL FILE COPY
increase trisd by WaMu earlier in the year. | would like to see the communications

from Countrywide to its loan agents/brokers, and | would be interested in what a loan OTS / WES
file review at Countrywide would turn up. | realize we can't regulate WaMu based on

Countrywide, but | think it would provide insight into a lot of management's actions on

http://mailcenter2.comeast.net/wme/v/wm/432DA2A 1000BCTEE000074B82202888744CECDCCOBY90...  9/18/2005
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Comecast Message Center Page 2 of 4

the production side. Countrywide has been taking loan agents and market share
from WaMu over the fast year or so, 50 the incentive to compete head-fo-head is
significant.

in ferms of the facts below,

1. 1 think the sheet you obtained says higher of 4.25 percent or start rate. Based on
our loan sample and systems issues, | think it is likely they are actually underwriting
simply at the administrative rate.

2. Administrative rate "significantly” less than fully-indexed - probably.

3. Accurate, but | would say "at or near” fully indexed rate — 1 think we would not
have criticized them for 25 bp below, and would have been on the fence as they
approached 50 bp below — at least this has been my interpretation of our policy over
the years.

4. Accurate on not leting us know. My take, and you can tell from Joe's diatribe, is
that they don't think the qualifying rate is all that important in terms of credit risk. But
doubt they thought about reputation risk in much detail.

5. Accurate. | don't remember ever hearing during the exam that Rotella made a
decision to keep qualifying rates as they were or anything about production saying
they needed to do so. However, in January/February, the administrative rate was still
probably not that far below fully indexed. (Ben may have more insight here.}

8. Accurate. Especially for loans held for sale. As | mentioned earlier, we used to
freat these loans differently. Also, for sure they think DTI's don't matter until you get
into upper ranges. | think everyone is underwriting primarily to LTV and FICO now.

7. Very accurate. Credit Risk Management has always had to pick their batties.

8. Agree, but think this is just one of several symptoms of the ongoing broader
problem of getting their house in order from an underwriting standpoint. it has been
hard for us to justify doing much more than o y nagging (okay, "chastising”}
through ROE and meetings, since they have not been really adversely impacted in
terms of losses. it has been getting better and has not recently been bad enough to
warrant any ratings downgrades. - And we have considered this issue in our
assessment of capital, clearly. What is really effective is when people like Rick
Riccobono, Mike, and you add weight. That sends the signal that what we say at the
examination level is important. They are obviously quicker o act when you weigh in!

Depending on how important you think it is that we get the facts perfect, we may want
to get Ben's perspective. Buti think Mark and Joe corroborated our assessment of
the situation yesterday.

Sorry for the long note, but | thought it was important that you understand our thought
processes at the exam level so we can make adjustments in our approach if
necessary.

~~-+Original Message-—~-
Prom:  Dochow, Darrel W
Sent:  Thursday, September 15, 2005 6:44 PM
Yo:  Carter, Lawrence D
o Finn, Michael £
Subject: RE: Meeting
Sensitivity: Private

Lawrence:

Thank you for joining the meeting via phone. 1 held Mark Hillis and John

hitp://mail 2 netfwme/v/wm/432DA2A 1000BC7EEOC0074B82202888744CECDCCOBS90...  9/18/2005
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Comcast Message Center Page 3 of 4

Robinson back for a private session. Please review the beiow and let me
know if any of this does not capture the substance of the meeting as you heard
it. Mark Hillis confirmed that Rotella made the business decision to not do the
manual adjustments to the qualifying rates in anticipation of the system fix
being implemented in August 2005,

- WAMU has been underwriting ARMs (1,3,6 & 12 month MTA Option ARMS)
at the higher of the administrative rate or start rate.

- The administrative rate has not been manually increased since at least
Ociober 2004 despme nUMErous increases in rates, such that the
ive rate is now signif less than the fully indexed rate.

- Mar made a i ision to not Hly adjust the
adm:mstranve rate and to wait for a systems fix that is now expected to be in
place in December 2005. They are to provide me with the exact date for the
system fix, exact date when the interim rate change will occur in October, and
confirm that they are going to put in place a manual fix now. In addition, they
will provide their internal analysis supporting the assertion that the credit
quality of such products has not deteriorated during the period that borrowers
were quaiified at less than a fully indexed rate. They are also {o provide their
analysis of payment shack stress testing over wider interest rate cycles, and
information to address my questions about HELOC quality given lower auto
approvat levels and an increased marketing campaign. They also

acknowl that they und d that the regulatory expectation has been
and continues to be that loan qualification should be at the fully indexed rate
for these products, and that it was their intention that this be done when they
talked with the examiners.

- 1 think that the concerns we raised hit home (predatory/affordability issues,
only major lender not using fully indexed rates, not complying with welf

»od i not informing us that the administrative
rate - manual change was not done and would in fact not be done, reputation
fisk, efc.)

- The management decision was made in January/February (Rotella is
credited with this decision at a time that he reportedly was hearing from the
production folks that pricing/qualifying rates needed fo be maintained). The
information previously provided to and upon which the examiners refied
indicated that borrowers wouid be qualified at the higher of the administrative
rate or the fully indexed rate. This change was not communicated back to the
examination team.

- The credit risk of the decision to not use fully indexed rates or to not
manually adjust the administrative rate may not be high due to sale of much of
this praduct, no relaxation of the DTI ratios, and minimal importance of DTi in
predicting loss until the DT! ratio moves above 55%, etc.

- Credit Risk Management folks, feeling some tension/pressure, made a
judgment to not dig in on the management decision fo wait for a systems fix
because they had gained much in other respects, would monitor the credit
quality, and felt there were mitigating circ: 1wes such as not ing the
DTI ratio standards.

- I believe that my chastising of this group was effective, and | intend to
discuss this matter with Jim Vanasek-on 9/26 and with Steve Rotella next
chance that | get,
Darrel
—---Original Message-—-
http://mail 2.comeast.net/wme/v/wm/432DA2A1000BC7EE000074 882202888 744CECDCCOB990...  9/18/2005
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Comeast Message Center Page 4 of 4

From: Corter, Lawrence D

Sent:  Thursddy, September 15, 2005 5:45 PM
To:  Dochow, Darrel W

Subject: Meeting

Sensitivity:  Private

! hope | didn't hinder you getting your questions answered during the
meeting today. 1 fried to avoid culting in too much. This was a good

pie of what the i go through when they are trying to get
to the bottom of things during the exam! A lot of gobbledegook. The
bottom line, though, is that Mark and Joe are both fully aware that our
policy requires underwriting at or near the fully indexed rate, whether
they believe it is corelated with performance or not. | was glad that
they stated that their intention alf along has been to require underwriting
to the higher of the administrative or fully indexed rats, not the start
rate. They were supposed to be monitoring the qualifying rate and
making changes when necessary to make sure they were aiways near
the fully-indexed rate, but obviously this didn't happen as they had
hoped in recent months.

{Back]

© 2004 Comcast Cable Communications, Inc. Alf rights reserved,
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From: Dochow, Darrel W

Sent: Friday, June 16, 2006 10:04 AM

Teo: Carter, Lawrence D <carterld@office of thrift supervision.com>
Subject: RE: Talk

I am available after the cail.

~Qriginal Message-—-—

From: Carter, Lawrence D

Sent: Thursday, Juna 15, 2006 5:01 PM
Te:  Dochow, Darrel W

Subject: Talk

Sensitivity: Private

Can we talk tomorrow for a half-hour or 50, maybe right after the Austin Hong calt? P've talked to Ben and
Rich and we still have some strong feelings on some items that I'd like o "push back” (just call me Scott
Jr.) some on. Generally, we feel that we are quite balanced and do not have any gloves on in our
approach {o our findings and conclusions at WAMU. We have some concern that if we press forward with
some things in our meetings and ROE that we may run the risk of losing some credibility in terms of
understanding the size and complexity of their business and looking as though we do not have a
balanced perspective. My own fear is that we may not have done enough to communicate 10 you why we
feel that the few negative things we have brought up through findings memos and meetings, while
important to keep in front of management, are not so serious they wipe out all the right things the
institution is doing in all those areas we reviewed and did not have any issues, nor should they negate the
ongoing good progress in making improvements in a manner that seems reasonable given the size,
complexity, and status of the institution. And, although they certainly will argue at times, they have
historically been very responsive to all of our concerns. So these are the things I'd like to talk more about:

1. Long Beach -- natural evolution internally will address a number of issues -- they are aligning LBMC
processes with prime Home Loans and, at the same time, continuing to improve the processes in prime
Home Loans -- they are working at a deliberate, reasonable pace -- yes, it will take time because of size
and complexity, but controlled growth in the meantime and our continuing to raise issues will keep them
on the right path. We don't feel demanding more than providing us with an acceptable action plan with
realistic timelines is appropriate or necessary at this time.

2. Corrective Actions in ROE -- We use the memo process to communicate everything we think
worthwhile, not always necessarily thinking everything should go in the ROE given the findings'
significance in the grand scheme of things. This is actuaily a very good PROACTIVE process because
we can get items in front of management that may not yet have risen to a high ievel of concern. If we
start putting ALL these items in the report, more important findings will get lost. We have a very good
memo distribution, response, tracking, and signoff process that operates well without having everything
duplicated in the ROE. If examiners on other exams are merely citing findings memos and they don't
have the same tracking process we have, then | would agree they might need more in the ROE, but we
feel strongly that we should not cite all findings and corrective actions within the body of the ROE. The
body of the ROE is already not getting read | befieve.

3. Compliance Violations - | need to go back and look at our official guidance myself on this one, as |
have refied on Rich and Suzie to make sure we comply. | think Suzie feels strongly though that we are
citing violations appropriately and are taking the time to have full discussion in 'gray areas."

Additionally, | need fo talk about the meetings next week since we are starting to "over-meeting” the
institution -- we really don't have a whole fot to add to what we have already told them. Also, if you attend
all the meetings with execs and Mike goes to the mesting with Kerry and Sleve, we probably need to

l Permanent Subcommittee on ]nvestigationsl
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regroup on what we want to accomplish in the exit meeting so we are efficient -- i.e., the exit meeting
starts to almost become unnecessary. We can discuss this,

Finally, MRBAS -- | said | was somewhat indifferent on having any MRBAs, because | could see a
strategy where we decide to give management a break to fix things they are already working on, and i
could also see a strategy where we want to keep those things that we still feel strongly about front and
center, At this point, it sounds like we want to have Long Beach, Flood and £ERM in the MRBA section,
with ERM as a "monitor” item as we did last year. | don't take issue with this as | can see us going either
way, but we will need to have a discussion with them on what it takes NOT to have a MRBA. They may
start to feel fike, as we have less and less findings, that we star to just take the top priorities and make
them MRBAs. | certainly don't think we are there yet, but we do need to be prepared to have that
discussion with them.

Anyway, let me know if we can talk after the Hong call.

My management class this week has made me feel empowered! Can you tell? Please don't fire mel

Dochow_Darrel-00022908_002
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st
Dochow, Darrel W /9 0,0
From: Rexroth, Mariana
Sent: Friday, May 11, 2007 9:48 AM
To: Dochow, Darrel W, Bisset, John K; Fiene, Laura M
Ce: Franklin, Benjamin D; Clark, Mary Suzanne; Archibald, Robert D
Subject: RE: Fair Lending Findings Memo

Thanks, Darref -

T have a copy of an internal DOJ memorandum that outlines the circumstances in which it will pursue a fair lending pattern
or practice case. | feel quite confident that this situation would within those guidelines. | will bring the memo on Wednesday
{it's hard copy).

Apropos the lack of tools - that is a reality. I'm willing OK with your changes, but you need to realize that | feel very strongly
about this. if the agency could be subject to criticism for the lack thereof, my feeling is that is appropriate and it is high time
we got such tools. indeed, one of the few positives of this whole thing has been that we are now able to demonstrate that
the "tool" provided is not workable. | do not believe that sweeping this under the rug is necessary.

Given that the information requested for the HMDA outlier review included a huge customized LAR with appended data,
with the obvious implication that we were going to use it ... and we obviously didn't ... it seems minimally courteous to
acknowledge the limitations. Plus, they knew (and | did) even as they were putting together the response (o the data
request that FLWiz would break. They'd tested it when they were evaluating tools for their own use. I've talked to other
farge lenders and they describe similar failures when testing the software. The truth is that PCi {the developer) wants {o get
lenders {o switch over to their server based programs {much more expensive). (If you ask about Countrywide's use of the
program - it is not for analysis, but only as a filter on subsets of data.)

The good news on this front: | had told Montrice that it would be altogether excellent if they could get Bernie Siskind to do
some training about the use of statistics in fair lending analysis. (He is an economist who has worked in this field - for
plaintiffs, advocacy groups, lenders, and DOJ - and aisc loves to teach and able to explain prefty complex statistical
concepts to the non~-PhD.) I'd given Montrice his phone number and address, and she was able to get him o give a
presentation at this week's training. It was, as | expected, excellent and VERY well received, So ... Montrice is starfing fo
talk with him about his buillding the analytical mode! for OTS!!! (She asked me to participate.) Anyway, the exira good
news is that since he just built such a model for DOJ, | would expect that it wouldn't {ake that long! Then we can have a
real analytical tool and won't have 1o pretend (as DC has been) that the person who is working on Basel and interest rate
risk - and totally uninterested in fair lending - will ever get around to even thinking about it.

Mariana
~~-Original Message--—-
Fromy: Dochow, Darrel W
Sent: Friday, May 11, 2007 9:24 AM
Ta: Bisset, John K
Cer Rexroth, Marlana; Franklin, Benjamin D; Clark, Mary Suzanne; Archibald, Robert D
Subject: Fair Lending Findings Memo
John:

We have a follow-up discussion on WAMU with Mike Finn scheduled for May 16 at 2:30 PM at which time we hope to
teach final agreement that no pattern or practice exists, | am comfortable that it doesn't and believe that Mariana did a
nice job supporting such. | understand that Laura and Edwin also concur. The exception memo is basically silent on that
issue, but implies all is well with an effective program. While there is a small chance that Mike may feel otherwise and that
we may need to revise the memo, | am OK with issuing the exception memo either now or after the May 16 meating.

p.s. 1did a stylistic edit that you can accept or not. OTS could be criticized for not having tools that can handle this
analyses and we need to pursue getting them.

<< File: WAMU Findings Memo FL Home Loans April 07.doc >> {)f

1
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March 5, 2007
P Compli Exarpinati
OTS COMPLIANCE MEMO 6

DATE: May 31, 2007
TO: Dick Stevenson, Corporate Compliance Officer
FROM: Susie Clark, OTS Compliance Specialist
SUBJECT:  Compliance Management Program
ce: Cathy Doperaiski, Regulatory Relations

WaMu's compliance management program has suffered from a Jack of steady, . Dick Stevenson,
who ook over as Chief Compliance Officer on March 2, 2007, is the bank's ninth compliance leader since 2000, The
previous compliance officer, Richard Lewis, was in the position for less than a year before leaving the bank without
another position fined up. Most previous persons in this position have either left the institution or been fired. The OTS s
concerned that this lack of consistent, stable leadership leaves the program vuinerable. This amount of turnover is very
unusual for an institution of this size and is a cause for concern. The Board of Directors should commission an evaluation
of why smart, successful, effective managers can't succeed in this position. If you would like my opinion, just ask { HINT:
it has to do with top management not buying into the importance of compliance and turf warfare and Kerry not liking bad
news.)

SMAART

Since the OTS s now the sole regulator for both charters, the OTS requests that WaMu adopt the SMAART format for
compliance management oversight. The “Working SMAART" framework, as detailed in the OTS Examination Handbook,
categorizes the basic components of sound compliance management to include the following: Systems, Monitoring,
Assessment, Accountability, Response, and Training. By setiing up the compliance management functions and reporting
to conform to this framework, it will not only assist the OTS in evaluating the program, but it will help to highlight areas in
need of management attention. If WaMu's system was better than SMAART, we wouldn't ask for this change. It isn't.

LEGAL DEPARTMENT INTERFERENCE

The legal department should partner with the Compliance department, not run it. Managing a compliance program to
meet the bare minimums of iegal responsibiiity may have the dubious benefit of eénsuring full employment for the legal
depariment, but it is not the OTS approved way of managing compliance risk. While the certain bank executives have
stated to regulators that “reputation risk” is a primary concern of the organization as 2 whole, managers of the compliance
department apparently didn't get that memo. In numerous meeti various pliance gers have made it clear
that they do not plan to imptement recommendations to enhance customer service or disclosures “"unless we planto cite a
violation.” This attitude is not a halimark of a good compliance program. it is, in fact, a halimark of a poor compliance
program.

The risk landscape has changed for banks in the past few years. Fair Lending and compliance risks, including HMDA
pricing data, Subprime lending, Predatory lending, Non-traditional ARMs, increased use of the Unfair and Deceptive acts
and practices law, and congressional scrutiny of credit card practices, have increased in the past few years, not
decreased. Other sources of risk proliferation comes from the New Congress, the presidential campaign, increased
reguiatory scrutiny and “guidance”, consumer advocates, state attorneys general, litigation, the media, and the internet,
Risks are evolving from “black and white” {are we in legal compliance?) to lots of different shades of gray.

Instead of asking whether or not the bank is in strict compliance with the laws and regulations, management shouid be
asking "is this disclosure or practice abusive, predatory, unfair, deceptive, or unsuitable”? The standard of what is
acceptable shouldn't be "where is the fine of what is legal or not legal”. It should be about managing risk. And focusing
on fairness, not compliance. Management's attitude toward compliance shows that they have not made this leap in
thinking. This change must come from the top of the organization and permeate the culiure before effective change can

happen.
FINAL: 0518/2007 4:2: Printed: 01/19/2010 3:17 AM
| Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
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OTS COMPLIANCE MEMO 6

REGULATORY RELATIONS

Is a joke. The purpose of this group seems to be how can we give the regulators the bare minimum without them raising
a fuss. And let's give them a Findings Memo template that is so hard to manage that they will spend half the exam time

messing with it. Here is how regulators should be v d: if they ask for information in a certain area, do a SMAART
presentation. For example, if the OTS examiner asks for a ing on Regulation E, provide a pr tation of the
foltowing:

the bank’s system of ensuring compliance with this area,

how this area is monitored for compliance,

how does the busil i pliance,

how is accountability built into the system,

how have previous audit or regulatory concerns been responded to, and

what training is provided to ensure your employees know what the hell they are doing.

This is not rocket science. While | find the blank stares | usually get endearing, it isn't very effective. If it takes you a
week to figure out focations where certain functions take place, that doesn't give me a good comfort level feeling that you
are properly managing the part of the program. If the bank has a program it is proud of, then show it off.

The compliance program should have their own regulatory relations group with compliance and bank process expertise.
Shannon Altug, who is a rock star in my book, can't do this function on her own. This isn't an administrative function. it
should function as a liaison group to organize the exam and meetings and personnet in such a way as to put the bank's
program in the best {but honest) light.

CONTROL VALIDATION PROJECT

Richard Lewis, the previcus compliance officer, stated in a meeting at the last exam that he would implement a control
validation project at corporate compliance, which would be similar to the function on-going at Card Services. The purpose
of this project would be to fook at all the processes, find the regulatory (or reputation) risks, and then employ mechanisms
to mitigate or eliminate the risks. The OTS encourages the rapid implementation of this project with high-risk areas
evaluated first, :

The OTS examiner should come into this institution and find NOTHING wrong. Bank management should be managing
these processes down to a granular level. When we come in with our minimal resources and find Section 8 RESPA
viclations, absolute abject failures in the flood insurance program, and an abysmal compliant processing program that
management thinks is just great, you should be embarrassed. These reflect fundamental weaknesses in the entire
compliance management function, from systems to training.

WaMu should have state-of-the-art risk assessment processes at identifies ALL risk, has a method to weigh and prioritize
them, conitrol them, meaningfully report them, and manage the risks proactively. Management shouldn’t wait for the OTS
to find the problems. We are not your audit or QC department,

| EXAM FINDING 1

Topic:
Finding:

Action:

Page 20f12
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WMB, WMBfsb
January 8, 2007
Safety & Soundness Examination
OTS ASSET QUALITY MEMO 11
DATE: June 7, 2007
TO: Richard McCoppin, Senior Manager—Credit Services, Home Loans Risk
Management

FROM: Rosanne Sinclair, Examiner, OTS
SUBJECT: Broker Credit Administration
cC: Cheryl Feltgen, Chief Risk Officer—Home Loans, Home Loans

Cathy Doperalski, FVP, Regulatory Relations Senior Manager

TBACKGROUND INFORWATION

Broker Credit Administration (BCA) is responsible for approving third party brokers, and performing annual license
verifications, annual RS 1088 reporting, and monthly broker reviews based on a broker scorecard. Third Party Oversight
{TPO) maintains broker performance metrics, the broker watch list, and the unacceptable third party list.

Since the tast exam, FTEs have deciined (from fifteen to fourteen in BCA, and from three to two in TPO) although the
number of brokers has increased. There are 14 FTEs in BCA handling approximately 34,283 brokers, Given the large
number of brokers, a TPO score for each broker was developed to facilitate review of brokers through automation. Also,
management revised the broker scorecard.

Topic: BCA Policies and Procedures

Finding: We have reviewed the latest version of the BCA policies and procedures (Policy) and have the following
comments:

{1) Page 30 of the Policy states there is a monthly license validation verification process wherein the BCA
manager or his designee, on a monthly basis, will randomly select five licenses from the WAMU wholesale
and Long Beach wholesale channels to verify the current status of the license with the state versus how it
is reported in the broker datebase, MLCS, Loanworks, and FiTech as applicable. Management verbally
indicated that licenses are also selected from other broker channels such as WAMU retait and WAMU
retail builder. We have no information to determine whether this is a statistically significant sampie given
the number of brokers. The "Monthly License Validation Verification” section of the Policy should be
amended to clarify that a stafistically significant sample of licenses per month from each of the broker
shannels will be selected for verification.

(2) Page 30 of the Policy states there is also a random audit process of the analysts’ work for new broker
or branch files of two files per month. Management verbally indicated this review consists of two files per
analyst per month. However, we have no indication as to the percentage of the anatysts’ work two
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OTS ASSET QUALITY MEMO 11

EXAM FINDING 1 - : : :

fi Ies/month represents Gwen this, as well as the fact that thvs is a component of the analysts' yearly
performance review, it appears that a percentage threshold (e.g., 10 percent of each analyst's work)
should be used for sampling. The “Random Audit Process” section of the policy should be amended to
define a stated percentage of each analyst's monthiy work that will be audited.

{3) The annual certification process consists solely of an annuai license validation. However, a form
should be sent to the broker on an annual basis which: (a) requests whether there were any changes in
officers, directors, and principalsfowners (if sole proprietorship or closely heid company), as well as dba or
company name. Any changes in such individuals/entity should be checked against the Morigage Asset
Research Institute (MARI}, the internal unacceptabie list, and the internal broker watch fist as applicable;
and, (D) includes the six disclosure items regarding suspension, baniruptcy, complaints, lawsuits, etc. that
appear on page 3 of the current LBMC broker application.

{4) Page 32 of the Policy states that if during the evaiuation period, Risk Mitigation (RM) has found
confirmed fraud, the broker will be recommended for immediate termination. Since RM is no lenger the
only department detecting fraud (see Exam Finding No. 4 below), the “Broker Eligibility” section of the

Policy should be changed to state: if af any point during the svaluation period fraud has been confirmed
the broker will be recommended for immediate termination.”

{5) Page 32 of the policy states that Sales may appeal any scorecard-based watch list decision o the
Third Party Approvals and Monitoring Manager. Further, the Policy states that Sales may appeal any
scorecard-based termination decision to the Senior Manager Credit Services. Lastly, the Policy states that
all RM confirmed fraud appeals must be reviewed by and only can be overturned by the Senior Manager,
Credit Services. This is all one and the same person, We raised concerns about Sales having too much
leverage regarding these decisions. Management verbally indicated that if BCA and Sales cannot agree
on a decision on a broker, the matter goes to the Third Party Oversight (TPO) Committee for a vote, and
the decision is final. Mowever, this process is not stated in the BCA Policy. The "Exception Process” of

the Policy should be amended to indicate that any watch fist, termination, or fraud decision appealed by
Sales should go to the TPQO Committee for a vote,

{6) Management indicates that any broker for which a license is expired, revoked, or inactive is
automatically terminated in the system and the applicable loan systems will not accept any loans from this
broker, The Policy should state this.

Under the Section of the Policy entitted: “Annual License Validation,” Firstline Data s referenced as the
vendor used for verifying ficense information; however, the company used is Regsdata. The policy should
be amended

{7) With regard to the initial approval of brokers in all channels, we noted that no reference checks are
required. Management indicated that they have, however, implemented an Industry scorecard (CRM or
Corelogic) provided by a third party vendor, and that they are addressing tength of ime in business for
each broker. The BCA Policy does not include these processes. Further, itis not clear whether this
scorecard addresses our concern regarding reference checks. The Policy for initial approval of brokers in
all channels should be amended to require that reference checks be performed to determine the broker's
erformance history. The policy should also specify the required processes and documentation,

The Policy does not require that certain LoanSafe scores such as the broker lender score and broker
industry score be run for initial approval of brokers, If these are different from the CRM score, the Policy

should be amended to reguire this for initial approval in ali channels.

{8) The Policy is inconsistent with regard to retail brokers versus brokers in other channels concerning

documentation requirements for approval. Specifically, the Policy should reguire the following documents
for approval of retail brokers: (a) IRS Form W-@: (b) broker application; {¢) broker agreement; (d) sompan

certification of corporate resolution: and () Articles of incorporation/Organization or Partnership
Agreement.

Action:  Amend the BCA Policy to address the underlined items in Nos. 1 through 8 above.

P ¥ d B Yes DnNe
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OTS ASSET QUALITY MEMO 11

Management agrees with the obsetvations and will implement corrective actions by the end of 2007.

: CORRECTIVE.ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates foreach) © 1

1. BCAwill validate 100% of licensing to ensure accuracy. This will be accomplished by: When a channel or branch
Add request is received by BCA the analyst validates the ficense. A weekly report is received from our licensing
vendor and an analyst works report by going directly to the state website. The Policy and Procedures will be updated
with this information. {Kelly Routier-Kane) {08/30/07)

2. The Quality Assurance procedures have been recently updated. The Quality Audit Definitions are in place and the
template has been prepared for use. The Team fead will review 10 files {(including new application, channel adds,
changes and branch adds) for each analyst per month. There will also be a peer review. The analyst will review two
files a month for their back up. The template incorporates each individual analyst, team fevel and department level.
This will ensure BCA management captures trends at the individual analyst level as well as department. (Kelly
Routier-Kane) {07/31/07)

3. BCAwill create a team of analyst to work with Legal and the Third Party Oversight group to develop and implement
an annual recertification letter and form. This additional certification will be performed by the Third Party Oversight
group. (Watchlist, Unacceptable list, MARI, Secretary of State, Licensing, Bankruptey, Mortgage Fraud Blogs,
Lexis/Nexis Search) The Policy and Procedures will be updated with this information. (Kelly Routier-Kane)
(12/31/07)

4. Suspicious activity reporting {SAR) on confirmed fraud has been centralized in the Risk Mitigation department. If the
{oan fulfiliment personnel {underwriters/processor) suspects or confirms fraud the Joans are sent to Risk Mitigation to
validate and fite the requisite SAR documents. The Policy and Procedures will be updated with this information,
{Kelly Routier-Kane) (12/31/07}

5. All appeals will be presented to the TPO Committee which currently meets monthly beginning with the July TPO

Meeting. The Policy and Procedures will be updated with this information. (Kelly Routier-Kane) (07/31/07)

The Policy and Procedures will be updated with this information. {Kelly Routier-Kane) (09/30/07}

The CRM Score (Corelogic) is the third party score used to determine the lenders performance in the industry., The

CRM incorporates foan data information from Corelogics Clients (which inciudes 6 of the top 10 Prime lenders and 3

of the top 10 subprime tenders). Corelogic utilizes the brokers Foreclosure rate, pull through rate, Market area to

determine their third party score. This score is one of several items reviewed to determine the brokers performance

in the industry. The Policy and Procedures will be updated with this information. (Kelly Routier-Kane) {09/30/07)

8. BCA Management will work with the Retail Channel and Legal to ensure the broker documentation requirements for
the approval process are consistent as applicable throughout all channels, (Kelly Routier-Kane) (12/31/07)

No
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OTS ASSET QUALITY MEMO 11

EXAMFINDING 2

‘&1 Recommendation® " |[[1" Criticism’

Topic:  Broker Scorecard
Finding: We reviewed the latest version of the broker scorecard and have the following comments:
{1) While the pull through {closure) rate is now on the scorecard, which measures the percentage of

approved loans that closed, the scorecard still does not contain a metric for loan denial rates which would
measure the percentage of loans that were denied and not approved.

{2} While there are metrics for repurchases (which should measure those attributable to the broker's fault),

there are no metrics for indemnifications {attributable to the broker's fault).

{3) The metrics for early payment and first payment defaults, and pull through rates only measure the last
twelve months. The metrics for repurchases, loan to values (LTV), and FICO scores are enly measured on
a yeat-to-date basis. The metrics for loan type, salability, and product mix are measured for a three year
combined timeframe and not for separate timeframes. These factors hinder time series and trend analysis.
We recommend that all metrics on the scorecard be measured for the past two years and year-to-date in
geparate imeframes.

(4) Churning (e.g,, repayment of the Joan within a defined time period) should be defined in the BCA
Policy. We note that the performance trigger for churning for purposes of the TPO score (see Exam
Finding No. 3 below) is whether churning is greater than 10 percent of ipans within the first six months,
However, it is not clear whether all churning is being measured on the scorecard or just churning that is
greater than the 10 percent threshoid. Al churning should be measured on the scorecard, hot just whether
churning is greater than 10 percent of loans,

{5} The LTV distribution on the scorecard has no indicator for whether the joan has PM!, which could skew
concern if a large portion of the loans are shown to have LTVs over 80 percent. There should be separate
metrics in the L TV distribution for loans with LT Vs> 90 percent and no PM! and loans with LTVs>90
percent with PML to provide a more accurate measurement of risk,

(8) Since the FICO threshold for subprime foans secured by real estate is 620 or below, the FICO
distribution lower iimit shown on the scorecard should be expanded beyond < 620 so that the FICO

distribution of sub prime toans can be ascertained,

{7) MARI results do not appear on the scorecard.

{8). The rate of significant underwriting and dogumentation deficiencies (attributable to the broker's fault)
identified from guality control reviews performed by Corporate Credit Risk and other units are not included

on the scorecard,

{9} The BCA Policy indicates that the salability metric measures the percentage of loans that are safable
within the iast six months. However, there are two columns (portfolio and sale) which could alse mean it
measures whether the loan was placed in the held for sale or held for investmant porifolio regardiess of
whether the loan had defects which made it unsalable. The scoracard should have a metric thet measures
the percentage of unsalable loans due to loan defects {attributable fo the broker's faulf),

{10} There are two scores which appear on the scorecard that are not defined—BMP score and Tier
Score. For one of these (tier score) we believe it is the production tier ranking we received in
management's response but that is not for certain. All metrics that appear on the scorecard shouid be
defined in the BCA Paiicy,

(11) There are no channel porm metrics {e.g., mean) on the scorecard as a bagis of comparison by which
1o gauge performance for pull through rates, loan denial rates, repurchases, indemnifications, FICO and
LTV distribution, and unsalable loans. Further, there are no industry metrics on the scorecard as a basis of
comparison for the key performance indicators (KPjs). Finally, the derivation of all channel norms that are
shown on the storecard should be defined in the BCA Policy.

{12} There may be data integrity issues on the scorecard (for example, under "product mix,” the LBMC
scorecard shows conventional ARMs, conventional fixed, Option ARMs, interest Only, ALT A and Equity
under the sub prime row. However, the combined percentages for these products add up 1o over 100
percent for the sub prime row. The additive effects of the metrics are not clear). The scorecard should be
reviewed for data integrity issues.
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OTS ASSET QUALITY MEMO 11

'EXAMFINDING 2/ 13 Recommendation®. . L3 Critigism® =

B Observation

{13} Certain metrics are not yet populated with data {e.g., “count of reviews"™ which measures the number
of times the broker has been reviewed for performance is blank).

{14} There should be separate TPO scores and CRM (Core Logic) scores for prime versus sub prime if
separate scores exist and are available,

(15) The risk weighting of the performance triggers in the scorecard do not coincide with these in the latest
version of the BCA Policy (Performance Monitoring section).

{18) The scorecard does not appear to contain certain LoanSafe scores such as broker lender score and
broker industry score. If these are different than the CRM score, the scorecard should contain these
metrics (including separate scores for prime and sub prime if separate scores exist and are available),

Action:  Address the underlined items in Nos. 1 though 16 above.

F Bl Yes [InNo

1. Management will consider broker scorecard key performance metrics described in items 1 through 8, 11, 12, and 13
above. (8/31/07)

2. Management will then implement the new identified broker scorecard key performance metrics. {12/31/07)

3. The BCA Policy & Procedure manual will be updated with the correct information to remediate items 9 and 15 above.
{Kelly Routier-Kane) (09/30/07)

4. The Broker Management Process (BMP) is a broker rewards program designed as an incentive for brokers with good
performance and no longer has an impact on BCA's process. The prior BMP process required BCA 1o terminate
broker for tack of production, but allowed the Sales Managers to approve reactivation. The termination process is no
ionger a part of the program and no fonger requires BCA support. The Tier Score ranking is based on 3 years
Production {Tier 1~ More Than 300 Loans Produced, Tier 2 between 300 and 200; Tier 3 between 189 and 100; Tier
4 between 88-50; Tier 5 less than 50. This tier ranking helps the analyst understand the overall relationship WAMU
has with the broker based on their production. BCA's Policy & Procedure manual will be enhanced to describe these
metrics to remediate item 10 above. (Kelly Routier-Kane) {09/30/07)

5. Separate TPO/CRM scores are available for Prime and Subprime at the channel tevel, Scores are also produced for
Branch (Location —which will inciude all broker codes associated with the specific ocation) and for the company as a
whole. BCA's Policy & Procedures manual will be updated with instructions and definitions to remediate item 14
above. (Kelly Routier-Kane) (09/30/07)

8. The CRM score is the same as the TPO {also known as the Loans Safe Score). BCA's Policy & Procedures manual
will be updated to describe this metric. {Kefly Routier-Kane) (09/30/07}

Washington Mutual, inc, — Confidential
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EXAM FINDING 3

iCriticism =]

7 T Recommendation

Topic: TPO Score

Finding: (1) The latest revision to the BCA Policy {pages 31 and 32} contains the derivation of the TPQ score used
fo monitor each broker, Ideally, each of the peformance metrics in the broker scorecard should be
reviewed individually against separate KP! benchmarks and thresholds for triggering watch list and/or
termination. However, it appears due to resource constraints, management developed one TPO score te
include these performance triggers to facilitate review of the thousands of brokers with which WMB
conducts business, While these performance metrics continue to be measured on the scorecard, the
triggers for being placed on the watch list or termination are all tied to the TPO score (except for fraud).
The risk with having one TPO score rather than reviewing each metric individually is that one metric could
be very problematic but still result in an overall TPO score that would not trigger any action if the other
performance measures included in the score are satisfactory since it is only one portion of the score. We
suggest that management re-assess the current TPO score process and re-evaluate the ability to have
separate KP{ benchmarks/thresholds for each metric on the scorecard and tie these individual criteria into
the watceh list andfor termination triagers.

{2) ¥ staffing and resource constraints are such that No.1 above is not possible, we have the foliowing
comments regarding the TPO score:

+ The performance triggers used in the calculation of the TPO score do not include repurchases
indemnifications, and unsalable loans (attributable 1o the broker's fault). Further, they do not include
{oan denial rates, or closure rates of approved loans. Lastly, they do not include significant
documentation defects or underwriting deficiencies stemming from post-funding Corporate Credit
Review (CCR) reviews or other underwriting reviews (where it was determined to be the broker's

fault). These shouid be included in the TPO score.

*  The definquency, early payment default, and first payment default performance triggers only resuitin a
deduction from the TPO score if the broker's performance is 1.5 times higher than the channe! norm,
However, this trigger threshold is too high since a deduction from the score may not even necessarily
result in TPO score for which action is taken (e.g., watch list or termination) since there are other
components of the score. We note that the FHLMC Guide indicates it will terminate seliers solely if
the delinguency is 50 percent higher than the average delinquency rate for all sellers (by product) in
the same statistical metropolitan areas, state, or region, in which the morigages are located. A
reasonable threshold for a deduction in the TPO score for these performance triggers would be if the
performance statistics for definguency, early payment default, and first payment default were higher
than the channel norm (mean) and/or industry mean for that particular product and in that parficular

geographic region,

+  There gre certain performance triggers that should not be part of the TPO score and shouid be
reviewed as triggers for action {e.g., termination) in and of themselves since by being a part of the
score, even if there were significant problems with regard to these items, they are only a portion of the
score and thus the broker could still have a TPO score that would not trigger action. Churning and

derogatory MARI findings are two of these triggers, and should have separate KPI benchmark
thresholds that triager termination in and of themselves. Further, the trigaer for churning for purposes
of a deduction in the TPO score of areater than 10 percent of loans_churning within the first six months

is too liberal,

«  While page 32 of the BCA Policy states that confirmed fraud is grounds for termination, the TPO score
incorporates as a component in Risk Mitigation (RM) any fraud or misrepresentation referral to identify
potential trends of files being referred to fraud. The weighting in the TPO score of this performance
trigger is 10 percent; given the significance of this performance trigger, it appears the risk weighting of
RM within the TPO score should be higher.

Action:  Address the undertined items in Nos. 1 and 2 above.

p Bl Yes [INeo
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OTS ASSET QUALITY MEMO 11

CEXAMEINDING 31 ooninis BN ‘Observati [ Recommendation’ | 1/ Criticism

Management agrees with the cbsetvations and will implement corrective actions by the end of 2007,

CORRECTIVE ACTION

rovide specific dction steps planned; the assighed responsiblemanager, and farget dates for

1. Action Plan for comments 1 above. Management will assess the current KPI and benchmarks for triggering watch
and termination. We will evaluate the relevance and effectiveness of the current triggers and the additional KPls
recommended in Finding 1 of this memo to be more sensitive if a single KPl is over tolerance.

2. The Third Party Oversight team was created in May of 2007 and is solely dedicated to monitoring broker
performance. The score will only be one portion of the evaluation. The analyst will be trained to evaluate each KPI
on the scorecard for the significance of the individual trigger as well as the impact of the KPI to the overall risk to
WAMU. This depariment is reporting up through the Third Parly Approval and Monitoring Manager. The Policy and
Procedures will be update with this information. {Kelly Routier-Kane) (12/31/07)

Washington Mutual, Inc, - Confidential
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EXAM FINDING 4 AL ; Il Observation’! | {1 Recommendation - (1 Criticism s 10

Topic:  Watch list Process

Finding: (1) Page 32 of the BCA Policy indicates that if the broker TPO score s >50 but <=75, then the broker is
recommended for the watch list. Further, if the broker TPO score is<=50, then the broker is terminated. in
this regard, since the highest TPO score available is 100, these thresholds seem too jow, especially since
loans continue to be accepted from the broker during the time the broker is on the watch list and thus WMB
is at risk. Since a score below 80 would appear to indicate some type of material shortfall, a TPO score of
>=70 but <80 should triqger a watch list recommendation and a TPO score <70 should trigger a
termination. Further, as additional criteria, any broker who was a higher than benchmark level of early
payment defaults and first pavment defaults or other indications of potential fraud should be placed on the
watch list regardiess of the TPQ score,

(2) Atthe last exam, a separate department, Risk Mitigation (RM), was performing & pre funding loan
review of a sample of loans from each broker on the watch list for ninety days. This exam, management
has provided a TPO Watch process for Long Beach Mortgage Company which management indicates is
going to be rolled out to all the other broker channels. This new process indicates that an underwriter with
a Risk Level Authority of 4 or higher from the loan fulfiliment center (LFC}, not RM, will be reviewing 100
percent of loans from brokers on the wateh list on a pre funding basis during the ninety day fimeframe. if,
during the review, misrepresentation and/or fraud are suspected, the reviewer must review the findings
with the underwriter or team manager and investigate this. If discrepancies cannot be resolved, the file is
then sent to RM.

While we acknowledge that this new process provides more coverage of joans of brokers on the watch fist
by reviewing 100 percent of the loans versus a sample, we indicated to management that the concemn is
that RM is specifically trained to detect fraud and fraud detection entails a different skill set than just
underwriting, Therefore, in order to mitigate risk to WMB for early payment defaults and first payment
defaults and other fraud risks, this new process should be supplemented. Management's response
indicated that RM would perform a random audit of files reviewed by the LFC, however, this appears to be
a post-funding review and would be too late to prevent fraud. Specifically, in addition to the LFC process,
for each broker that is on the wateh list for early payment defaults and first payment defaults or gther
potential fraud indicators, RM shouid perform a statistically significant pre-funding sampiing of ioans for
review purposes

{3) The section of the TPO Watch Process entitled: “Removal of Broker on Watch” uses the nomenclature
“Risk Mitigation finding” to refer to fraud. However, since fraud can be found by either RM or the LFC, the

use of the term "Risk Mitigation finding” should be replaced with “fraud finding" under the section "Removal
of Broker on Watch” of the TPO Watch Process P&Ps.

Further, under this same section of the TPO Watch Process, it is stated that if the broker was placed on
watch status due to a RM finding, and one or more RM findings occurs in the 80-day period, the broker wilt
be terminated. However, regardiess of the reason for being placed on the watch list, if there is a confirmed
fraud finding, the broker should be terminated; this is also consistent with page 32 of the BCA Policy. Thus,
the "Removal of Broker Watch” section of the TPO Watch Process P&Ps should state; “If there is one or
more confirmed fraud findings during the 80 period, the broker will be terminated.”

Action: (1) Amend the BCA Policy to address the underlined items in No. 1 above,

{2} Revise the TPO Watch Process P&Ps to address the underlined items in Nos. 2 and 3 above

F B yes [Owo

"RESPONSE [succinet response o finding { ction)

Management agrees with the observations and will implement corrective actions by the end of 2007. Please note that the
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OTS ASSET QUALITY MEMO 11

EXAN FINDING 4 : SBl Observation & - [ Recommendation: - 1 Criticishm
watchiist process is undergoing a significant update with the pending implementation of third party vendor fraud software
{Dataverify). The new watchlist process will be rolled out to all channels by September 2007,

<CORRECTIVE:ACTION {ptovide sp

1. Management will evaluate increasing the threshold trigger for admission of a broker to the watchlist. (Kelly Routier-
Kane) (08/31/07)

2. If applicable, the new threshold will be img d and docy d in the BCA Policy. (Kelly Routier-Kane)
(9/30/07)

3. Management will evaluate and enhance the termination section of the TPQ watch process for handiing of reported
and confirmed fraud. (Kelly Routier-Kane) (08/30/07)

4. Risk Mitigation will implement an independent review of 100% of watch fisted brokers pre-funded pipeline when the
ioan is approved by Underwriting prior to funding Risk Mitigation will notify BCA if misrepresentation is confirmed in a
single instance following placement on the watchlist. The broker is automatically terminated. All Washington Mutual
Home Loans employees are responsible for detecting and reposting suspicious activity to Risk Mitigation. Risk
Mitigation is responsible for investigating and reporting the incident to FINCEN. (Chris Johnson)(Rich McCoppin}
(10/31/07)

5. The BCA Policy & Procedures manual will be updated as needed, (Kelly Routier-Kane) (8/30/07)

Washington Mutual, inc. ~ C
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EXAMFINDING 5.0

Topic: HELOCs/Seconds

Finding: If brokers are used to obtain HELOCs or second liens, there should be separate metrics on the broker
scorecard for these products (similar to how sub prime products are shown on the scorecard).

Action:  Address the undetlined item above.

Management agrees with the observations and wilt implement separate reporting of HELOCS and second lien product
performance metrics on the broker score card by the end of 2007.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the:assigned responsible manager, ang 1arget dates 1oF 6acny -

1. HELOCS are currently serviced on two platforms. A system conversion due at the end of July — converting alt
HELOCS to the Fidelity servicing platform. Once this is complete the RELOCS wiil be included in the scorecard.
HELOC (TBD) (7/31/07)

2. The performance metrics for the second lien product will be reported separately beginning with the November, 2007
broker score card reporting cycle (Joy Hicks) (Rich McCoppin} (12/31/07)

Washington Mutual, inc. ~ Confidential
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OTS ASSET QUALITY MEMO 11

 EXAMFINDING 6

Topic: Resources and Staffing

Finding:  Given the reduction in FTES and the increase in fraud, early payment defaults, first payment defaults, sub
prime delinguencies, etc., management should re-assess the adequacy of staffing in the BCA and TPO
units.

Action:  Ensure there are adequate resources in the BCA and TPO units.

¥ 1 1 Yes B No

Not applicable,

Washington Mutual, inc. - Confidential
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Re: May 3 memo Page 1 of 2
From: Lee,CK

Sent: Friday, October 12, 2007 9:57 AM

To: Finn, Michael E <finnme@office of thrift supervision.com>

Subject: Re: May 3 memo

Mike -

Thanks for this. We're meeting with SEC next Thurs to discuss where we go from here. I'll keep you posted. ck/

---— Original Message -----

From: Finn, Michael E

To: Polakoff, Scott M

Ce: Ward, Tinothy T; Lee, C K; Simone, Michael L
Sent: Fri Oct 12 09:53:02 2007

Subject: RE: May 3 memo

Scott,

I'm sure much of your message was directed towards the NE region. Any lapse in the NE not meeting your expectations is
my fault. Ihave spent much of my first month back here trying to assess our regional risks, work processes and supervisory
approach. While P'm much more informed on our efforts in the region, I have not focused enough energy on sharing my
views with CK and coordinating our efforts. We can and will do better.

1 talked at length with CK yesterday about the NE region's approach on Morgan, Merrill, Lehman, ING and SocGen and
enhancing coordination with CIO. We are progressing towards a more complete continuous supervision process on these
cases to include deeper CIQ input and participation. Based on my discussion with CK, I'm confident that we will meet your
expectations regarding our work with these firms. I have meetings scheduled for Monday and Tuesday with the NE senior
management team to discuss our regional priorities and processes, We will discuss our approach on these cases and review
expectations regarding CIO involvement in our supervisory planning, monitoring and meetings for these firms.

We will also need a strong influence in DC to gain greater access to information and analysis from the SEC on the three
broker/dealers. CK indicated that he would work with you in the coming days to identify next steps in our approach with the
SEC to break the log jam in getting information that the SEC uses in the CSE supervision process. CK and I were also able
to discuss our work on ING, which is progressing smoothly, and some recent discussions regarding SocGen's interest in
modifying its business model. We are committed to working closely with the CIO unit to ensure that we have a strong
supervisory framework in place at each of our internationally active firms,

Mike

From: Polakoff, Scott M

Sent: Tuesday, October 09, 2007 5:39 PM

To:  Ward, Timothy T; Finn, Michael E; Dochow, Darrel W; Lee, C K; Quigley, Lori G
Ce: Polakoff, Scott M

Subject: May 3 memo

Tim, Mike, Darrel, CK, Lori - as you may recall, I sent out an e-mail on May 3, 2007, that announced a number of changes
(see below). Now that we are 5 months into this new process, T am not yet comfortable that we have made sufficient progress
toward accomplishing these goals. Please consider this e-mail as a gentle reminder of my expectations, and that I need all of

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigationsl
EXHIBIT #11

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00258 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.152



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

245

Re: May 3 memo Page 2 of 2

you to help make this happen:

CK, Lori - please know that 1 hold you accountable to fulfill your obligations with the below mandate. Remember that you
are expected to be equipped to follow trends and answer questions that may arise on matters facing the below firms. You
must not, however, disrupt the examination process for these companies, which currently remains the domain of the regions.

Darrel, Mike - please know that [ hold you accountable to invite Lori and CK to participate in the risk assessment,
supervisory planning, offsite monitoring, and management meetings with the below companies. Remember that you are
expected to include them in a timely manner and incorporate their views into your process. You must not hold important
management meetings or strategic planning sessions without inviting Lori or CK to participate.

Please let me know if you have any questions.
Thanks.
Scott

Fifth, we will implement the process contemplated in New Directions Bulletin 06-12, issued in September of last year, in the
most complex companies subject to OTS supervision. In particular, headquarters staff will be more involved than in the past
with the risk assessment, supervisory planning, offsite monitoring, and management meetings with respect to this population
of companies. This will ensure we have another set of eyes following our large, complex enterprises and will ensure that we
are equipped in headquarters to follow trends and answer questions that may arise on the matters facing these firms. Lori
Quigley s group will follow those firms with a domestic focus. C.K. Lee{ls group will follow those firms with extensive
international involvement - in addition to his groupOs current responsibilities, which will not change. The breakdown of
companies is as follows:

Lori Quigley: Washington Mutual
Countrywide

CK Lee: Morgan Stanley
Merrill Lynch
Lehman Brothers
ING
Societe General
American Express
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DATE: June 19, 2008

TO: David Schneider, President Home Loans

FROM: Ann Hedger, OTS Examiner; Ben Franklin, OTS EIC

SUBJECT: lLoan Fraud investigation i
ce: Cathy Doperalski, FVP, Regulatory Relations

John McMurray, Chief Enterprise Risk Officer

‘We reviewed an internal memorandum dated Apiil 4, 2008, decumenting a review that resulted from an allegation by PMI
company AIGUG that suspected loan fraud had occurred in one of the Bank's lending offices. AIG/UG also referred the
matter to OTS.

The internal review disclosed that fraudimisrepresentation did ocowr at the specific office raised in AIG/UG’s allegation.
Further, the review noted that "control gaps were identified within the HL origination and risk that
did not sufficiently mitigate loan fraud exposure.” While this review focused on one office in particular, it raxsed questions as
to whether similar conditions are systemic throughout the organization, particutarly since many of the issues raised have
either previously been raised internally or have been noted at the current or at prior OTS examinations, such as:

« The Internal Risk Mitigation process identified this specific office (along with the Retail Broker Program and one
other specific office) as having heightened fraud exposure in 2005 and 2007 reviews. These concerns were not
acted upon in a imely manner

«  The internal review noted that s formalized process did not exist to identify, monitor, resolve, and escalate thwd
party complaints similar to the one raised by AlG. Similar issues have been raised in the 2007 OTS compliance
exam and in the Banks 2008 internal investigation inte the appraisal process

« The review raised concerns regarding “sales focusedfincented originations with imited focus on individual
accountability.” Essentially, the review defines an origination culture focused more heavily on production volume
rather than quality. An example of this was a finding that production personnel were allowed to participate in
aspacts of the income, employment, or asset verification process; a clear conflict of interest  The review also
notes that systems and processes support incentive comy p rather than ing individual
performance {e.g., loans recorded under one originator rather than the person who actually originated the loan,
This practice was found to occur at other offices). Prior OTS examinations have raised similar issues including the
need to implement incentive compensation programs fo place greater emphasis on loan quality.

*  The review noted that loan origination processes did not mitigate misrepresentationfiraud. Many of the issues
noted in the internal review such as those related to income reasonabieness, overiooking *red fiags”, etc. have
been raised at this and prior OTS examinations.

While we recognize that management has recently taken a number of actions to improve the quality of originations, this
investigation, by raising that are reoccurring in nature or that have not been adequately addressed, highlight the
need for ongoing vigilance and commitinent by management and the board to maintain a production environment in the
Home Loans Group that is committed to quality production.

Saved: D7/08/2008 10:03 AM

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
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AQ MEMO #22

Topic: Origination controls in Home Loans

Finding: The internal invesfigation discussed in the background section above, noted a number of origination control
issues that impacted the Office under review and may be systemic in the origination process. Management
should address the issues raised in the investigation including:

1. The lack of a formalized process fo identify, monitor, resolve, and escalate third party complaints.

2. Inadequate issue escalation and untimely management response to “unfavorable patterns of
operational and employee practices” such as those identified in the investigation

3. incentives based on volume of originations with fimited focus on individual accountabiiity, and in
particular, any processes that aliow production personnel to participate in verifying borrower financial
information. .

4, Lean origination processes that do not adequately mitigate misrepresentationffraud.

Action:  Evaluate and correct any control issues whether isolated or systemic and report the extent of these issues to

A R Yes D No

There are many controls that have been put into place in Home Loans since this investigation was done, as well as a
significant change in Home Loans’ business strategy that mitigate many of the issues identified in this memo. These
changes include, but are not fimited to: the implementation of a comprehensive pre-funding fraud tool and pre-funding
evaluation process, the elimination of ail third-party lending channels including retail broker, and post-funding file quality
reviews heid on a weekly basis with senior management and channel ieaders to address foan quality issues.

WaMu Home Loans is currently beginning to design compensation plans for 2009. Included in the planning discussions are
incentives tied to Toan quality.

1. Formalize the third-party complaint process to ensure that significant issues are escalated to Home Loans Operational
Risk and where appropriate, tracked in a centralized issues tracking system. The process will include the definition of 2
significant issues and ciear ownership responsibllity. (McCoppin, Wagner, Struck) ~ September 30, 2008

2. Formalize issue escalation process and follow-up procedures and actions that result from findings from Risk Mitigation
reviews. {McCoppin) - August 31, 2008

3. Require fraud training and certification of all fulfiliment personnel. (McCoppin, Brown) ~ December 31, 2008

Washington Mutual, inc. - Confidential
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AQ MEMO #22

Topic:  Impact on third parties

Finding: The above investigation raises the question of whether the fraud/misrepresentation noted during this
investigation is material enough that it creates a potenfial recourse issue to third party investors.

Action: investigate and determine whether a recourse situation has been created and report the findings to OTS.

B DYes E]No

Carey Brennan, Legal, and Joyce Mizerak, Repurchase & Recovery, are continuing to review and investigate
the information provided by CFI. To date, their findings are as follows:

1. Repurchase & Recovery determined that a total of 21 Fragoso loans had been referred to Repurchase &
Recovery for a determination of potential repurchase liability. Two of the loans were referred directly by Freddie
Mac and have been repurchased. Of the remaining 19 loans, ali were referred by Risk Mitigation and
Repurchase & Recovery determined that {a) 4 loans had been soid to Freddie Mac and the alleged
misrepreseniation has had no adverse impact on the foans and, therefore, the loans are not subject to being
repurchased, and (b) the remaining 15 Joans are heid in the company's loan portfolio and were not sold and,
therefore, there are no recourse implications associated with these loans.

2. Of 91 loans reviewed by Risk Mitigation in November 2007, the Data Verify tool identified 47 loans as having
flags of fraud or misrepresentation. These loans were manually reviewed by Risk Mitigation who determined
that 29 loans contain more than one fraud indicator. Per CFI's report, all of these loans are held in portfolio, are
current and have been flagged on the servicing system to prevent them from being soid. Therefore, there are
no recourse implications associated with these loans.

1. WaMu will finalize ifs analysis to determine if any additional action needs to be taken, (Mizerak) - December 31, 2008

Washington Mutual, inc. - Con
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Asset Quality (continued)

¢ The small business lending portfolio, a relatively
smaller and newer portfolio, is also experiencing a
high loss rate

» The commercial lending portfolio remains fairly stable

e High SFR losses due in part to downturn in real
estate market but exacerbated by:
— geographic concentrations

: — risk layering

H ~ liberal underwriting policy

-~ poor underwriting

Polakoff_Scott-00061303_007
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Asset Quality (continued)

» Discontinuing higher risk lending and tightened
underwriting policy should improve asset quality;
however, actions should have been taken sooner

e Other SFR underwriting control deficiencies identified
internally that should be addressed included:

— Sales incented originations with limited focus on individual
accountability

- Origination personnel participating in verification of borrower data
- Inadequate process for escalation of problems and complaints
— Origination process that does not adequately mitigate fraud

Polakeff_Scott-00061303_012
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Management/Board Performance and
Oversight Unsatisfactory

e Poor financial performance due in part to market
conditions; however, performance exacerbated by
conditions within management’s control:

— Poor underwriting quality

— Geographic concentrations in problem markets

— Liberal underwriting policy
H - Risk fayering

» Significant underwriting and process weaknesses
noted again in the Home Loans Group

AN AN N £ PR e n YRR L § Y Bt

* Reducing higher risk lending products and practices

should have been done sooner .

Polakoff_Scott-00061303_027
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Management/ Board Oversight (cont’'d)

* While progress has been made to improve
compliance weaknesses, significant concerns remain,
particularly for BSA/AML

» An adequate ERM function still does not exist
although this has been a MRBA for some time

- Critical as a check and balance for profit oriented units

- Necessary to ensure that critical risks are identified,
measured, monitored and communicated

— Even more critical given increased credit, market, and
operational risk

28

Polakoff_Scott-00061303_028
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Office of Thrift Supervision
Department of the Treasury West Region

Pacific Plaza, 2001 Junipero Serra Boulevard, Suite 650, Daly City, CA 94014-1976
P.O. Box 7165, San Francisco, CA 94120-7165 * Telephone: (650) 746-7000 » Fax: (650) 746-7001

Hand Delivered
Scprember 25, 2008
QTS No, 08551

‘Washington Mutual Bank
1301 Second Avenue
Scattle, Washington 98101

Re:  Appointment of a Receiver
Dear Sirs/Madam:

This is to notify you that the Director, Office of Thrift Supervision, by Order Number 2008-
36, dated September 25, 2008, appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation as receiver
(Receiver) for Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada (Bank), and authorized the
undersigned to deliver notice of such appointment.

The Receiver is now taking possession of the Bank pursuant to the terms of its appointment
as set forth in Order No, 2008-36, a copy of which is attached. In connection with the
appointment of the Receiver, we respectfully call your attention to Section 5(d)(4) of the Home
Owners’ Loan Act of 1933, 12 U.S.C. § 1464(d)(4), which establishes criminal penalties for
refusal to comply with the Receiver's demand for possession of the property, busincss and assets
of an association in receivership.

Please countersign a copy of this letter and indicate the time and datc of your receipt of the
letter and attachment in the space provided on the following page and return such copy 1o me.

Sincerely,

Darrel W, Dochow
Regional Director

Permanent Subcommittee on lnvestigations]

EXHIBIT #13

FDIC_WAMU_BU0015059

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00268 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.162



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

255

Notice of Appointment of a Receiver
Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, NV
September 25, 2008

Page 2

Attachment

Received by: \):Wded £ . [ RanKe Clt"?dlmam‘
Print Name and Title

-

‘5
a__b” , P.M., P.D.T., on Thursday, September 25, 2008

Signacuré: / // d/c./

Accepting Appointment of FDIC as Receiver for Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, NV:

L7 agser toprs
Pr}'é( Name and Title /27747 /V,é?}/ ~ /- ,&W/’ 7

a_gl/L b, PO, on Thursday, September 25, 2008

Signature:

FOIC_WAMU_DOOO15068
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FDIC

Division of Resolutions and Receiverships

Dallas Regional Office
1601 Bryan Strect
Dalias, Texay 75201 Telophone (114) 754-0098
September 28, 2008
Office of Thrift Supervision

‘Washington, D.C.

Subject: ‘Washington Mutual Bank
Henderson, NV — In Receivership

Acceptance of Appointment as Receiver
Dear Sir or Madam:
Please be advised that the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation accepts its appointment as

Receiver of the captioned depository institution, in accordance with the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as
amended. i

Sincerely,

Printed Name: Robert Schoppe

FDIC_WAMU_B00015061
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Office of Thrift Supervision
Department of the Treasury

I certify that annexed hereto is a true copy of the
document described below made from records of the Office of
Thrift Supervision, Department of the Treasury.

Copy of the Office of Thrift Supervision

Order Number 2008-36, executed on September
25, 2008, appointing a receiver for Washington
Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada, consisting of
three (3) pages.

Signed this 25™ day of September, 2008

\M\Lﬁ W:\m&«/

Darrel W. Dochow
Regional Director
West Region

£DIC_WAMU 000015062
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OFFICE OF THRIFT SUPERVISION

Receivership Of A Federal Savings Association

Date: September 25, 2008
Order No.:  2008-36
OTS No.: 08551

The Director of the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS), or his designee, in
cooperation with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), has determined to
appoint the FDIC as receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada (Savings
Bank).

GROUNDS FOR APPOINTMENT OF FDIC AS RECEIVER
FOR THE SAVINGS BANK

The Director, or his designee, based upon the administrative record finds and
determines the following:

(i) The Savings Bank is likely to bc unable to pay its obligations or meet its
depositors’ demands in the normal course of business; and

{11} The Institution is in an unsafe or unsound condition fo transact business.

The Savings Bank is a Federally chartered savings bank, the accounts of which
are insured by the Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF). The Savings Bank has its home office
in Henderson, Nevada. As of June 30, 2008, the Savings Bank reported total assets of
$307 billion.

DISCUSSION OF GROUNDS FOR APPOINTMENT
OF A RECEIVER FOR THE SAVINGS BANK

Section 5(d)}(2)(A) of the Home Owners’ Loan Act (HOLA), 12 US.C. §
1464(d}(2)(A), provides that the Director may appoint a receiver for any insured savings
associgtion if the Director determines that onc or more grounds specified in section
11{eX5) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (FDIA), 12 U.S.C. § 182 1{c)3), exist.

Under section 11{c)(S)(F) of the FDIA, the Director may appoint a receiver if a
savings association is likely to be unable to pay its obligations or meet its depositors®
demands in the normal course of business because it does not have sufficient liquid assets
to fund expected withdrawals, The Savings Bank has insufficient cash and liquid assets
convertible to cash y to pay its obligations and the expected withdrawal demands
of its depositors, The Savings Bank has suffered siguificant cash outflows, exceeding

FDIC_WaMU_000015063
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Order No.: 2008-36
Page: 2

$22 billion since July 2008, in part because of adverse publicity. The Savings Bank has
limited and diminishing liquidity sources available to it and the current rate of outflow

will deplete the Savings Bank’s cash resources and liquidity within a short peried of time.

Therefore, the Director conchudes that the Savings Bank is likely to be unable to
pay its obligations or meet its depositors’ demands in the ormal course of business
because it does not have sufficient liquid assets to pay those obligations and fund the
expected withdrawals,

Under section 11{c)}(5)(C) of the FDIA, the Director may appoint a receiver if a
savings association is in an unsafe or unsound condition to transact business. The
Savings Bank is in an unsafe and unsound condition as a result of its severe liquidity
strain, deteriorating assct quality, and continuing significant negative operating carnings
with no realistic prospects for raising capital to ensure that it can repay all of its
labilities, including deposits.

The Director, or his designee, therefore, has determined that grounds for the
appointment for a receiver for the Savings Bank exist under section 5(d)(2) of the HOLA,
and sections 11(c)(5)(C) and (F) of the FDIA, 12 U.S.C, §§ 1821(e)}(5)(C) and (F).

ACTIONS ORDERED OR APPROVED

Appointment of a2 Receiv

13 34

The Director, or his designee, hereby appoints the FDIC as receiver for the
Savings Bank, for the purpose of liquidation, pursuant to section S(d)(2) of the HOLA,
and section 11(c}6)(B) of the FDIA, 12 U.S.C. § 1821(c)}6)(B).

Delegation of Authority to Act for OTS

The Director, or his designee, hereby authorizes the OTS West Regional Director,
or his designee, and the Deputy Chief Counsel for the Business Transactions Division of
the Chief Counsel’s office, or his designee, to: (i) certify orders; (if) sign, execute, attcst,
or certify other documents of OTS issued or authorized by this Order; (ili) designate the
persons or entity that will give notice of the appointment of a receiver for the Savings
Barnk and serve the Savings Bank with a copy of this Order pursuant to [2C.FR. §
558.2; and (iv) perform such other functions of OTS necessary or appropriate for
implementation of this Order. All documents to be issued under the authority of this
Order must be first approved, in form and content, by the Chief Counsel’s Office. In
addition, the Director, or his designee, hereby authorizes the Deputy Chief Counsel for
the Business Transactions Division of the Chief Counsel’s office, or his designee, to

FDIC_WAMY_000015354
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Order No.: 2008-36
Page: 3

make any subsequent technical corrections, that might be necessary, to this Order, or any
documents issued under the authority of this Order.

By Order of the Director of OTS, effective September 25, 2008,

NB AR

g}m . Reich

recfor

FDIC_WAMU_$00015065
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From: Constantine, Thomas M <thomas.constantine@ots.treas.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, October 7, 2008 7:54 PM
To: Franklin, Benjamin D <franklinbd@office of thrift sypervision com>

Subject: RE: West Region Update

if you were hoping like me that the IG would figure out what happened and force out the asswipes in this organization that
ridiculed us and "couldn't imagine that we would be in this position" despite the fact that's what we are supposed to be
imagining and preparing for, you will be sadly mistaken. The IG is as good as the folks that let this happen. Nothing buta
bunch of incompetents. Maybe you will get a better crew, but my 4-year old son asks me more probing questions. The world
will never know. 1can' stand it when I bear these people talk about this mess. It started at Guardian, Ground Zero, baby.
We spawned this disaster when we £d up and put them in receivership. How much longer will we have to pay? Now it's
going to cost me my job. Thanks Jed.

~-—Qriginal Message-----

From: Franklin, Benjamin D

Sent: Tuesday, October 07, 2008 4:48 PM
To: Constantine, Thomas M

Subject: RE: West Region Update

Kurt and Steve G laughed at my projections of gloom and doom for stated since 2003 and started calling me the housing
“bubble" boy. | even predicted that the end would come in July 2007 (based on a report that I got at a Servicing seminar the
reported the massive number of 2/28 and 3/27 subprime loans that would come due). When I told Scott Polakeff in April
2007 that stated income subprime should not be made under any circumstance, 1 was corrected by Mike Finn that that was
not the West Region's position. I rest my case.

P.S. I concur totally on the W-2 borrowers. The worst cases I saw wwere instances where the W-2 was in the file and the
information was redacted out!

~-——-Original Message--—

From: Constantine, Thomas M

Sent: Tuesday, October 07, 2008 3:43 PM
To: Franklin, Benjamin D

Subject: RE: West Region Update

My big problem is with us allowing people with W-2 incomes to go stated. How hard is it to send that in. Everyone has it.
Also, | can't believe we allowed 100% financing of anything. What a joke, The problem is the regulators are set up by
license instead of function. If you had one regulator in charge of the origination and sale and servicing of SFRs, then you
wouldn't have had these problems. We were satisfied that the loans were originated for sale.

SEC and FED asleep at the switch with the securitization and repackaging of the cash flows, irrespective of who they were
selling to. The lack of transparency caused the general panic we live with today. I didn't no what a undercapitalized CDO
was before last year.

1 forgot to mention that Scott and I uncovered damaging evidence against the CFO of Union that facilitated a rapid recovery
for the D&O insurance carrier that recapitalized Union bank and kept it from being the first failure. Rosanne, Yon, Scott, and
1 Is there anyone else 10 add to this list? Probably, but they also have greater personality issues than us.

thanks

FY1 - I'm adding you to the list based on your work at Guardian. 1 have no idea what the hell you've been doing since, except
what you tell me below. Why is that?

I Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|

EXHIBIT #14 l Franklin_Benjamin-00034415_001
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~----Original Message-----

From: Franklin, Benjamin D

Sent: Tuesday, October 07, 2008 1:15 PM
To: Constantine, Thomas M

Subject: RE: West Region Update

When I say acquiesced, I mean not one regulatory agency had 2 rule or guideline saying you couldn’t do stated income
lending, even 1o this day. That, I find incredible. We criticized stated income lending at WaMu but they never got it
comapletely fixed, 1 also criticized IndyMac in 03, Downey and First FED in later years, but in hindsight, I'm convinced that it
is just a flawed product that can't be fixed and never should have been allowed in the first place. How do you really assess
underwriting adequacy when you allow the borrower to tell you what he makes without verification. We used to have
documentation requirements for underwriting in the regs, but when those were taken out, the industry slowly migrated to an
anything goes that got us into this mess.

~-Original Message-----

From: Constantine, Thomas M

Sent: Tuesday, October 07, 2008 12:33 PM
To: Franklin, Benjamin D

Subject: RE: West Region Update

1 never acquiesced. I helped put SLC trust under a Supervisory Agreement in 20036 due to lack of cash equity in their
construction loans. I also heavily criticized the underwriting at First Fed of Cal in 2005 on their expansion into N. California
on these stated income toans (removed by EIC Henry Lee). I wamed Downey in 2004 not to count their chickens before they
were hatched (comment tamed down by someone EIC Wiiliams or FM Buting) and they weren't ready for the onset of
adverse business conditions with servicing of loans.

My examination history here is filled with the editing and removal of my comments as well as predictions (that turned out to
be true) by EICs. No system in place to keep that from happening. Instead we put whitewashers and scaredity cats in charge
of the most problematic shops. I don't know what happened 1o you at WAMU, but I was critical of their accounting at Card
Services and the AP. Fortunately, I think I made the "don't et him come back here” list. I've heard stories of things that
happened, but no confirmation,

‘There was an article in the WSJ (the only positive article on the OTS that I've seen in the last couple of years) on Ray Lamb
and the thrift that they opened in New Mexico. Mike Finn told me to get the charter back. The article says it was because
they deviated from the business plan, It didn't happen that way, completely, I went in there and aggressively criticized their
underwriting on the CRE (the 2 of the 3 other examiners they gave me found nothing - surprise). 1 thexn basically threatened
them to get the charter back and they caved. Lots of help from Finn, but it wass't going to happen without me pressuring
them. Lamb's empire collapsed and all banks failed with huge multimillion doliar losses to insurance fund (I got an on the
spot award - yippie).

In 2003, 1 did the capital review of Lehman Brothers (the holding company). Most highly leveraged company I've ever been
to and they kept us from reviewing their liquidity and capital models. My criticisms made the report. They just changed my
characterization from highly leveraged to moderately leveraged. 1 knew it was going to blow up then. Just a matter of time.

They counted all long term debt as capital. I am not kidding.

{ also help set up Nordstrom's Credit Card Securitization from off-balance sheet to on balance sheet to affiliates. We secured
independent line. Credit cards are the next thing to blow up. Nobody is listening to me here. I'm totally pissed off that our
teadership screwed us and can't acknowledge it. They should resign.

You know what happened at Indymac already. EICs Reiley and Hughes squashed my findings and get promoted and
congratilating for fing up. Now they cancel the FM positions (! applied for SF position). Now I'm capped out with
promotion and salary freezes coming. I won't be able to afford to stay, assuming we actuaily are around. Thanks to our
Ieader, we are toast.

I'm feeling underappreciated and double crossed by our leadership. You know who I mean,

Thanks

Franklin_Benjamin-00034415_002
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PS now I feel a little better. I'm prepared to say this word for word to DD and EC. I couid be gone soon.

----Original Message----

From: Franklin, Benjamin D

Sent: Tuesday, October 07, 2008 8:11 AM
To: Constantine, Thomas M

Subject: RE: West Region Update

‘You know, I think that once we (pretty much all the regulators) acquiesced that stated income lending was a reasonable thing,
and then compounded that with the sheer insanity of stated income, subprime, 100% CLTV, lending, we were on the
figurative bridge to nowhere. Even those of us that were early opponents et ourselves be swayed somewhat by those that
accused us of being "chicken little" because the losses were slow in coming, and lets not forget the mantra that *our shops
have to make these loans in order to be competitive”. I will never be talked out of something I know to be fundamentally
wrong cver again!!

----- Original Message----

From: Constantine, Thomas M

Sent: Tuesday, October 07, 2008 7:58 AM
‘To: Franklin, Benjamin D

Subject: Re: West Region Update

Do you mean the whitewashers that got us into this mess, the dead wood that are in FIRF waiting for retirement, the kids that
cant wipe their asses, or the 6 or 7 of us that actually understand and do the right thing?

From Tom Constantine's Blackberry (760) 799-9720

----- Original Message -

From: Franklin, Benjamin D

To: Constantine, Thomas M

Sent: Tue Oct 07 10:44:31 2008
Subject: RE: West Region Update

Picking up what stack. With all the people we have now, there is no slack.

From: Constantine, Thomas M

Sent; Monday, October 06, 2008 5:49 PM
To:  Franklin, Benjamin D

Subject: FW: West Region Update

1 see where you will be picking up the slack going forward. Congrats.

From: Dochow, Darrel W

Sent: Monday, October 06, 2008 4:53 PM

To: #RSUSERS

Ce: #Regional Directors; Polakoff, Scott M; Ward, Timothy T; Reich, John M; Bowman, John E; Shycoff, Barbara;
Russell, Robert W; Ruberry, William M; Quigley, Lori G; Yakimov, Montrice G; Gardineer, Grovetta; Luk, Alexandria T.
Y., Casteel, Frederick R

Subject: West Region Update

Franklin_Benjamin-00034415_003

VerDate Nov 24 2008  13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00277 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:A\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.171



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

264

To West Region Employees:

We have seen significant stress in the financial and housing markets over the past year. This stress has been amplified by
unprecedented deposit outflows at some institutions due 1o a loss of depositor and investor confidence. At the same time,
borrowing capacity has been constrained by falling collateral values and credit tightening. The illiquidity in the financial
markets for housing related securities and loans has now spread to other sectors and Congress recently passed a rescue
package in an effort to restore the markets.

As you know, the severity of decline in home prices, asset guality and liquidity including deposit outflows has been very
prononnced in many parts of the West Region. Both IndyMac and Washington Mutual were closed, with WAMU's banking
operations sold to J P Morgan Chase. The loss of these companies, along with the anticipated merger of several other
significant thrifts within the next six months, means that some West Region examiners will have the opportunity to help the
other regions and Washington DC in 2009. In addition, given that approximately 40 percent of our examiners are on the
accreditation track, 1 anticipate increased training opportunities at some ont of region assignments.

‘The Regional Directors met in Washington D C last week with Director John Reich, Scott Polakoff, and Tim Ward to discuss
staff planning among other things. A summary of the topics discussed will be available on the OTS Intranet. Of particular
importance are several key points and decisions affecting the West Region that I want to ensure that everyone understands.

First and foremost, OTS continues to have a heaithy, positive fiscal year 2009 budget based on no additional revenue from
IndyMac and WAMU, or from Countrywide beyond March 2009. Expenses and related staff levels need to remain aligned
with revenue going forward and multi-year planning is underway to ensure that OTS remains financially strong,

1t is apparent that the West region currently has more examiners than required for our projected 2009 examinations. The
difference in amount of projected work versus our current examiner resources 15, however, less than may initially be thought
because we have a large percentage of staff in the accreditation track, many of our thrifts continue to deteriorate and require
additional time, and our geographic diversity requires disproportionately more travel. Director Reich emphasized that there
will be no reduction-in-force (RIF)in 2009 but indicated that examination staff are not necessarily located where the projected
work is next year. The West region will provide examiner help to the other regions and Washington DC in 2009. This may
mean increased travel for some but also means increased opportunity to do interesting work in new Jocations, receive
additional training assignments, and allow us to share our experiences and lessons learned with others. In addition, there will
tikely be increased opportunity to relocate to places with acute needs and to volunteer for details of six months to one year in
our Washington headquarters. More specifics about these opportunities should be available in November.

An analysis of workloads and staffing is underway within each region and Washington DC. The Regional Directors are
working with Tim Ward to do this analysis on a consistent basis during the next month. We have decided to continue hiring
some entry-level examiners in each region during the summer of 2009, In the West region, we have stopped hiring additional
examiners from the outside while we analyze the workload and anticipated attrition from retirements, job changes and
relocations. What this means is that we are not hiring any permanent, term, or contractor examiners from outside of OTS for
the West region. In addition, instead of filling the posted Field Manager position for Seattle and Daly City, 1 intend to assign
those responsibilities to current Regional/National Supervisory Exami ) or Field M s).

At the RMG ing, we also concluded that no adj to the current five region alignment and structure is necessary,
and that the West region will continue 1o maintain field offices in Seattle and Santa Ana. The lease for the Seattle office
contains an early buyout option, and continues the existing space and planned build-out of two offices instead of expanding
into the adjacent space.

Some of you may have questions so we established a conference call telephone line for Tuesday October 7, 2008 from 3PM
to 4PM where you can ask me any questions. The call in number is (866) 807 9539 and the pass code is 9137655, I'will
continue to do my best to keep everyone informed.

T know that the speed of change can be unsettling, but I am confident that all of us will remain focused on the important work
athand. There is plenty to do and the issues within the industry require us to remain fully engaged to ensure that institutions
take appropriate and prompt corrective actions.

Darrel Dochow

Franklin_Benjamin-00034415_004
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Ancely, Zatka A

From: Fitzgerald, Dennis J

Sent:  Friday, June 27, 2003 8:28 AM

To: Carter, Lawrence D

Ce: Ancely, Zatka A; Kuczek, Richard A, Potthast, John W
Subject: RE: OTS Memo 7

Lawrence,

Thanks, since | am all buttered up, | have reviewed the response, in spite of grief from AL He Is quite offended
that you did not ask him if 1 could take time away from his afl important examination in Santa Fe.

Since they agree with us, in the same spirit of cooperation toward the common goal | would agree that the
response is adequate. It is clear from my experience that changes seem to progress siowly at WAMU so | don't
know if we can expect faster progress. | would only suggest that we might want the responses to include
additional target dates for the various stages of corrective actions in order to facilitate monitoring of the progress
by management and the "dedicated” examiner and for determining causes for delays. For example, target for
identification of causes of underwriting deficiencies, targets for new policies or plans, target for training
completion,and targets for implementation. For the loan review/audit, the timeframe is tight given that the
implementation is 90 days after training and training cannot commence until the underwriting/credit policies and
plans are complete. I addition, the initial review with results is to be completed only 4 months after the target for
implementation of the corrective actions, so detalis would help there also.

My only concern would be the timing of the corrective action for the major activities and our next examination date
if it is March of 2004. Any loan scope should concentrate on loans made under the new policy and procedures.
Thus, we would need fo sample loans that were applied for and closed in 2004, i the implementation is the end
of the year. Initial RQA on these new Ipans would also be very limited or not yet complete. Given the target date
of 4/30/04 for RQAs initial review, they might not have any results at the start of our next examination. If any
target is missed, as happens at WAMU, then we may not be In a position to determine the sffectiveness of the
corrective actions.

Also, | assume that the response regarding appraisal deficiencies is also part of the response to Bruce's memo.
He might be in a better position to discuss that response and the long timeframe related to that area.

I hope all else is going well.

Dennis

[Fitzgerald, Dennis J}
-——Qriginal Messaga-—--
From: Carter, Lawrence D
Sent: Thursday, June 26, 2003 6:59 PM
To: Fitzgerald, Dennis 3
Cc: Ancely, Zatka A; Kuczek, Richard A; Potthast, John W
Subject: FW: OTS Memo 7

Dennis, | just finished looking through some of your workpapers. Nice job. Now that f've buttered you up,
can you take a ook at the attached response to your wonderful memo and let me know if it seems
acceptable. They are all "agrees"l! However, they do state some things they plan to do with some lengthy
time horizons extending into mid-2004. Personally, I'd rather seem them take the time to fix things right.

I Permanent Subcommittee on lnvestigztionsl
EXHIBIT#1S OTSWME04-0000006748

7/2/2003
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Let me know if you are okay with this and | will have management issue it as a final.

-~--Original Message—-——

From: Wedell, Matthew N, [mailto:Matthew. Wedeli@wamu.net]

Sent: Thursday, June 26, 2003 4:22 PM

To: lawrence.carter@ots.treas.gov; richard.kuczek@ots.treas.gov; Ancely, Zalka
Subject: TS Memo 7

Here is the draft of OTS Memo 7....subject to Jim Vanasek's review & approval. Please review and let me
know if you find the responses to be satisfactory. mw

Matt Wadell
Washington Mutual
Regulatory Relations
206.377-2884

7/2/2003

OTSWME04-0000006749
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High Risk Meeting Notes

West Region

BankPacific-No real items except plan on a field visit in March 2004.

Citibank(West)-

Davidson Trust-

Redacted
by
Permanent Subcommittee
Downey . .
on Investlganons
IndyMac

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
EXHIBIT #16 Finn_Michael-0000052
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The Director was concerned over how we are communication our exam
findings to the board. Our field visit review went to only Kerry
Killinger; however, the Washington State & FDIC reports went to the
Board.

The Director (while pacing) was very concerned over all the
management changes and putting inexperienced people in charge of
critical areas. Region agreed with concerns. The Director then wanted
to know how they communicate these valid concerns via Board or Audit
Committee. Region noted that they hold meeting with each committee
chair and discuss these changes. The Director noted that experience
management is the only way to oversee operations given his experience
verse Wamu practice of putting people in who may only be good
managers. Region noted Wamu has good middle management and new
Corporate Enabler Good made up on CFO, CCR & ERM people with
GE and Norwest backgrounds.

The Director wants more reporting to Board an/or Audit Committee of
our concerns and also questions the continued branch expansion while

attempting to cut costs.

Tim 8. did a brief summary of the GMNA Buy-Back program and
Wamu affect with public and regulatory reporting.

LBMC is gretting ready to go to the ABS market on a $4.5 billion deal .

TDISSIINNNNNNNE
Redacted

by
Permanent Subcommittee

on Investigations
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ﬁ Washington Mutual

WMBFA, WMBfsh
March 15, 2004
Safety & Soundness Examination
OTS MEMO § :

DATE: May 12, 2004
TO: Tony Meola, EVP, Production
Mark Hillis, Deputy Chief Credit Officer
FROM: Bili Durbin, OTS
SUBJECT:  SFR Loan Origination Quality
ceC: Deanna Oppenheimer, President WAMU Consumer Group

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Several of our recent examinations conciuded that the Bank's single family loan undenwriting was less than satisfactory
due to excessive errors in the underwriting process, loan document preparation, and in associated activities. Similar
findings noted in internal audits and quality control reports supported our examination conclusion. The overt causes for
past underwriting concerns were many, but included: (1) A sales culture focused heavily on market share via loan
production, (2) extremely high lending volumes fueled by the low interest rate environment, and (3) a less than optimal
organizational structure that included multiple loan origination platforms, in part due to recent merger activity, and a
variety of origination procedures that varied by ofigination office (i.e., loan fulfiliment center (LFC)).

During our revtew penod management began several initiatives aimed at correcting the overt causes of underwriting

sies di d above, Specifically, initiatives are underway to simplify the ongmauon stmcture by reducing
origination platforms from nine to two whﬂe developing a single origination modet! to be impl din all LFCs. Other
current initiatives to improve underwnhng quahty include: {1) deemphasszmg the Bank’s position as the pricing leader with
more emphasis on mai ity and origi hwgher quality loans, and (2) instaliing Credit Risk
Teams in LFCs almed at increasing the credit risk g group's infi over underwriting while reducing the
influence of production management. Since these and other management initiatives are in process, we cannot yet opine
on their effectiveness; however, the steps taken are considered appropriate and should eventually have a positive impact
on underwriting. Given the breadth of changes being made such as: (1) computer system changes (loan origination
platforms and termination of OPT15.2) and (2} ing and ion of the loan fulfiliment centers, with its
attendant relocations and staff reductions, the near term resu!t may be an environment where other types of errors may
become prevaient As such, we encourage ight of all ongoing initiatives and careful

of findings di d in this

Our past revi € on ing underwriting analysis documented in foan files, Since prior examinations

and internal reports have already established that undemvmmg concems exist, we decided fo forego some file review at

this examination to instead on and improving internal p that may contribute to underwriting
The ing di ions relay our findings with respect io these processes.

EXAM FINDINGS DEFINITIONS
Observation:

. of requia ince thich may Ingrove U1 bark's operali ffectivene ddres:
observahons are made ln E) role. They may be ehhsrvatbally ov in wnﬂng hut wiﬂ generalty
not be included in the Report of Exammaﬁnn Examiners will rarely request 2 written response during the examination.
Observations may o may nothe rev;ewsd during subsequent examinations.

Recommendation:

W diate comective $ leit anageme: scretion. A Recommendation can become a
Cdudsm in Mwe examinmions xhnuld nsk exposure merease s»gn{ﬁeanﬂy orcﬂ\el clroumslenues wamant. They may be included in
the Report of i -"ﬂ arg penemﬂy in Exit and Board Maetings. Examiners will usually request a writlen
. fesponse from juring the i 's actions 1o address Recommendalions are reviewed at
subsequem or(oauw%p examimans {0 assess any ohangss in risk exposure.
Criticism: recled, the Agencies may ; skronger action. Criticisms are ofien summarized In the
N ‘Mamers Raqumng Board Aﬁemm of "Exami sattion of the Report of Examination; warrant
attention by Senior and the Board of Directors and typically requice 8 writien response, They are subject fo

formal foliow.up by exarniners:

Last Revised: 08/10/2004 10:24 AM,
I Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
EXHIBIT #17 OTSWME04-0000004883
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OTS MEMO §

EXAM FINDING 1 3 Observation* ¥ Recommendation* B3 Criticism*

Topic:  Consumer Group Goals

Finding: The Consumer Group's overall goals do not expressly state a goat with respect to the desired quality of
ioan originations/acquisitions. We believe that this issue is of sufficient materiality, complexity, and
duration that it should be clearly stated as a goal with quantified expectations of those invoived in the
origination process.

Action:  Establish and quantify a Consumer Group goal with respect to desired asset quality and communicate this
expectation to those involved in the production process.

I Repeat Finding Ri Myes DOnNe

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE [ Agree M Partially Agree 13 D;sagree Enter Target Date: [9/30!04]

Management Response: Indicate whether you agree, partially agtee, or disagree. ¥ you agree, provide an anti target date for i

Partialfy Agree; The response should dearly define that portion of the finding or recommended aclion disagread with as weli as the portion agreed to.

Disagrea; The response should clearly define WHY there is di with the finding or aciion, and outling any mitigating
cirsumstances or alternative course of acion to be pursued.

RESPONSE {succinct response fo finding / action)

Management agrees it is important to have specific goals and targets for portfolic performance. Consumer Group Credit
Rxsk Management has established a target Non-performmg LoanfTotal Loan ratio of less than 1% as a target

e level. needs to icate this target broadly as part of the overalt Consumer Group
szrategn: objectives/goals.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each)

1. M will ish, quantify, and i asi Group goal with respect to desired asset guality
as part of the overall strategic objectives/goals.
a. Manager Accountable: Mark Hillis, Chief Credit Officer, Consumer Group
b. Target Date: 8/30/04

‘Washington Mutual, inc. -~ Confidential Page 206

OTSWME04-0000004884
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OTS MEMO §

EXAM FINDING 2 1 Observation® B Recommendation®  [J Criticism*

Topic:  Metrics used fo monitor performance in the loan fulfiliment centers.

Finding: There are 16 measures of performance in the Home Loans Production Scorecard (11 for the
Correspondent channel). Only one of these, the Optimal Performance Score, measures overall quality.
{The Optimum Performance score is obtained quarterly for most LFCs but is not available for the
Correspondent channel) In addition, the of Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA)
performance is not measured by LFC; rather, this is measured only by loan channel. The current
performance measurements do not appear to be either sufficiently detailed or sufficiently frequent to
effectively monitor and promote desirable loan origination and acquisition quaiity.

Action:  Track performance with sufficient detall and frequency to effect the desired change in underwriting.
ideatly, performance measures should be provided monthly and in sufficient detall to trace problems to the
specific channel, and LFC.

) {1 Repeat Finding B Yes 1INo
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  §1 Agree [ Parfially Agree [ Disa_g_ree Enter Target Date: [9!30[04}
Management Response: lridicate whether you agree, pariially agree, or disagres. If you agree, provide an anti target date for

Partially Agree: The response should clearly define that portion of the finding of recommended action dzsagreed with as well as the portion agreed to. )
Disagree: The response should clearly define WHY there is disagreement with the finding of recommended action, and outiine any mitigating
circumstances or alternative course of action fo be pursued,

RESPONSE (succinct response to finding / action)

The Risk Oversight team will work with the Home Loans team, to further refine risk metrics that are used to evaluate and
manage Credlt Compliance and Data Integrity risk in conjunction with ongoing process refinements.

pportive and has connnuous feedback to support business execution and risk management
activities. The Risk Oversight Group is in process of developing testing capabiliiies to provide monthiy feedback for all
LFC's.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action stej anned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each

1. ldenﬂﬁcauon of risk metrics will be performed in collaboration with Home Loans.

a, Aot Melissa Marti Risk Oversight & Compliance
b. Target Date: 7/30/04

2. i of nsk | and per {ards will be developed in collaboration with Home Loans.
a M M Martinez, Risk O ight & Comp
b. Target Date 7130104

3. Fully ion of revised per will be imp no later than September
30, 2004.

a. Manager Accountable: Melissa Martinez, Risk Oversight & Compliance
b. Target Date: 9/30/04

Washington Mutual, inc. ~ Confidential Page 3of &

OTSWME04-0000004885
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OTS MEMO §

EXAM FINDING 3 [l Observation* M Re ndation* 3 Criticism*

Topic:  Incentive compensation for loan fulfilment centers
Background:

The incentive compensation plan with respect to managers incorporates four performance measures
including: (1) productivity, (2) customer service, (3} management objectives, and (4) quality. This
discussion primarily focuses on the quality measurs that generally accounts for 20.0 to 40.0 percent of
incentive compensation, Within the quamy measure, there are four components: (1) HMDA results, (2)
Optimum Performance review results | , {3) ROA review resuits, and (4) percentage of unsaleable loans.
The plan indicates that one of two of these components may be usad in deternining the quality portion of

[ , in practice, only two are used: HMDA and Optimum
Performance review results. Both components are currently used for each consumer direct, wholesale and
retail LFC. As expressed in the plan, the program can generate the foliowing compensation for various
levels of achievement in the Optimum Performance reviews.

RPI Category RPI Score Ani ¥ tive Award [ five Award
as a % of Salary as a % of Salary

Unsatisfactory Below 60% 0% 0%

Unsatisfactory 0% to 69 A% 2.6%

Marginal 70% to 79% 3% 0%

Satisfactory 80% to BI% 5% 4%

Commendable 80% to 100% 7% 8

The foregoing assumes: {1) the quality portion of the incentive compensation plan ranges from 20% of the
fotal {the minimum incentive assumption) to 40% (the incentive ption), {2) an Op#i
Performance score of B0% equates to achieving 100% of the goal, and (3) two measures are used for
quality, HMDA and Optimum Performance score.

In practice, we were inf d that some ch is use a mind standard of 70.0 percent for the quality
portion of an incentive award, notwithstanding the provisions in the plan. One channel augrhents the core
resulfs with a portion of the it Objective comg of the incentive plan.

Finding: We do not beheve that tha current ive co| for SFR loan underwriting provides

f: Y or super)or Ioan quality, Thls results in paﬁ from ths fact that
credit and underwntmg quality does not appear to be hted in

compensation. In addition, the plan allows for significant talloﬂng by LFC management and is not
consistently applied across channels and LFCs. Further, current methodology makes it difficult to trace
responsibility and appropriately affect incentive compensation. These findings pertain primarily to the LFC
manager position, but are generatly applicable to other positions in the LFC.

The Optimum Performance or RPI score is an average of the score for three components: compliance,
underwriting, and process. An LFC could perform at an unacceptable level in one component but qualify
for an incentive compensation award because performance in the other components is better. (For
example, one LFC scored 65 for credit but received an 82 overall and would thus have eamed more than
100% of its incentive plan target for quality even though its credit quality perf was ur tory.)

The HMDA quality measure is not avaiiable by LFC mstaad the incentive compensation for the LFCs is
based on the p for the entire the LFC gers can influence,
but not eontrol their abllity to meet the incentive compensaﬁon standard for HMDA quality.

Action: Management should consider ing the o ion plan with respect fo the loan
fuifiliment center manager poslhon to more heavnly emphasize credit quality concerns. Our
recommendations include: (1) Revising the i ion plan fo track quality performance using

only items that can be measured at !he LFC levet; (2) Msasunng performance based on four crileria:
quality of compliance, documentation, underwriting, and data quallty, including rate lock quality; (3}
Working with the Consumer Risk Oversight Group to obtain performance measures in the four categories;
(4) Establishing minimums in sach category that reflect an acceptable level of quality, or that temporarily

* Optimum Performance results are also referred to internally as a Risk Performance indicator (RPY) score, This score is determined as a
result of file reviews conducted by one of the quality control functions within the Bank (separate from RQA). The score is a composite
measure of fia review results that assess compliance, processes, and credit quality.
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OTS MEMO 6§
EXAM FINDING 3 [1_Cbservation* ¥ Recommendation*  [1 Criticism*
accept a lesser level but reward progress toward an acceptable level; (5) Establishing a level and range of
reward that provides a ive to achieve excellent-quality in loan origination and acquisition,
and d:smoenﬁves for poor quahty and (6). Centrafly administering or overseeing the quality portion of the
incentive D ion to ensure the obj of the program are being met in all channels and LFCs,

iry addition, review the quality aspects of the incentive compensation plans with respect to other positions
affecting loan quality and, where appropriate, revise the plans to serve as an effective incentive to improve

performance.

O Repeat Finding R Regt d Mves [No
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE ~ § Agree [ Partially Agree L] Disagree Enter Target Date: {1 101IDS]
Management Response: Indicate whether you agree, parially agree, or disagree. if you agree, provide an antici target date for i
Partially Agree: The response should ciearly define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to.
Disagree: The response should cleady define WHY there is with the finding or action, and outline any mitigating

circumstances or allsmative course of action to be pursued.
RESPONSE (succinet response to finding / action}

Washington Mutual mar with the r dations for Exam Finding 3 and will take steps as
defined beiow to comply with act:ons as stated Target implementation dates are defined below.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each)

1. identify existing credit quality performance measure(s) o be used within the LFC Incentive Plan management:
plan as part of the management objective component of the plan.
a. Manager Accountable: Mark Hillis, Consumer Credit Risk Oversight
b. Target Date: 8/31/04

2. Utilize the objective ct of LFC plan to forus on credit quality measure
{Measure as identified in correchve action #1). This will result in 6.3% of management pay linked to cradit
quality.

a. Manager Accountable: John Schieck, Kim Yezbak and Arleen Scavone, LFC Sr. Leaders
b, Target Date: 10/1/04

3. Indrease incentive weight of existing quality for LFC it from 25% to 35%. This coupled
with corrective action #2 will result in 15% of LFC management pay finked to quality.
a.  Manager Accountable: Peggy Ohthaver, Consumer Rewards
b. Target Date: 10/1/04

4, Risk weight the Optimum Performance or RP| compenents: compliance, underwriting, and process to better
reflect impact of achievement.
a.  Manager Accountable: Peggy Ohlhaver. Consumer Rewards
b, Target Date: 7/1/04

5. Working with Consumer Credit Risk Oversight, establish agreed upon achi 1t thresholds for existing
quality measures within the LFC plan and revise incentive tables.
a. Manager Accountable: Peggy Ohlhaver, Consumer Rewards
b. Target Date: 10/1/04

6. Establish strategy for identifying credit quality metric accountability, tracking and incentive link for the four areas
identified within the exam findings: quality of compiiance, documentation, underwriting and data quality, including

rate lock quality.
a. Manager Accountable: Mark Hillis, Consumer Credit Risk Oversight & Tony Meola, Production (for rate
lock guality)

b. Target Date: 1/1/08

7. Launch study to rdermfy dnvers and accountability of quality excelience in loan origination and acquisition and
link.

a. Manager Accountable: Peggy Ohlhaver, Consumer Rewards

b. Target Date: 7/1/04

8. Centralize oversight of LFC quaiity metrics to the Consumer Credit Risk Oversight function.
a. Manager Accountable: Mark Hillis, Consumer Credit Risk Oversight
b. Target Date: 8/31/04

Washington Mutual, Inc. - Confidential Page 5 of 8

OTSWME04-0000004887

VerDate Nov 24 2008  13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00287 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.181



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

274

OTS MEMO 5§

EXAM FINDING 4 O Observation* ¥ Recommendation*  [J Criticism*

Topic: Managei-nent Support for the Loan Fulfiliment Centers

Finding: LFCs are inundated with changes in loan origination procedures and policies, to the extent that they have
difficuity complying with the changes.

Action:  Management should provide additional support to the LFCs to help them implement policy and procedure
changes as expected. One suggestion is to write mode! desk procedures far each position in the loan
fulfiliment centers and to revise these desk procedures concurrently with each nofice of a procedural or
policy change. When the LFC receives notice of a new policy or procedure, it should also receive a
revised desk procedure for each affected position in the LFC. This will improve compliance with standards
in the LFC and promote consistency among the LFCs, a stated it tion. The i
and adequacy of training should also be reviewed.

0 Repeat Finding R B Yee [INo

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  [] Agree B Partially Agree ] Disagree Enter Target Date: [7/31/04 ]
Management Response: indicate whether you agree, partially agree, or disagree. If you agree, provide an antici target date for §
Partially Agree: The response should clearly define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with as wall as the portion agreed to.

Disagree: The response should clearly define WHY there with the finding or action, and autline any mitigating
circumstances of altsmative course of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE | i D to finding / action)

Partially Agree: Although we agree that there has been a large amount of changes in policies and procedures and itis
difficult at times to comply/keep up with changes, we do fee! that change Is relative to the nature and the core of our
business. In addition, there are several techniques in place to lessen the impact of changes to both LFC management
and staff, including following up large impact changes with mestings and training to ensure the changes are
communicated to all applicable levels,

CORRECTIVE ACTION (provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each)

1. Continue to work with Policy Adminisiration to ensure all policies are rofied out with as much notice as possible, and
channe! managers will ensure that LFC management has input on policy changes as needed.
Acce ble: Ardeen S John Schieck, Kim Yezbak
b Target Date: 7/31/04

2. Utilize Loan Fulfiliment Center managemem facifitate twice daily/weekly team meetings to review and train on new
policies and procedures,
a. Manager Accountable: Arleen Scavone, John Schieck, Kim Yezbak
b. Target Date: 7/31/04

3. Continue to issue HLPAs developed by the Policy Administration group weekly {(each Friday) with a two week
implementation window prior to effective date of a change.
a. Manager Accountable: Ardeen Scavone, John Schleck, Kim Yezbak
b. Target Date: 7/31/04

4. Utilize channel mar o ication to refresh and re-enforce policy communications on a monthly
basis.
a. Manager Accountable: Arleen Scavone, John Schieck, Kim Yezbak
b. Target Date: 7/31/04
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From: Durbin, William J

Sent: Thursday, April 8, 2004 12:08 PM

To: Carter, Lawrence D <carterld@office of thrift supervision.com>; Franklin,
Benjamin D <franklinbd@office of thrift supervision.com™>

Ce: Ancely, Zalka A <ancelyza@office of thrift supervision.com>

Subject: RE: Locale

1 couid find no work papers indicating follow-up from the 2001 ROE comment in the sub prime work papers but
there may be work papers eisewhere documenting follow up on all previous findings.

Bill
-—-Qriginal Message---—
From: Carter, Lawrence D
Sent: Thursday, April 08, 2004 8:02 AM
To: Franklin, Benjamin D; Durbin, William J
Cc: Ancely, Zatka A
Subject: FW: Locale
Sensitivity: Private

1 looked at 217 workpapers that Zalka has from iast year's exam and casually discussed originated
subprime issue with her last night. One of the workpapers is a portion of the AQ comment out of the 2001
exam ROE (Al's got it iabeled 1998 ROE of course!). in any event, a paragraph very clearly telis WAMU
they need to identify originated subprime in both home and consumer loans and demonstrate compliance
with the interagency policy staternent as amended Jan 31 2001. { don't recall exactly what they did, but |
know they did some stuff to address this comment. And | don't know exactly what we did to follow up in
2002 and 2003 exams. | tatked to Matt Wedell and he is going to follow up on his end to find the chain of
responses since 2001 to see where the ball may have been dropped. We need to do the same.
Unfortunately, WAMU has had so many changes in that area, people in the know may be gone, so we
may need to recreate what happened for them! My goal is to pick this issue up wherever it got left off
rather than to start from scratch. Ken Kroemer from the FDIC is pushing toward some arbitrary FICO
score cutoff and | think he is going o hit a brick wall. {'d like us to have our ducks in order so we can
head him off at the pass.

----0riginal Message----

From: Frankiin, Benjamin D

Sent: Wednesday, April 07, 2004 8:41 AM
To: Carter, Lawrence D

Subject: RE: Locale

Sensitivity: Private

OK

---Original Message----

From: Carter, Lawrence D

Sent: Wednesday, Aprit 07, 2004 8:06 AM
To: Franklin, Benjamin D

Subject: FW: Locale

Sensitivity: Private

Bill got the stuff but I'd like to look at it to jog my memory. Can the three of us sit down with the
files on Monday afternoon and see what we got? Can Bill get a hold of a hard copy of the
interagency policy statement on subprime iending as weil? | think we can come up with a
painless game plan pretty quickly.

I Permanent Subcommittee on Investigatiuns]
EXHIBIT #18 Franklin_Benjamin-00001837_001
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----- Original Message-----

From: Franklin, Benjamin D

Sent: Tuesday, April 06, 2004 9:52 AM
To: Carter, Lawrence D

Subject: RE: Locale

Sensitivity: Private

1 will have Bill follow this up.

---~-Qriginal Message----

From: Carter, Lawrence D

Sent: Monday, April 05, 2004 2:29 PM
To: Franklin, Benjamin D

Subject: RE: Locale

Sensitivity: Private

I mentioned to Z this morning that we reslly want to make sure we proactively dive info
the "originated subprime” pot the FDIC is beginning to stir. Apparently, a focus on the
famous 660 FICO created quite a headache between Henry and the FDIC at Downey,
and we have one of the players, Dave Pfeifer, on this exam ... and | keep overhearing
Ken Kroemer talking about it. Durbin also mentioned to me this morning he was going to
do some analysis on FICO 660 and below for WAMU. 1 know | aiready mentioned that
we did something on this an exam or two ago, but my memory is slowly coming back and
} think more specifically Tim Martin did some work on it two exams ago. We shouid try to
locate those workpapers ... maybe in the Seattle office. Durbin might be able to find
them. | am pretfty sure we addressed the interagency policy statement and required the
institution to do something, | just don't remember exactly what. We may even have done
some foliow-up last exam and maybe there is something in those workpapers. | don't
want 1o make a lot of work. Instead, | am hoping we will be in a position to head them off
at the pass. If not, we'll just have to deal with it as it unfolds.

----Original Message-«---

From: Franklin, Benjamin D

Sent: Monday, April 05, 2004 11:45 AM
To: Carter, Lawrence D

Subject: RE: Locale

Sensitivity: Private

For some of them and Z is working on the others.

—=-Driginal Message-----

From: Carter, Lawrence D

Sent: Monday, April 05, 2004 10:44 AM
To: Frankiin, Benjamin D

Subject: RE: Locale

Sensitivity: Private

Thanks Ben. Are you set with call-in numbers for meetings you are
"attending” this week?

----Qriginal Message----

From: Frankiin, Benjamin D

Sent: Monday, April 05, 2004 10:40 AM

To: Durbin, William J; Johnson, Devon L; Lim, George A;
Melanson, Michelle; Orban, M Liz; Sinclair, Rosanne C
Cc: Ancely, Zalka A; Carter, Lawrence D

Subject: Locale

Sensitivity: Private

My telecommuting number is (909) 483-2922. | have a 2:pm
doctors appointment today but should be back by 4:pm

Franklin_Benjamin-00001837_002
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Hickok, Bruce |

From: Ancely, Zalka A

Sent; Thursday, April 14, 2005 10:03 AM
To: Hickok, Bruce {

Subject: FW: Fitch - LBMC Review
Sensitivity: Private

FYl. Some insight on the subprime product at LBMC for ALLL and high risk lending initiative.

~~-Original Message-~
From: Heary, David R
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2005 9:51 AM
Yoi Kuczek, Richard A; Glaser, Howard M; Relley, Mark E; Franklin, Benjamin D; Ancely, Zalka A
Subject: FW: Filch - LBMC Review

Sensitivity: Private

--=Original Message—---
From:

Blelik, Steve J
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2005 9:32 AM
To: Heary, David R
Subject: RE: Fitch

Sensitivity: Private

As expected big difference in parformance based on vintage year. Performance improves noticeably in 2003 and 2004
due to higher FICO scores. Data indicates that minimum cutoff FICO scores were raised substantially by a magnitude of
75 to 100bp. Interestingly, performance improves dramaticatly after 2001 for the first lien FR portfolio. However,
performance improvemant for the junior FR and ARM portfolios does not occur until after 2002. Average FICO score
highest for junior lisns. Average FRM FICO score about 25bp higher then average ARM FICO. This suggests that there
are different minimum FICO cut off scores for each product fine. Performance data for 2003 and 2004 vintsges appear to

approximate industry average while issues prior to 2003 have horribi B&formance.

For FRM losses, LBMC finished in the top 12 warst annualized NCLs in 1997 and 1999 thru 2003, LBMC nailed down
the number 1 spot as top 1oser with an NCL of 14.1% in 2000 and piaced 3rd in 2001 with 10.5%. Number of issuers
ranged from 21 to 50. The Deutsche Bk report did not have any data for 2004 for FRMs or ARMs. For ARM losses,
LBMC really outdid themselves with finishes as ong of the top 4 wortst perfonmers from. 1998 thru 20037 FGr specific ARM
deals, LBMC made the top 10 worst deal list ffom 3500 thru 2002, LBMC had an extraordinary year in 2001 whan their
securitizations had 4 of the top 6 worst NCLs (range:11.2% to 13.2%).

Although underwriting changes were made from 2002 thru 2004, the older issues are still dragging down overall
performance. Despite having only 8% of UPB in 1st lien FRM poois prior to 2002 and only 14.3% in 2002 r. lien pools,
LBMC stilt had third worst delinquencies and NCLs for most of period graphed from 11/02 thru 2/05 and was 2nd worst in
NCLs in 2005 out of 10 issuers graphed. Despite having only 27.5% of UPB in issues prior to 2003, LBMC managed to
stay at the top of the lsader board for most of the period in serious delinquencies and NCLs. At 2105 LBMC wag #1 with
inquency rats. In 5%. At3/05, LBMC had a historical NCL rate of 5% smoking their

312
closast competitor by 70bp and tripling the industry average. e
Have a mystery on seasoning charts. in reviewing cumulative loss rates and annual NCLs. For some unknown reason

there is a steep drop in the oss curve around month 55 for both ARMS (140bp) and FRMs (70bp), which | am at a loss to
explain.

i am reviewing the Option One data now and will send you another e-mail later today. Say helio to Roy, Dennis and Kirk
for me i they are still around.

Steve B.

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
EXHIBIT #19
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. K zsﬁl"w
Dochow, Darrel W /?L [ v
From: Rexroth, Mariana
Seont: Thursday, May 19, 2005 2:33 AM
To: Kuczek, Richard A
Ce: Carter, Lawrence D; Dochow, Darrel W
Subject: RE: LBMC Fair Lending
Sensitivity: Private
Rich -

Sorry not to get back to you sooner - } was in St. Louis at CMI. Generally what you've described is correct. | would not,
however, say that we could fee! comfortable with their moving LBMC under the thrift without some conditions - | had talked
to Darrel about this when | gave him an update. They do have considerable work stifl to do to resolve these issues and will
be providing a plan. Completion of that plan - and satisfactory corrective actions - would be an appropriate condition.

Mariana
-Qriginal Message---
From: Kuczek, Richard A
Sent: Tuesday, May 17, 2005 6:47 AM
Tor Rexroth, Marlana
[»-3 Carter, Lawrence D
Subject:  LBMC Fair Lending
Sensitivity: Private
Hi,
Quick question.

Need an update for Darre! this AM and I'r trying fo consolidate our thoughts on LBMC. -

From our meeting last week, it seemed that LBMC had done some work in providing an explanatory analysis for the
underwriting portion of the internal June ‘04 fair lending report. But it seemed there was still some additional
explanation required on that portion and aiso, they still needed to do manua! reviews on pricing disparity findings.
Additionally, 1 think you were looking to Dave for some ¢ i lysis once they finished expiaining the June
report disparities.

Further, LBMC and corporate need to provide an analysis or analyses regarding the public ally disclosed HMDA data
and those disparnties.

Is that a correct summary of your findings?

1 so, what will we require for us to say they have their act together on this and for us to feel ok about moving LBMC
under the bank?

Any thoughts would be appreciated.

OFFICIAL FILE CCPY

Gre/nesT
1
Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
EXHIBIT #20
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Mortgage product Page 2 of 2

{ may have mis-understood our discussion about the morigage product that you are most concerned with (12 Mat?). 1 did not see
a product on your web-site that had a cap on the interest rate change of 7% per year for the first five years. | see the FiexPay Am
with a 7,5% payment cap, § year recast, 12 month CMT, and 110% negative amortization but could not tell if these were teaser
rate or not.

} thought you had indicated that if a start rate was 1.0% then at year one the interest rate could only be 1.07% and thereon,
resulting in & recast in 4 1/2/years if rates rose 250 bp and a payment shock of about 100%.

Were you referring to the FlexPay ARM? Under the Flex Pay ARM, the cap is on the payment increase not the interest rate.

Can you also give me a sense of what types of start rates are typical and how the esti d pay shock is cal d. iflam
understanding the product, | agree that it carries considerable uncertainty and risk. Previously, borrowers have been able to rely
on growing home values to refinance out of these at time of recast, but that may not continue.

Thanks,

Darrel Dochow
{206) 829-2601

5/19/2005

OTSWMS05-005 0002003
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Washington Mutual
WwwMB
March 15, 2004
Safety & Soundness Examination
FDIC-DFI MEMO 3

DATE: May 20, 2004

TO: Mark Hillis, Deputy Chief Credit Officer
Tony Meola, EVP, Production

FROM: Trina Dong, FDIC and Erin Burr, DF1

SUBJECT:  Single Family Residential Review

ceC:

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

FDIC and State examiners reviewed a sample selection of 220 loans during this examination, primarily loans originated in
2003 75 brokered loans, 65 loans originated in house, 20 subprimel/niche loans, 20 low doc, 20 custom construction, 10
residential iot loans, and 10 advantage 90/h|gh LTV loans The ioan file review reflected inconsistencies in
underwriting and dc particularly in the brokered channel, Additionally, examiners noted
that Washington Mutual's SFR portfoho has an elevated level of risk due to 2 signif] volume of f

negative amortization loans, high delinquency and exception rates, and a substantial volume of loans with higher
risk characteristics, such as low FICO scores (see Joint Memo #8).

EXAM FINDINGS DEFINITIONS

Observation: A identified that is not of requlatory concern, bul which may improve bank's ting eff if 2t
Observations are made in ive rofe, They may be presented to management either verbaily of in writing, but wiil genersuy
not be included in the Report of Examination. Examiners will rarely request a written response during the examination.
Observations may or may not be reviewed during subsequent examinations,

Recommendation: A secondary soncern for which immediate corrective action is left to management’s discretion. A Recommendation can become a
Criticism in Riture examinations shouig risk exposure increase significantly or other circumstances warrant. They may be included in
the Report of Examination and are generally mentioned in Exit and Board Meetings, Examiners wifl usually request a writien
response from during the i 's actions to address Recommendations are reviewed at
subsequent ot follow-up examinations 1o assess any changes in risk exposure.

Criticism, Aprimaty concern that if left uncorrected, the Aggnggs may. ggnsldgc stronget action. Crificisms are often summarized in the
“Matters Requiring Board Attention” or i section of the Repont of Examination; warrant
increased attention by Senior Management and the Board of D!rectors and typically require & written response. They ate subject to
format follow-up by axaminers.

EXAM FINDING 1 O Observation* & Recommendation® 03 Criticism*

Topic:  Inconsistent Underwriting and Documentation Practices
Finding: The ican file review of WMB's portfolio revealed the following inconsistencies.

« A substantial number of loans (17 of 75 brokered loans, 8§ of 65 originated in house, and 8 of 20 low doc
loans) granted to borrowers with derogatory credit ratings or with higher risk characieristics were
graded a “0” or "prime.” The assighed credit classification is inconsistent with the bank's policy and
credit grading guidelines. As a result, these loans were not accurately priced for risk as loans with 2-4
credit codes (niche loans) which are priced at a premium rate. Additionatlly, the inconsistency in credit
grading resulted in an inaccurate level of loan loss reserve for the niche portfolio.

« The full doc loans in the brokered portfolio (21 of 75 loans reviewed) were nol fully documented and did
not meet the criteria for appropriate verifications. Missing employment, asset, and income verifications
were noted in the review,

» FICO scores were not consistently reported on'the Loan Approval Summary Sheet for a majority of the
loans reviewed. The underwriting guidelines specify which score to use when muitiple credit reports
were oblained, but it has not been applied uniformiy.

+ There is often lack of support for income calculations in the underwriting analysis, especxally when
multiple credit appiications are in the file.

« Some of the title policies for the NegAm loans have the insurance amount of 110% of the original loan

L.ast Revised: 06/04/2004 3:00 PM Washington Mutual, Inc. ~ Confidential

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
EXHIBIT #21 OTSWME 04-0000004889
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FDIC-DFI MEMO 3

EXAM FINDING 4 [} Observation® M R dati O Criticism*
balance and some have 100% of the loan amount. .

During the examination, management began several iniliatives o enhance the credit culture and correct
underwriting deficiencies through the implementation of minimum credit standards, Credit Risk Teams, and
a proprietary credit scoring model {version 2). However, examiners cannot yet opine on the effectiveness
of these initiatives.

Action:  Develop a process and system to ensure that undenwriting guidelines are consistently applied.

00 Repeat Finding Mar BYes [One
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE I Agree [ Partially Agree [ Disagree  Enter Target Date: {12/31/04 ]
Managsment Response: indicate whether you agree, partially agree, ot disagree. i you agree, provide an anlic target date for i i
Partially Agree: The response shouid clearly define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagresd with as well as the portion agreed to.
Disagree; The response should clearly define WHY there is with the finding or action, and oulline any mitigating

circumstances of altemnative course of action to be pursued.
RESPONSE inct to finding / action}

Management agrees with the Recommandation. As noted above, Consumer Credit Risk Management, in collaboration
with the Consumer Group Production channels, have developed and begun several initiatives to enhance credit culture
and correct underwriting deficiencies. In addition, the credit class 2-4 program has been eliminated effectively Q3 '04.
This coupled with Credit Risk Team (CRT) monitoring, training, and control should also add to the improvement of these
processes and overall quality. Please Note: FICO score discrepancies are predominantly caused by inefficiencies in our
ioan origination systems which cause loans to be manually boarded and may, in some cases, result in a new credit score
to be drawn which could confiict with the score used at origination and underwriting.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the assigned thie manager, and target dates for each}

1. MINIMUM CREDIT STANDARDS PROJECT: Consumer Credit Risk Management implemented the new Minimum
Credit Standards, which supplements.the existing underwriting process for loans that receive a WaMu AUS-Refer,
These Standards include a FICQA.TV-CLTV Matrix that determines which underwriting path a loan will foliow. Loans
falling below the matrix that may present an unacceptable level of risk will be quickly passed on {o 8 credit approver
with the appropriate level of authority and experience to expiore all options prior to a decision being rendered. All
AUS-Referred loans, however, will be reviewed in accordance with manual underwriting credit guidelines, regardiess
of the FICO score. This policy is currently in effect and applies 1o alt loan applications or loan submissions made on
or after April 1, 2004,

2. CREDIT RISK TEAMS (CRTs): These teams of senior underwriters who are managed outside the fulfitment
operation are being deployed in al Loan Fulfiltment Centers (LFCs). Four pilot sites have been operating since May
17 and CRTs will be operational in all LFCs by July 31 and fully impiemented by the end of the third guarter. These
teams in addition to handling more complex and high risk transactions will also monitor the performance of all credit
approvers in the centers. A new Residential Lending Authority Policy and Performance improvement Plan will be
introduced in June and all credit grantors will be re-ceriified by year end. Responsible Manager: Barry Wolfgram,
Consumer Credit Risk Management. Target Date: 12/31/2004

3. PROPRIETARY CREDIT SCORING MODEL (version 2): The Enterprise Modeling and Decision Systems group is

currently redeveloping the Home Loans Proprietary Model (PM2). The PM2 is expected fo be significantly more
robust in risk prediction than the Transitional Proprietary Mode! (TPM) that is currently in place and will be much
more reliant on credit file information than its predecessors.  The development is based on WaMu's new credit file
attribute superset, which consists of approximately 480 different credit attributes in addition to the added incremental
predictivity of application attributes, ioan purpose, and other significant characteristics. The PM2 is scheduled to be
completed in 3rd quarter 2004.

As a result, enhanced services shouid be able to be offered more confidently to fower-risk borrowers, improving
service and pull-through rates for more desirable risk profiles. At the higher risk end of the spectrum, more accurate
identification of risky loans and associated autornation to achieve "guicker no's” on these ioans will assist in fewer
opportunities for errors associated with manuai processes. Responsible : Tim Bates, Corporate Credit
Risk Management. Target Date: 9/30/2004

Washington Mutusl, inc. ~ Confidential
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FDIC-DFI MEMO 3

EXAM FINDING 2 £1 Observation* Recommendation* {3 Criticism*

Topic: Underwriting for Low Documentation Loans

Finding: The bank's underwriting guidelines indicate that the fow doc loan program is designed to expedite
processing of low risk loans. Eight of the 20 low doc loans reviewed were 1o borrowers with credit
scores Jower than 660 who had major derogatory ratings or current past due problems listed on
thelr credit reports. Granting loans to these borrowers would appear contrary to the low risk
characteristics. Additionally, no compensating factors were noted in the underwriting analysis when
approving such loans.

Limited income or employment verification within this ioan program was also noted, as verification is not
required for low doc loans according to the bank’s underwriting guidelines. The applicants may qualify
using stated income and verify their own employment. However, such guidelines appear contradictory to
the low risk criteria.

Action:  Reevaluate the documentation and underwriting guidelines and establish acceptable credit quality and
underwriting parameters for the fow doc loan program that are consistent with the low risk characteristics.

] Repeat Finding Mvyes [No
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE & Agree [ Partislly Agree [] Disagree _Enter Target Date: [12/31/04 ]
Mansgement Respanse: indicate whether you agree. partially agree, or disagree. if you agree, provide an anticip target gate for i i

Partiaily Agree: The response should clearly define thal porlion of the finding of recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to. '

Disagree: The response should clearly define WHY there is disagreement with the finding or recommended action, and outline any mitigating
circumstances or aftemative cowrse of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE inct response to finding / action)

Management agrees with the Recommendation. In order to further drive credit quality consistency and acceptable level
of risks on Low Doc transactions we will monitor their performance and reevaluate the documentation and underwriting
guidelines and establish acceptable credit quality and underwriting parameters for the Low Doc Loan Program that are
consistent with the low risk characteristics.

S

CORRECTIVE ACTION (provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each)

1. Thus far all of our analyses conclude that Low Doc loans significantly cutperform Full Doc loans. This is also seen
when compatring the other Low Doc gualifying criteria (CLTV, DTI, etc.). These loans are sent through our predictive
models (LPRM) which show these o have lower loss expectations. Overall NPL rate from Low Doc loans with
FICOs less than 660 is 1.00% compared to Full Docs with FICOs less than 860 which have & rate of 1.84%. The
Credit Information and Analytics team will continue to monitor these through reguiar audit reports that screen for high
risk Low Doc loans. The results will then be communicated to National Underwriting for review and to implement

Target Date: 09/30/04

2. National Underwriting will use these reports 1o evaluate, control, and improve the underwriting process for Low Doc
ioans. Consumer Credit Policy will review and revise the applicable sections of the Conventional Underwriting
Guideline, the Home Loans Online Lending Manual, and the Product and Pricing Guide to ensure ali areas of
evaluating the applicant are addressed. Alse inchuded in this review will be the overall credit review process, income
and asset analysis, and the documenting of the risk decision. In addition, the sections regarding Verbal Verifications
of Employment will be reviewed to ensure that they provide clear and concise direction when verbally verifying self
employed applicants, as well as those borrowers with unusual income sources.

Following the review and necessary revision, National Undenwriting will drive the operational execution with the new
Credit Risk Teams {CRTs) who will oversee and monitor the implementation of the new poficy and training,
Responsible Manager: Barry Wolfgram, Consumer Credit Risk Management. Target Date: 12/31/04

Washingion Mutual, Inc. — Confidential
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FDIC-DFt MEMO 3

EXAM FINDING 3 Bl Observation* 1 Recommendation* O Criticism*

Topic:  Risk in SFR Portfolio

Finding: Our review, as well as that of Corporate Credit Review identified that Washmgton Mutual's held for-
investment SFR portfolio has an above average risk profile: higher deling an
rates, 68% of WMI's SFR portfolio has the potential to negatively amortize; and 17% of WMP's SFR
portfolio, or 135% of Tier 1 Capital, reflects current FICO scores less than 620.

WMB’s SFR ioans with the potential NegAm feature represent 96% of the Option ARM loans or 74% of the
SFR portfolio in 2003, an increase from 88% of the Option ARM loans or 38% of the SFR portfolio in 2002,
These leans increase credit risk in a rising interest rate environment due to borrowers’ unceriain ability to
service a higher monthly payment, a potential increase in principal balance, and potential LTV conceins,

. The September 2003 internal analysis concluded that NegAm joans make up a significantly larger
proportion of ioans in the lower FICO bands, have higher delinquencies, and higher current LTVs than the
{pans in the rest of the portfolio.

WMI's loans with FICO scores less than 620 totaled approximately $18 billion, or 135% of WMI's Tier 1
Capital. Loans in this category show a higher delinquency rate compared to the rest of the portfolio. Of
the $19 billion, approximately $1.98 billion is currently more than 30 days past due, which represents 85%
of the $2.33 billion delinguent loans for the entire SFR portfolio.

The June 2003 Credit Review Report concluded that the level of Washington Mutual's non-performing
loans is considered high and the pfobability of improvement in overaif performance is not likely.
Additionally, the review identified excessive error rates in documentation.

Action:  Monitor the effectiveness of management's new initiatives: the establishment of minimum credit standards,
formation of Credit Risk Teams, and iaunching of a new proprietary credit scoring model. Measure the
underwriting quality that results from the above mmatlves and take corrective action if necessary to
enhance the process.

O Repest Finding W 1 Yes ™ No
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE @ Agree [ Partially Agree  [J Disagree  Enter Target Date: [N/A]
Management Response: indicate whether you agree, partially agree, or dxsagreé. # you agree, provide an anti targe! date for i

Partially Agree: The response should ciearly define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed 1o,
Disagree; The response shouig clearly define WHY there is disagreement with the finding or recommended action, and outline any mitigating
circumstances of alterniative course of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE (succinct response to finding / action)

Management agrees with the Observation and is carefully monitoring the progress and effectiveness of the noted
initiatives. As discussed in the Management Response for Finding 1, the establishment of Minimum Credit Standards,
the formation and implementation of the Credit Risk Teams, and the launch of the new proprietary credit scoring model
are currently in progress and should result in overali underwriting quality improvements. .

Regarding the SFR toanis with the potential NegAm feature, the Credit Information and Analytics group currently runs
stress testing for NegAm and potential NegAm loans. The greatest risk to the organization is not a rising rate
environment, but a declining housing price environment. The multiple stress tests that are performed, however, indicate
that while the losses could be much greater than what we curcently are experiencing, our loan loss reserve is adequate to
cover those possible losses.

For the proportion of the total HFI population mentioned with FICOs less than 620, about $1 billion (or 5%) were
originated by acquired institutions and about $3 billion (or 15%) have LTVs less than 60 percent. A small amount of the
acqulired is fess than 60 CLTV (about $127 miflion). Thus, of the population:

s 4% Acquired and »60 LTV

+  14% Not Acguired and < 80 LTV

» 1% Acquired and <60 LTV

Please note that the establishment of the Minimum Credit Standards will sharply reduce the highest risk tail, in addition to
assisting in the improvement of underwriting quality, as will the elimination of credit classification codes 2-4.

With regard to the section of the June Credit Review Report stating that the probability of improvement is not likely; the
reference is misleading. Without the changes to the front-end, CRT implementation and active portfolio management

‘Washington Mutual, inc. - Confidential
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FDIC.DFI MEMO 3

EXAM FINDING 3 ¥ Observation® D Recommendation* [ Criticism*
(loan sales), this would be true. There has been significan! improvement in default servicing management and oversight.
In early 2004, Gonsumer Credit Risk Management began working with the Defautt Servicing group to focus on improving
and reducing the cutstanding balance of Non-Performing Loans (NPLs). The reduction in NPLs has been principally
achieved with the quarterly sale of Non-Performing and Sub-Performing loans; this is not the long-term strategy for
managing NPLs. The Default Collections team has implemented a focused caliing campaign on the asset portfolio.
Delinquent loans are calied on by the fith business day of the month, the right party contact rate is improving, and we are
seeing deeper penetration within the porifolio. Performance is monitored and measured each month with a comparison
to prior year's performance, Considerable improvement has shown in the following areas with an overall reduction in
delinquency:
«  Cure Ratio of 4+ Payment DQ ~ As of April 2004 Cure Rate was 12.2% in comparison to the average cure rate
of 6.3% in 2003.
*  3-4 Payment Roll Rates - The leve! of loans rofling from 3 to 4 payments delinquent was 41.4% in April 2004
‘in comparison to the 2003 average of 55.1%.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the assigned manager, and target dates for each’
As stated in Finding 1, the following are the corrective actions as they relate to Minimum Credit Standards Project, Credit
Rigk Teams, and proprietary credit scoring model {version 2):

1. MINIMUM CREDIT STANDARDS: This policy is currently in effect and applies to ail loan applications or loan
submissions made on or after April 1, 2004

2. CREDIT RISK TEAMS: Four pilot sites have been operating since May 17 and additional expansion to more siles will
take place through June 14. CRTs will be.operational in all fulfillment centers by the end of July and fully
implementied by the end of the third quarter. A new Residential Lending Authority Policy and Performance
improvement Plan will be introduced in June and all credit grantors wilt be re-certified by year end. Responsible
Manager: Barry Wolfgram, Consumer Credit Risk Management. Target Date: 12/31/2004

3. PROPRIETARY CREDIT SCORING MODEL (version 2): The Enterprise Modeling and Decision Systems group is
currently redeveloping the Home Loans Proprietary Model (PM2). Responsible Manager: Tim Bates, Corporate
Credit Risk Management, Target Date: 8/30/2004

Washington Mutual, Inc, - Confidential
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58 washington Mutual

WMBFA, WMBfsh
March 44, 2005
Safety & Soundness Examination

OTS MEMO 3
DATE: May 20, 2005
TO: Mark Hitlis, Chief Credit Officer
FROM: Bruce Hickok, OTS
SUBJECT:  Allowance for Loan and Lease Loss Modeling
cC: William Green, Jr., Deputy CCO, Corporate Commercial Credit
Joseph Matiey, Deputy CCO, Credit Porifolio Strategies
BACKGROUND INFORMATION

We reviewed the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses (ALLL) methodology and the policies and procedures that govern
the ALLL process. Our review included: 1) the status of the proposed use of version 3.1 of the Loan Performance Risk
Model (LPRM) that calculates loss factors for SFR prime and subprime morigage loans, 2) plans fo update the empirical
data used to calculate loss factors for home equity loans, and 3) the work in progress o support the unafiocated portion of
the ALLL.

in 2005, itiatives to enhance the ALLL methiodologies. indications are fhat the revised ALLL
methodology will result in htﬂe change to the total estimated amount of ALLL, but it is likely to shift more of the allowance
from portion, Projected results of the enhancements are not expetted until the end
of the second quarter 2005 Managemenl has stated a decision to employ the revised version 3.1 of LPRM has not been
made,

The overall ievel of ALLL has remained adequate. Enhancements to the bank's ALLL methodology and analysis are
appropriate due to an increasing disparity between actual and projected loan losses, the significant growth of option
ARMS and other hybrid morigage foan products in the portiolio, and the increasing levet of subprime loans and loans fo
mher higher risk borrowers. The last two external independent audits also noted the need to increase the support and

for ALLL methodologies and lo indep validate the bank's ALLL models. This is being addressed
in the new ALLL inltiatives.
Based on the initiatives to enh the reserve fon p we offer the following recommendations to further
augment the ALLL methodology.
EXAM FINDINGS DEFINITIONS
Observation:

ot ich may improve the bank's operating sflectiveness § addressed.
Obssmmmmzdehnmumem Mmmmﬂmbmnwwmmnyahwmm but will generalty
not be inciuded in the Report of Exarmination. Examiners wil rarely Tequest a wiitian response during the examination.
Omemwmmay«mymbemvkeweddmmmwuxam

Recommendation: e acfion, A Rerommendation can become B Criicism in fulure examinations should tisk
emmmmmmmmwmﬁmmm memw&dthmﬂdE&amhmnﬂdm&md
in Extt ang Board Meetngs. anmexswmrequeﬂa
actions to adgress reviewad at or foliow-up

Crticism: b

thg sonecfve acton Unficlsms are ofion summarzed in he "Matters Requiring Board Attention” or
Exmn‘na&m&mdusm i Comments™ section of the Report of Examination; war n—antlnmsmmuvd:mbySmrManavem(
and the Board of Directors; and require a wittien response. They are subject fo format follow-up by examiness and, 7 left

uncarected, may result in stronger action,

FINAL: 07/0672005 12:57 PM
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OTS MEMO 3

L N
EXAM FINDING 1 L1 Observation B _Recommendation 0 Criticism
C Mniﬁaﬁves

Finding: During this axamination, we were unable o assess the adequacy of projected results from the
{atest ALLL inltiatives, as the results from Phase | of the initiatives are not expected until the end of
the second quarter of 2005,

Prefiminary resulls of Phase |, including projected use of version 3.1 of LPRM, was not avallable during the
examination. Howaver, the latest ALLL inifiatives and implementation timefine appear o be realistic.

ALLL initiatives .

Action:  Ensure timely complefion of the tatest ALLL inltiatives, including Phase | by the end of the second quarter
of 2008,

I Repeat Finding R HAves e

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE ] Agree [ Partially Agree [ Disagree  Enter Target Date: [9/30/2005 ]
Management Respanse; indicate whether you agree, partially agres, or disagree. 1 you agree, provide an anficipated targe! date fot implementation,
Partiatly Agroe: The recponse shoukd claarly define that portion of the firdiing o recommended action disagread with as weki as the podion agreed to.

Disagree: The fesponse should ciearly tlafine WHY there i disagraement with the inding or racommended action, and outhing any mitigating
circumstances o altemative course of action (o be pursued.

RESPONSE {succinct response to finding / action)

tis commitied to pleting the ALLL inifiatives by the dates specified in our Steering group planning

documents. Phase ! will be completed by 7/1/05, including the decision on whether to implement the calibrated version of
1PRM 3.1 for SFR and Subprime loans.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provids speciic action ste; anned, the assigned responsible mas r, and target dates for each]

1. Finalize Phase 1 estimati for the Alocated Reseive and enh contrals — Joe Mattey — 7/1/05

2. Obtain Credit Policy Comm-ttee (CPC) Approval of any needed revisions. to Credit Standards for Allocated Reserve.
Joe Mattey ~ 9/30/05

3. Establish a new CPC sub ittee i hanism for review of credit model validafions and assumption
change confrols — Jog Mattey — B/1/05

Washington Mutual, Inc. — Confidential Page 20of5
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OTS MEMO 3
o A—
/{ EXAM FINDING 2~ . [] Observation* 1 Recomwnendation* [J Criticism®*
"‘\_,chfc‘:/ LPRM version 3.1.
Finding: M t is in p of validating and calibrating LPRM version 1.1, but the validation
continues to show a slgmﬁcant disparity in actua! and projected SFR loss rates. I is unknown if
the amount of difference is an the révised model,

The latest ALLL iniigtive inciudes the proposed use of LPRM version 3.1 for SFR prime and subprime
morigage loans. In.order to validate the model, several groups of actual loans were taken from selected
fime perods; but the fit of projected losses from the model fo actual historical periormanua is far from
perfect.

For example, using a sample of loans outstanding af January 1998, the difference in projected and actual
SFR foss rates at 24 months is 10 basis points (bps). Applying actual housing prices and interest rates
inio the model the difference is reduced to 9 bps (a reduction of 1 bp or 10 percent). Then, after calibrating
the model for p and default pti the difference is further reduced to § bps (a cumulative
reduction of 4 bps or 40 percent}, which still leaves 60 percent unexplained. Although this is only one
example, it is unknown ¥ this is still a significant disparity to validate the model.

Action: Have a third parly independently validate the bank’s ALLL models, including this LPRM version 3.1, shouid
this revised model be implemented.

{1 Repeat Finding % Myes [INo
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  [1 Agree Partially Agree [ Disag Enter Target Date: [131/06 ]
Management Response: indicate whether you agree, parfialy agree, or disagree. ¥ you agree, provide an antici target date for i
Partiatly Agree: The response should clearty defing that portion of the finding of recommandad aclion diszgreed with as well as the portion agreed to.
Disagrea: The response should clearty define WHY there I5 disareement with the finding of recommernded action, and outiine any mitigating

cirmumstances of aliemative cowrse of action o be pursied.

RESPONSE (succinct response to finding / action)
The substantial ion work lated to-date supports the validity of the LPRM v3,1 mode! for the ALLL loss

modeling purpose, particularly in the calibrated form. Vafidation of the mode! was conducted by Washington Mutual staff
independent of the vendor's mode! developers.

As the Washington Mutuat staff who conducted the existing LPRM v3.1 validation includes prospective users of the modet
for ALLL ioss madeling purp agrees to complete an additional third party validation of the LPRM 3.1
model. The CPC subcommitiee with responsibility for credit modet validation and assumption change review will
supervise selection of qualified third parfies for analysis in support of validation of ALLL modets.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action sf anned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each

1. Validation and Cafibration Analysis of LPRM 3.1 provided by ALLL Loss Modeling Staff - Joe Mattey — 7/1/05
2. Third-party LFRM 3.1 vafidation — John Camahan (acting Chair of CPC subcommitieefworkgroup on Credit Modet
Validation and Assumption Change Review) 1/31/06

Washington Mutual, inc. - Confidential Page 3of5
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OTS MEMO 3

M FINDING 3 {1 Observation [ 0 ¢

yn(‘ and Docurentation for Unallocated ALLL

Finding: The ALLL initiative also includes a proposal to expand the methodology and d
to support the unallocated portion of the ALLL to include risk weighting of six qualitative factors.

Currently, only general items such as data integrity issues, newly developed foan products, or exogenous
variable trends, are induded as factors fo be considered for the unaliocated portion of ALLL and there are
no guidelines as to how the factors are o be applied. At the end of 2004 the unaliocated portion of ALLL
‘had increased to 30 percent of total allowances up from 23.9 percent a year earlier.

‘The latest external independent audit also noled the need to strengthen the documentation supporting the
unaliocated portion of ALLL.

Action:  Management should ensure complefion of the expanded methodology and documentation for the

unatiocated portion of ALLL.

[ Repeat Finding i Hves [INe
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  # Agree [ Partially Agree  [J Disag Enter Target Date: (9[30!2005 1
Management Respanse: indicate whether you agree, partially agree, or disagree. |f you agree, provide an anfici target date for
Partiplly Agree: The responss should clearty define that portion of the finding or recommendad action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to,
Disagrea: Tha mpcme shauid daarly define WHY there is with the finding or action, and outiine any mitigating

cirtumstances or altemative course of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE {succinct response to finding / action)

M t has a dreft of enb for esti d reserve needs, New policies have
been drafted for approva! on appropriate unanocated pen:entage target ranges.

Management has developed a Scorecard to aid in the defining of the unaliocated reserve. The Scorecard contains seven
qualitative factors (Q Factors): 1) National and E ic Trends, 2) Mortgage and Housing MarkeV Financial Services
Sacior Conditions, 3) Valociy and Pace of Change in Delinquencies, Classified Loans, Net Charge Off s and Recoveries,
4) Vekodty and Pace of Loan Growth, §) Leve! of and Trends in Concentrations, 6) Changes in Quality of Lending and

g Staff, and e with Policy, 7) Regutatory and Public Policy Environment. The seven Q Factors are
assxgned a wetghﬁng range Each factor is analyzed in demd to determine a risk level and assigned a weighting for the
quarief. The quariedy appli of the a for the overall unaliocated reserve amount,
which can range from 10-25% of the total reserve.

CORRECTIVE ACTION (provids specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and targat dates for each}

1. the Qualitatiy rd for analysis of 2° quarter 2005— 8iff Green — 7/1/05
2. CPC Approval of Unaliocated Standards ~ Biff Green ~ 5/30/05
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OTS MEMO 3

' EXAM FINDING 4 ) {1 Observation 7 R dation {1 Criticism

opic:  HELOC, Home Equity, and Unsecured Consumer Loan Loss Factors

Finding: The odds charts used in the customized calculation of loss factors for HELOC, Home Equity, and
Unsecured Consumer loans are based on consumer behavior that is 3-5 years old.

The bank’s consumer portiolio demographics, interest rates, and the general economic conditions have

h since the model was developed. Management plans to address the
modermg for these loans in the second half of 2005 as a part of Phase il of the ALLL initiatives. indicafion
is that updated data will be obtained from Experian rather than Equifax, which was originally used fo
produce the odds charts.

Action: By the second half of 2005, complete the update of odds charts and empirical data used in the calculation
of loss factors for HELOC, Home Equity, and Unsecured Consumer loans,

{1 Repeat Finding : R d Myes o
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE [ Agree I Partialiy Agree  [J Disagree Enter Target Date: [1’31!05]
Management Responsa: indicate whethel you agree, parially agrew, or disagrea. i you agree, provide an anticy target date for

Partlalty Agree: The response shoukf ciearty define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to.
Disagree: The response should claarly defina WHY thera is disagreamernt with the finding of racommended action, and outiing any mitigating
roumstances or pliemative course of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE {succinct response to finding / action)

Enhancements to estimation procedures for HEL, HELOC and ur o foans will be comp inPhase il
of the ALLL Allocated loss modeling initiative. At a minimum, this will include updating the empirical data used in
calcolating the loss factors (switching to Experian from Equifax). However, an update of the “odds charts” will not be
provided If the recommended new modeling procedures no jonger incorporate “odds charts® in the modefing method.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the assi ible manager, and farget dates for each)

1. Update empirical data to incorporate Experian credit bureau information — Joe Mattey — 714/05
2. Complete Phase il redesign of HEL, HELOC and other consumer ALLL modeling — Joe Mattey - 1/31/06
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Washington Mutual
WHMBFA
March 14, 2005
Safety & Soundness Examination

DATE: June 1, 2008

TO: Melissa Martinez, Chief Compliance & Risk Oversight Officer
FROM: Joe Knorr, Ann Hedger, Al Avila; OTS Examiners
SUBJECT:  Corporate Risk Oversight

ce: James Vanasek, EVP, Chief Enterprise Risk Officer

Ken Kroemer, FDIC

Corporate Risk Oversight (CRO) is responsible for independently evaluating credit and compliance risk across the
company and assessing the effectiveness of risk management processes relative to established strategic and risk
tolerance objectives. In fulfilling this responsibility, CRO has an important role in the company's compliance management
and internal asset review processes.

Since the prior examination, CRO has grown significantly as a result of a major expansion of its responsibifities, including:
(1) centralization of responsibility for enterprise-wide compliance managememt under CRO; (2) relocation and
consolidation of five separate Quality Assurance (QA) functions from the business units under CRO; and (3) assumption
of responsibility for the Servicing QA function (now referred to as Servicing Risk Oversight) by CRO. The consolidation of
the QA functions was a particularly chaflenging process and involved not only physical relocations, but integration of
compliance testing and implementation of process changas at the same time. In general, this consolidation seems o
have gone well.

Notwithstanding the general success of CRO's expansion acliviies, CRO faced a number of resource and other
challenges that affected the execution of its 2004/2005 Performance Plan. For instance, executive management
concerns with CRO risk definitions resulted in suspension of monthiy and quarterly trend reporting in December 2004, at
which time CRQ embarked on a protracted recalibration project. Additionally, CRO dees not yet have in place fully
funchonal continuous D! 1sive review processes whare planned, is not up-to-date on perodic process reviews, and
has not finalized monthly and quarterly dashboard trend reporting, Ultimately, untll full exception data collection,
reporting, and follow-up processes are in place and stabilized, senior management and the Board cannot really assess
whether the QA process Is having a meaningful impact on line processes, including loan underwriting,

The findings in this memo primarily relate fo the need for CRO to complete the activities prescribed in its 2004/2005
Performance Plan, and to improve execution on future annual performance plans. Additional findings relate to excessive
review cycle timeframes and the need fo improve documentation of enterprise-wide asset review processes. Most of the
findings are considered “crificisms” due to the overall significance of CRO activities and the fact that we have had
concems with quality assurance and underwriting processes within home lending for several years.

Note that findings related fo Servicing Risk Oversight are covered in a separate memo.

FINAL: 06/01/2005 12:49 PM

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations| Printed: 0B/02/2005 12:06 PM
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Topic:

Finding:

Action:

X Repeat Finding Resp X Yes 3 No

Aftainmert of Performance Plan Goals

During our prior examination, in Joint Memo 19, Finding #2 (‘Recommendation™), we noted CRO did not
meet the review fimeframe objeclives set forth in its 2003/2004 Performance Plan. However, we
acknowledged this was the first Performance Plan adopted under the newly structured department and that
there were cother significant projects and resource requirements that affected the completion of this
Performance Plan, The 2003/2004 Performance Plan primarily consisted of annual process reviews,
which focused on identifying systemic issues.

With the assumption of QA funclion responsibilities in mid-2004, several changes to the structure of CRO,
its Performance Plan goals, and scheduled review dates were required. The 2004/2005 Performance Plan
{the Plan) was changed to provide for more confinuous fransaction testing for all residential lending, multi-
family and commerciat real estate loan originations as pant of a new Continuous Comprehensive Review
process. Subsequent to this revision, addifional changes were made to the Plan, which appeared fo have
been made to at feast partially address execution delays. For instance, many annual Periodic Process
Reviews, which were behind schedule, were combined into upcoming Continuous Comprehensive
Reviews.

Although some revisions to the 2004/2005 Performance Plan objectives may have been appropriate
given changing priorities and risks, some changes seem to have been made because of execution
difficuities. Various important Periodic Comprehensive Reviews, Periodic Process Reviews, and
Continuous Comprehensive Reviews were not conducted in the manner or timeframes originally
envisioned. Therefore, we believe CRO ultimately fell short of attaining its originai Plan goals.

We understand that consolidation of the QA function was a significant project undertaken by CRO, and that
resource constraints and a host of aother issues may have impacted CRO's ability to fully execute on its
plans. We also acknowledge that CRO deserves oredit for putting @ good basic oversight framework in
place. Notwithstanding the issues impacting CRO's plans and the recognition of the good work dong so
far, we belleve CRO needs to do a better job executing its Performance Plans,

Ensure fimeframes and resources are sufficient to finish 2004/2005 Performance Plan {now, just 2005
Performance Plan”) objectives. More generally, improve the planning process fo ensure fulure
Performance Plans not only appropriately address risk oversight objectives, but also are reasonably
attainable from a time and resource standpoint.

Topic:

Finding:

Monthly and Quarterly Trend Reports on Continuous Comprehensive Review Results

Senior management and the Board have not been provided monthly and quarterly trend or
dashboard reports on the results of Continubus Comprehensive Reviews since December 2004,
when reporting was suspended while CRO recalibrated risk definitions. Without the trend reporis,
senior management and the Board are unable to ascertain whether line functions are performing
acceptably and, more specifically, whether the QA process is having a meaningful impact on

Washington Mutual, Inc. ~ Confidential Page 2 of 7
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improving loan underwriting.

in December 2004, the issuance of monthly trand reports covering Continuous Comprehensive Reviews
was suspended, due to executive management concems with risk definifions, particularly as those
definitions related to loan salability. Af that time, CRO stopped providing dashboard trend reports o senior
management and the Board. Despite the suspension of trend reporting. however, results of weekly
sampling and Continuous Comprehensive Reviews of new loan production, where conducted, continusd to
be provided in weekly even reports to line management at the LFC tevel, and constructive interaction was
apparently ocourting between reviewers and line personnel.  Also, although documented trend reporting
was suspended, CCRO Martinez continued fo attend appropriate meetings and discuss CRO activities at
senior management and Board levels.

CRO has worked to recalibrate the risk definitions to not only address the internal concerns, but to improve
the process overall. The recalibration efforts focused on three sets of risk definitions: Compliance, CRO
risk rating, and Securitization (foan salabiiity}. All event codes were reviewed across ali channels to refine
terminology and eliminate redundancy where applicable. Revisions to reporting templates are now being
compieted to enhance monthly trending reports with more meaningful information.

Action:  Monthly and quarterty CRO trend and dashboard reports for Continuous Comprehensive Reviews should
resume as quickly as possible and be issued fo senior management and the Board. The reporis shoutd
contain not only exception trends, but also show the status of management's corrective action plans in
cases where exception rates exceed acceptable thresholds. The reports should also identify systemic
issues, such as specific underwriting practice weaknesses that impact the quality of the bank's asset
portfalios.

{3 Repeat Finding X Yes I ne
CRANAGEMER SETRIT

Washington Mutual, inc. ~ Confidential Page 3ol 7
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Topic: Excessive Review and Reporting Cycle Timeframes

Finding: Periodic review process cycle time, from fisldwork to r it resp , seems .
CRO's review fracking report showed that mar 1t has g ity been D ing to CRO
reports within ptable timeframes & rts issued-by-CRO. The same tracking report showed,
h , that the th for the CRO review cycle, from fieldwork to exit meeting, to initial
report draft, to final report, was excessive, The report suggested, for example, that it sometimes
took several months after fieldwork was complete to issue a final report.

>

Action:  Management and the Board need to ensure that appropriate review cycle and management response
timeframas are in place for all types of CRO reviews in order to ensure timely communication and
correction of weaknesses. Management and the Board need to closely monitor compliance with the
timeframes and ensure that appropriate follow-up takes place to ascertain that corrective actions are being
implemented. CRO should therefore provide appropriate reporting that tracks performance relatively to the
timeframes.

3 Repeat Finding Na p g X Yes 3 No

NERECRONE
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Topic:  Continuous Comprehensive Reviews for Specialty Channet

Finding: Lack of staff resources to perform Continuous Comprehensive Reviews of Long Beach Mortgage
Corporation {LBMC) and Specially Mortgage Finance (SMF} new loan originations has resulted in
these reviews being delayed. Transaction testing of the December 2004 LBMC lcan sample is just
now nearing pleti but Conti Comp! Reviews for the SMF portfolio have not
yet commenced. Furthermore, policies and procedures for conducting reviews of SMF purchases
have not yet been drafted.

Full staffing for the QA function for the Specialty Channel iocated in Anzheim, CA presented challenges
when the relocation of the National Post Closing Center was being debated (Uitimately, it was relocated to
Stockton, California}. Management has represented that policies and procedures are in place for the
LBMC review process, and that permanent staffing and training of the Stockton staff were completed in the
first quarter of 2005. However, QA feams from Jacksonvilie, FL continue to assist the Stockton transaction
team in its efforts to bring transaction {oan testing for LBMC to a current status by July 2005. QA credit
anatysts hired to review the SMF portfolio have also been assisting in the QA reviews of LBMC
ariginations, which has delayed starting the SMF reviews.

Action:  LBMC reviews need to be brought current. Policies and procedures for performing reviews of SMF lean
purchases should be completed, and transaction festing for SMF ioans should be started as soon as
possible.  Timeframes for fully implementing CRO revisws of SMF purchase aclivities need to be
established.

Repeat Finding

Washington Mutual, Inc. —~ Confidential Page Sof7
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Topic:  Commercial Risk Oversight — Seasuned Loan Reviews

Finding: During implementation of the Continuous Comprehensive Reviews for the new originations of
mutti- and single-family residential loans, the review of seasoned multi-family residential (MFR} and
commercial real estate {CRE)} loans was temporarily sGspended. In the interim, management
developed procedures for performing the MFR seasoned loan review as part of the Continuous
Comprehensive Review process, but did not develop d pr for performing the CRE
seasoned foan review as part of the new Continuous Comprehensxve Review process. Reaview of
seasoned MFR oans is anficipated 1o begin again in July 2005, while the review of seasoned CRE
joans is anticipated to begin in October 2005,

Neither MFR nor CRE seasoned loans have been reviewed by CRO since mid-2004.

Action:  Commence review of MFL seasoned joans no later than July 2005 and seasoned CRE loans no later than
October 2005. Complate updated procedures for seasoned CRE loan review process

{1 Repeat Finding p o X Yes 1 No
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Topic:  Documentation of Asset Review Processes

Finding: Although the Board-approved CRO Policy provides broad guidance for CRO to execute Its
independent asset review activities throughout the bank, it does not describe how CRO fits into the
asset reviewlrisk-grading procass for each of the bank's asset portfolios. Such documentation is
important since CRQ's role may be different, depending on the portfolio. The documentation would form
the finkage between the CRO Policy and various asset review/risk-grading standards and procedures in
existence in various line units of the institution. Finally, the documentation would provide a basis for third
parties to better understand the fundamental framework of the bank’s asset review processes across all
asset portiofios.

During the exam, CRO began to deveiop a graphic depiction of the bank's asset review activities, by
portfolio, but much work remains o be done to develop complete, formalized documentation.

Action:  The bank should prepare documentation showing graphically and describing naratively not only CRO's
general asset review oversight role, but also how it fits into the assel review activities performed for each
asset portfolio in the bank, including non-loan portfolios ke investment securities, real estate investments,
and real estale owned. Such documentation should include graphic and narrative descriptions of asset
review processes, at a somewhat general level, on a portfolio-by-portfolio basis, pointing out whether
reviews are independent of line functions and, if so, the level of independence achieved, The
documentation should reference all pertinent policies, standards and procedures that govem each
portiolio’s asset review and risk-grading activities. The documentation could be a part of the CRO Policy
or an attachment thereto, or it could be made 2 part of the CRO Policy's implementing standards and
procedures.

{3 Repeat Finding ; R X Yes 1 No
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@ washington Mutual
WMBFA
March 14, 2005
Safety & Soundness Examination

OTS MEMO 13
DATE: June 2, 2005
TO: Troy Gotschall, President, LBMC
FROM: Ben Franklin and Gaii Croil, OTS Examiners
SUBJECT:  LBMC Underwriting Review
CC: Craig Chapman, President, Commercial Group

Keith Johnson, Commercial Group - LBMC/SMF
Ken Kroemer, FDIC

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

We reviewed subprime lending activity conducted through WMBFA's affiliate, Long Beach Morigage Company (LBMC).
We assessed LBMC's overall lending operations as well as credit quality and underwriting through & review of samples of

domly selected loans origi d by LBMC as follows: (1) 25 first trust dead (TD) Joans from the held-for-sals (HFS)
portfolio at December 31, 2004, (2) 25 2™ TD loans from the HFS portfoiio at December 31, 2004, (3) 22 first TD loans
from the $2.48 billion fransferred from HFS to the held-for-investment (HF) portfolio during March 2005, and (4) 10 loans
from the scratch and dent portfolio at December 31, 2004.

We assessed undetwm»ng and credrl quality for pit with LBMC underwriting policy and as well as
gulatory safety and sc i Our findings and rec dations are di bw {scratch and dent

loans were reviewed for credit quality only and are excluded from the underwriting discussion below).

EXAM FINDINGS DEFINITIONS

Obsarvation: A we hich may improy ope i

X% iy SUeCliver if addre
Obslmbons nrc m-d- m @ wnsu They may bo presentad to mmwmem emw vorbal!y orin vmung but wm generany
not be include in tha Repart of Exammaﬁm Examiners will rarely request & written response during the examination.
Observations may or may not be reviewed during subsequant examinations.

X 54 aclion. A Recommendstion can become g Crificlem in fture examinations shouid risk
aposun Imase svmﬁcantty or mher clrcumsmnces warrant, Thay may be included in the Report of Examination and mentionsd
in Exit and Board Mastings. Exarniners will request a wrilten response from during th

actions o address Recommendafions are reviewed st subsequent or follow-up examinations,

pn. Criticisms are ofien summarized in the *Matiers Requiring Board Atiention” or

Recommentation:

Criticism:

and section of the Report of Examination; warrant Increased attention by Senior Management
and the Board of D\remm and require 2 written response. They are Subject 1o format follow-up by examiners and, if tefl
uncorrected, may result in sironger action.

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations!
EXHIBIT #24
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EXAM FINDING 1 0 of O R dati ¥ Criticism

298

OTS MEMO 13

Topic:

Finding:

Action:

LBMC Underwriting Quality

Our review disclosed undarwriting deficiencies that require 13 Twenty-five of
the seventy-two joans (34.0 percent) had at least one credit related exception that occurred more than
once in the sample lation. The most p erTor was miscalculation of borrower debt-to-
income (DT1) ratios due to of of dlbts or inadeg! pp
for income used. Other material deficiencies that d less fr y included: (1) inadequat

of the r of income or assets for some stated moome borrowers; (2) the use of
bank deposits fo support income for salaried borrowars without explaining the source of the deposits, or
faxhng to adjust for sxpenses when bank deposits were used to support income for self employed

and (3) inad s ion on how some stated income borrowers wilt handle the

it shock their existing rortgage or rent payment and the new LBMC payment.

These concermns are discussed in greater detail below.

Miscalcuiat 331

We noted 12 excaptions (48.0 percent) in the 2% 10 sample, 5 exceptions {22.0 percent) in the HFi
sample and 2 exceptions (8.0 percent) in the HFS sample. The exceptions resulted from a variety of
factors such as: {1) mcIudmg income that was not adequately supported or verified, (2) excluding
consumer debt from n without {3) of rental income or negative
rents in DTi calculations, and {4) omitting taxes and insurance from borower debts o including lower
amounts than indicated by more current documentation in the file.

inadeguate explanation of reasonableness of Income/assets

We noted 3 exceptions (13.0 percent) in the HF| sample and 1 exception (4.0 percent) in the 2™ TD
sample. These exceptions apply to stated income borrawers and obviously could have serious impact on
borrower ability to repay. LBMC policy indi that an ion or other docl ion should be In
the file when a borrower's occupation, income and/or assets appear out of sync. in the exceplions we
noted, the conditions that required an explanation per policy were present, along with other factors that
should have been questioned by the underwriter; however, no explanation was provided in the file.

Uss of bank it statements to verify Incoms

We noted 3 exceptions (12.0 percent) in the 2" TD sample and 1 exception (4.0 percent) in the HF!
sample. LBMC's policy allows underwriters to use bank deposits per published bank deposit statements to
verify income for both borrowers who are business owners as well as those who are salaried. When bank
deposits are used for business owners, the income should be adj for busi When bank
deposits are used for salaried borrowers, the underwriter should explain why deposits should be counted
as income, particularly when R exceeds the borrower's documented salary. The cases we noted did not
comply with LBMC policy. We aiso quastion the prudence of the policy of alfowing the use of bank
deposits as a source of income for salaried borrowers, p when file documentation
conflicts with the higher Income d by yzing deposi M; shoutd

revising this policy.

Loan with signifi t sh

We nolted 4 instances {18.0 percent} in the HF! sample where bor significant

shock between their existing morigage or rentsl payments and their new payments on LBMC's loan.
Paymant shocks ranged from a 90.0 percent incroase (from $870 to $1685 per month) to a 240.0 percent
increase (from $1700 to $5708 per month). in all instances, the ioans were statad income/stated asset
programs and there was no explanation of why such signifi were

Current policy is somewhat general in this area but it does mdtcate that underwriters should explain and
documant why it s reasonabie to expect borrowers to handie payment shocks of this magnitude.

18 £

to our ﬁndmgs shortly after we presented them orally and agreed to
implement cormective measures in the fom of various job aids and additional training.

Implement corrective maasure to ensure more consistency in:
»  Analyzing and d ining b income and expenses in the areas where deflciencies were
noted
s Explainingand d ting the of stated § z

. Comp!ylng with LBMC pohcy when using bank deposits to verify borrower income,

Mutual, inc. ~ Confi i Page 2 0of 6
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OTS MEMC 13

EXAM FINDING 1 [0 _Observation £} Recommendation B Criticism
« Reassessing the practice of using bank deposits to verify income for salaried borrowers,
pamcular!y when contradmory information exists, and
*  Exp g and the of loans with significant payment shock.

3 Repeat Finding Resp R d Byves [1Nco
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE [ Agree B) Partially Agree (3 Disag Enter Target Date: [10/1/05 ]
Management Response: indicate whether you sgres, partielly agree, or disagree. I you agres, provide an anticipsted target date for implementation.
Partiaily Agrae: The response should ciearly define that portion of the finding of recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to.
Dissgrse: The responsa should claarly define WHY there is disagreement with the finding or recommended action, and outline any mitigating

circumsiances or alismative course of action 10 be pursued.

RESPONSE {succinct response to finding / action}

Overall, Long Beach management (LB) partially agrees with the findings cited for Underwriting Quality.

« 1B agrees that underwriting decisions made subject to LBMC policies related to DT! ratios, income validation
and potential borrower payment shock need to be more and better doc d for parency and
reviewability.

» LB disagrees with the suggestion that the use of bank statements to verify income is imprudent, but it is willing
to review its policy and guidelines on this subject.

CORRECTIVE ACTION ide specific action ianned, the assi fesponsible ma 1, and target dates for sach)

1. Training conducled to address specific items outlined in the finding — ding of df i
of exceptions, consistency in the files, use of the communication log, accuracy of data in the loan system, use of new
)ob aids; use of existing checkiists and document placement in files.
Chris Coombes; Target Date: 9/1/2005
2. Creation and deployment of the followmg job aids to assist decisioning and documentation.
R Amy M . Target Date: 107172005 .
A ing income for self-emp
Reasonabifity testing for stated i |nccme
Using bank for income verifi
Reading a credit report / D! inclusion and exclusion rules
Calculating and verifying income
Tax and insurance
3. introduce a single sheet solution that will be inciuded in loan files. The single sheet would combine existing screens
and forms to create a clearer record of loan decisions.

Bl R R

R ibl Amy M ; Target Date: 10/1/2005

4. Enhanoe the QA process to check dequacy of d ion within the paper foan file,
Ry Amy M Target Date: $/1/2005

5. Enhance regular tracking. monitoring and analyzing of UMW decision and documentation quality by converting data to
regular R ger. Charles Freeman; Target Date: 10/1/2005

8. Conduct underwnbng pokcy and gu»dehne review regarding the use of bank statements as validation for income, with
amendments to policy if warranted.
Responsible manager; Charlie Freeman; Target Date: 10/1/2006

Washington Mutual, inc. ~ Confidantial Page 3of 6
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OTS MEMO 13

EXAM FINDING 2 3 Obsarvation® B Recommendation* [ Criticism®

Topic:  Pre-funding quality control

Finding: Given the types of deficiencies noted in our ioan review, we believe that LBMC's underwriting
quality would benefit from a pre-funding quality control review that focuses on credit quality and
credit underwriting Issues. This program could be similar to the Credit Quality Team approach recently
imptemented at WMBFA,

White LBMC already has a pre-funding quality review function, we understand that this function's primary
focus is on salability and loan program compliance rather than credit quality.

Action:  implement a pre-funding credit quality function at LBMC.

{1 Repeat Finding P ves [ No

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE _ B1 Agree [ Partialiy Agree LI Disagree  Enter Target Date: [10/1/05 )

Managemsent Rasponse: indicate whether you agree, partiahly agree, or disagree. if you agree, provide an antic targat data for i i

Partially Agres: The response should clearly define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagresd with a8 welf as the poriion agreed to.

Disagree The response shoukd clearly cefine WHY there Is di with the finding or action, and outline any mitigating
circumstances or altamativa course of action 1o be pursued.

RESPDNSE {succinct response to finding / action)

Management agrees with the finding and will explore the potential adoption of the WMB Credit Quality Team approach or
an equivalent pre-funding process.

CORRECTIVE ACTION de specific action steps plannad, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each!

1. B ion and ion fo senior manag of next steps in regards to a WMB CQT or equivaient
approach for LBMC,
Responsibl Charles F ; Target Date: 8/15/2005
impl ion of ions.

Responsible manager: Amy Marcussen; Target Date: 10/1/2005

Mutual, Inc. - Confi i Page 4 of 6
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OTS MEMO 13

EXAM FINDING 3 {3 Observation M R dation 03 Criticism

Topic:  Loan FICO Specials

Finding: We noted five loans in our HF1 sample whaere the FICO score was below the level requned for the

p foan prog \pp- y, these loans were g d as part of periodic FICO Special
fi ton on the and p of these Ioans was not readily available. Gomg
forward, management agreed to mck the number of FICO Specials made as well as monitor their
performance.

Action: Management should track the number and performance of FICO Specials to determine whether the quality
of loans generated warrant continuation of these periodic offerings,

[ Repeat Finding Resp P Yes [ No

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE B Agree L Partially Agree L] Disagree  Enter Target Date: [9/1/05 ]
_Management Response: Indicate whether you agree. partially agree, of disagree. i you agree, provide an anticipated {arget date for implementation.
Partially Agree: The response should cleanty define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to.

Disagree: The response Shouks clearty define WHY there is o with the finding or action, and outline any mitigating
circumstances of atiemative course of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE (succinct responss to finding / action)
Management agrees 10 the finding in its entirety.
CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps plannad, the assigned responsible manager, and farget dates for each}

1. Deploya trackmg mechamsm fotag and monitor the performance of FICO special loans with regular reporting fo
1 Glenn Rothenberg ; Target Date: 9/1/2005

&) P
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OTS MEMO 13

EXAM FINDING 4 & Observation = dat [ Criti

Topic: Tangible Benefit Forms

Finding: Tangible Benefit Forms were not always properly pleted. We noted 1 ption (4.0 percent) in
the HFS sample and 2 exceptions (8.0 percent} in the HFI sample. These forms are required in some
states to justify that refinance loans to subprime borrowers provide a tangible benefit to the borrower. The
exceptions usually resulted when the forms were not changed to reflect a change in loan terms after the
ioan was initially submitted.

Management agreed to make a programming change that would update this form when changes were
made in loan terms after the initial submission.

Action:  Ensure that forms are revised io reflect a change in loan terms after the loan is initially submitted.

U3 Repeat Finding R R B vyes DO No

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 1 Agree [J Partially Agree ] Disagroe Enter Target Date: [10/1/05 ]
Management Response: Indicate whether you agres, partislly agree, or disagree. 1f you agree, provide an anticy target date for i i
Partiatly Agres; The response shouid dlaarly define that portion of ths finding or racommaended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to.

Disagree: The responss should claarly define WHY there s with the finding or action, and outiine any mitigating
circumstances or alternative course of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE (succinct response to finding / action)

Management agrees to the finding in its enfirety.

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide spacific action staps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each)

1. Change process to require a revised and updated NTB form to be included in the loan file matching the final loan
docurnents and include monitoring the use of NTB form through the pre-funding review process. Responsible
rnanager. Amy Marcussen, Target Date: 10/1/2005

‘Washington Mutual, Inc, ~ Confidential Page 6 of 6
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p2s f?
Dochow, Darrel W 4
From: Kuczek, Richard A
Sent: Thursday, June 02, 2005 7:32 AM
To: Dochow, Darrel W
Ce: Carter, Lawrence D; Glaser, Howard M; Henry, David R
Subject: LBMC downgrades
Sensitivity: . Private
Darrel,

just an fyi..... we checked into the downgrades and its pretty much the same culprits. Of the 26 downgrades, 17 related to
the classes in 2000 and 2001 which had also been previously downgraded in November 2004. The other 8, however,
relate to two 2002 transactions so there is some creep ... but in looking at the perforrnance measures, the 2002
securitizations and later have demonstrated improved performarice in terms of cumuiative loss, loss severity, and
detinquency compared to 2001 and earfier securitizations.

Even though performance indicators suggest improvement in the product, this business is simply too high profile for us not
1o be sure that processes are in place to assure there will be no repeat of the performance of these earfier vintages.... both
in securitizations and in the originations they will hoid for investment. So | believe our current thinking on Long Beach that
we shared with you last week is prudent.

Daviid has asked the CFO for further insight into these current downgrades and their prospective take on it.... Il keep you
posted on anything newsworthy. Rich,

{AL FILE COPY
OFF\% 1S WEST

Permanent Subcomimittee on Investigations|
EXHIBIT #25
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Washington Mutual
WMBFA
March 14, 2005
Safety & Soundness Examination
OTS MEMO 15
DATE: dJune 3, 2005
TO: Mark Hillis, SVP, Chief Credit Officer
Wayne Poliack, SVP Home Loan Production
FROM: Gait Croil and Ben Franklin, OTS Examiners
- SUBJECT:  Single Family Residential Home Loan Review
cc: Steve Rotella, President and COO

Jim Vanasek, EVP, Chief Enterprise Risk Officer
Melissa Martinez, SVP, Chief Compliance & Risk Management Officer
Ken Kroemer, FDIC

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

We assessed the Bank's iting by reviewing random pies of 185 single-family residential (SFR) loans
originated in the fourth quarter of 2004, including samples of. (1) prime full and low doc loans, (2) higher risk (i.e., loans
with FICO scores beiow 620) full and iow doc loans, (3) Advantage 90 higher risk and prime loans, (4) correspondent
higher risk and prime full doc loans, (5) custom construction loans, and (8) residentiat ot loans,

The Bank's underwriling has been crificized as less than sati y at prior inations as well as in internaf reviews,
To address these issues, management embarked on several itigti to imp both iting and overall loan
quality following the 2004 ination. These initiati d impl ing minimum credit standards, simpiifying the
number and structure of loan origi P and installing credit review 1eams in Loan Fulfiliment Centers (LFCs),

To date‘ the success of the initiatives has been mixed. We found evidence that the minimum credit standards
d began {o positively impact loan quality (in terms of lower LTV ratios and hlgher FICO scores) in the third and
founh quarters of 2004 On the other hand, efforts to the loan origination were ped during the
review period, so only limited progress has been made in loan origination platform ssmphﬁcabon Similarly, credit review
teams {now resbructured as credit quality teams (CQTs)) only recently starled performing the types of pre-funding reviews
originally envisioned almost 8 year age. Consequently, although we noted that portfolio risk in general appears to be
decreasing in response to the initiatives that were effectively implemented, we did not see much change in loan quality in
our fourth quarter ioan origination samples, Since these initiatives have had only limited success, our concerns with
underwriting quality have changed #ttle since the 2004 ion, and loan iting ramains less than satisfactory.

We continue fo have concems regarding the number of underwriting exceptions and with issues that evidence lack of
compliance with Bank policy, We acknowledge that some of the individual exceptions may not have altered the original
underwriting decision; however, we believe that the deficiencles noted impact the averall credit quality of the portfolio.
Our concems are he‘gh‘ened by the effect of risk layering atiributes evident in the Bank's portiolic. These attributes
include subpri iated with higher risk loans, a predominance of Option ARM neg am loans, and
significant quantities of low doc and other limited documentation foan types. We understand that increases in ioans with
these characteristics are becoming an industry-wide phenomenon and therefore are not unique {0 the Bank. Just the
same, we are concerned that the uniqueness of these products and the current environment makes it difficult to project
how the portfolio will perform over varying rate and real estate cycles. Consequently, sound underwriting is critical.

In addmon 10 credit-related underwrmng concerns, we aiso noted exceptions or made observations related to: (1) Bank
g g title & {2) risk-based pricing, (3) hazard insurance requirements, and (4) private
mongage msurance qui ts. Our specific and rec s are in greater detail below.

FINAL: 06/03/2005 11:28 AM Permanent Subcommittee on lnvestigations Printed: 08/03/2005 11:56 AM
EXHIBIT #26
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Errort Reference source not found. Error! hoference source not found.

EXAM FINDINGS DEFINITIONS
Observation:

Obsenraflons ale mad: na commmve The may bc presomed m management sn.her verbajw or n wrim it m& generally
a0t be inciuded in the Report of Examination. Ex-mmm will rarely request & written response during the examination.
Observations may o may not be reviewed during subsequent examinations.

Ronds e action. A Recommendation can become a Crisicism in future examinations should risk
exposure mcreate sgmﬁramly or otﬂer wcumsﬁanm wamant, They may be induded in the Repori of Exammaﬁon and mantioned
in Exit and Board Maetings. Examiners will raquest & writen response from during the

actions to address Recommendations are reviewed at subsequent or follow-up examinations.

Crlticism; A primary congern requiring corfective action. Cricisms are ofien Summarized in the "Matiers Requiriog Board Attention” or
“Examination Conclusion and Comments” section of the Report of Examination; warrant increased attantion by Senior Management
and the Board of Dirsctors; end require 2 written response. They are subject to formal follow-up by examiners and, if left
uncorrected, may result in sironger action.

Recommendatiosn.

EXAM FINDING 1 {1 Observation R o X Criti

Topic: Loan Underwriting

Finding: Woe Idontified numerous instances in which underwriters did not comply with Bank-established

guidelines.

income Calculations:

We noted app y 41 pth {22.0 percant) related to calculation of borrower income.
Since b i directly ability and overall loan credit quality, we
belleve that the frequency and types of income errors noted warrant additional management
attention.

We found that income calculated by underwriters often could not be reconciled to file documentation.
Underwriters were not always mindful of pay periods on payroll stubs, resulting in overstating or
undsrstating income, We noted instances where income was only partially verified or documentation used
to support income was not from a source independent of the borrower. In other instances, income
information on the Loan Approval Summary (LAS) used for approval was not updated {o reflect the most
current information provided to verify income.

Stated income loans presented unique in ing the b of the income claimad
by the borrower. Some files lacked sufficient documentation to support reasonableness, including
instances where the borrower’s stated income, profession, and personal assets were not consistent.

Rental Income:

Rental income calculation errors were aiso noted with approximately 20 exceptions (11.0 percent)
in our sample. Underwriters did not consistently calculate and verify rental income as required by
the Bank’s underwriting guidel! Wa noted inst where properties did not appear to support the
rental income reported and reported amounts were not supported by tax retums. Some errors resulted
from underwriters double-counting rental-related debt when manual adjustments were made to system-
calculated rental income, In other instances, underwriters did not document their calculations so that rental
income could be Hled fo file d

Debt Calculations;

We noted 42 axceptions (230 percent) refated to errors noted in debt to-incomo {DT1) ratio
calculations, which were by the § jated errors di 4 above, In
addition to income-related factom, DT} errors also resulted from omission of debts, errors in
housing expenses, and, the most common, errors in taxes and Insurance amounts used,
Underwriters sometimes omitted taxes and i from ions and often included that
were not supported by documentation in the file. In addition, underwriters often did not document the
rationale for their caicutations.

Cradit Concerns:

Our review di! whare iters did not p mitigating factors for
credit-quality related issues. We noted instences where underwriters did not explain FICO scores below
the policy minimum, dismissed low FICOs without adequate justification, cited reserves as compensating
factors in error (per policy), and failed to address DT1 exceptions. There were approximately 42 (23.0
percent) of these types of exceptions.

Mautual, inc. ~ Confi h Page 20f7
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EXAM FINDING 1 3 Observation 0 R X_Criticism

Action: Ensure that undenwriters adhere to Bank policy and fully document the methadology used in
income and debi calculations. in addition, ensure that sufficient processes and controls are in place to
provide an independent review of underwriters calculations and adherence to Bank underwriting

guidelines.
X Repeat Finding X Yes O No
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE (] Agree U Partially Agree () Disagree _Enfter Target Date: [ ]
Management Response: indicate whether you agree, partially agree, or disagree. ¥f you agree, provide an antich target date for i

Partiatly Agres: The msponse should clearly define that portion of the finding or recomimended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to.

Disagree: The response shouid clearly define WHY there i3 disagresment with the finding o7 recommended action, and outline any mitigating
citcumstancas or atemative course of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE {succinct response to finding / action)

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the assignsd responsible manager, and target dates for each)

1.
2.
3.

Mutual, Inc. - & i Page 30of 7
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EXAM FINDING 2 3 Observation  x R i {3 Criticism*

Topic:  Title insurance

Finding: The Bank’s poficy requires title i of 110.0 p t of the original loan amount for certaln
ioan products. Our review disclosed that some loans with negative amortization {neg am) potential
had titie insurance coverage only for the original loan amount. in addition, other loans that allow
neg am up to 125.0 percent had coverage up fo 110.0 p of the original ioan This
practice appears to leave a portion of the Bank's loans d and p falt to loss,

Action: Management should ensure consistency between Bank policy requirements and actual practice for
obtaining title insurance for all ioan products, but particutarly those with neg am potential,

[3 Repeat Finding % Req d X Yes O No
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE [ Agree [1 Partially Agree [ Disagree  Enter Target Date: { ]
Managemani Response: Indicate whether you agree, partially agree, or disagree. if you agree, provide an antici) target date for & i

Partially Agree: The response should cleary define that portion of the finding or racommandad action disagresd with as well as the portion agreed to.

Disagree Tha response should clearly define WHY there i8 disagreement with the finding or recommendad action, and outfine any miigating
circumstances or alemative course of action 1o be pursued.

RESPONSE response te finding / action)

| CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for sach) :

1.
2.
3.

Mutual, Inc. - G Paged of 7
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EXAM FINDING 3 [J Observation x R dation O Criticism

Topic: Risk-Based Pricing

Finding: Some of the loans in our sample did not reflect risk-based pricing based on varying credit risk;
consequently, the Bank is not being adequately compensated for the additional risk associated
with some joans.

For example, a purchase loan with an LTV of 80.0 percent can be priced the same for borrowers wilh a
FICO of 560 or 760, despite the higher risk indicated by the lower FICO score. This concem was also
evident when we analyzed the entire portfolic by FICO score ranges. Qur portfolio analysis indicated that
ioan margins did not reflect price differentiation between low to high FICO ranges. We acknowledge that
analysis based on loan margin alone does not take other pricing factors into account {e.g., buydowns,
prepayment penalties), so some of the loans in the portiolio may be differentiated based on these other
pricing factors.

Management indicated that recent initiatives mcorpcra’te a risk-based factor into loan pricing, which was
not reflected in the loan sample. Based on di with current § ives may address
our concerns regarding pricing for credit risk. However, we are unable to opine on these initiatives at this
examination.

Action:  Management shou!d snsure that risk- based pricing initiatives are documented, communicated to fending
staff, and expanded, as approp! , ghout the Bank.

xves Do

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  [J Agree [J Partially Agree 1 Disagree  Enter Target Date: | 1
Management Response: indicate whether you agree, parlially agree, or disagree. If you agree, provide an target date for
Partislly Agree: The response should clearly define that portion of the finging or recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed 10,

Disagree: The response should ciearly define WHY there s with the finding or action, and outline any mitigating
circumstanices or allernative course of action to be pursued,

RESPONSE (succinct response to finding / action)

O Repeat Finding

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provids specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each)

1.
2.
3.

Mutuai, inc. - C i PageSof 7
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EXAM FINDING 4 3 Observation X Ri dati 3 Criticism

Topic: Hazard insurance Requirement

Finding: There appears to be a conflict between one of the Bank’s underwriting guidelines and California
Civil Code (Civil Code} Section 2855.5 regarding the amount of hazard insurance required for SFR
loans. The Bank's hazard Insurance requirement for California is 125.0 percent of replacement
costs. This does not appear 10 be in compliance with the Civil Code requirement mandating
coverage of no more than the cost of impr t

Actiorn:  Management should ensure consistency between bank undenwriting guidelines and California Civil Code
requirements regerding the amount of hazard insurance required for SFR loans. Management should
address the steps to be taken o address the potential exposure to the Bank from less than adequate
hazard insurance coverage.

[ Repeat Finding X Yes O ne

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  [] Agree [J Partially Agree [ Disagree Enter Target Date: | 1

Managerent Response: [ndicate whether you agree, partially agree, or disagrae. if you ageee, provide an anticipated target date for implementation.

Partially Agres: The response should cleardy define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agree 1o,

Disagree: The response should clearly define WHY there is disagreement with the finding or recommended sction, and outine any mitigating
circumstances of aftemative course of acion 10 be pursued.

RESPONSE (succinct response to finding / action)

CORRECTIVE ACTION {provide specific action steps planned, the ass! responsible ma T, and target dates for each

1
2.
3.

Washi Mutual, ine. - C i Page 6 of 7
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EXAM FINDING 5 {J Observation X Re 4 0 Criticism

Topic: Private Mortgage Insurance (PMI)

Finding: Our loan review di: Y Bank policy and actual practice regarding how
much PM! coverage is required for ioans with neg am potential. We were informed that the

standard PMI policy covers any risk iated with i in loan bal due to negati
amortization; however, some of the loan flles appeared to have expiicit PMi coverage for loans that
negatively amortize up to 1100 p of the original foan bak

Action:  Management should ensure consistency with Bank underwriting guidelines pertaining to PMI coverage for
SFR joans. Clarify the Bank's policy regarding the level of PMI coverage required for loans with neg am

potential.
[ Repeat Finding N Resp X Yes 0O No
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE _ [J Agree [J Partially Agroe (1 Disagree __ Enter Target Date: [ ]
Management Response: indicate whether you agree, partially agree, or disagree. If you agree, provide an target date for 2

Partiaily Agres: The response should clearly define that partion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with a8 well as the portion agresd to.

Disagrea: The response should Clearty define WHY there is disagreement with the finding or recommended action, and outline any mitigating
circumstances or aliemative course of action to be pursued,

RESPONSE (succinct response to finding / action)

CORRECTIVE ACYION (provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each)

1.
2.
3.

Mutual, inc. - Confi Page 7 of 7
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i washington Mutual

WMBFA
March 14, 2005
Safety & Soundness Examination
OTS MEMO 16

DATE: June 3, 2005
TO: Wayne Pollack, SVP, Home Loan Production

Mark Hillis, SVP, Chief Credit Officer
Melissa Martinez, Chief Compliance & Risk Oversight Officer

FROM: William Durbin, OTS Examiner
SUBJECT: - Loan Origination Quality
cC: Steve Rotella, President & COO

James Vanasek, Chief Enterprise Risk Officer
Ken Kroemer, FDIC
BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The intent of OTS Memo No. 5 at the 2004 examinanon was to address wnbnumg high levels of errors in the loan

origination process. While our current review disclosed soms  prog ini ing various loan quality Improvement
mltatwes these efforts, 1o date have not yet achieved significant reduction in loan origination error rates, In addition,
1t cannot yet suffi d 1t ervor rate fevels or trends. For this reason, we recommend re-opening and

expandmg issues 1 (quantifying Inan quality goals) and 3 (incentive compensation) from 0TS Memo No. 5.

EXAM FINDIN EFINITIONS

Obsarvation: A weaknesg if 19,00t of reqdatony . 3 Bct 285 gdressed.
onservsoons are msas m a consunz:we mie They may be p«esemed to manaaement enthm vzmaw orin wnhng mt wcﬂ genecally
ot be included in the Raport of Examination. Examiners wili raraly request & written response dunng the examination,
Observations may of may nof be reviewed during subsequent examinations.

Recommendation: mwmmw A Recommendation can bacome a Cilficism in future examinatons should risk

exposure i warrant. They may be included in the Repm of Examma!m and mantioned
in £xit and Board Mestings. &amvners wil requast a writlen response from during the S
actions to atidress. are reviewsd at of follow-up

Criticism: A primary concem requiring corractive aclion. Criticisms are often summarized in the “Matters Requiring Board Attention” or

“Examination Congiusion and Comments™ section of the Report of Examination; warrant increased attention by Senior Management
and the Board of Direclors; and require a written response. They are subject 1o format follow-up by examiners and, if ieft
uncorrected, may resutt in stronger action.

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
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OTS MEMO 18

EXAM FINDING 1 O Observation ¥ R dati £3 Criticism

Topic: Consumer Group Goals

Finding:  Our Exam Finding 1 in 2004 OTS Memo No. 5 stated the Consumer Group’s overall goals do not expressly
state a goal with respect to the des«red quality of joan originations/acquisifions. We believe that this issue
is of , and on that it should be clearly stated as a goal with quantified
expectations of those mvo&ved inthe ongma&xon provess.

We believe this issue should be revisited and the goais panded. U dably,
responded to our concemn during the prior by ing a goal that to
foan quality on a macro basis {non performing loans should not exceed 1 percent of iotal loans).
However, the single, 1 percent goal for the Consumer Group does not provide sufficient guidance
to the loan g what is in terms of underwriting quality as
measured by areas such as: {1} compllanco with toan underwriting standards, {2) adherence with
ragulatory comphanoe matters, (3} maintaining data quality, and (4} ensuring adequate loan
We i to believe that specific measurable goals in these areas should be
defined, communicated to staff, and incorp d into the ight of the loan origination
function. Compliance with goals should be inciuded in reports to senior management to better
d the in imp g foan origination quality.

Action:  Specific measurable goals in these areas shouid be defined, communicated {o staff, and incorporated into
the oversight of the loan ori ion function. Compli with goals should be included in reports to
senior {0 better d t the success in improving loan origination quality

[ Repeat Finding R M ves {INo

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 11 Agree [ Partially Agree  [J Disagree Enter Target Date: [8/31/05 }

Management Response: Indicate whether you agree, partiatly agree, or disagree. if you agree, provide an antici target date for i

Partiglly Agree: The response shoukd clearty define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with as well as the portion agreed to.

Dissgree: The response should clearly define WHY there is disagreement with the finding or fecommended action, and oufiine any miigating
dircumstances of altemative course of aetion to be pursued.

RESPONSE (succinct response to finding / action)

Management agrees with the finding. As stated in Management's response to Fmdmg 2, Production Operaﬁons Credit
Rusk Management and Corparate Risk Oversight & Compli with HR-F and suc
loped a more robust § ion plan for the LFC and underwnlmg staff to betier promote desired
behaviors. This new plan incorporates results from independent loan file reviews of Consumer Risk Oversight {CRO), the
Credit Quality Teams (CQTs), and will also include resuits of future file reviews performed by the Production Operations
Quahty Rev«ew Teams. These comprehensive reviews test and measure both the Loan Fulfilment Center and the
ployee's perf in ferms of overall loan origination quality.

Please see fe! s R and Ci ctive Actions fo Finding 2 for additional details on the overall Remediation
Plan.

CORRECTIVE ACTION (provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsible manager, and target dates for each]

fo all imp d LFC staff describing the changes in the new incentive
bie Manager: Wayne Pollack, Target Date: 7/31/05
2. Consumer Risk Overs«gm {CRO} to issue monthly reports beginning in July 2005 reflecting the Event Code
responsibility assignments and associated credit, compliance, and process quality grades for each LFC.
Responsible Manager: Lorri Evans, Target Date: 7/31/05
3. Credit Risk Management's Credit Quality Teams (CQTs) to issue bs-monthly raports begmnmg in August 2005
reflecting the revised credit quality incentive metrics for all unds g staff. R : Diane
Ludiow, Target Date: 8/31/05

1. lssue appropnate begal i
plan

Washington Mutual, Inc, - Confidentiat Page 2 of3
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OTS MEMO 16
EXAM FINDING 2 3 Observation* O R dati B Criticism*
Topic:  Incentive Compensation in Loan Fulfillment Centers (LFCs)
Finding: The redesigned i prog for LFCs still does not satisfactorily reward

inloan quality.

Finding 3 in the 2004 OTS Memo No. 5 was closed because an improved design for the incentive
compensation program was devised. However, the program was not implemented as designed. The only
measure of quality used was based on HMDA error rates. This was used in the first quarter of 2005, the
initial period for the new program. The other three < inthe p
percentage, CRT (now CQT) reviews, and exception rates, had not yet been used.

gram,

Measures used to oversee the LFCs (issue D4-88-0108), the i ive compensation program measures,
and the Consumer Group quality goals (see Finding 1) should be consistent with each other, Also, ali
measures that may be used to measure and reward quality in loan origination should be recorded and
distributed on a regular basis.

This issue should not be closed unitil the incentive compensation program is fully functional,

Action:  Ensure the incentive compensation program for the LFCs addresses loan origination quality.

B4 Repeat Finding o Byes ONo
MANAGEMENT RESPONSE _ W1 Agree [ Partially Agree {1 Disagree _Enter Target Date: [5/30/05 ]
Management Response: indicate whether you agree, partially agree, or disagree, If you agree, provide an target gate for

Partially Agree: The response should clearly define that portion of the finding or recommended action disagreed with as wel as the portion agreed to.
Disagrse: The response shouid clearly dafine WHY there is disagreemant with the finding or recommended action, and outline any migating
circumstances of aftemative cowrse of action 10 de pursued.

RESPONSE ]succlnct 1eSPONSe 1o "ﬂd‘!m Iacﬂon}

Managsment agrees with finding. Production Operations, Credit Risk Management, and Corporate Risk Oversight &
Compiiance collaboratively worked with HR-Rewards and successfully redeveloped a more robust incentive
compensation plan for the LFC and underwriting staff to better promote desired behaviors, This new plan incorporates
results from independent ioan file reviews of Consumer Risk Oversight (CRO), the Credit Quality Teams (CQTs), and will
also include results of future file reviews of Production Operations Quality Review Teams. These comprehensive reviews
test and measure both the Fulfiliment Center and the individual employee's performance in terms of overall loan

origination quality.

Numerous aspscts of each led loan are reviewed for i with joan underwriting standards, adherence with
g Y iance y joan ion, and various other loan level ¢ istics. LFC and iting

staff will eam a payout for each incentive component (Quality, Productivity, Customer Service, etc.) only if minimum

achievement thresholds are met within each The first i ive compensation payouts under the newly

redeveloped plan will be based on CRO review data of July 2005 funded loans, and CQT and Production Operations
Quality Review Team review data of August 2005 funded loans,

CORRECTIVE ACTION (provide specific action steps planned, the assigned responsibie manager, and target Gates for each)

1. Credit Quality Teams (CQT<) begin reporting and communicating results of loan file reviews bimonthly, Reporting is
desi to be dynamic and avail on to the Production Underwriting team. Reporting and
communication will be distributed bimonthly. Responsible Manager: Diane Ludiow, Target Date: 8/31/05

2. CQTs will defiver communication and reports of final results/findings for August 2005 loan file reviews o Production
Underwriting and HR-Rewards/Finance incentive Teams, {Incentive Payout will be subsequently deliverad fo
underwriting employees on 9/30/05), Responsible Manager: Diane Ludiow, Target Date: 8/31/05

3, Consumer Risk Oversight (CRO) will issue reports in September 2005 to Production Operations and HR-

R /Finance | ive Teams refiecting the approved Event Code responsibility assignments on loans that
funded in May, June, and July 2005 (Incentive Payout will be subsequently delivered to LFC management
employees on 10/31/05). Responsible Manager: Lorri Evans, Target Date: 9/30/05

4. Validate CQT and CRO loan file reviews were used in staff incentive Compensation Plan and fully incorporated

within the applicable staff Incentive Payouts. Responsible Manager: Wayne Poliack, Target Date: 9/30/05

Mutual, Inc. - € Page 30f3
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TO: Darrel Dochow June 3, 2005
FROM: Rich Kuczek
SUBJECT: Long Beach Mortgage Corporation (LBMC) Review

At the start of this examination, it was our intent to perform a review of the operation of
LBMC with the expectation that WMI or the bank would be requesting approval to move
LBMC as an operating subsidiary of the bank. Such a move would obviously place the
heightened risks of a subprime lending operation directly within the regulated institution
structure, Because of the high profile nature of the business of LBMC and its problematic
history, we believe that any and all concerns regarding the subprime operation need to be
fully addressed prior to any move.

Based on the above attitade, at this point in our examination, our review of LBMC has
resulted in findings which require resolution prior to our feeling confident that approval
of a move is warranted.

Findings from the fair lending review were the first to question whether a move was
warranted at this time. Essentially, an internal June 2004 corporate fair lending report of
LBMOC resulted in unexplained underwriting and pricing disparities which had yet to be
resolved. Even though our general sense was that these disparities were explainable, the
lack of action coupled with the increased scrutiny of enhanced HMDA public disclosures,
substantially raised our level of concemn. The June report is currently being analyzed and
we should have results shortly, however, because of our raised concern, we have asked
for additional analyses to be completed which will probably have target dates of July or
August. What is somewhat unfair to LBMC is that the inaction was not on their part.
When told of the need for manual file review, LBMC staff has acted promptly. However,
because LBMC was the focus of the report and a move under the bank would place them
in a position of more immediate corporate oversight, we believe these issues need
satisfactory resolution prior to approving a move.

The second significant finding was the results of our loan underwriting review. Of our
random sample of 72 loans, 34 percent had at least one credit related exception, most
dealing with income determination and resulting ratio analyses. Although the errors are
not deemed critical because of the wide acceptable range of subprime borrower income
ratios, they are telling of a concern for underwriting accuracy and for determining the
true risk characteristic of the loan. Our findings were supported by a May 2005 draft
report by corporate Consumer Risk Oversight (CRO)which indicated a substantial
number of underwriting exceptions in a review of loans funded in December 2004 and
January and February 2005. These exceptions give rise to a concern whether the
underwriting process has been fully developed. It also gives rise to a concern as to
whether quality controls are sufficient and effective.

The CRO function is a post closing review which is still being built for Long Beach in
the Stockton, California facility. The December review was performed with the

EXHIBIT #28
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assistance of other CRO personnel. Although it seems that the file reviews are complete
and valuable, it is obvious that the results are very delinquent. Each of the months of the
review had a sample population target of 200 loans. The loans actually reviewed for the
months of December, January, and February were 142, 23, and 33 respectively. We
believe that this important function should be complete and in place prior to moving a
high risk lending operation under the bank.

Additionally, the bank has effectively instituted a pre-funding quality review though its
Credit Policy department. Credit Quality Teams (CQTs) have been placed in every prime
production loan fulfillment center (LFC) and are sampling production of every
underwriter and providing immediate feedback. However, this function has not been
implemented in the Long Beach LFCs. The senior credit officer for credit
policy/subprime has notified us that she has discussed implementing this function with
LBMC management and a process similar to the bank’s will be created. We believe this
function coupled with increased training and the post closing review will assure
underwriting quality.

When advised of our underwriting exceptions and concerns, LBMC management was -
prompt to implement corrective actions in additional instruction on credit policy
interpretation regarding income and the creation of job aids for appropriate income
determination. As laudable as that is, corporate oversight is not in place to evidence any
improvement. Further, we must decide whether we want to see any improvement in our
own follow-up file review.

Al of these findings are made more significant when considered in light of a substantial
forecasted increase in originations and the intent to build a held for investment portfolio
at LBMC. This portfolio has already been built to $2.6 billion at March 31, 2005,

Notwithstanding these findings, it is important to note that LBMC management has
worked diligently to improve its operation and correct significant deficiencies that have
been observed and reported in prior years. Security performance trends show definitive
improvement and repurchase activity due to contractual reps and warranties violations
has been reduced to minimal levels. Both have been troublesome issues for LBMC in the
past and, as you know, they are still plagued by continued downgrades of older vintages.
Management personnel has been substantially upgraded and there is definitely a new
attitude and culture within the entity of optimal operating performance.

Management has been very responsive to our findings. Although acknowledging the
exceptions and the incomplete corporate oversight, they believe they have alternative
controls in place. From our assessment of these controls, we believe they are focused
reviews and do not include the quality assurance that is needed. Also, if they were
effective, we would not have found the exceptions we did. Nonetheless, we are
continuing to understand these processes and have discussions with management.

At this point, we believe there are issues that need to be addressed. The fair lending and
CRO issues can be resolved in the next few months and we are waiting for a tentative
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implementation schedule for the CQT function. The longer time requirement would be
the validation that these processes are in place and are working. Our thinking at this time
is that because of the nature of this entity, we need to be clear there are no pending issues
if and when approval is given to move it under the bank. And that would mean fult
validation of corrective procedures. Approval based on processes being put in place runs
the risk of more serious issues in the event of noncompliance.

OTSWMS06-007 0002685
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Campbell, Verlin D

From: Ancely, Zalka A

Sent: Wednesday, June 08, 2005 9:57 AM
To: Kuczek, Richard A

Ce: Campbell, Verlin D

Subject: FW: 8-S 2 response

Sensitivity: l Private

Rich,

| agree with Verlin regarding the dates but we will nonstheless accept the responsa since they will immediately review
and evaluate the situation.

Zalka
--=-Originat Message-—--
From: Campbeli, Verin D
Sent: ‘Wednesday, June 08, 2005 9:52 AM
Jo: Ancely, Zatka A
Subject: RE: 5-8 2 respanse
Sensitivity: Private
Z

The response looks good. They agree to take all action required to correct the problem. The Target Completion Dates
are not real timely but fine for WAMU. Devon is filing it in our workpapers.

v

Verlin Campbell

Office of Thrift Supervision
Wast Region

Notice: The information contained in this message is privileged, confidential and protected from disclosurs. If you
received this message by mistake please notify me immediately and then delete it from your computer.

—-Qelginal Message——
From: Ancely, Zalka A
Sent: Wednesday, June 08, 2005 3:32 AM
To: Campbell, Verlin D
FW: S-5 2 response

‘What do you think about the responsa?

~—~-Original Message---—
From:

Kuczek, Richasd A
Sent: Wednesday, June 08, 2005 8:46 AM
To: Ancely, Zalka A
Subject: S 2 response
Sensitivity:  Private

Here is the response to S-8 2.... please distribute and let me know if we accept, Thanks.

<< File: OTS Memo 2 - Internal Contro} Deposit Accts {Final).doc >>

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigationsl
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Dochow, Darrel W W
From: Carter, Lawrence D fp. ID
Sent: Monday, November 21, 2005 10:02 PM

To: Franklin, Benjamin D

Ce: Croil, Gail A; Dochow, Darrel W

Subject: RE: Meeting

Sensitivity: Private

Unfortunately, our sampling standards are 10 years old and we have no standards of acceptance really. 1t depends on our
own comfort levels, which differ. Darrel will have the ultimate say, obviously. However, to give you perspective, existing
1AR sampling standards (the most conservative of our ) allow for 1 ption in 46 loans, 2 exceptions
in 61 loans and 3 exceptions in 76 loans and we can still accept the classifications. This translates to a SAMPLE error rate
of between 2.1 and 3.9%. It transiates to us being 95% sure that the population exception rate is no more than 10%.
Extrapolating these error rates to a 224-loan sample | am sure has some mathematical issues, which | am no expert in,
but a linear extrapolation would mean you could have up to 8.8 exceptions in that 224 loan sample and stil} meet our
standards. .

Our current homogeneous loan guidance aliows for 1 exception in 25 loans, 2 exceptions in 34 loans, and 3 exceptions in
43 loans. These transiate to SAMPLE error rates of between 4 and 7%. It transiates to us being 90% sure that the
population exception rate is no more than 15%. Moreover, our guidance requires that an exception be SIGNIFICANT,
which means regardless of whether it violated the institution's policy or not, it was just not prudently underwritten, which we
have over time interpreted as loans that should not have been made. Again, if you violate all kinds of statistics | am sure
and linearly extrapolate these more liberal standards, which would probably only be accepted for prime conforming loans,
you could have 15.6 exceptions in the 224 loan sample and stilt accept the resuits.

While we may (and have) questioned the reasonableness of these standards, they are all we have at this time. If our
tolerance for some reason is now a lot lower than our handbook standards, it would be nice to have this clarified. 1 have
always used these standards as rough benchmarks and not absolutes myself, upping my expectations for higher risk
portfolios. Obviously, we shouid have higher expectations than the homogi us loan for a subprime portfolio.
{ would lean towards the more stringent IAR/nonhomogeneous asset classification standards. It would be nice if they
could meet even higher expectations, but that would require us to agree on what that standard should be,

In any case, | think the above standards are useful for perspective and they are the ones that | have always used to keep
my own perspective. So, if all mediums are really highs, then 20% sample error is way too high to be acceptable. Onthe
other hand, your 2.0% exception rate for "highs" (counting the mediums you think should be highs) meets our most
egregious standard (1 exception in 46 loans for IAR, 2.2%) and is well below our most liberal standard of 3 exceptions in
43 loans (7%).

This is why, from my perspective, the 8 DT errors in 224 foans are not alarming on the surface. First, they are errors in
one aspect of the loan underwriting, so we still don't know if the Ioans themselves are "exceptions." Second, we do not
know how significant the 9 individual errors are. If all 9 errors are significant and result in loans that are considered
"exceptions,” then | would be on the fence because we would be just outside the bounds of our tougher
IARMmonhomogeneous sample classification standards (85% confidence population deviation not more than 10%).

1 am very tired, so this probably reads like diatribe, but | wanted to make clear my frame of reference while we are in the
heat of discussion. We can talk more tomorrow when | drop by. Bottom line, though, is these are all just numbers, There
are lots of more subjective pros and cons to LBMC moving under the bank. We will need to fay it all out, discuss it, and
make a recommendation to Darrel.

~Qriginal Message-----
From: Frankiin, Benjamin D
Sent: Monday, November 21, 2005 2:42 PM
To: Carter, tewrence D
Ces Croil, Galt A

Subject: RE: Meeting
Sensitivity: Private

Lawrence, QTH (Y }L COFY

The gist of out CRO meeting is as follows: OTS / W EST

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
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They indicated that they do not have specific standards for total sample errors such as the 9 errors, or 4.0
percent, related to DTI, rather, their acceptance standards are based on the percentage of "High" or
"Medium" errors in the sample as follows:

High: > 2.5 percent errors results in a criticism
Medium: >5.0 percent < 20.0 percent results in a recommendation; > 20.0 percent results in a criticism

Apparently these standards are based on internal analysis (not GSEs or any specific secondary market
standards) that takes into account LBMC’s saleability/securitization issues (including legal input) as well as
credit and reps and warranties concerns. (We asked for documentation that better explains their standards
and how they were determined),

We acknowledged that per CRO’s review, LBMC's post funding review, and even our file review, to date,
that underwriting improvement has been made, but we're still determining how we will categorize the level
of improvement. Our biggest concern with CRO’s findings is that there are still some exceptions they
categorize as medium that we would categorize as high (We believe that there are at least 4 high exceptions
in their results (they indicate 1) where the loans should not have been made (this would resultina2.0
percent error rate versus their 2.5 percent standard) and other questionable ones where employment
verification was not performed as required).

We will need additional discussion of acceptable error rates and how we view their standard. Based on their
2005 originations (annualized) approximating $24.0 billion, a 2.5 percent high error rate would mean that
approximate $600.0 million could be originated and be within acceptable guidelines. A 20.0 percent
medium error rate means that $4.8 billion of loans with these types of errors could be originated without a
criticism. The latter seem especially high when you consider that their medium criteria includes loans that
we don’t think should be made.

~—--0iginal Message--—-

From: Carter, Lawrence D

Sent:  Monday, November 21, 2005 10:18 AM
To: Frankiin, Benjamin D; Croil, Gail A
Subject: Meeting

Sensitivity: Private

Darrel feels that 8 DTl ervors in 224 joans is statistically significant. | have suggested to him it depends on the
nature of the errors and the statistical threshokis set. Can we find out during the meeting today how the exception
rates compare to their own statistically-based standards of acceptance. 1 believe their sampling and standards are
based on the FHLMC/FNMA parameters, which is 95% confidence, 2% precision, but this may not address
whether errors are serious or not. We should try to get some sense of this to explain to Darrel. Maybe CRO can
write up a quick summary.
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EXHIBIT 1
Office of Thrift Supervision
Department of the Treasury West Region
101 Stewart Street, Suite 1010, Seattle, WA 981012419 Seatile Area Office
Telephone: (206) 829-2600 » Fax: (206) 829-2620
December 21, 2005

MEMORANDUM FOR: Darrel Dochow, Deputy Regional Director

FROM: Lawrence Carter, Examiner
Ben Franklin, Examiner
Mariana Rexroth, Compliance Specialist

SUBJECT: Long Beach Mortgage Corporation (LBMC)

Washington Mutual Bank (WMB) (Docket No. 08551) filed an application on December 12,
2005, to acquire holding company affiliate, Long Beach Mortgage Company (LBMC), a single-
family subprime mortgage lender. We have prepared this memo to facilitate the review of that
application.

Backeround

LBMC was acquired by Washington Mutual, Inc. (WMI) (Docket No, H2352) in 1999 as a
vehicle for WMI to access the subprime loan market. LBMC’s core business is the origination
of subprime mortgage loans through a nationwide network of mortgage brokers. Most loans are
pooled and sold as mortgage-backed securities. Beginning in 2005, management started to retain
a portion of the originations to build an investment portfolio which, at September 30, 2003,
totaled $5.2 billion.

At September 30, 2005, LBMC reported $1.2 billion in capital against total assets of $14.0
billion, for a capital-to-assets ratio of 8.5 percent. In terms of income, LBMC reported net
income of $101.1 million for 2004 representing a return on average assets of 2.0 percent and a
return on equity of 9.6 percent. Year-to-date September 2005, net income was $97.7 million, for
a return on assets of 1.2 percent and retumn on equity of 11.4 percent. Loan originations have
increased substantially from $15.9 billion for the full year 2004 to $22.5 billion for the 9 months
ended Septernber 30, 2005. Management expects earnings to increase due to increased loan

OFFICIAL FILE copy
CTS/WEST

Permanent Subcommittee on Investi ations
EXHIBIT #31

OTSWMS06-007 0001009

13:02 Nov 02, 2010 Jkt 057320 PO 00000 Frm 00334 Fmt6601 Sfmt6601 P:\DOCS\57320.TXT SAFFAIRS PsN: PAT

57320.228



ph44585 on D330-44585-7600 with DISTILLER

VerDate Nov 24 2008

321

volumes, greater operating efficiencies, and improved asset quality. Also, the new held-for-
investment (HFT) portfolio should augment and stabilize earnings, compared to prior years.

LBMC's early operations as a subsidiary of WMI were characterized by a number of
weaknesses, particularly when the subprime operation was managed as a unit within the prime
lending group. This integration led to operational problems, which arose from not fully
recognizing the specialized nature of a subprime lending operation and an insufficient depth and
breadth of management. Problems included loan servicing weaknesses, documentation
exceptions, high delinquencies, and concerns regarding compliance with securitization-related
representations and warranties. In 2003, adverse internal reviews of LBMC operations led to a
decision to temporarily cease securitization activity,. WMI's Legal Department then led a
special review of all loans in LBMC’s pipeline and held-for-sale warehouse in order to ensure
file documentation adequately supported securitization representations and warranties and that
‘WMI was not exposed to a potentially significant contingent liability. Securitization activity was
reinstated in early 2004 after the Legal Department concluded there was not a significant lability
issue. The review did result, however, in some minor changes to LBMC’s standard
representations and warranties.

Since that time, significant attention and resources have been devoted to upgrading LBMC
operations, including restructuring and strengthening management. The restructuring included
moving LBMC out of the prime lending group and managing it independently within WMI's
Commercial Group. At the time of our March 14, 2005, examination, WMI believed that LBMC
had reached a point where it should be moved under WMB, This move had long been
contemplated and desired because of the advantages and synergies that could be obtained,
including lower funding costs and administrative expenses, and the reduced burden of individual
state regulation. We completed a comprehensive review of LBMC during the examination with
this move in mind.

Our examination determined that substantial improvement had been made in LBMC operations.
However, we concluded certain underwriting and fair lending program weaknesses needed to be
addressed before we could advise management that we would entertain an application by WMB
to acquire LBMC. We assessed management’s progress in addressing these weaknesses during
an October 3, 2005, field visit and concluded sufficient progress was made for us to entertain the
application. Additional detail on the two areas of weakness and the results of our field visit are
provided later in this memorandum.

Our review of market risk management practices, especially residual valuation and mortgage
servicing rights (MSR} valuation, during the March 14, 2005, examination disclosed acceptable
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processes. We also were satisfied that securitization practices and controls were consistent with
the Interagency Guidance on Asset Securitization Activities (IGASA), dated December 13, 1999,
We found that, since the prior examination, additional resources had been employed to validate
the residual valuation model and changes to the model, and to ensure appropriate reporting. We
found the valuations reasonable, and we were satisfied with the use of market-supported
assumptions and improvements in the modeling discipline.

During the October 3, 2005, field visit, we performed a limited updated review of the residuals,
which increased from $28.1 million at December 31, 2004, to $114.3 million at September 30,
20085, partially due to writeups. We did not find the valuations unreasonable, nor did we note
any changes in processes warranting concermn.

MSR at September 30, 2005, was reported at $168.9 million. Internal values have been in line
with independent third party value conclusions and, as mentioned above, we have been satisfied
with valuation processes.

Prior to 2005, LBMC's business model was to package and sell all of the loans originated and
retain servicing on most of the loans sold. Effective in the first quarter of 2005, LBMC initiated
a HFI portfolio, which grew to $5.2 billion at September 30, 2005. This portfolio was
established as an alternative to WMB’s Specialty Mortgage Finance (SMF) program of
purchasing subprime loans for portfolio, primarily from Ameriquest. A principal quality control
feature of the LBMC HFI portfolio was that the loans were intended to be similar to those
purchased through the SMF program.

Since we were satisfied with management of the SMF program and loan quality, we believed a
LBMC HF] portfolio of similar quality would be an acceptable risk. Our examination and field
visit concluded, however, that the LBMC HFI portfolio had attributes that could result in higher
risk than the SMF portfolio. For instance, the LBMC HFI portfolio has a much higher level of
stated income loans. Therefore, as discussed later in this memorandum, we advised management
that WMB’s concentration limits on high-risk activities would need to consider this risk if
LBMC were brought under WMB.

Improvements in LBMC operations are reflected in the performance trend of LBMC'’s servicing
portfolio over the past five years. Delinquency peaked at 14.6 percent in December 2001, and
has steadily declined from that point. Delinquency levels were approximately 12.2, 9.6, and 6.7
percent at yearends 2002, 2003, and 2004, and 5.8 percent at September 30, 2005. Foreclosures
have shown a similar trend, pesking at 7.8 percent in January 2001, and declining to
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approximately 3.2, 3.1, and 2.1 percent for the same yearend periods, and to 1.6 percent at
September 30, 2005,

Underwriting Issues

LBMC underwriting practices have evolved to include, but are not limited to, credit and ability-
to-pay assessment, collateral review, fraud screening, and borrower refinance history review.
Tighter underwriting controls are also reflected in higher weighted average FICO scores. For the
first quarter of 2000, the weighted average FICO score for the servicing portfolio was 543. For
the third quarter of 2004, the same average was 639. The weighted average FICO seems to have
stabilized at this level, as the weighted average FICO for year-to-date September 30, 2005, loan
production was 638.

Notwithstanding these improvements, our loan file review during the March 14, 20035,
examination disclosed underwriting deficiencies that required management’s aftention. We
presented our findings to management in OTS Safety and Soundness Memo 13 (OTS Memo 13).
Most of the deficiencies related to debt-to-income (DTTI) ratio calculations, such as the inclusion
of income or exclusion of debt without adequate support and explanation. Other deficiencies
included lack of explanation regarding reasonableness of income on loans without full
documentation (primarily stated income loans) and lack of explanation of a borrower’s ability to
handle an initial payment shock on the new LBMC loan.

Management responded promptly to our examination findings and agreed to implement
corrective measures in the form of various underwriter job aids and additional training. Their
formal response to our findings memorandum referenced these corrective actions, as well as
described additional controls that were to be put in place. Also positive was that the WMI
Consumer Risk Oversight (CRO) independent loan review function was going to catch up on its
reviews of LBMC production and then stay current. We had criticized CRO for falling behind in
its reviews of LBMC loan production during the examination.

During the October 3, 2005, field visit, we assessed LBMC progress in correcting the
deficiencies cited in OTS Memo 13. We found that management had invested significant time
and effort in developing job aids, conducting training, upgrading loan file documentation, and
enhancing quality assurance and tracking and monitoring processes in order to address our
concerns. We also noted that CRO had caught up on its review of LBMC loan productior.

During the visit, we reviewed 70 LBMC loans originated in August, September and October
2005. We also reviewed the results of the independent reviews performed by CRO, Our review
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disclosed that management had made good progress in addressing the DTI errors, but less
progress in supporting the reasonableness of income in stated income loans, which comprise
about 50 percent of LBMC’s business. Furthermore, our review disclosed that underwriting
error rates overall remain relatively high. Finally, we encountered two loans that were
questionable as to whether they should have been made at all, which causes us to still have some
concern with LBMC underwriting practices. We provided management the results of our
findings in an update to OTS Memo 13, issued on December 16, 2005. Notwithstanding our
ongoing concerns, we concluded that management had made good strides in addressing the
underwriting issues, and we would expect improvement to continue.

We met with management at various points during the field visit and presented our conclusions.
Management is in the process of responding to our ypdate to OTS Memo 13, and we expect
additional actions to be taken with respect to underwriting, including: (1) enhance policies and
procedures with better guidance on what documentation is appropriate to thoroughly document
reasonableness of stated income; (2) enbance policies and procedures to provide clear direction
as to when underwriters have discretion to exceed policy standards and by how much; and (3)
improve file documentation with respect to reasonableness of stated income We also expect
management to continue to drive down error and exception rates.

Fair Lending [ssues

As a subprime mortgage lender, LBMC has high levels of reputation and fair lending risk.
Despite this high level of risk, our March 14, 2005, examination disclosed that the corporate
compliance function responsible for ing the nent of this risk at LBMC fell behind
in fulfilling its responsibilities.

Corporate Compliance completed a file review of LBMC 2003 pricing and underwriting in June
2004. This review raised material concerns of possible disparate treatment by race and ethnicity
in both underwriting and pricing. Reinforcing the concerns with possible disparate treatment
was the 2004 Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA) data released publicly in early 2005.
Corporate Compliance did not provide its June 2004 review results to LBMC until during our
March 14, 2005, examination, so LBMC management validation of and response to the review,
actions to address process and control issues, and remediation for adversely affected minority
applicants did not begin until the second quarter of 2005. The delay in providing the June 2004
review results to LBMC contributed to an overall examination conclusion that the corporate fair
lending program needed attention.
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Our fair lending findings with respect to LBMC were communicated to management in OTS
Compliance Memo 8 (OTS Memo 8). In response to the memorandum, management committed
to timely action to address the results of the 2003 pricing and underwriting file review, including
remediation. Management also committed to conduct further fair lending analyses and reviews,
and to enhance certain internal controls and oversight mechanisms to ensure fair lending risk
management at LBMC is timely and comprehensive.

We followed up on management efforts to address fair lending issues during our October 3,
2005, field visit. With respect to the file review of LBMC 2003 pricing and underwriting, we
found that LBMC senior management had initiated corrective actions to improve the consistency
and controls for underwriting and pricing loans, and had provided appropriate remediation to
those applicants for whom it was likely that differences in pricing may have been related to
prohibited bases. i

With respect to the need for further analyses and reviews, Corporate Compliance has conducted
a variety of analyses of the apparent pricing disparities at both WMB and LBMC, as well as
between the two companies, since the March 14, 2005, examination. Based on these statistical
analyses, the function has conducted transaction level comparative file reviews of pricing in
eight LBMC markets where there appeared to be a statistically significant disparity on the basis
of race or ethnicity. In each of these eight reviews, there was some over- or under-pricing of
loans, but this was within a limited range and evenly positive and negative across races and
ethnicities. Further action was not warranted. Comparative file reviews of LBMC underwriting
in the Chicago market (statistically identified as having a high risk of disparity) have been
completed, and additional reviews in Chicago and other markets are underway.

The one significant remaining element of the corrective actions undertaken in response to the
examination fair lending findings is a comprehensive review of the LBMC and WMB pricing
structures. In its response to OTS Memo 8, management committed to have this completed by
yearend 2005. We confirmed during our October 3, 2005, field visit that this review was on
track for timely completion.

Aside from our examination findings, a significant fair lending concern whenever there is a
financial institution, such as WMB, with a subprime affiliate (or division), such as LBMC, is the
possibility that steering to less advantageous products at the subprime affiliate might occuron a
prohibited basis. To address this concern, WMD's Legal Department developed a “Best Price
Offer (BPO)” program. Although it has been in place for some time, the BPO program has not
been particularly successful. One of the risk assessment tools that Corporate Compliance has
been developing is a tool for evaluating the risk of steering on a prohibited basis between WMB
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and LBMC. While still in the development phase, this should be a useful monitoring tool in the
future. In addition, Corporate Compliance is evaluating the use of various customer survey
information to develop a more focused approach to mystery shopping.

In general, we concluded during our October 3, 2005, field visit that all commitments for
corrective or other actions were either completed or on schedule for timely fulfillment. Most
important, executive management appears to be taking the company’s fair lending risk and the
need to manage it seriously.

Conclusion

Since we believed LBMC had made good progress in addressing the concerns raised during our
March 14, 2005, examination and no new issues had arisen, we advised management that we
would entertain the application to move LBMC under the bank. The application was then filed
December 12, 2005. Notwithstanding this conclusion, we should emphasize that LBMC is
engaged in a high-risk lending activity and we are not yet fully satisfied with its practices.
Therefore, we recommend that management make certain commitments as part of the application
process:

1. Concentration Limits. WMB should revisit its high-risk lending concentration limits to
consider both WM Card Services and LBMC. WMB should consider increasing
granularity in those limits, particularly with respect to loans with higher risk
characteristics such as stated income loans with low FICOs and high LTV ratios.

2. Compliance with Guidance. WMB should provide specific assurance that it will ensure
that LBMC complies with Interagency Guidance on Subprime Lending (March 1, 1999),
Interagency Expanded Guidance for Subprime Lending Programs {January 31, 2001),
Interagency Guidance on Asset Securitization Activities (December 13, 1999), and the
interagency guidance on affordability loan products, as appropriate, when this guidance is
issued.

3. Indemnification. The WMB board should consider whether a holding company
indemnification or cash deposit/reserve should be secured for potential liability arising
from the transferred assets and Habilities.

4. OTS Meme 13. WMB should commit to ensure that actions are taken in response to our
update of OTS Memo 13 and that loan underwriting exception and error rates continue to
decline.

5. OTS Memo 8. WMB should commit to address the remaining issues in OTS Memo 8. as
well as to more generally ensure that follow-through continues on all fair lending efforts
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and that corporate fair lending practices are commensurate with the size and complexity
of the organization.

6. Enterprise Risk Management, WMB should commit to ensure that Enterprise Risk
Management, through its Consumer Risk Oversight and Internal Audit units, provides an
independent and countervailing balance to line management desires to expand subprime
lending activities through LBMC when those desires are potentially imprudent. This
balance should include frequent and rigorous independent reviews of LBMC operations.

We will complete an examination of LBMC as part of our March 13, 2006, full-scope
examination. Should the application by WMB be approved, we will ensure during that

examination that management has complied with all commitments made in connection with the
application.
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0. /0
Dochow, Darrel W ¢
From: Carter, Lawrence D

Sent: Friday, January 27, 2006 7:40 AM

To: Dochow, Darrel W

Subject: RE: WAMU Commitment lefter

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Fiagged

The letter seems okay. They obviously want to leave it a fittle squishy, of course, on the growth plans, but at least they
make a firm commitment to clean up the underwriting issues. At some level, it seems we have to rely on our relationship
and their understanding that we are not comfortable with current underwriting practices and don't want them to grow
significantly without having the practices cleaned up first. | am sure we made that very clear.

With respect to the high risk fimit, | keep thinking about them only including the Card Services ioans with FICOs under 650.
Our acceptance of this cal ion might be considered by them to be a step toward our accsptance of Card Services as
NOT being a programmatic subprime lender subject to the interagency guidance, a step | am not sure we are ready to
1ake at this point. Furthermore, | think this will also factor into their benchmark "super-risk weighting" capital caiculations
(or data they provide us — | am not sure whether they ultimately agreed to do the calculations or just provide us the data).
We will need to decide whether ALL of Card Services' loans should be super-risk-weighted for benchmarking purposes — |
wouid lean towards yes.

Perhaps we shouid at least let John know that we are considering the appropriateness of this and will address through our
examination by considering the high risk lending strategy, existing limits, and plans to do additionat analytical work in
support of concentration limits overall,

—---Original Message-----
From: Dochow, Darrel W
Sent: Thursday, January 26, 2006 1:23 PM
To: Carter, Lawrence D; Finn, Michae] E

Subject: WAMU Commitment letter
Importance: High

I scanned the letter from WAMU that was just delivered so that you could read their commitment relating to LBMC
growth and a refer up program. Any reactions? << File: Scan0011.PDF >>

OFFICIAL FILE COPY

OTS/WEST

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
EXHIBIT #32
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March 13, 2006
Safety & Soundness Examination

OTS MEMO 12
DATE: May 23, 2008
TO: Wayne Pollock, SVP, Home Loans Operation Strategy
FROM: Mark Reiley and Liz Orban, OTS Examiners
SUBJECT:  Home Loan Underwriting
ce: Cathy Doperaiski, Regulatory Relations

Steve Funaro, FDIC

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
We sampled 186 newly originated joans to assess Home Loan’s f with Bank ting pohcy and regu!atory
safoty and soundness guidelines as wel as to assess the p made in add g the und
{criticisms) noted in our 2005 OTS Memo 15, The loﬂcwmg Joan sample was compnsed of randomly se!ected loans
ofiginated through the various lending ch: Is (Retall, W and Corresp ) and originated between

November 2005 and January 2006:

* 126 Full-Doc loans;

" 25 Stated income ioans;
- 15 Interest-Only loans;
.

10 Single Family Residential Custom Cc ion loans”; and,
10 Residential Lot loans.
* Custom Construction loans originated during the review period.

included in the sample above were 67 negative amortization loans (83 Option ARMs and four Flex ARMs),
We categorized our findings as:

»  Exceptions — Generally, these loans have such significant deficiencies that we consider tham unsafe and
unsound. These are loans that probably should not have been made on the terms that the loan was granted.
Any Excaption in a small random sample wili g y lead us to overall that iting is less than
satistactory.

»  Other Loans with Deficiencies ~ These are ioans with elevated risk due o underwriting deficiencies. Depending
on the nature of the deficiencies, a significant number of loans of this type could also lead us to consider
und g less than

All errors were discussed with the i d Senior Ui fting Team M

During the prior examination, we noted [ es of ing underwriting guideli orrors in
income calculations, errors in debt-to-income (DTH calculations, lack of sufficient mmgatmg factors for credit-quality
related issues, and insufficient fitle insurance coverage on negative amortization ioans. Management's strategy to reduce
the level of exceptions and errors was to more effectively utilize the Credit Risk Oversight (CRO) and Credit Quality Tearn
(CQT) reviews to prov!de continuous feadback, training and coaching to the underwriters. Furthermore, CRO and CQT
reviews were used in the staff Incentive Compensation Plan (ICP}, 1o help promote desirable loan quality and underwriter
behavior and thereby improve underwriting resuits. M: i also i ac: targets for DT error rates
{10 percent by June 2006 and 5§ percent by Decernber 2008). The combination of these efforts has resulted in a reduction
of underwriting exceptions and errors. Recent CRO reviews and our joan sample results validale this conchusion.

Management has made progress in addrassing and reducing the level of underwriting exceptions and errors noted in OTS
Mamo 15, and none of the loans were considered “Excsptlons as dahned above. However, wa did note various
underwriting errors that i to require mar ifi , DT calculation errors, fack of adequate
title insurance coverage, inadequate support for borrower income, condmons oi approval not supported, documentation
errors, and errors on the Bank’s Loan Approval Summary (LAS) worksheets were noted during our review. In addition,

we made dafions to enhance the underwriting policy and p d and data coding process.
FINAL: 08/14/2006 11:23 AM y - ‘ Printed: 06/27/2006 6:56 AM
Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations|
EXHIBIT #33
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OTS MEMO 12
We concluded that d the corrective actions agreed upon at the last examination and while
underwriting errors noted stift need to be ad i, we {uded that prima it :s now con5|dered marginatly
satisfactory. We beliove that the issues discussed in this memo sup those di d in our tast ton and

would not object to Regulatory Relations closing out the issues in the prior memo,

wesknoss entified that is not of requlatory concern, but which may imoroy bank g
O made Ina role. Thay may mwmuywhmmﬂhpumﬂy
not ba included in the Report of Exemination. Examiners wil rarsly request a wiltien response during the examination.
Obsarvations may of may not be raviewed during subsequent examinations.

Uk gtion, A Recommendation can bacome a Criticiem In future examinations should risk
SXpOSIE They may be Included In the MMExmaﬂonmmmuomd
I Exit and Board Mestings. Enmuvdﬂnw-stamnmpmkan durieg)

actions to address reaviewed at or foklow-up

Criticien: aitng corective gotion. Criticisme aro anmmmn Roeuim Board Atlantion” or
'E‘lmhalbn&mdw and Commmunts” section of the Report of Ly Senior
and the Board of Diractors; lnduqumn«lmnmspom annwlomlmbywmmsmum
uncorrected, may result in stronger acti

EXAM FINDING 1 £J_Observation ¥ endation {7 Criticism

Topic: HOME LOAN UNDERWRITING

Finding: We identified the following underwriting errors.

DT! Calculation Deficiencies

We noted 17 errors (8 percent) in calculating DTI ratios. D71 errors resulted from omission of
expenses, errors in the qualifying rate or tax and insurance amounts used, and unsupported income. Flles
contained errors that were both favorable and unfavorable to the borrower, with some files containing
offsetting errors. Loans with DT1 errors were distributed equally amongst the loan origination channels.

inadequate Title Insurance Coverage

Our review of the 57 negati loan flies di d that 46 failed to request adequate
title at originati ‘While post closing caught a few of the loans. it appears the
remalning foans never ; has indi d that in the svent
is not obtained, the Bank has blanket coverage that covers the short fall but we were

ur\able 1o verify that. Our pcsmon is that the Bank should be requesting and requiring sufficient fitle
coverage at or ion, sufficient o cover the entire potential negative amortization amount.

This issus was noted in OTS Memo 15 (2005); however, the corrective action failed to address the
problem. The corrective action required that the MLCS system be updated 1o reflect the correct negauve
amortization percent but that does not ensure that ad te title | coverage is
Management indicated that on April 10, 2006, the Bank adopted a policy that requires fitle msurance
coverage to equal the loan's full negative amontization potential. We did not have an opportunity to test for
compliance with this new policy.

Borrower Income not Adeguately Supported

We noted five instances {3 percent) where borrower income was not supported. These included
failure to verily income on a Full-Doc loan, fallure to oblain a rental agreement, failure to discuss
reasonableness of stated income, and apparent errors in calcutation.

L - tion Basis

We noted a lack of sufficient mitigating factors for approving loans that were exceptions to policy.
For example, we noted a fallure to document reasons why a borrower was allowed $13,000 cash-out on a
“no cash-out” refinance. We also noted a high-level ioan approval to a borrower with a housing ratio of 40
percent and total debt ratio of 72 percent. There was no discussion of compensating factors for the
exception to policy on the LAS.

Documentation Errors

We noted documentation errors in five loan files (3 parcent), including missing power of attorney,

Mutoal, inc. - © Page 2ot 6
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OTS MEMO 12

EXAM FINDING 1 & Observation ¥ Recommendation L1 Criticism
missing pages of the note, a stale appraisal, and failure to document compliance with the
conditions of Joan approval. There was no evidence in two files that loans were paid off, which was a
required condition for approval of the loans.

Failure to Comply with Seplic and Well Requirements on Custom Construction

Four of ten (40 percent) ot loans reviewed failed to comply with policy requirements regarding
septic tanks and wells. Management indicated in some cases that the requitements had been waived;
however, there was no discussion of the reasons for waiver on the LAS,

LAS Worksheet Errors

Forty-six (25 percent) of the ioans sampled had LAS worksheet errors. In 41 instances, the correct
qualifying rate was not reported on the LAS worksheat; instead, a rate of 0.0 percent was reported.
The remaining 5 errors were related to: (1) start and qualifying rates being overstated, (2) debt amount
incorrectly reported, and (3) inaccurate appraisal vaiue.

Action: « Continue current monitoring and efforts to improve underwriting and reduce error rates, particularly

with respect 1o DTI calculations, rental income, and d n of P! ing factors for
exceptions to policy.
« Ensure compliance with the April 10, 2008, policy requiri degy titie i on neg:

amortization loans.

+ Continue to monitor the LAS for completion, accuracy, and to ensure that all conditions are sufficiently
addressed.

»  Continue post-funding transaction testing at the business unit and Loan Fuifillment Centers to ensure
progress in improving underwriting and measurement of that progress.

P ¥ Yes [ Ne

Washington Mutual

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE ] Agree X Partially Agree [ Disagree _Enter Target Date: [4/31/07]
me indicata whether you aires, partially agree, of disagree. it you agree, provide an anticpaled target date for implernantation.
Pactially Agrme: The tesponsa should clearly define that portion of the finding or recommendad action disagreed with as well as the portion agresd to.

Disagyree; Tha responss h define WHY thers Is ‘with the finding or action, and sutiine any mitigaing
clreumstances or sltaniative course of action to be pursued.

REBPONSE (sucdinct i8¢ to finding / action
Management partially agrees with this finding.

Quality Undarwriting has been and will continue to be a top priority and focus for the Bank. We feel that significant
progress has been made in this area evident by the results of our own ongoing loan file review process, internal audits,
and the file reviews compisted in conjunction with this Safety & Soundness exam.

in 2005 we established target goals for our DT error rates of 10% by June 2006 and 5% by December 2006, Our internal
reporting shows that we are meeting this goal and we are on track to be below 5% in advance of our December target
date. It was noted in the finding memo that the Safety & Soundness loan file review found a 3% occurrence where the
barrower's income was not supported. While it Is our policy to ensure that borrower income is supported, a 3% error rate
is within our established DT} error rate targst of 5%, We feel that our existing DT! tracking and reporting effectively
identifies instances where borrower income Is not properly supported.

The deficiency regarding the use of our Loan Approval Summary {LAS) form where the incorrect qualifying rate is being
reflected on the form is a result ol a MLCS system issue. The Bank has dacided that we will not allocate resources to a
MLCS system enhancement due to our upcoming migration to Palisades. in advance of our migration to Palisades, we
have implemented a manual work around that we will continue to use untii the migration. Of the 46 loans identified with
LAS worksheet errors, 41 were due to this system eror. Although the LAS reflected the incorrect rate, the borrower was
qualified at the correct rate. While we do agree that the LAS should reflect the correct rate, this issue poses no material
risk to the Bank. The remaining 5 loans with LAS errors reflect a 2.7% error rate basad upan the 186 loans reviewed, We
feel that this error rats is within tolerance levals, any matarial errors such as incorrect qualifying rates or DTI errors on the
LAS will be identified through our existing DT! monitoring and reporting. In addition to the LAS errors above, two
individual toans were identitied where the LAS did not refiect the compensating factors that allowed for exception
approval. We do feel that exception documentation Is Important and we wilt be reinforcing this policy with our Underwriting
staft. Due to our desire to track and monitor exception approvals, in addition to notating exception approvals on the LAS,

we currently enter all exceptions into our Loan Tracking Database for fracking purposes,
W Mutual, Inc. ~ Confidenti Page 3of &
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OTS MEMO 12

EXAM FINDING 1 O Observation Recommendation O Criticism

We do not feel that the documentation errors cited within the finding memo, 3%, wartant a change 1o our existing process
due to the low error rate. The post-funding transaction testing previously done by CRO and CQT wiil continus and be
managed by the Home Loans Credit Review group. We believe that these loan file and quality reviews wili identify and
prevent any substantial risks resulting from these types of errors and others that impact underwriting and loan file quality.

While the ordering of Title Insurance is not a function of our Underwriting department, we do agree that there were
deficiencies in our process On April 6, 2006 Home Loans Policy Announcement (HLPA} 06-090 - Title Insurance

C for Neg: izati boans was ;ssued The purpose of this policy communication was to clarify the title
i policy requi for neg ion loans.

CORRECTIVE ACTION (provide specific action steps planned, tha assigned responsible managsr, and target dates for sach)

1. Continue to monitor and track our DT error rales 1o ensure that we meet our established target of 5% error rate by
December 2008 (Note: The December 2006 DTi results will be available in March 2007). Responsibie Manager:
Mark Brown, Target Date: 3/31/07

2. Provide clarification and reinforcement to our Underwriting staff regarding proper decumentation of exception
approvals and qualitying rates on the LAS. Responsible Manager: Mark Brown, Target Date: 10/31/06

3. Complete a review of our existing septic tank and well waiver policy for Lot Loans and publish a reiteration or
clarification of policy as deemed necessary by the review. Responsible Manager: Mark Brown, Target Date:

10/31/06
4, Validate the effectiveness of HLPA 06-090 through our -xxstmg loan file review process to ensure that appropriate
title insurance coverage is being ordered on negative ion loans. Resp ger: Ariene Hyde,

Steve Stein, & John Schieck, Target Date: 12/31/06

Washington Mutual, Inc. — Confidential

ington Mutual, Inc. - Confi Page 4ot &
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0TS MEMO 12

EXAM FINDING 2 O Observation* ¥ Re dation* O Criticism*

Topic: HOME LOAN UNDERWRITING

Finding: Pol m

The Bank's Conventional Underwriting Guidelines regarding non-taxable income states that, if it results in
a more favorable outcome for the borrower, the income must be grossed up. We noted one borrower that
earmed $62,000 per year as a construction supervisor and his social security income was grossed up,
according to the Guidelines. Since social secutity income would almost certainly be taxable in this
instance, the rationale for the gross up of income appears to be imprudent. We believe the Guideline
should be clarified for bosrowers with substantial income in additional to non-taxable income.

Action: Enhance the Underwriling Guidelines to dlarify that social security income does not qualify as non-taxable
income for borrowers with substantial “other” income.

Managt Req d # ves [ne

‘® Washington Mutual

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE X Agree [0 Partially Agree [J Disagres  Enter Target Date: [11/30/06]

Atsnepement Response: indicete wheihar you agres, partially agree, of disagres. i you agrue, provide an anticipated target date for implementation.

Pertially Agree: The respones should ciearly dfine that portion of the finding or recommended action dicagraed with 23 well as the portion agreed to.

Disagres: The response shouid clearly define WHY there is disagreement with the finding or recommended action, and oulline any mitigating
circumstatees or Allsmative course of action 1o be pursued.

RESPONSE (suceclnct responsa io finding / action)

Management agrees with this recommendation.

We agree that although a portion of a borrower's income maybe nontaxable and eligible for grossing up, it does not mean
that all of their income is eligible to be grossed up. We will reviaw our existing policy and compare it to current Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac guidelines.

CORRECTIVE ACTION vide specific action lanned, the ass rasponsible ma and dates for each

1. Review and revise existing policies related to nontaxable income as warranted 1o ensure our policy is clear and
consistent with current Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac guidelines where applicable. Responsible Manager: Chery
Feltgen, Target Date: 11/30/06

Washington Mutual, inc. - Confidential

Washington Mutual, Inc. ~ Contidential Page 50f 6
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OTS MEMO 12

EXAM FINDING 3 O0_Observation* ¥l Recommendation* O _Criticism*

Topic: HOME LOAN UNDERWRITING

Finding: Data Coding Recommendation

We noted loans (23) that were coded as Full-Doc and Ali-A at boarding and later underwritten based upon
stated income criteria but not re-coded 1o reflect the change. Consequently, management is unable to
identify all the loans underwritten based upon stated income criteria. On February 17, 2006, management
changed the reporting procedures and now the subject loans are correclly being reported and
management stated it is able to identify all stated income loans.

Action: Ensure that the February 17, 2006, coding policy changes are complied with.

L Response Requested [ ves [ No
¥ Washington Mutual
WANAGEWENT RESPONSE X Agres [1 Pamialiy Agree [ Disagree _Enior Target Date: (12/31/08]

Manageriént Responsé: indicats whethar you agros, partially agree, o disagree. H you agren, provide an anticibated targel dat for implementation.
Partially Agree: The response should cisarly define that portion of the finding or recommendad action Hisagraad with as well a8 the portion agreed 1o,

Disagree: “Too response should clsaty define WHY there is disagreement with the linding or recommendad action, and outting any mitigating
cirosmstances or altsmative course of action to be pursued.

RESPONSE (succinct rasponse to finding / action)

Managemenit agrees with this recommendation.

QOur existing loan documentation coding has been focused upon capturing the documentation level based upon the
borrower’s intent. We have now enhanced our documentation coding specific 1o MLCS 1o also identify the actual level of
income verification that was completed. For example, a foan to a borrower who does not request a stated income but
whose {oan, when run through our Enterprise Decision Engine (EDE), is approved with document relief is classified as a
Full Doc foan, now with our additional enhancement we will also have their income and asset verification leve! captured
regardiess of the borrower's intent. This additional coding will allow us to identify all loans originated through MLCS where
income was “stated”, regardiess of the borrower's original intent. This is accomplished by utilizing an additional coding
field that indicates the number of months of income and assets that were verified for the primary borrower. This coding

h t was impl ved on February 17, 2006. The income verilication classifications which are now being coded
in addition to the existing documentation codes are:

* income Not Verified

+ 11 Months or Less Verified
»

.

12 10 23 Months Verified

24 Months or Greater Verified
Because this is a new loan coding requi %, we have blished a target goat error rate of 5% or less for this issue by
December 2006,
CORRECTIVE ACTION vide ¢ action st fanned, the aes sibie manager, and tai gates for each

1. We will work with our Credit Review group to track the accuracy of the income Verified field within MLCS viz a
targeled review and ensure that we mest our target goat of 5% by Di ber 2006, Responsible Manager: Mark
Brown, Emie Mortensen, Target Date: 12/31/06

Washin Mutual, inc. - C. tiatl

Washington Mutual, Inc. - Confidentiat Page6oi 6
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From: Schreider, David C. <david.schneider@wamu.net>
Sent: Wednesday, May 31, 2006 2:56 PM

To: Brown, Mark J. <mark brown@wamu.net>
Subject: RE: OTS Memo 12 -- Home Loans Underwriting

1l bet you're a happy guy!lt Well done.
ds

----- Original Message—~---

From: Brown, Mark J.

Sent: Wednesday, May 31, 2006 8:09 AM

To: Mortensen, Emie; Case, Lori K ; Pad, Robert L.

Ce: Feltgen, Cheryl A.; Schaeider, David C.

Subject: Fw: OTS Memeo 12 -- Home Loans Underwriting

Ernie, Lori, and Robert

Couldn't have done it without your partnership.

Thanks to you and the whole cqt teamn

Mark J. Brown

Sr. Manager, Mortgage Banking-National Underwriting
Washington Mutual Consumer Group

(630)437-7774

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This electronic mail transmission may contain legally priviliged, confidential information belonging
to the sender. The information is intended only for the use of the individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended
recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or taking any action based on the contents of this electronic
mail is strictly prohibited. If you have received this electronic mail in ervor, please contact sender and delete all copies,

Sent from my BlackBerry Wireless Handheld

-----Original Message-+---

From: Pollack, Wayne A.

To: Schneider, David C.; Feltgen, Cheryl A,

CC: Plyler, Pamela J.; Brown, Mark J.; Healan, Joe 1., Lee, Doreen; Parres, Crystal
Sent: Tue May 30 14:36:59 2006

Subject: FW: OTS Memo 12 — Home Loans Underwriting

Good news - John was abie to get the OTS to see the light and revise the Underwriting rating to a Recommendation. Our response is
already complete.

Wayne Pollack

SVP, Home Loans-Strategic Operations
Washington Mutual

(630) 437-8982

CONFIDENTIALLY NOTICE: This electronic mail transmission may contain legally privileged, confidential information belonging
to the sender. The information is intended only for the use of the individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended
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recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or taking any action based on the contents of this electronic
mail is strictly prohibited. If you have received this electronic mail in error, please contact sender and delete all copies.

----- Original Message—---

From: Pollack, Wayne A.

Sent: Tuesday, May 30, 2006 4:36 PM

To: Robinson, John, Domer, Jake; Zarro, Michael R ; Fierling, Jennifer
Cc: Doperalski, Cathy L.

Subject: RE: OTS Memo 12 ~ Home Loans Underwriting

John ~ Thank you for your support on this, the undeswriting team that has worked so hard (o obtain the current run rate resulis will
appreciate getting the OTS to recognize the progress.

Wayne Pollack

SVP, Home Loans-Strategic Operations
Washington Mutual

(630) 437-8982

CONFIDENTIALLY NOTICE: This electronic mail transmission may contain legally privileged, confidential information belonging
1o the sender. The information is intended only for the use of the individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended
recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or taking any action based on the contents of this electronic
mail is strietly prohibited. If you have received this electronic mail in error, please contact sender and delete all copies.

-----Original Message----

From: Robinson, John

Sent: Tuesday, May 30, 2006 4:31 PM

To: Pollack, Wayne A.; Domer, Jake; Zarro, Michael R.; Fierling, Jennifer
Cc: Doperalski, Cathy L.

Subject: OTS Memo 12 —~ Home Loans Underwriting

importance: High

OTS confirmed today that they will re-issue this memo without the ‘Criticism.” It willbe a ‘Recommmda\ion.; Due to technological
difficulties, the re-issue may not happen for a few days.

John
(206)490-6100

Confidential Ti Reqg d by JPMC IPM_WM02619435
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WMB, WMBfsb
March 13, 2006
Safety & Soundness Examination
e OTS Memo 9

DATE: Ma
TO: Michael Giampaolo, President Long Beach Mortgage
FROM: Gail A, Croil and Mark Reiley, OTS Examiners
SUBJECT:  Loan Underwriting Review ~ Long Beach Mortgage
{033 Amy Marcussen, Operations Manager

David Schneider, President Home Loans
Cathy Doperalski, Regulatory Relations
Steve Funaro, FDIC

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

We reviewed 87 newly ofiginated loans to assess Long Beach Mortgage Company's {LBMC) compliance with bank
underwriting policy and regutatory safety and soundness guidelines as well as to assess the progress made in addressing
underwriting weaknesses (criticisms) noted in our 2005 OTS Field Visit Update Memo 1. The loan sample was comprised
of the following:

* 25 loans selected randomly from loans tunded between November 2005 and January 2006;

= 25 stated income loans selected randomiy from loans funded between November 2006 and January 2006;

+ 27 high loan-to-value {LTV)/low FICO loans selected judgmentally from loans funded between November 2005
and January 20086; and

* 10 stated income loans selected judgmentally from loans originated during March 2006.

We categorized our findings as:

+ Exception Loans — fly, these loans have such significant deficiencies that we consider them unsafe and
unsound. These are loans that probably should not have